
 
 

COUNCIL 
 

 Wednesday, 17th February, 
2010 
at 2.00 pm 
 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre 
 
 
 

 Members of the Council 
 

 The Mayor – Chair  
 
The Sheriff  – Vice-chair 
 
Leader of the Council 
 
Members of the Council (See overleaf) 
 
 

  
 Contacts 

 
 Solicitor to the Council 

Mark Heath 
Tel 023 8083 2371 
Email: mark.heath@southampton.gov.uk 
 

  

 Council Administrator 
Sandra Coltman 
Tel. 023 8083 2718 
Email: sandra.coltman@southampton.gov.uk  

 
The agenda and papers are available via Southampton’s website at  

 
www.southampton.gov.uk/council-partners/decisionmaking/minagenrep/meetingpapers 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
WARD COUNCILLOR  WARD COUNCILLOR 

 
Bargate Bogle 

Mrs Damani 
Willacy 
 

 Millbrook Davis 
Norris 
Wells 
 

Bassett Hannides 
Mizon 
Samuels 
 

 Peartree Drake 
Jones 
Slade 
 

Bevois Barnes-Andrews 
Burke 
Rayment 
 

 Portswood Baston 
Capozzoli 
Sollitt 
 

Bitterne Fuller 
Letts 
Stevens 
 

 Redbridge Holmes 
Marsh-Jenks 
McEwing 
 

Bitterne Park Baillie 
White 
Williams, P 
 

 Shirley Cooke 
Dean 
Matthews 
 

Coxford Galton 
Thomas 
Walker 
 

 Sholing Mrs Blatchford 
Dick 
Fitzgerald 
 

Freemantle Ball 
Moulton 
Parnell 
 

 Swaythling Beckett 
Odgers 
Osmond 
 

Harefield Daunt 
Fitzhenry 
Smith 
 

 Woolston Cunio 
Payne 
Williams , R 
 

 



 

 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

Role of the Council Questions 
 
People who live or work in the City may ask 
questions of the Mayor, Chairs of Committees 
and Members of the Executive. 

The Council comprises all 48 Councillors. 
The Council normally meets seven times 
a year including the annual meeting, at 
which the Mayor and the Council Leader 
are elected and committees and sub-
committees are appointed, and the 
budget meeting, at which the Council Tax 
is set for the following year. 
 
The Council approves the policy 
framework, which is a series of plans and 
strategies recommended by the 
Executive, which set out the key policies 
and programmes for the main services 
provided by the Council. 
 
It receives a summary report of decisions 
made by the Executive, and reports on 
specific issues raised by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Committee. 
 
The Council also considers questions and 
motions submitted by Council Members 
on matters for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affect the City. 
 

 
Southampton City Council’s Six Priorities 
 

• Providing good value, high quality 
services 

• Getting the City working 

• Investing in education and training 

• Keeping people safe 

• Keeping the City clean and green 

• Looking after people 
 

Smoking policy – The Council operates a no-
smoking policy in all civic buildings. 
 

Public Involvement 
 
Representations 

Mobile Telephones – Please turn off your mobile 
telephone whilst in the meeting.  
 

At the discretion of the Mayor, members 
of the public may address the Council on 
any report included on the agenda in 
which they have a relevant interest. 
 

Fire Procedure – In the event of a fire or other 
emergency, a continuous alarm will sound and 
you will be advised by Council officers what 
action to take. 

Petitions 
Any Councillor may present a petition, on 
behalf of the signatories, about issues 
relating to Southampton. If you have such 
a petition you need to ask a Councillor to 
present it to the meeting.  

Access – Access is available for disabled 
people.  Please contact the Council Administrator 
who will help to make any necessary 
arrangements.  
 
Dates of Meetings (Municipal Year 2009/10) 

The following opportunities also exist for 
the public to raise matters at Council 
meetings, but seven clear days’ notice 
must be given before the meeting. 

2009 2010 

13th May 20th January 

15th July 17th February 
(Budget meeting) 

16th September 17th March 

18th November 12th May 
 

Deputations 
A deputation of up to three people can 
apply to address the Council.  
A deputation may include the 
presentation of a petition.   
 
 

 



 

 

CONDUCT OF MEETING 
 
FUNCTIONS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED 

The functions of the Council are set 
out in Article 4 of Part  2 of the 
Constitution 

Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this meeting. 
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 

QUORUM 
 

The meeting is governed by the 
Council Procedure Rules as set out in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 

The minimum number of appointed Members 
required to be in attendance to hold the 
meeting is 16. 
 

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 
 

Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, both the existence and nature of any “personal” or “prejudicial” interests 
they may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 

 
PERSONAL INTERESTS 

 
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a personal interest in any matter:  

 
(i) if the matter relates to an interest in the Member’s register of interests; or 
(ii) if a decision upon a matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting to a 

greater extent than other Council Tax payers, ratepayers and inhabitants of 
the District, the wellbeing or financial position of himself or herself, a relative 
or a friend or:- 
 

 (a) any employment or business carried on by such person; 
 (b) any person who employs or has appointed such a person, any firm in 

which such a person is a partner, or any company of which such a 
person is a director; 

 (c) any corporate body in which such a person has a beneficial interest in a 
class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or 

 (d) any body listed in Article 14(a) to (e) in which such a person holds a 
position of general control or management. 
  

A Member must disclose a personal interest. 
/continued....... 

 
 



 

 
PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS 

Having identified a personal interest, a Member must consider whether a member of the 
public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably think that the interest was so 
significant and particular that it could prejudice that Member’s judgement of the public 
interest. If that is the case, the interest must be regarded as “prejudicial” and the Member 
must disclose the interest and withdraw from the meeting room during discussion on the 
item. 
 
It should be noted that a prejudicial interest may apply to part or the whole of an item. 
 
Where there are a series of inter-related financial or resource matters, with a limited 
resource available, under consideration a prejudicial interest in one matter relating to that 
resource may lead to a member being excluded from considering the other matters relating 
to that same limited resource. 
 
There are some limited exceptions.  
 
Note:  Members are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or his staff in 
Democratic Services if they have any problems or concerns in relation to the above. 
 

PRINCIPLES OF DECISION MAKING 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

• proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

• due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

• respect for human rights; 

• a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

• setting out what options have been considered; 

• setting out reasons for the decision; and 

• clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

• understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

• take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

• leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

• act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

• not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 
the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

• comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  
Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are 
unlawful; and 

• act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 



 



 

SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL 
M R HEATH 
Civic Centre, Southampton, SO14 7LY 
 
 
Tuesday, 9 February 2010 
 
 

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the COUNCIL to be held on 
WEDNESDAY, 17TH FEBRUARY, 2010 in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, CIVIC CENTRE at 
2.00 pm when the following business is proposed to be transacted:-  
 
 
1 APOLOGIES     

 
 To receive any apologies.  

 
2 DEPUTATIONS, PETITIONS AND PUBLIC QUESTIONS     

 
 To receive any Deputations, Presentation of Petitions or Public Questions.  

 
3 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC - CONFIDENTIAL PAPERS INCLUDED 

IN THE FOLLOWING ITEM     
 

 To move that in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access to 
Information procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the confidential appendix 
to item number 4. 
 
Appendix 4 to this report is not for publication by virtue of category 3 of paragraph 10.4 
of the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules as contained in the Council’s 
Constitution.  It is not considered to be in the public interest to disclose this information 
because this Appendix contains confidential and commercially sensitive information 
relating to the potential funding sources for the Sea City Museum Scheme and the 
financial impact of certain possible options upon other parties and the Council’s 
financial position. Given the commercial sensitivity of this information, in that its 
disclosure could adversely impact upon the parties and the Council’s negotiating 
positions and therefore have an adverse impact on the parties and the Council’s 
financial position, it is considered that the public interest in withholding this information 
at this time is greater that the public interest in disclosing it.  
 

4 COUNCIL TAX SETTING AND RELATED MATTERS    
 

 A) General Fund Capital Programme 2009/10-2012/13 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Resources and Workforce Planning seeking 
approval of the updated Capital Programme for 2009/10 to 2012/13, attached.  
 
Note: There is a confidential Appendix attached to this report. 



 

 
B) General Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Resources and Workforce Planning seeking to 
set out the latest estimated overall financial position on the General Fund Revenue 
Budget for 2010/11 to 2012/13 and to outline the main issues that need to be 
addressed in considering the Cabinet's budget proposals, attached. 

 
 

5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET REPORT     
 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing and Local Services seeking approval of 
the Housing Revenue Account budget proposals including:-  
 
(a) the proposed 20010/11 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) revenue estimates for 
all of the day to day services provided to Council tenants in the City, together with 
the proposed rent and service charge increases for council tenants from April 2010; 
and  
 
(b) the HRA capital programme for the period to 2012/13, which will include an 
assessment of the resources available to finance major housing capital projects in 
the City.  

 
 

6 ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND PRUDENTIAL LIMITS 
2009/10 - 2012/13  
 

 Report of the Executive Director for Resources, seeking approval of the Annual 
Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators for 2009/10 to 2012/13, as 
required under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2003, attached.  
 
 

 
NOTE: There will be Muslim prayers and a Thought for the Day by David Bothwell in the 
Mayor’s Reception Room at 1.45 pm for Members of the Council and Officers who wish to 
attend. 
 
 

 

 
M R HEATH 

SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL 
 

 
 



  

 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  CABINET 

COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: THE GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2009/10 
- 2012/13 

DATE OF DECISION: 1ST FEBRUARY 2010  

17TH FEBRUARY 2010  

REPORT OF: CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES & 
WORKFORCE PLANNING PORTFOLIO 

AUTHOR: Name:  ROB CARR Tel: 023 8083 2708 

 E-mail: Rob.carr@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

Appendix 4 to this report is not for publication by virtue of Category 3 (Information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person including the 
Council) of paragraph 10.4 of the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules as 
contained in the Council’s Constitution. It is not considered to be in the public interest 
to disclose this information because this Appendix contains confidential and 
commercially sensitive information relating to the potential funding sources for the Sea 
City Museum Scheme and the financial impact of certain possible options upon other 
parties and the Council’s financial position. Given the commercial sensitivity of this 
information, in that its disclosure could adversely impact upon the parties and the 
Council’s negotiating positions and therefore have an adverse impact on the parties 
and the Council’s financial position, it is considered that the public interest in 
withholding this information at this time is greater that the public interest in disclosing it. 
 

 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to inform Council of any major changes in the overall 
General Fund Capital Programme since it was last reported on 16th September 2009. 
This report also outlines the way in which the revised programme has been funded 
reflecting the changes in availability and usage of capital resources. 

The net result of the changes in this report is that the current overall programme has 
increased by £33.4M. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

CABINET 

Recommends that Full Council 

 (i) Approve the revised General Fund Capital Programme and use of 
resources; 

 (ii) Add an additional £2.0M to the Resources and Workforce Planning 
programme for Repairs and Maintenance backlog to be funded by 
unsupported borrowing; 

Agenda Item 4



 2

 (iii) Add an additional £270,000 to the Adult Social Care and Health 
programme for essential Health and Safety works and equipment 
replacement at Care Homes to be funded by unsupported borrowing; 

 (iv) Add an additional £2.660M to the Environment and Transport 
programme for the replacement of the cremators to be funded by 
£1.742M of unsupported borrowing and £918,000 of direct revenue 
financing both of which are funded from increased cremation 
charges; 

 (v) Add an additional £312,000 to the Economic Development 
programme for feasibility studies and programme management to be 
funded by unsupported borrowing; 

 (vi) Adds £13.585M to the Leisure Culture and Heritage Capital 
Programme for the balance of funding for the Heritage Centre 
Scheme the funding for which is explained in this report 

 (vii) Notes the transfer of £1.7M from the programmed maintenance 
budget to the ASAP Accommodation project in order to better co-
ordinate works throughout the Civic Centre. 

 (viii) Approves the over programming of £7.1M as detailed in paragraph 
11. 

COUNCIL 

It is recommended that Council 

 (i) Approve the revised General Fund Capital Programme and use of 
resources; 

 (ii) Add an additional £2.0M to the Resources and Workforce Planning 
programme for Repairs and Maintenance backlog to be funded by 
unsupported borrowing; 

 (iii) Add an additional £270,000 to the Adult Social Care and Health 
programme for essential Health and Safety works and equipment 
replacement at Care Homes to be funded by unsupported borrowing; 

 (iv) Add an additional £2.660M to the Environment and Transport 
programme for the replacement of the cremators to be funded by 
£1.742M of unsupported borrowing and £918,000 of direct revenue 
financing both of which are funded from increased cremation 
charges; 

 (v) Add an additional £312,000 to the Economic Development 
programme for feasibility studies and programme management to be 
funded by unsupported borrowing; 

 (vi) Add £13.585M to the Leisure Culture and Heritage Capital 
Programme for the balance of funding for the Heritage Centre 
Scheme the funding for which is explained in this report 

 (vii) Notes the transfer of £1.7M from the programmed maintenance 
budget to the ASAP Accommodation project in order to better co-
ordinate works throughout the Civic Centre. 



 3

 (viii) Approve the over programming of £7.1M as detailed in paragraph 
11. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The update of the Capital Programme is undertaken twice a year in 
accordance with Council Policy and is required to enable schemes in the 
programme to proceed and to approve additions and changes to the 
programme. 

CONSULTATION 

2. The General Fund Capital Programme update summarises additions to the 
capital programme since September 2009. Each addition to the capital 
programme has been subject to the relevant consultation process at the time. 
The content of this report has been subject to consultation with Finance 
Officers from each portfolio. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

3. The update of the Capital Programme is undertaken within the resource 
constraints imposed on it. No new schemes can be added unless specific 
additional resources are identified. Alternative options for new capital 
spending are considered as part of the Budget setting process. 

DETAIL 

 THE FORWARD CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

4. The following table shows a comparison of the total planned expenditure for 
each year with the sums previously approved. The Latest Programme figures 
include additions to the programme which are subject to approval of the specific 
recommendations. 

 

 
2009/10 
£000 

2010/11 
£000 

2011/12 
£000 

2012/13 
£000 

Later 
Years 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Latest  
Programme 

61,765 83,172 38,817 23,652 10,636 218,042 

Sept 2009  
Programme 

70,101 59,641 27,566 0 27,293 184,601 

Variance (8,336) 23,531 11,251 23,652 (16,657) 33,441 

       
 

5. The above table shows that the General Fund Capital Programme has 
increased by £33.4M. With the exception of changes requiring approval 
detailed in this report’s recommendations, all of the increase has been 
previously approved by Council, Cabinet or under delegated authority. The 
change in individual portfolios’ capital programmes is shown in the following 
table and a summary of the major variations, together with the source of 
funding and the priorities to which they contribute, is detailed in Appendix 2: 

 

 



 4

 

 

Latest 
Programme 

£000 

Previous 
Programme 

£000 

Total 
Change 
£000 

Children’s Services 58,160 51,555 6,605 

Economic Development 12,978 12,701 277 

Environment and Transport 47,587 42,846 4,741 

Adult Social Care and Health 3,687 3,239 448 

Housing and Local Services 25,623 20,697 4,926 

Leaders Portfolio 0 0 0 

Leisure, Culture & Heritage 40,707 26,761 13,946 

Resources & Workforce Planning 29,300 26,802 2,498 

TOTAL GF CAPITAL PROGRAMME 218,042 184,601 33,441 
 

  

 CAPITAL RESOURCES 

6. The resources which can be used to fund the capital programme are as follows: 

• Supported Borrowing  

• Unsupported Borrowing 

• Capital Receipts from the sale of HRA assets 

• Capital Receipts from the sale of General Fund assets 

• Contributions from third parties 

• Central Government Grants   

• Grants from other bodies 

• Direct Revenue Financing raised from Council Tax payers or balances 

 

7. Capital Receipts from the sale of Right to Buy (RTB) properties are passed to 
the General Fund capital programme to support the Housing Association 
schemes within the Housing and Local Services Portfolio. 

 

 CHANGES IN AVAILABLE RESOURCES 

8. The additional spending within the Capital programme must be met from 
additional sources of finance. The following table shows the resource changes 
that have taken place since September 2009: 

 £000 

Unsupported Borrowing 3,199 

Capital Receipts 2,280 

Contributions 12,041 

Capital Grants 14,699 



 5

Car Parking Surplus (200) 

Direct Revenue Financing from Balances 496 

Direct Revenue Financing from Portfolios 1,614 

Total Change in Available Resources 34,129 
 

9. The main reasons for the resource changes are detailed in Appendix 3.  
However, it should be noted that resource assumptions in respect of Disabled 
Facility Grants and other Private Sector Housing grants are based on officer 
forecasts and that allocations for future years will not be known until after the 
capital programme has been approved.  Should these allocations be less than 
anticipated it will be necessary to review the amounts in the programme or 
consider alternative funding sources. 

 

 OVERALL USE OF RESOURCES 

10. The following table shows capital expenditure by portfolio and the use of 
resources to finance the General Fund Capital Programme: 

 
2009/10 
£000 

2010/11 
£000 

2011/12 
£000 

2012/13 
£000 

Later 
Years 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Children’s Services 16,819 29,277 8,523 3,509 32 58,160 

Economic Development 8,327 2,929 0 0 1,722 12,978 

Environment and 
Transport 

20,130 21,172 5,233 1,052 0 47,587 

Adult Social Care and 
Health 

1,862 1,825 0 0 0 3,687 

Housing and Local 
Services 

6,824 8,100 5,673 4,736 290 25,623 

Leisure, Culture & 
Heritage 

4,088 8,276 11,048 8,703 8,592 40,707 

Resources & Workforce 
Planning 

3,715 11,593 8,340 5,652 0 29,300 

TOTAL GF CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME 

61,765 83,172 38,817 23,652 10,636 218,042 
 



 6

 
 

2009/10 
£000 

2010/11 
£000 

2011/12 
£000 

2012/13 
£000 

Later 
Years 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Financing:       

Supported Borrowing 8,763 6,840 6 0 0 15,609 

Unsupported Borrowing 18,936 12,608 1,423 2,954 2,035 37,956 

Capital Receipts 12,242 6,674 6,365 3,001 20,580 48,862 

Contributions 3,470 9,161 9,612 3,382 1,278 26,903 

Capital Grants 17,400 31,200 9,801 11,174 1,724 71,299 

Car Parking Surplus 0 0 200 0 0 200 

Direct Revenue Financing 
from Balances 

1,579 1,174 498 0 0 3,251 

Direct Revenue Financing 
from Portfolios 

2,541 3,882 336 133 0 6,892 

Total Financing 64,931 71,539 28,241 20,644 25,617 210,972 

Surplus/(Deficit) 3,166 (11,633) (10,576) (3,008) 14,981 (7,070) 
 

  

11. The table above shows that following the latest update of the capital 
programme there is deficit of £7.1M due largely to the loss of capital receipts.  
At this stage rather than make large scale changes to the existing programme 
for what it is hoped is a short term problem, it is recommended that the Council 
‘over programme’ on the basis that in future years the position will recover. It is 
felt that this position is still prudent as the Council has decided not to proceed 
with a number of major land sales due to the current economic climate, the 
value of which more than covers the current level of over programming. 

12. The table also shows that there is deficit funding in the early years of the 
programme and whilst it is anticipated that slippage in spending and new 
sources of capital funding will become available to cover this, Council in 
September approved delegated powers to prudentially borrow to cover any in 
year deficit if required 

13. The proposed capital programme in this report contains five major items for 
approval :- 

 • The addition of £2M in 2012/13 to further fund the backlog of Repair and 
Maintenance within the Resources and Workforce Planning programme 
to be funded from unsupported borrowing, which will be used for works 
in the Magistrates Court and Art Gallery. 

• The addition of the full Heritage Centre / Sea City Museum Scheme, 
taking the provision up to the estimated cost of £15M as set out in 
previous Cabinet and Council reports. 

• The addition of £270,000 for Health and Safety works and equipment 
replacement in Care Homes within the Adult Social Care and Health 
programme to be funded by unsupported borrowing. 

• The addition of £2.66M to fund the replacement of the cremators within 



 7

the Environment and Transportation programme to be funded by 
£1.742M unsupported borrowing and £918,000 of direct revenue 
financing both of which are funded from increased cremation charges. 

• The addition of an extra £312,000 for feasibility studies and programme 
management for major sites in the Economic Development programme 
to be funded by unsupported borrowing. At this stage only the costs in 
2010/11 are being added. The feasibility studies in question being: 

              Town Depot - £90,000 

              Royal Pier - £150,000 

              College Street - £50,000 

              Capital Funded Programme Management Posts - £22,000 

These changes are explained in more detail below. 

14. The phasing of the prudential borrowing means that additional revenue costs of 
£223,000 will need to be taken into account in setting the budgets from 2011/12 
onwards.  

15. Taking all of these issues in to account means that the biggest individual deficit 
is £11.6M in 2010/11.  However, analysis of previous programmes has shown 
that there has been on average a minimum level of slippage of £15M per 
annum and therefore based on the current profile of the programme it is 
anticipated that the over programming can be contained. 

16. It is therefore proposed at this stage to manage the deficit in individual years 
through slippage in the programme, which will be monitored carefully 
throughout the year although delegated powers do exist to prudentially borrow 
in the event of a deficit in any particular year.  The overall deficit of £7.1M in the 
programme will be met from new resources that will become available in future 
years or by the use of prudential borrowing, the costs of which will have to be 
built into future budget forecasts. 

17. The main changes in the capital programme are outlined in paragraph 13 
above, and some of these schemes have been subject to separate reports to 
Cabinet or Council in recent months.  The following paragraphs outline in more 
detail the changes that have been made. 

 CHANGES TO THE PROGRAMME 

18. An additional £2.66M has been added to the Environment & Transport portfolio 
for the replacement of the cremators. This is funded by £1.742M of 
unsupported borrowing and £918,000 of direct revenue financing both of which 
are funded from increased cremation charges. Cabinet approved spend on this 
scheme on the 21st December 2009 subject to Council approval of its addition 
which was given on the 20th January 2010. 

19. A recommendation to approve the addition of £312,000 to the Economic 
Development portfolio is included within this report. This additional expenditure 
is for feasibility studies and programme management for major projects as 
outlined in paragraph 13 and is funded by unsupported borrowing at a revenue 
cost of £23,000 per annum.  This is a continuation of previous funding that has 
been allocated to progress these key sites in the City but due to restrictions on 
capital funding provision is only being made one forward year at a time. 



 8

20. A recommendation to approve the addition of £270,000 to the Adult Social Care 
& Health portfolio is included within this report. This additional expenditure is for 
essential health and safety work and equipment replacement at care homes 
and is funded by unsupported borrowing at a revenue cost of £20,000 per 
annum.  There is an ongoing need to provide equipment and undertake 
essential works to the City’s care homes which was previously met by annual 
supported borrowing approvals given by the Government.  However these have 
now dropped to such a low level it has been necessary to add additional 
resources to ensure that minimum standards are maintained. 

21. A recommendation to approve the addition of an extra £2.0M to the Resources 
& Workforce Planning portfolio is included within this report consistent with 
previous years. This funding together with provisions from previous years is 
being used to progress two major pieces of work.  Approximately £1.2M is 
needed to undertake works within the magistrates court block which were not 
included in the ASAP accommodation project as it was unclear how this 
building was going to be used in the future. Now that the Heritage Centre 
scheme is progressing these works will be essential in order to complete all of 
the necessary improvements to the building.  A further £1.9M is needed for 
essential works to the Art Gallery Roof and Air Handling Unit. 

22. It should also be noted that other funding for planned maintenance of £1.5M 
has been transferred to the ASAP Accommodation project in order to better co-
ordinate the spending on maintenance within the different phases of this 
project.  This will ensure that works are planned more effectively and should 
avoid any duplication, or unnecessary expenditure. 

23. This report also seeks to add the full £15M for the Heritage Centre Scheme.  
The capital programme agreed in September last year included £1.4M for initial 
feasibility and design fees associated with a new Heritage Centre, some of 
which has been funded from Heritage Lottery Funding following initial approvals 
for the scheme.  A bid has been submitted to the HLF for the full £5M grant 
funding towards the total scheme costs of £15M and this will be decided by the 
HLF in March this year. 

24. In order to underline the Council’s commitment to the scheme, the full cost of 
£15M is recommended to be added to the capital programme as part of this 
report.  The funding for which is made up of £5M grant from the HLF, £5M of 
sponsorship and fundraising and £5M as a contribution from the City Council. 

25. The £5M Council contribution is added to the capital programme as a 
committed and funded project and the details of the potential funding sources 
are contained in Confidential Appendix 4. The Council is currently pursuing a 
number of possible funding sources which are included in the appendix in 
confidence due to the commercial sensitivities of the parties involved.  

26. 

 

 

At Full Council on 18th November 2009 it was unanimously agreed that  

“Council welcomes that all political parties in this Chamber support the delivery 
of the cultural quarter and see it as essential for the continued regeneration of 
the city. In order to ensure that the cultural quarter is delivered with the 
support of all relevant stakeholders, Council endorses the Executive's decision 
to suspend from the forward plan the proposed sale of art. The Council calls 
on the Executive to continue investigating alternative sources of funding.” 



 9

It has therefore been assumed that art sales can make no contribution to the 
scheme. 

FINANCIAL/RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital  

27. As set out in the report details. 

Revenue 

28. This report principally deals with capital. However, the revenue implications 
arising from borrowing to support the capital programme are considered as 
part of the General Fund Revenue Budget report elsewhere on the agenda. In 
addition any revenue consequences arising from new capital schemes are 
considered as part of the approval process for each individual scheme. 

Property 

29. There are no specific property implications arising from this report other than 
the schemes already referred to within the main body of the report. 

Other 

30. None.  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

31. The General Fund Capital Programme update is prepared in accordance with 
the Local Government Acts 1972 – 2003. 

Other Legal Implications:  

32. None directly, but in preparing this report, the Council has had regard to the 
Human Rights Act 1998, and the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2001 and 
other associated legislation. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

32. The update of the Capital Programme forms part of the overall Budget 
Strategy of the Council. 

 



 10

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. General Fund Capital Programme – Scheme Details 

2. Major Variations since September 2009 Capital Update 

3. Major Reasons for Changes in Capital Resources 

4. Confidential Appendix for Heritage Centre Funding 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the 
Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if 
applicable) 

1. The General Fund Capital Programme  

2008/09 to 2011/12 as approved by Council on 
16th September 2009. 

 

Background documents available for inspection at:       

KEY DECISION? YES   

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: The Capital Programme affects all 
wards in the City. 

 

  



fe
b
2
0
1
0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
&

L
E

A
R

N
IN

G
P

O
R

T
F

O
L

IO

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

E
0
0
5
0

T
h
e

W
a
rr

e
n

C
e
n
tr

e
C

a
p
it
a
l
P

ro
je

c
t

8
3
2

1
5

0
0

0
0

8
4
7

C
o
n
n
e
lly

,
J
o
h
n

E
4
*

E
a
rl
y

Y
e
a
rs

&
P

re
-S

c
h
o
o
ls

7
1
,1

1
2

4
,1

3
2

0
0

0
5
,2

5
1

H
o
ye

s
,

P
a
tr

ic
ia

E
6
0
0
0

Y
o
u
th

C
a
p
it
a
l
F

u
n
d

3
4
8

1
3
2

1
2
0

0
0

0
6
0
0

T
ic

k
n
e
r,

A
n
d
re

w

E
6
7
2
0

C
lo

s
u
re

o
f

H
ig

h
c
ro

w
n

S
t

(H
ig

h
fi
e
ld

S
c
h
o
o
l)

2
3
2

2
2
2

0
0

0
0

4
5
4

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
6
9
2
0

S
E

N
R

e
v
ie

w
-

P
h
a
s
e

1
1
0
,0

7
1

4
2
2

0
0

0
0

1
0
,4

9
3

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
6
9
2
1

S
E

N
R

e
v
ie

w
-

G
re

a
t

O
a
k
s

P
h
a
s
e

2
8
5

2
0
0

1
,4

2
3

0
0

0
1
,7

0
8

H
a
rd

s
,

R
ic

h
a
rd

E
6
9
2
2

1
4
-1

9
D

ip
lo

m
a
s
,

S
E

N
a
n
d

D
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s

0
0

6
,0

7
5

0
0

0
6
,0

7
5

A
le

x
a
n
d
e
r,

A
lis

o
n

E
8
0
5
0

C
h
ild

re
n
's

C
e
n
tr

e
s

-
P

h
a
s
e

1
2
,0

3
7

9
0

0
0

0
0

2
,1

2
7

H
o
ye

s
,

P
a
tr

ic
ia

E
8
0
5
2

H
a
re

fi
e
ld

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
h
ild

re
n
's

C
e
n
tr

e
6
8
3

1
1
1

6
0

0
0

8
0
0

H
o
ye

s
,

P
a
tr

ic
ia

E
8
0
6
0

N
e
w

la
n
d
s

P
ri
m

a
ry

R
e
b
u
ild

P
ro

je
c
t

1
0
6

1
7
8

5
0
0

4
,0

7
2

2
,6

4
4

0
7
,5

0
0

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
8
0
7
0

R
e
d
b
ri
d
g
e

P
ri
m

a
ry

R
e
b
u
ild

P
ro

je
c
t

6
9
3

4
,0

0
0

6
4
7

0
0

0
5
,3

4
0

H
a
rd

s
,

R
ic

h
a
rd

E
8
0
8
0

L
e
a
rn

in
g

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

1
3
7

6
3

0
0

0
0

2
0
0

T
ic

k
n
e
r,

A
n
d
re

w

E
8
0
8
5

R
e
lo

c
a
ti
o
n

o
f

S
w

a
yt

h
lin

g
Y

o
u
th

C
e
n
tr

e
0

1
5

3
5

0
0

0
5
0

B
ri
d
g
e
,

J
o
h
n

E
8
1
3
5

C
h
ild

re
n
s

S
o
c
ia

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

C
a
p
it
a
l

0
1
0

7
7

0
0

0
8
7

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
8
1
3
6

L
o
ft

E
x
te

n
ti
o
n

to
C

a
re

rs
H

o
m

e
0

5
5
0

0
0

0
5
5

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
8
1
3
7

A
im

in
g

H
ig

h
fo

r
D

is
a
b
le

d
C

h
ild

re
n

-
S

h
o
rt

B
re

a
k
s

0
1
1
1

2
5
8

0
0

0
3
6
9

H
o
ye

s
,

P
a
tr

ic
ia

E
8
1
4
0

B
it
te

rn
e

F
a
m

ily
S

k
ill

s
C

e
n
tr

e
0

1
3
0

0
0

0
0

1
3
0

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
8
1
6
0

IC
T

H
a
rn

e
s
s
in

g
T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

G
ra

n
t

5
5
8
4

1
,1

2
4

0
0

0
1
,7

1
3

T
a
yl

o
r,

N
ic

h
o
la

s

E
8
1
6
5

H
o
m

e
A

c
c
e
s
s

T
o

T
a
rg

e
te

d
G

ro
u
p
s

0
1
5
4

0
0

0
0

1
5
4

T
a
yl

o
r,

N
ic

h
o
la

s

E
8
1
7
0

IC
T

M
o
b
ile

T
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

G
ra

n
t

F
o
r

S
o
c
ia

l
W

o
rk

e
rs

8
0

7
0

0
0

0
8
7

T
a
yl

o
r,

N
ic

h
o
la

s

E
8
1
8
0

S
p
o
rt

s
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

(E
8
1
8
0
)

0
3
0
0

0
0

0
0

3
0
0

H
in

d
,

A
n
d
re

w

E
8
1
9
0

V
e
rm

o
n
t

C
lo

s
e

P
o
rt

a
c
a
b
in

R
e
lo

c
a
ti
o
n

3
1
0

8
7

0
0

0
1
0
0

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
0
6

S
c
h
o
o
l
M

o
d
e
rn

is
a
ti
o
n

2
0
0
9
-2

0
1
0

0
1
3

7
4
9

0
0

0
7
6
2

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
2
2

S
c
h
o
o
ls

A
c
c
e
s
s

In
it
ia

ti
v
e

2
0
0
9
-2

0
1
0

0
3
3
7

1
7
2

0
0

0
5
0
9

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
2
3

F
o
u
n
d
ry

L
a
n
e

P
ri
m

a
ry

S
c
h
o
o
l
K

it
c
h
e
n

2
2

7
8

3
2
5

0
0

0
4
2
5

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
2
5

F
ir
e

P
re

c
a
u
ti
o
n
s

W
o
rk

2
0
0
9
-1

0
0

3
6

9
7

0
0

0
1
3
3

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
2
8

R
e
n
e
w

a
b
le

E
n
e
rg

y
P

ro
g

2
0
0
9
-2

0
1
0

0
1
4
9

2
0
1

0
0

0
3
5
0

D
a
v
ie

s
,

Ia
n

E
9
0
3
2

S
a
fe

S
c
h
o
o
ls

2
0
0
9
-2

0
1
0

0
8
3

1
0
0

0
0

0
1
8
3

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
4
1

L
e
a
rn

in
g

F
u
tu

re
s

-N
e
w

S
c
h
o
o
l
E

a
s
t

2
5
3

1
2
5

0
0

0
0

3
7
8

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
4
2

L
e
a
rn

in
g

F
u
tu

re
s

-
N

e
w

S
c
h
o
o
l
W

e
s
t

2
3
1

7
4

0
0

0
0

3
0
5

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
4
3

L
e
a
rn

in
g

F
u
tu

re
s

-
R

e
d
b
ri
d
g
e

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
c
h
o
o
l

1
7
1

2
,1

5
0

0
0

0
0

2
,3

2
1

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
4
4

L
e
a
rn

in
g

F
u
tu

re
s

-
S

h
o
lin

g
T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

S
c
h
o
o
l

3
8
2

6
9

0
0

0
0

4
5
1

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

Appendix 1



S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

E
9
0
4
5

L
e
a
rn

in
g

F
u
tu

re
s

-
B

it
te

rn
e

P
a
rk

S
c
h
o
o
l

1
,0

0
8

-1
2
9

0
0

0
0

8
7
9

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
4
6

L
e
a
rn

in
g

F
u
tu

re
s

-
R

e
g
e
n
ts

P
a
rk

C
o
m

m
C

o
lle

g
e

5
4
0

-2
8

0
0

0
0

5
1
2

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
4
7

L
e
a
rn

in
g

F
u
tu

re
s

-
U

p
p
e
r

S
h
ir
le

y
H

ig
h

S
c
h
o
o
l

1
,0

5
7

-1
9
0

0
0

0
0

8
6
7

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
4
8

L
.F

.
-

F
e
a
s
ib

ili
ty

W
o
rk

s
-

R
e
g
e
n
ts

P
a
rk

S
c
h
o
o
l

6
9

-2
4

0
0

0
0

4
5

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
4
9

L
.F

.
-

F
e
a
s
ib

ili
ty

W
o
rk

s
-

S
h
o
lin

g
T

e
c
h
.

C
o
lle

g
e

5
4

-3
0

0
0

0
5
1

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
5
0

H
a
re

fi
e
ld

P
ri
m

a
ry

R
e
b
u
ild

P
ro

je
c
t

7
6
7

1
,7

5
0

2
,0

5
0

5
7
8

0
0

5
,1

4
5

H
a
rd

s
,

R
ic

h
a
rd

E
9
0
5
4

A
c
a
d
a
m

ie
s

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

1
0
6

2
5
0

3
5
0

1
0
0

0
0

8
0
6

L
im

b
e
rt

,
K

a
rl

E
9
0
5
5

A
c
a
d
e
m

ie
s

-
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l
Im

p
a
c
t

G
ra

n
t

(E
IG

)
3
1
7

1
1

0
0

0
0

3
2
8

H
a
rd

s
,

R
ic

h
a
rd

E
9
0
5
6

M
a
yf

ie
ld

A
c
a
d
e
m

y
S

it
e

A
c
c
e
s
s

6
9

6
0
0

1
6
1

0
0

0
8
3
0

L
im

b
e
rt

,
K

a
rl

E
9
0
5
7

A
c
a
d
e
m

ie
s

-
C

a
p
it
a
l
W

o
rk

s
0

1
7
8

5
7
0

2
7
7

0
0

1
,0

2
5

L
im

b
e
rt

,
K

a
rl

E
9
0
5
8

B
it
te

rn
e

P
a
rk

6
th

F
o
rm

0
6
3
8

5
,1

6
2

5
8
0

0
0

6
,3

8
0

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
5
9

R
e
in

s
ta

te
m

e
n
t

o
f

L
a
n
d

a
t

R
e
d
b
ri
d
g
e

P
ri
m

a
ry

0
1
0

4
0

0
0

0
5
0

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
6
0

M
o
o
rl
a
n
d
s

P
ri
m

a
ry

R
e
b
u
ild

P
ro

je
c
t

5
3
4

3
1

0
0

0
0

5
6
5

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
7
1

T
h
o
rn

h
ill

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
h
ild

re
n
's

C
e
n
tr

e
9
6
6

3
3

0
0

0
0

9
9
9

H
o
ye

s
,

P
a
tr

ic
ia

E
9
0
7
2

T
o
w

n
h
ill

J
u
n
io

r
C

h
ild

re
n
's

C
e
n
tr

e
9
1
8

5
6

0
0

0
0

9
7
4

H
o
ye

s
,

P
a
tr

ic
ia

E
9
0
8
2

E
x
te

n
d
e
d

S
c
h
o
o
ls

F
u
n
d
in

g
2
0
0
8
-1

1
2
5
0

5
5

1
9
2

1
8
1

0
0

6
7
8

H
o
ye

s
,

P
a
tr

ic
ia

E
9
0
8
5

P
ri
m

a
ry

R
e
v
ie

w
4

1
0
0

5
3

7
5

0
0

2
3
2

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
8
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

A
t

S
t

M
a
ry

s
P

ri
m

a
ry

0
1
9
9

0
0

0
0

1
9
9

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
8
7

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

M
a
yt

re
e

In
fa

n
ts

0
5
8

0
0

0
0

5
8

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
8
8

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

F
a
ir
is

le
J
u
n
io

r
0

5
0

3
9
0

0
0

0
4
4
0

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
0
9
0

P
o
rt

s
w

o
o
d

S
c
h
o
o
l
-

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
n
d

9
4

1
8

0
0

0
0

1
1
2

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
2

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

M
a
yt

re
e

In
fa

n
t

-
P

h
a
s
e

2
0

1
8

2
0
8

6
0

0
2
3
2

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
3

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

S
t

M
a
ry

's
P

ri
m

a
ry

-
P

h
a
s
e

2
0

0
4
4
2

1
5
7

1
6

0
6
1
5

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
4

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

M
o
u
n
t

P
le

a
s
a
n
t

J
u
n
io

r
0

1
0

5
5
0

2
1
5

0
2
8
0

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
5

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

S
t

M
a
rk

's
J
u
n
io

r
0

0
3
7

4
7
5

1
1

0
5
2
3

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

F
re

e
m

a
n
tl
e

In
fa

n
t

0
1
7

6
7
9

1
9
2

2
2

0
9
1
0

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
7

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

S
t

J
o
h
n
's

In
fa

n
t

0
1
0

5
4
3

5
9
9

2
4

0
1
,1

7
6

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
8

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

B
a
n
is

te
r

In
fa

n
t

0
0

5
7
4

0
0

0
5
7
4

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
0
9
9

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

P
la

c
e
s

a
t

F
o
u
n
d
ry

L
a
n
e

P
ri
m

a
ry

0
0

9
0

6
7
6

5
7
7

3
2

1
,3

7
5

K
it
s
o
n
,

D
a
v
id

E
9
1
0
3

M
o
d
s

-
F

a
ir
is

le
J
u
n
io

r
-

A
c
c
e
s
s

L
if
t

&
L
in

k
C

o
rr

id
4

1
4
9

0
0

0
0

1
5
3

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
0
4

M
o
d
s

-
H

a
rd

m
o
o
r

E
Y

C
-

K
it
c
h
e
n

&
B

a
b
y

R
o
o
m

5
7
0

1
0
1

0
0

0
1
7
6

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
0
5

M
o
d
s

-
S

h
ir
le

y
In

fa
n
t

-
C

la
s
s
ro

o
m

E
x
te

n
s
io

n
5

6
3

0
0

0
0

6
8

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
0
6

M
o
d
s

-
S

t
M

o
n
ic

a
J
n
r

-
C

la
s
s
ro

o
m

E
x
te

n
s
io

n
6

1
9
6

1
0
0

0
0

0
3
0
2

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
0
7

M
o
d
s

-
T

o
w

n
h
ill

J
rn

-
C

la
s
s
ro

o
m

E
x
te

n
s
io

n
7

2
5

2
1
3

0
0

0
2
4
5

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
0
8

M
o
d
s

-
B

it
te

rn
e

In
f

&
J
rn

-
P

h
ra

s
e

3
V

e
n
ti
la

ti
o
n

0
7

4
3

0
0

0
5
0

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
0
9

M
o
d
s
-

S
c
h
o
o
l
K

it
c
h
e
n

C
a
n
o
p
ie

s
5
1

5
0

4
9

0
0

0
1
5
0

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
1
1

M
o
d
s

-
S

t
M

o
n
ic

a
In

f
-

C
la

s
s

E
x
t

0
1
2
0

1
2
1

0
0

0
2
4
1

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin



S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

E
9
1
1
2

M
o
d
s

-
S

p
ri
n
h
ill

P
ri
m

a
ry

-
P

ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n

K
it
c
h
e
n

0
2
5

3
7
5

0
0

0
4
0
0

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
1
3

M
o
d
s

-
S

h
ir
le

y
J
u
n
io

r
-

R
e
c
e
p
ti
o
n

0
1
4
8

0
0

0
0

1
4
8

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
1
4

M
o
d
s

-
F

a
ir
is

le
J
u
n
io

r
-

W
in

d
o
w

s
0

5
0

0
0

0
0

5
0

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
1
5

M
o
d
s

-
A

lt
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

to
V

a
le

n
ti
n
e
s

In
fa

n
t

S
c
h

K
it
c
h
e
n

0
2
5

5
1

0
0

0
7
6

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

E
9
1
1
6

M
o
d
s

-
A

lt
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

to
H

o
lly

b
ro

o
k

J
u
n
io

r
S

e
rv

e
ry

0
1
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

F
lo

yd
,

C
o
lin

L
7
6
3
0

P
la

y
A

re
a
s

(S
.1

0
6
)

1
,3

6
7

1
0
0

0
0

0
0

1
,4

6
7

H
ill

,
T

o
n
y

L
7
6
8
0

F
a
ir

P
la

y
P

la
yb

u
ild

e
r

2
2
3

8
2
7

5
0
0

5
0
5

0
0

2
,0

5
5

H
ill

,
T

o
n
y

L
7
6
9
0

T
h
o
rn

h
ill

A
d
v
e
n
tu

re
P

la
yg

ro
u
n
d

0
2
0
0

0
0

0
0

2
0
0

H
ill

,
T

o
n
y

R
9
9
1
1

In
te

g
ra

te
d

C
h
ild

re
n
s

S
ys

te
m

1
6
5

3
5

0
0

0
0

2
0
0

T
a
yl

o
r,

N
ic

h
o
la

s

2
4
,9

6
4

1
6
,8

0
3

2
9
,2

7
7

8
,5

2
3

3
,5

0
9

3
2

8
3
,1

0
8

U
n

a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

E
9
1
1
0

M
o
d
s

-
S

h
ir
le

y
W

a
rr

e
n

S
c
h

L
ib

ra
ry

B
u
ild

in
g

0
1
6

0
0

0
0

1
6

Il
lin

g
w

o
rt

h
,

P
a
u
l

0
1
6

0
0

0
0

1
6

T
o

ta
l

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

&
L

e
a
rn

in
g

2
4
,9

6
4

1
6
,8

1
9

2
9
,2

7
7

8
,5

2
3

3
,5

0
9

3
2

8
3
,1

2
4



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

fe
b
2
0
1
0

E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

P
O

R
T

F
O

L
IO

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

C
2
1
5
0

M
a
yf

lo
w

e
r

P
a
rk

1
4
9

1
3
8

0
0

0
0

2
8
7

R
ic

h
a
rd

s
o
n
,

A
d
ri
a
n

C
6
2
0
0

Q
E

2
M

ile
1
,8

2
7

1
,9

0
2

1
,0

8
0

0
0

1
,7

2
2

6
,5

3
1

T
a
yl

o
r,

S
im

o
n

J
7
5
8
0

M
o
s
q
u
e

T
ru

s
t

0
0

3
0

0
0

0
3
0

S
it
a
ra

m
,

S
u
k
a
n
ya

J
7
8
3
0

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
a
fe

ty
P

ro
je

c
ts

.
8
1

2
6

0
0

0
0

1
0
7

P
o
th

e
c
a
ry

,
G

e
o
rg

e

J
7
8
9
0

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

A
re

a
s

C
P

O
F

u
n
d

0
0

9
0

0
0

9
J
o
n
e
s
,

S
u
s
a
n

J
7
9
8
0

C
C

T
V

D
ig

it
a
lis

a
ti
o
n

2
1
3

8
2

3
0

0
0

0
3
2
5

P
o
th

e
c
a
ry

,
G

e
o
rg

e

M
9
3
1
0

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e

o
f

S
it
e
s

1
2

1
,0

4
8

0
0

0
0

1
,0

6
0

C
a
rr

,
R

o
b
e
rt

M
9
4
1
0

D
ri
v
e
r'
s

W
h
a
rf

It
c
h
e
n

W
a
te

rf
ro

n
t

8
2

1
6

0
0

0
0

9
8

D
o
b
s
o
n
,

A
la

s
ta

ir

M
9
4
2
0

W
e
s
t

Q
u
a
y

P
h
a
s
e

3
M

9
4
2
0

1
,2

0
0

4
0
9

1
1
0

0
0

0
1
,7

1
9

C
o
u
c
h
,

W
e
n
d
y

M
9
4
3
0

N
o
rt

h
e
rn

A
b
o
v
e

B
a
r

F
e
e
s

2
7
2

7
9

0
0

0
0

3
5
1

S
h
e
e
ra

n
,

G
ill

ia
n

M
9
4
6
0

G
a
n
tr

y
S

it
e

1
0
5

7
5

0
0

0
1
1
7

E
v
a
n
s
,

M
a
rk

M
9
5
0
0

N
o
rt

h
e
rn

A
b
o
v
e

B
a
r

(G
u
ild

h
a
ll

S
q
u
a
re

)
5
6
0

3
,4

8
5

8
1
6

0
0

0
4
,8

6
1

E
v
a
n
s
,

M
a
rk

M
9
8
2
0

M
a
jo

r
S

it
e

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

1
6
3

1
4
3

1
5
4

0
0

0
4
6
0

C
o
u
c
h
,

W
e
n
d
y

M
9
8
3
0

M
a
jo

r
S

it
e

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

-
F

e
a
s
ib

ili
ty

S
tu

d
ie

s
6
2

3
2
5

5
7
0

0
0

0
9
5
7

C
o
u
c
h
,

W
e
n
d
y

M
9
8
4
0

N
o
rt

h
e
rn

A
b
o
v
e

B
a
r

(C
&

A
S

it
e

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l
F

e
e
s
)

6
7

3
3

0
0

0
0

1
0
0

S
h
e
e
ra

n
,

G
ill

ia
n

M
9
8
5
0

L
o
w

e
r

H
ig

h
S

tr
e
e
t

5
3
0

2
5

0
0

0
6
0

M
e
re

d
it
h
,

E
m

m
a

M
9
8
7
0

T
yr

e
ll

&
G

re
e
n

B
u
ild

in
g

-
D

e
m

o
lit

io
n

9
6

6
0
4

1
0
0

0
0

0
8
0
0

S
h
e
e
ra

n
,

G
ill

ia
n

4
,8

9
4

8
,3

2
7

2
,9

2
9

0
0

1
,7

2
2

1
7
,8

7
2

T
o

ta
l

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
4
,8

9
4

8
,3

2
7

2
,9

2
9

0
0

1
,7

2
2

1
7
,8

7
2



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

fe
b
2
0
1
0

E
N

V
IR

O
N

M
E

N
T

&
T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

C
A

P
IT

A
L

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

C
7
1
7
1

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

3
5

1
2
9

3
5
4

0
0

0
5
1
8

S
m

it
h
,

C
o
lin

3
5

1
2
9

3
5
4

0
0

0

A
c
ti
v
e

T
ra

v
e
l

C
7
1
2
1

W
a
lk

in
g

5
9
7

2
1
9

0
0

0
0

8
1
6

H
ii,

H
io

n
g

c
h
in

g

C
7
1
3
1

C
yc

lin
g

3
3
6

3
4
3

5
4
5

0
0

0
1
,2

2
4

B
o
s
to

c
k
,

D
a
le

9
3
3

5
6
2

5
4
5

0
0

0

B
ri
d
g
e
s

C
6
1
2
0

C
h
a
n
tr

y
R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tb

ri
d
g
e

0
3
2

2
5
2

0
0

0
2
8
4

H
a
rv

e
y,

J
o
h
n

C
7
9
0
0

It
c
h
e
n

B
ri
d
g
e

1
6
0

3
1
2

1
,0

2
4

0
0

0
1
,4

9
6

C
7
9
1
1

B
ri
d
g
e
s

4
1
8

2
,5

4
9

1
1
5

0
0

0
3
,0

8
2

S
im

p
k
in

s
,

J
o
h
n

5
7
8

2
,8

9
3

1
,3

9
1

0
0

0

C
it
y

&
D

is
tr

ic
t

C
e
n
tr

e
s

C
7
3
6
0

L
o
c
a
l
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
C

e
n
tr

e
s

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
5
0

2
4
0

0
0

0
2
9
0

H
ii,

H
io

n
g

c
h
in

g

0
5
0

2
4
0

0
0

0

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t

&
S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty

C
2
0
5
0

C
a
rb

o
n

E
m

is
s
io

n
s

In
v
e
n
to

ry
1
3

1
9

1
9

0
0

0
5
1

C
la

rk
,

R
o
b
e
rt

C
2
3
5
0

C
o
a
s
ta

l
P

ro
te

c
t'N

F
e
a
s
ib

.S
tu

d
y

9
5

8
0

0
0

0
1
0
3

C
ri
g
h
to

n
,

R
o
b
e
rt

C
2
4
0
0

E
-P

la
n
n
in

g
(P

D
G

)
2
7
5

1
7
0

3
2
1

0
0

0
7
6
6

N
ic

h
o
ls

,
P

a
u
l

C
2
4
1
0

M
o
b
ile

W
o
rk

in
g

0
1
0

4
0

0
0

0
5
0

F
e
rr

is
,

N
e
il

C
2
5
2
0

S
a
lix

E
n
e
rg

y
E

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y

M
e
a
s
u
re

s
6
6

5
7
6

1
2
4

0
0

0
7
6
6

C
la

rk
,

R
o
b
e
rt

4
4
9

7
8
3

5
0
4

0
0

0

G
e
n
e
ra

l
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t

C
2
5
4
0

G
a
n
tr

y
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

-
E

n
e
rg

y
In

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
0

1
9
5

4
5
5

0
0

0
6
5
0

C
la

rk
,

R
o
b
e
rt

C
2
6
0
0

M
a
n
s
e
l
a
n
d

G
re

e
n

P
a
rk

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

6
2

1
0

0
0

0
6
3

F
ri
e
d
m

a
n
,

D
a
n
ie

lle

C
2
6
5
0

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t

o
f

th
e

C
re

m
a
to

ri
u
m

9
7

3
0

1
2
7

0
0

0
2
5
4

W
e
lls

,
P

h
ili

p

C
2
6
6
0

G
e
o
th

e
rm

a
l
W

e
ll

P
u
m

p
H

e
a
d

0
1
0

6
5

0
0

0
7
5

C
la

rk
,

R
o
b
e
rt

C
2
6
8
0

E
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l
W

o
rk

s
to

K
e
n
n
e
ls

0
1
0

5
0

0
0

0
6
0

W
ils

o
n
,

N
o
rm

a
n

C
2
6
9
0

R
e
lo

c
a
ti
o
n

o
f

T
o
w

n
D

e
p
o
t

0
3
,7

1
0

6
,1

0
0

3
,5

4
0

0
0

1
3
,3

5
0

C
o
o
p
e
r,

M
a
lc

o
lm

C
2
7
2
0

R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

o
f

th
e

C
re

m
a
to

rs
0

2
4

4
6
6

1
,1

1
8

1
,0

5
2

0
2
,6

6
0

W
e
lls

,
P

h
ili

p

1
5
9

3
,9

8
0

7
,2

6
3

4
,6

5
8

1
,0

5
2

0



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

H
ig

h
w

a
ys

O
th

e
r

C
3
9
1
0

T
ra

ff
ic

S
ig

n
a
ls

-
D

e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

1
1
1

2
1
6

2
0
0

2
0
0

0
0

7
2
7

W
yl

ie
,

M
a
rt

in

C
5
0
2
0

A
n
d
e
rs

o
n
s

R
o
a
d

2
3
6

0
3
5

0
0

0
2
7
1

R
e
d
m

a
n
,

G
ra

h
a
m

C
6
2
1
0

P
a
rk

in
g

o
n

V
e
rg

e
s

(C
6
1
0
)

4
7

1
1

0
0

0
0

5
8

H
ii,

H
io

n
g

c
h
in

g

C
7
1
2
W

W
a
lk

in
g

-
B

e
d
fo

rd
P

la
c
e

0
1
5
8

7
7
1

0
0

0
9
2
9

M
a
h
m

o
o
d
,

M
u
rt

a
z
a

C
7
1
9
1

L
T

P
-

O
th

e
r

H
ig

h
w

a
ys

2
5
4

1
1
0

0
0

0
0

3
6
4

S
m

it
h
,

C
o
lin

C
7
1
9
C

C
it
y

C
e
n
tr

e
S

tu
d
ie

s
1
5

1
2
5

0
0

0
0

1
4
0

W
e
s
tg

a
te

,
A

n
th

o
n
y

C
7
2
4
1

D
N

U
M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

8
4

1
0

2
2

0
0

0
1
1
6

H
ii,

H
io

n
g

c
h
in

g

C
7
9
7
1

U
K

P
M

S
2
9
1

1
9
8

1
0
0

0
0

0
5
8
9

B
u
ll,

W
ill

ia
m

C
8
2
0
0

H
ig

h
w

a
ys

D
ra

in
a
g
e

(C
8
2
0
0
)

5
2

1
3
0

0
0

0
0

1
8
2

R
ic

h
a
rd

s
,

J
a
n
e

C
9
1
5
0

S
1
0
6

D
e
s
ig

n
5
6

2
2

0
0

0
0

7
8

H
a
rv

e
y,

J
o
h
n

1
,1

4
6

9
8
0

1
,1

2
8

2
0
0

0
0

Im
p
ro

v
e
d

S
a
fe

ty

C
7
1
5
1

Im
p
ro

v
e
d

S
a
fe

ty
5
1
4

4
3
3

4
4
1

0
0

0
1
,3

8
8

S
m

it
h
,

C
o
lin

5
1
4

4
3
3

4
4
1

0
0

0

N
e
tw

o
rk

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

C
3
9
2
0

It
c
h
e
n

B
ri
d
g
e

M
o
to

r
C

yc
le

L
a
n
e

0
0

4
0

0
0

0
4
0

M
o
rt

im
e
r,

R
o
g
e
r

C
7
1
8
1

IT
S

1
1
2

8
5

1
0
0

0
0

0
2
9
7

B
u
rn

s
,

N
ic

h
o
la

s

1
1
2

8
5

1
4
0

0
0

0

P
a
rk

in
g

C
9
4
7
1

M
S

C
P

1
0

Y
e
a
r

M
a
in

t.
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
9
6
8

1
,1

8
4

9
4
8

0
0

0
3
,1

0
0

S
a
h
o
ta

,
J
a
s
w

in
d
e
r

9
6
8

1
,1

8
4

9
4
8

0
0

0

P
u
b
lic

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

C
6
1
9
0

S
m

a
rt

c
a
rd

s
(M

ig
ra

ti
o
n

to
IT

S
O

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
)

6
7
0

9
0

0
0

0
0

7
6
0

B
e
ll,

S
im

o
n

C
7
1
4
1

P
u
b
lic

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

2
,1

8
1

3
0
8

4
1
6

0
0

0
2
,9

0
5

B
a
x
te

r,
F

ra
n
c
is

2
,8

5
1

3
9
8

4
1
6

0
0

0

R
o
a
d
s

C
3
9
0
0

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l
R

d
A

re
a

H
ig

h
w

a
y

W
o
rk

s
(D

e
v
)

3
8
7

5
0

0
0

0
3
9
2

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
6
1
2
3

R
e
g
e
n
ts

P
a
rk

R
o
a
d

(C
6
1
2
2
)

2
6
1

1
1

0
0

0
0

2
7
2

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
6
1
2
4

D
o
c
k
g
a
te

2
0

2
,5

5
0

5
0

0
0

0
2
,5

5
5

H
ii,

H
io

n
g

c
h
in

g

C
6
1
2
5

S
h
ir
le

y
T

o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
9
1
5

5
0

0
0

0
0

9
6
5

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
7
9
2
1

V
a
ri
o
u
s

P
ri
n
c
ip

a
l

3
9
4

1
,8

7
1

4
2
5

0
0

0
2
,6

9
0

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
7
9
2
J

S
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l
R

e
p
a
ir
s

C
7
9
2
J

4
0

8
2
4

0
0

0
0

8
6
4

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
7
9
5
E

P
o
rt

s
m

o
u
th

R
d

0
1
,6

0
5

0
0

0
0

1
,6

0
5

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
8
0
0
0

C
la

s
s
if
ie

d
R

o
a
d
s

1
,2

9
0

1
,3

3
2

1
5

0
0

0
2
,6

3
7

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
8
1
0
0

U
n
c
la

s
s
if
ie

d
R

o
a
d
s

1
,9

4
1

1
,7

5
2

2
1
5

0
0

0
3
,9

0
8

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
9
0
0
0

A
d
v
a
n
c
e

D
e
s
ig

n
fe

e
s

2
6
6

5
5

8
5

0
0

0
4
0
6

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

C
9
1
2
0

H
ig

h
w

a
ys

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

(D
e
v
e
lo

p
e
r)

5
2
2

3
5
2

3
5
8

0
0

0
1
,2

3
2

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

8
,5

6
6

7
,8

6
2

1
,0

9
8

0
0

0

S
tr

e
e
t

F
u
rn

it
u
re

C
8
8
0
0

S
t

F
u
rn

it
u
re

8
2
8

2
2
0

2
3
0

0
0

0
1
,2

7
8

S
h
e
p
p
a
rd

,
R

o
w

a
n

8
2
8

2
2
0

2
3
0

0
0

0

S
tr

e
e
t

L
ig

h
ti
n
g

C
6
0
2
0

S
tr

e
e
t

L
ig

h
ti
n
g

(D
e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

)
2
5
8

5
1
0

0
0

0
2
7
3

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
8
3
0
0

S
t

L
ig

h
ti
n
g

1
,2

0
1

9
4

0
0

0
0

1
,2

9
5

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

1
,4

5
9

9
9

1
0

0
0

0

T
ra

v
e
l
P

la
n
n
in

g

C
7
1
6
1

T
ra

v
e
l
to

S
c
h
o
o
l

5
5
2

3
1
2

2
0
0

0
0

0
1
,0

6
4

B
a
g
s
h
a
w

,
C

a
ro

l

5
5
2

3
1
2

2
0
0

0
0

0

1
9
,1

5
0

1
9
,9

7
0

1
4
,9

0
8

4
,8

5
8

1
,0

5
2

0
5
9
,9

3
8

U
n

a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

C
7
1
7
1

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

0
0

1
2
0

0
0

0
1
2
0

S
m

it
h
,

C
o
lin

0
0

1
2
0

0
0

0

A
c
ti
v
e

T
ra

v
e
l

C
7
1
2
1

W
a
lk

in
g

0
0

2
6
8

0
0

0
2
6
8

H
ii,

H
io

n
g

c
h
in

g

C
7
1
3
1

C
yc

lin
g

0
0

4
2
9

0
0

0
4
2
9

B
o
s
to

c
k
,

D
a
le

0
0

6
9
7

0
0

0

B
ri
d
g
e
s

C
7
9
1
1

B
ri
d
g
e
s

0
0

3
0
7

0
0

0
3
0
7

S
im

p
k
in

s
,

J
o
h
n

0
0

3
0
7

0
0

0

C
it
y

&
D

is
tr

ic
t

C
e
n
tr

e
s

C
8
9
0
0

C
it
y

C
e
n
tr

e
P

a
v
in

g
0

0
2
0
0

0
0

0
2
0
0

T
a
yl

o
r,

S
im

o
n

0
0

2
0
0

0
0

0

H
ig

h
w

a
ys

O
th

e
r

C
7
2
4
1

D
N

U
M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

0
0

4
0

0
0

0
4
0

H
ii,

H
io

n
g

c
h
in

g

0
0

4
0

0
0

0

P
u
b
lic

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

C
7
1
4
1

P
u
b
lic

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

0
3
0

8
9
5

3
7
5

0
0

1
,3

0
0

B
a
x
te

r,
F

ra
n
c
is

0
3
0

8
9
5

3
7
5

0
0

R
o
a
d
s

C
7
9
2
1

V
a
ri
o
u
s

P
ri
n
c
ip

a
l

0
1
3
0

1
,3

6
0

0
0

0
1
,4

9
0

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

C
8
0
0
0

C
la

s
s
if
ie

d
R

o
a
d
s

0
0

1
,0

7
3

0
0

0
1
,0

7
3

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
8
1
0
0

U
n
c
la

s
s
if
ie

d
R

o
a
d
s

0
0

5
5
0

0
0

0
5
5
0

A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g
,

D
a
v
id

C
9
1
3
1

S
u
rf

a
c
e

T
re

a
tm

e
n
ts

C
9
1
3
1

0
0

8
7
2

0
0

0
8
7
2

C
9
2
0
0

H
ig

h
w

a
ys

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

R
is

k
F

u
n
d

C
9
2
0
0

0
0

1
0
0

0
0

0
1
0
0

0
1
3
0

3
,9

5
5

0
0

0

T
ra

v
e
l
P

la
n
n
in

g

C
7
1
6
1

T
ra

v
e
l
to

S
c
h
o
o
l

0
0

5
0

0
0

0
5
0

B
a
g
s
h
a
w

,
C

a
ro

l

0
0

5
0

0
0

0

0
1
6
0

6
,2

6
4

3
7
5

0
0

6
,7

9
9

T
o

ta
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
1
9
,1

5
0

2
0
,1

3
0

2
1
,1

7
2

5
,2

3
3

1
,0

5
2

0
6
6
,7

3
7



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

fe
b
2
0
1
0

A
D

U
L

T
S

O
C

IA
L

C
A

R
E

&
H

E
A

L
T

H
P

O
R

T
F

O
L

IO

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

R
9
1
1
0

S
o
c
ia

l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

C
a
re

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

S
ys

te
m

1
,9

5
9

7
0

0
0

0
1
,9

6
6

W
o
o
d
,

R
o
s
e
m

a
ry

R
9
2
1
5

M
o
d
e
rn

is
a
ti
o
n

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
D

a
y

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

-
P

h
a
s
e

2
4
3
2

1
,3

1
9

9
0

0
0

0
1
,8

4
1

H
a
rr

is
,

S
u
s
a
n

R
9
2
6
5

S
D

S
M

o
d
e
rn

is
a
ti
o
n

W
o
o
ls

to
n

C
o
m

m
C

e
n
tr

e
5

2
5

9
7
0

0
0

0
1
,0

0
0

H
a
rr

is
,

S
u
s
a
n

R
9
2
7
0

E
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l
A

p
p
lia

n
c
e
s

a
n
d

E
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t

1
9
4

1
0

0
0

0
1
9
5

C
h
a
n
,

L
in

d
a

R
9
2
8
0

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
a
fe

ty
W

o
rk

s
9
6

4
0

0
0

0
1
0
0

C
h
a
n
,

L
in

d
a

R
9
3
1
0

M
e
n
ta

l
H

e
a
lt
h

S
c
h
e
m

e
(R

9
3
1
0
)

9
8

2
5

2
5
1

0
0

0
3
7
4

B
in

n
s
,

C
a
ro

le

R
9
3
2
0

H
IV

A
id

s
C

a
p
it
a
l
G

ra
n
t

1
9

1
0

0
0

0
2
0

S
h
ie

ld
s
,

D
a
v
id

R
9
3
3
0

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
C

a
re

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
a
n
d

H
&

S
W

o
rk

3
7

1
8
3

2
4
1

0
0

0
4
6
1

C
h
a
n
,

L
in

d
a

R
9
3
4
0

R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

o
f

A
p
p
lia

n
c
e
s

a
n
d

E
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t

4
1

1
1
9

8
0

0
0

0
2
4
0

C
h
a
n
,

L
in

d
a

R
9
3
6
0

B
lu

e
B

a
d
g
e

-
S

o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
C

e
n
tr

e
fo

r
E

x
c
e
lle

n
c
e

0
5
0

0
0

0
0

5
0

R
o
b
s
o
n
,

A
la

n

R
9
4
0
0

A
d
u
lt

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
-

O
w

n
H

o
m

e
S

u
p
p
o
rt

G
ra

n
t

2
3

0
7
7

0
0

0
1
0
0

W
o
o
d
,

R
o
s
e
m

a
ry

R
9
4
1
0

H
o
m

e
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

W
o
rk

s
1
8
2

1
5

0
0

0
0

1
9
7

C
h
a
n
,

L
in

d
a

R
9
5
0
0

IT
In

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
G

ra
n
t

0
1
0
0

1
1
6

0
0

0
2
1
6

W
o
o
d
,

R
o
s
e
m

a
ry

R
9
9
1
8

K
e
n
ti
s
h

R
o
a
d

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t

fo
r

S
IP

S
T

e
a
m

0
1
3

0
0

0
0

1
3

V
a
le

n
ti
n
e
,

C
a
ro

l

3
,0

8
6

1
,8

6
2

1
,8

2
5

0
0

0
6
,7

7
3

T
o

ta
l

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a
lt

h
3
,0

8
6

1
,8

6
2

1
,8

2
5

0
0

0
6
,7

7
3



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

fe
b
2
0
1
0

H
O

U
S

IN
G

&
L

O
C

A
L

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

A
P

IT
A

L

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

H
o

u
s
in

g
G

e
n

e
ra

l
F

u
n

d

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

G
F

0
0
1

S
u
p
p
o
rt

to
R

S
L
's

7
2
8

1
,0

6
5

6
0
0

0
0

0
2
,3

9
3

S
ta

n
le

y,
S

h
e
rr

e
e

G
F

1
0
0

H
o
m

e
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

L
o
a
n
s

(G
F

1
0
0
)

1
,2

5
3

1
,6

2
4

0
0

0
0

2
,8

7
7

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

2
0
0

A
c
c
e
s
ib

le
H

o
m

e
s

0
1
6
4

2
4
6

0
0

0
4
1
0

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

3
0
0

P
U

S
H

(G
F

3
0
0
)

2
6

4
5

7
1

0
0

0
1
4
2

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

4
0
0

L
a
n
d
lo

rd
L
o
a
n
s

0
0

1
2
3

0
0

0
1
2
3

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

5
0
0

W
a
rm

H
o
m

e
G

ra
n
t

0
8
2

0
0

0
0

8
2

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

6
0
0

H
o
m

e
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

A
g
e
n
c
y

(G
F

6
0
0
)

0
7
6

0
0

0
0

7
6

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

7
0
0

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l
S

a
la

ri
e
s

0
3
5
7

0
0

0
0

3
5
7

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

8
0
0

In
s
u
la

ti
o
n

1
1
2
5

1
7
5

4
9

0
0

3
5
0

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

9
0
0

D
is

a
b
le

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s

G
ra

n
t

1
,2

6
9

2
,1

0
0

4
6
8

0
0

0
3
,8

3
7

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

3
,2

7
7

5
,6

3
8

1
,6

8
3

4
9

0
0

1
0
,6

4
7

U
n

a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

G
6
5
2
0

E
n
a
b
lin

g
S

c
h
e
m

e
s

-
2
0
1
1
/1

2
0

0
0

5
1

0
0

5
1

S
ta

n
le

y,
S

h
e
rr

e
e

G
F

0
0
1

S
u
p
p
o
rt

to
R

S
L
's

0
0

1
,0

4
9

9
1
9

0
0

1
,9

6
8

S
ta

n
le

y,
S

h
e
rr

e
e

G
F

1
0
0

H
o
m

e
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

L
o
a
n
s

(G
F

1
0
0
)

0
0

1
,5

9
4

1
,5

9
4

1
,5

9
4

0
4
,7

8
2

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

2
0
0

A
c
c
e
s
ib

le
H

o
m

e
s

0
0

2
7
9

2
7
9

2
7
9

0
8
3
7

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

3
0
0

P
U

S
H

(G
F

3
0
0
)

0
0

6
1

6
1

6
1

0
1
8
3

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

4
0
0

L
a
n
d
lo

rd
L
o
a
n
s

0
0

1
2
9

1
2
9

1
2
9

0
3
8
7

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

5
0
0

W
a
rm

H
o
m

e
G

ra
n
t

0
0

1
4
8

1
4
8

1
4
8

0
4
4
4

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

6
0
0

H
o
m

e
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

A
g
e
n
c
y

(G
F

6
0
0
)

0
0

7
5

7
7

7
7

0
2
2
9

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

7
0
0

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l
S

a
la

ri
e
s

0
0

3
7
9

3
7
9

3
7
9

0
1
,1

3
7

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

G
F

9
0
0

D
is

a
b
le

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s

G
ra

n
t

0
0

1
,3

3
3

1
,9

8
7

2
,0

6
9

2
9
0

5
,6

7
9

J
u
a
n
,

P
a
u
l

0
0

5
,0

4
7

5
,6

2
4

4
,7

3
6

2
9
0

1
5
,6

9
7

T
o

ta
l

H
o

u
s
in

g
G

e
n

e
ra

l
F

u
n

d
3
,2

7
7

5
,6

3
8

6
,7

3
0

5
,6

7
3

4
,7

3
6

2
9
0

2
6
,3

4
4



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

N
S

0
0
9

A
llo

tm
e
n
t

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
1
4

0
0

0
0

1
4

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
0

P
o
rt

s
w

o
o
d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
n
d

P
h
a
s
e
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
2
3

0
0

0
0

2
3

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
1

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
C

o
m

m
o
n

A
c
c
e
s
s

P
ro

je
c
t

1
6

1
6

0
0

0
0

3
2

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
2

R
iv

e
rs

id
e

G
re

e
n

F
la

g
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

4
4

3
1

0
0

0
0

7
5

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
3

W
e
s
to

n
S

h
o
re

G
re

e
n

F
la

g
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

n
ts

0
2
5

0
0

0
0

2
5

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
4

Q
u
e
e
n

P
a
rk

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

n
ts

7
1
0

5
9

0
0

0
7
6

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
5

D
a
is

y
D

ip
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

(N
S

0
1
5
)

1
4

2
0

1
0

0
0

0
4
4

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
8

P
e
a
rt

re
e

M
in

o
r

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
8

0
0

0
0

8
Y

e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
1
9

F
ro

g
s

C
o
p
s
e

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

1
0

0
9

0
0

0
1
9

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
0

L
o
rd

s
d
a
le

G
re

e
n
w

a
y

A
c
c
e
s
s

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

1
4

4
0

0
0

0
1
8

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
1

S
h
o
re

b
u
rs

H
o
n
e
yp

o
t

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
7

6
0

0
0

1
3

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
2

C
e
n
tr

a
l
P

a
rk

s
In

te
rp

re
ta

ti
o
n

S
in

a
g
e

0
1
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
3

F
re

e
m

a
n
tl
e

C
o
m

m
o
n

M
in

o
r

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
1
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
5

H
o
g
la

n
d
s

S
k
a
ti
n
g

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
6

0
0

0
0

6
Y

e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
6

R
e
d
b
ri
d
g
e

W
h
a
rf

Y
o
u
th

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

1
0

1
0

0
0

0
0

2
0

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
7

M
in

o
r

P
a
rk

s
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

W
o
rk

s
5

1
7

3
0

0
0

2
5

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s

(N
S

0
2
8
)

1
8

1
7
2

0
0

0
0

1
9
0

J
o
n
e
s
,

D
a
w

n

N
S

0
2
9

S
t

J
a
m

e
s

P
a
rk

H
L
F

P
ro

je
c
t

0
3
2
2

1
,1

1
4

0
0

0
1
,4

3
6

S
a
w

a
rd

,
H

e
le

n

N
S

0
3
0

M
o
b
ile

W
o
rk

in
g

F
o
r

P
&

C
F

ro
n
tl
in

e
0

3
0

0
0

0
0

3
0

H
o
rt

o
n
,

J
o
h
n

N
S

0
3
1

P
a
rk

s
S

a
fe

ty
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
2
5

0
0

0
0

2
5

H
o
rt

o
n
,

J
o
h
n

N
S

0
3
2

P
re

v
e
n
ti
n
g

Il
le

g
a
l
A

c
c
e
s
s

T
o

G
re

e
n

S
p
a
c
e

2
2

7
8

5
0

0
0

0
1
5
0

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
3
3

L
A

A
S

tr
e
tc

h
T

a
rg

e
t

1
2

5
1

2
8

0
0

0
0

7
9

S
a
w

a
rd

,
H

e
le

n

N
S

0
3
4

S
tr

e
e
ts

c
e
n
e

T
h
o
rn

h
ill

8
3
1
2

6
0

0
0

0
3
8
0

H
o
w

a
rd

,
P

a
u
l

2
1
9

1
,1

7
8

1
,3

1
1

0
0

0
2
,7

0
8

U
n

a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

N
S

0
2
4

F
re

e
m

a
n
tl
e

L
a
k
e

P
a
rk

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

0
8

9
0

0
0

1
7

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

N
S

0
2
7

M
in

o
r

P
a
rk

s
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

W
o
rk

s
0

0
5
0

0
0

0
5
0

Y
e
a
ts

,
N

ic
h
o
la

s

0
8

5
9

0
0

0
6
7

T
o

ta
l

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s
2
1
9

1
,1

8
6

1
,3

7
0

0
0

0
2
,7

7
5

T
o

ta
l

H
o

u
s
in

g
&

L
o

c
a
l

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

3
,4

9
6

6
,8

2
4

8
,1

0
0

5
,6

7
3

4
,7

3
6

2
9
0

2
9
,1

1
9



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

fe
b
2
0
1
0

L
E

IS
U

R
E

,
C

U
L

T
U

R
E

&
H

E
R

IT
A

G
E

P
O

R
T

F
O

L
IO

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

L
C

1
0
1

T
u
d
o
r

H
o
u
s
e

M
u
s
e
u
m

(L
C

1
0
1
)

5
1
1

4
0

0
0

0
5
1
5

D
ye

r-
S

la
d
e
,

T
in

a

L
C

1
0
1

T
u
d
o
r

H
o
u
s
e

M
u
s
e
u
m

(L
C

1
0
1
)

1
,8

2
5

1
,6

9
9

3
,2

3
3

5
4
5

0
0

7
,3

0
2

L
o
w

e
,

J
a
s
o
n

L
C

1
0
2

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

C
e
n
tr

e
/

S
e
a

C
it
y

M
u
s
e
u
m

4
8

1
,3

0
9

6
8

0
0

0
1
,4

2
5

D
ye

r-
S

la
d
e
,

T
in

a

L
C

2
0
1

A
rt

s
a
n
d

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

0
0

5
0

0
0

5
R

u
s
s
e
l,

A
n
d
re

w

L
C

2
0
1

A
rt

s
a
n
d

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

1
4
1

0
0

0
0

4
2

S
h
e
p
h
e
rd

,
L
is

a

L
C

2
0
1

A
rt

s
a
n
d

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

3
0
2

4
8

0
0

0
3
1
4

S
m

it
h
,

E
liz

a
b
e
th

L
C

3
0
1

S
N

A
C

(L
C

3
0
1
)

9
7
9

2
5
0

6
8
3

8
0
3

8
,6

0
1

1
,6

9
4

1
3
,0

1
0

L
o
w

,
J
ill

L
C

4
0
1

P
it
c
h

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

(L
C

4
0
1
)

0
6
5

0
8
4

0
0

1
4
9

L
u
d
d
e
n
,

J
a
yn

e

L
C

4
0
3

S
p
o
rt

a
n
d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

2
1
7
5

0
0

0
0

1
7
7

L
u
d
d
e
n
,

J
a
yn

e

L
C

5
0
1

L
ib

ra
ri
e
s

2
4
6
8

0
0

0
0

4
7
0

B
a
ld

w
in

,
D

a
v
id

L
C

6
0
1

O
th

e
r

P
ro

je
c
ts

(L
C

6
0
1
)

3
7

4
0

0
0

0
4
1

G
re

e
n
e
,

N
ig

e
l

3
,7

0
7

4
,0

1
9

3
,9

9
7

1
,4

3
2

8
,6

0
1

1
,6

9
4

2
3
,4

5
0

U
n

a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

L
C

1
0
2

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

C
e
n
tr

e
/

S
e
a

C
it
y

M
u
s
e
u
m

0
0

3
,7

7
5

9
,4

2
0

1
0
2

2
7
8

1
3
,5

7
5

D
ye

r-
S

la
d
e
,

T
in

a

L
C

2
0
1

A
rt

s
a
n
d

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

1
4

0
2
5
8

7
2

0
0

3
4
4

S
h
e
p
h
e
rd

,
L
is

a

L
C

2
0
1

A
rt

s
a
n
d

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

0
0

0
7
4

0
0

7
4

S
m

it
h
,

E
liz

a
b
e
th

L
C

3
0
1

S
N

A
C

(L
C

3
0
1
)

0
0

0
0

0
6
,6

2
0

6
,6

2
0

L
o
w

,
J
ill

L
C

4
0
1

P
it
c
h

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

(L
C

4
0
1
)

0
0

2
4
6

0
0

0
2
4
6

L
u
d
d
e
n
,

J
a
yn

e

L
C

4
0
2

S
w

im
m

in
g

P
o
o
l
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

(L
C

4
0
2
)

0
6
9

0
0

0
0

6
9

L
u
d
d
e
n
,

J
a
yn

e

L
C

6
0
2

O
th

e
r

P
ro

je
c
ts

(L
C

6
0
2
)

0
0

0
5
0

0
0

5
0

D
ye

r-
S

la
d
e
,

T
in

a

1
4

6
9

4
,2

7
9

9
,6

1
6

1
0
2

6
,8

9
8

2
0
,9

7
8

T
o

ta
l

L
e
is

u
re

,
C

u
lt

u
re

&
H

e
ri

ta
g

e
3
,7

2
1

4
,0

8
8

8
,2

7
6

1
1
,0

4
8

8
,7

0
3

8
,5

9
2

4
4
,4

2
8



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

1

fe
b
2
0
1
0

R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
&

W
O

R
K

F
O

R
C

E
P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E

S
c
h
e
m

e

N
o
.

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

P
ri
o
r

to

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
0
9
/1

0

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
0
/1

1

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
1
/1

2

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

2
0
1
2
/1

3

£
0
0
0

E
s
ti
m

a
te

L
a
te

r
Y

rs

£
0
0
0

T
o
ta

l

£
0
0
0

P
ro

je
c
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

M
9
6
4
0

C
o
n
n
e
c
ti
o
n

to
U

ti
lic

o
m

D
is

tr
ic

t
C

o
o
lin

g
S

ys
te

m
2
2
4

2
0

0
0

0
0

2
4
4

H
o
d
g
e
,

R
ic

h
a
rd

M
9
7
1
0

O
ff

ic
e

A
c
c
o
m

o
d
a
ti
o
n

1
,0

5
8

7
1

7
,4

8
0

7
,3

7
2

4
,0

1
9

0
2
0
,0

0
0

F
o
x
,

A
v
is

M
9
7
6
0

H
o
m

e
w

o
rk

in
g

-
D

e
d
ic

a
te

d
A

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

2
2

7
0

0
0

0
2
9

F
o
x
,

A
n
n
a
b
e
l

P
6
2
3
0

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t

o
f

C
o
m

p
u
te

r
S

u
it
e

2
9
1

2
7
0

0
0

0
0

5
6
1

A
lla

n
,

M
a
rk

P
6
8
3
0

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
R

e
v
ie

w
2
8

0
1
2

0
0

0
4
0

F
o
x
,

A
n
n
a
b
e
l

P
6
8
4
0

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n
o
f

IT
R

e
m

o
te

A
c
c
e
s
s

H
o
m

e
W

o
rk

in
g

2
5
3

0
2

0
0

0
2
5
5

F
o
x
,

A
n
n
a
b
e
l

P
6
8
5
0

R
&

M
b
a
c
k
lo

g
N

e
w

C
a
p
it
a
l
2

m
ill

io
n

1
,0

4
9

3
,3

4
7

7
0

0
0

0
4
,4

6
6

E
lli

o
tt

,
A

n
d
re

w

P
6
8
6
0

O
v
e
rl
in

e
H

o
u
s
e

A
c
c
o
m

m
.

C
h
a
n
g
e
s

1
8
7

0
2
0

0
0

0
2
0
7

F
o
x
,

A
n
n
a
b
e
l

P
8
0
0
0

1
8
3

H
ig

h
S

tr
e
e
t

0
0

1
,7

6
8

0
0

0
1
,7

6
8

M
a
d
d
o
x
-H

in
to

n
,

D
e
e

3
,1

1
2

3
,7

1
5

9
,3

5
2

7
,3

7
2

4
,0

1
9

0
2
7
,5

7
0

U
n

a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

S
c
h

e
m

e
s

P
6
8
5
0

R
&

M
b
a
c
k
lo

g
N

e
w

C
a
p
it
a
l

0
0

0
0

1
,6

3
3

0
1
,6

3
3

E
lli

o
tt

,
A

n
d
re

w

P
6
8
5
0

M
a
g
is

tr
a
te

s
C

o
u
rt

/
A

rt
G

a
lle

ry
0

0
2
,2

4
1

9
6
8

0
0

3
,2

0
9

E
lli

o
tt

,
A

n
d
re

w

0
0

2
,2

4
1

9
6
8

1
,6

3
3

0
4
,8

4
2

T
o

ta
l

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

&
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
P

la
n

n
in

g
3
,1

1
2

3
,7

1
5

1
1
,5

9
3

8
,3

4
0

5
,6

5
2

0
3
2
,4

1
2



This page is intentionally left blank



M
a

jo
r

V
a

ri
a

ti
o

n
s

s
in

c
e

th
e

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

2
0

0
9

C
a

p
it

a
l

U
p

d
a

te

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

S
c
h

e
m

e
£
0
0
0

S
o

u
rc

e
o

f
F

u
n

d
in

g
C

o
u

n
c
il

P
ri

o
ri

ty

In
c
re

a
s
e
s

to
th

e
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

C
S

L
B

it
te

rn
e

P
a
rk

6
th

F
o
rm

6
,3

8
0

G
G

In
v
e
s
ti
n
g

in
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

&
T

ra
in

in
g

E
&

T
N

e
w

C
re

m
a
to

rs
2
,6

6
0

C
R

,
R

e
v

K
e
e
p
in

g
th

e
C

it
y

G
re

e
n

&
C

le
a
n

E
&

T
G

a
n
tr

y
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t
-

E
n
e
rg

y
In

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
6
5
0

G
G

K
e
e
p
in

g
th

e
C

it
y

G
re

e
n

&
C

le
a
n

E
&

T
S

1
0
6

F
u
n
d
e
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

1
,3

0
2

C
G

e
tt
in

g
th

e
C

it
y

W
o
rk

in
g

H
&

L
S

S
t
J
a
m

e
s

P
h
a
s
e

2
1
,4

3
6

C
R

,
C

L
o
o
k
in

g
A

ft
e
r

P
e
o
p
le

H
&

L
S

D
is

a
b
le

d
F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s

1
,6

5
0

C
R

,
G

G
L
o
o
k
in

g
A

ft
e
r

P
e
o
p
le

H
&

L
S

H
o
m

e
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t
L
o
a
n
s

1
,5

9
4

G
G

L
o
o
k
in

g
A

ft
e
r

P
e
o
p
le

L
C

&
H

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

C
e
n
tr

e
/
S

e
a

C
it
y

M
u
s
e
u
m

1
3
,5

8
5

C
/
G

G
G

e
tt
in

g
th

e
C

it
y

W
o
rk

in
g

R
&

W
P

M
a
g
is

tr
a
te

s
C

o
u
rt

/
A

rt
G

a
lle

ry
3
,2

0
9

C
R

G
e
tt
in

g
th

e
C

it
y

W
o
rk

in
g

R
&

W
P

O
ff

ic
e

A
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

1
,3

2
4

C
R

O
th

e
r

v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
s

1
,3

5
8

V
a
ri
o
u
s

V
a
ri
o
u
s

3
5
,1

4
8

D
e
c
re

a
s
e
s

to
th

e
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

R
&

W
P

R
e
p
a
ir

&
M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

B
a
c
k
lo

g
(t

ra
n
s
fe

rr
e
d

to
s
c
h
e
m

e
s

a
b
o
v
e
)

-1
,7

0
7

O
th

e
r

v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
s

0
V

a
ri
o
u
s

V
a
ri
o
u
s

-1
,7

0
7

T
o

ta
l

3
3
,4

4
1

K
e
y
:

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

C
S

L
C

h
ild

re
n
's

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

&
L
e
a
rn

in
g

E
&

T
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t
&

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

H
&

L
S

H
o
u
s
in

g
&

L
o
c
a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

R
&

W
P

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

&
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
P

la
n
n
in

g

F
u

n
d

in
g

S
o

u
rc

e

C
C

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s

C
R

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

G
G

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
G

ra
n
ts

Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Major Changes in Capital Resources since September 2009 Update 

 

The main reasons for the resource changes are: 

 

• Unsupported Borrowing (£3.2M increase) 

o £2.0M Repair & Maintenance Backlog 

o £1.7M New Cremators 

o £0.3M Economic Development – Major Projects 

o £0.3M Adult Social Care & Health Works and Equipment for Care Homes 

o (£1.1M) Other Various 

 

• Capital Receipts (£2.3M increase) 

o £1.3M Housing Capital Receipts 

o £1.0M Non-Housing Capital Receipts 

 

• Contributions (£12.0M increase) 

o £9.0M Heritage Centre / Sea City Museum 

o £1.3M St James Phase 2 

o £0.4M Highways Improvements 

o £0.4M Southampton Central Station 

o £0.9M Other Various 

 

• Capital Grants (£14.7M increase) 

o £6.4M Bitterne Park 6th Form 

o £1.6M Home Improvement Loans 

o £1.3M Disabled Facilities 

o £4.6M Heritage Centre / Sea City Museum 

o (£0.9M) Housing Local Company 

o £1.7M Other Various 

 

• DRF (£2.1M increase) 

o £0.9M New Cremators 

o £0.6M Roads Programme 

o £0.5M Repair & Maintenance Programme 

o £0.1M Other Various 

 

Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4
by virtue of paragraph number 3 of the Council’s Access to information Proceedure Rules

Document is Confidential



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  CABINET 

COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2010/11 TO 
2012/13 

DATE OF DECISION: 1ST FEBRUARY 2010 

17TH FEBRUARY 2010 

REPORT OF: CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES AND 
WORKFORCE PLANNING 

AUTHOR: Name:  ROB CARR Tel: 023 80 83 2708 

 E-mail: Rob.Carr@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

N/A 

 

SUMMARY 

Since the Council set its 2009/10 budget in February 2009, the Country has officially 
been in recession, economic growth has declined and unemployment is rising.  There 
is a range of expert views as to when the decline will reverse and the Country will 
begin to see an economic upturn. 

Clearly the economic climate has a direct impact upon the Council.  Income levels in 
key areas such as car parking continue to decline and demand for certain service 
areas supporting those individuals most affected by the economic climate continue to 
rise sharply, such as benefit applications. 

The Council has been taking a longer-term strategic approach to service and financial 
planning over a number of years, driving out significant efficiency savings year on 
year.  However, against the current backdrop, the Council has been required to take 
an extremely robust approach to medium term planning and is challenging every 
aspect of service delivery in order to ensure that the services provided and the 
performance levels achieved are at an appropriate level commensurate with the 
stated Priorities. 

As part of this over the Spring and Summer Officers prepared a detailed forecast for 
the 2010/11 budget together with options for additional spending and proposals for 
closing the estimated budget gap.  These details were further developed in 
conjunction with the Executive and a report was presented to the Cabinet on 26th 
October 2009 setting out the position for 2010/11 and the broad budget and council 
tax proposals of the Executive. 

This publication also signalled the start of a detailed consultation period with a wide 
range of stakeholders.  Proposals affecting staff were provided to the trade unions 
and detailed budget proposals were given to opposition political groups on a 
confidential basis to enable them to start developing their own alternative budgets. 

 

 

Appendix 5



 2

Work has been ongoing to refine the overall budget proposals and the purpose of this 
report is to: 

 

• Update this information and set out the latest estimated overall financial 
position on the General Fund Revenue Budget for 2010/11 and 

• Outline the main issues that need to be addressed in considering the Cabinets 
recommendations to Council on 17th February 2010. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 CABINET 

It is recommended that Cabinet 

 (i) Note the position on the estimated outturn and revised budget for 
2009/10 as set out in paragraphs 4 to 9 

 (ii) Approve £250,000 in 2009/10 for highway maintenance following 
the severe weather conditions at the start of this year, to be met 
from savings in the overall general fund budget in 2009/10. 

 (iii) Note the position on the forecast roll forward budget for 2010/11 as 
set out in paragraphs 10 to 16. 

 (iv) Delegate authority to Policy Coordinators following consultation with 
the relevant Cabinet Members to implement any changes to fees 
and charges that are part of the approved general fund budget. 

 (v) Note and approve the arrangements made by the Leader, in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2000, for the Cabinet 
Member for Resources and Workforce Planning to have 
responsibility for financial management and budgetary policies and 
strategies, and that the Cabinet Member for Resources and 
Workforce Planning will, in accordance with the Budget & Policy 
Framework Rules as set out in the Council’s Constitution, be 
authorised accordingly to finalise the Executive’s proposals in 
respect of the Budget for 2010/11, in consultation with the Leader, 
for submission to Full Council on 17th February 2010. 

 (vi) Recommends that Full Council 

 (vii) Notes the Consultation process that was followed outlined in 
Appendix 1. 

 (viii) Approves the revised estimate for 2009/10 as set out in Appendix 2. 

 (ix) Notes the position on the forecast roll forward budget for 2010/11 
as set out in paragraphs 10 to 16. 

 (x) Approves the Invest to Save Bids set out in Appendix 3. 

 (xi) Approves the revenue pressures, revenue developments and 
revenue bids as set out in Appendices 4, 5 and 6. 

 (xii) Approves the efficiencies, income and service reductions as set out 
in Appendix 7. 



 3

 (xiii) Approves the General Fund Revenue Budget as set out in 
Appendix 8 which assumes a council tax increase of 2.50%. 

 (xiv) Delegates authority to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to action all 
budget changes arising from the approved pressures, bids, 
efficiencies, income and service reductions and incorporate any 
other approved amendments into the General Fund estimates. 

 (xv) Notes that after taking these items into account, there is an 
estimated General Fund balance of £4.5M at the end of 2012/13 as 
detailed in paragraph 36. 

 (xvi) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources in 
consultation with the Solicitor to the Council to do anything 
necessary to give effect to the recommendations in this report. 

 (xvii) Sets the Budget Requirement for 2010/11 at £183,269,600. 

 (xviii) Notes the estimates of precepts on the Council Tax collection fund 
for 2010/11 as set out in Appendix 10. 

 (xix) Notes the Medium Term Forecast as set out in Appendix 11. 

 (xx) Authorises the Chief Executive and Chief Officers to pursue the 
development of the options for efficiencies, income and service 
reductions as set out in Appendix 7 for the financial years 2011/12 
and 2012/13 and continue to develop options to close the remaining 
projected gaps in those years in line with the proposed Efficiency 
Strategy. 

 (xxi) Approves a further £250,000 in 2009/10 for highway maintenance 
following the severe weather conditions at the start of this year, to 
be met from savings in the overall general fund budget in 2009/10. 

 (xxii) Approves the Efficiency Strategy attached in Appendix 12. 

 COUNCIL 

It is recommended that Council 

 i) Notes the Consultation process that was followed outlined in 
Appendix 1. 

 ii) Approves the revised estimate for 2009/10 as set out in Appendix 2. 

 iii) Notes the position on the forecast roll forward budget for 2010/11 
as set out in paragraphs 10 to 16. 

 iv) Approves the Invest to Save Bids set out in Appendix 3. 

 v) Approves the revenue pressures, revenue developments and 
revenue bids as set out in Appendices 4, 5 and 6. 

 vi) Approves the efficiencies, income and service reductions as set out 
in Appendix 7. 

 vii) Approves the General Fund Revenue Budget as set out in 
Appendix 8 which assumes a council tax increase of 2.50%. 

 



 4

 viii) Delegates authority to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to action all 
budget changes arising from the approved pressures, bids, 
efficiencies, income and service reductions and incorporate any 
other approved amendments into the General Fund estimates. 

 ix) Notes that after taking these items into account, there is an 
estimated General Fund balance of £4.5M at the end of 2012/13 as 
detailed in paragraph 36. 

 x) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources in 
consultation with the Solicitor to the Council to do anything 
necessary to give effect to the recommendations in this report. 

 xi) Sets the Budget Requirement for 2010/11 at £183,269,600. 

 xii) Notes the estimates of precepts on the Council Tax collection fund 
for 2010/11 as set out in Appendix 10. 

 xiii) Notes the Medium Term Forecast as set out in Appendix 11. 

 xiv) Authorises the Chief Executive and Chief Officers to pursue the 
development of the options for efficiencies, income and service 
reductions as set out in Appendix 7 for the financial years 2011/12 
and 2012/13 and continue to develop options to close the remaining 
projected gaps in those years in line with the proposed Efficiency 
Strategy. 

 xv) Approves a further £250,000 in 2009/10 for highway maintenance 
following the severe weather conditions at the start of this year, to 
be met from savings in the overall general fund budget in 2009/10. 

 xvi) Approves the Efficiency Strategy attached in Appendix 12. 

   

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The Constitution requires the Executive to recommend to Council on the 17th 
February 2010 its budget proposals for the forthcoming year.  The 
recommendations contained in this report set out the various elements of the 
budget that need to be considered and addressed by the Cabinet in preparing 
the final papers that will be forwarded to Council. 

CONSULTATION 

2. The items for consultation in the 26th October 2009 Cabinet report were 
presented in order to help facilitate widespread consultation with a range of 
stakeholders, including members of the public, affected organisations, the 
business community, staff and Trade Unions, who were all invited to submit 
comments on the proposals.  A number of targeted meetings were held with 
specific groups, but only a small number of direct responses were received in 
respect of the proposals.  There were particular concerns from community 
groups about the reduction in the Active Communities team and therefore as 
a result Cabinet are proposing retaining an additional 0.5 FTE post in this 
area and this is reflected in the savings proposals in Appendix 7. 

 



 5

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

3. Alternative options for revenue spending form an integral part of the 
development of the overall Budget Strategy that will be considered at the 
budget setting meeting on 17th February 2010.  Alternative options may be 
drawn up by opposition groups and presented to the same meeting. 

DETAIL 

 ESTIMATED OUTTURN AND REVISED BUDGET 2009/10 

4. This report is concerned mainly with the revenue estimates for 2010/11.  
However, there are elements of the 2009/10 estimated outturn that will have 
an impact on the overall financial position.  The planned draws from 
balances in the year have been reflected in the balances position shown in 
this report and take into account the overall financial position highlighted in 
the Corporate Monitoring report for the nine months ending December 2009. 

5. The original revenue estimates for 2009/10 assumed a draw from balances 
of just under £1.9M.  After reflecting the revised forecast position from Month 
9 and assuming additional expenditure on highways maintenance in the 
current year, this draw reduces by £250,000 to just over £1.6M as show in 
Appendix 2.  The table below summarises the main changes: 

 

 £M 

 Net Decrease in Interest Paid      1.500 

Contribution to Interest Equalisation Reserve (1.500) 

Reduction in net cost of Benefits      0.750 

Increased funding for Highways Maintenance      0.500 

Reduction in Draw From Balances      0.250 
 

  

6. Due to the unpredictable nature of forecasting interest rates for the Council’s 
investments, a prudent budget was set for the year.  During the first half of 
the year, the credit crunch resulted in turbulent interest rates on the money 
markets, but based on investment returns already achieved it is now possible 
to amend the forecast with a degree of certainty. Due to falling interest rates 
which have remained at historic lows, the forecast for investment income has 
been decreased.  However, this has been more than offset by a reduction in 
interest payable achieved through the debt restructuring exercise undertaken 
at the end of January 2009 and outlined in the Annual Treasury Management 
Strategy report approved by Council on 18th February 2009. 

7. In achieving this, the Council has exposed itself to short term variable 
interest rate risk and whilst in the current climate of low interest rates this is 
obviously a sound strategy, at some point when the market starts to move 
the Council will need to act quickly to lock into fixed long term rates which 
may be at similar levels to the debt it has restructured.  Furthermore, the 
volatility in the financial markets means that interest costs and investment 
income will continue to fluctuate for some time. 



 6

8. It was therefore recommended that an Interest Equalisation Reserve be 
created from the savings arising from the debt restructure to help to manage 
volatility in the future and ensure that there is minimal impact on annual 
budget decisions.  Consequently, the £1.5M forecast saving on net interest 
paid will be added to the Interest Equalisation Reserve. 

9. The forecast surplus for net benefits payments has been increased by 
£750,000 due to the increased income achieved from the improved recovery 
rate on overpayments.  This funding has been used in part to increase the 
budget for highway maintenance in 2009/10 by £500,000 in order to help 
address the deterioration in the road network following the severe weather 
conditions experienced in the early part of the year.  Due to the virement 
limits, a maximum of £250,000 can initially be approved by Cabinet on 1st 
February, with a recommendation to Full Council on 17th February to 
approve a further £250,000 for this purpose.  Any funds not utilised in the 
current year will be carried forward into 2010/11. 

 FORECAST ROLL FORWARD BUDGET 2010/11 

10. The Cabinet report on 26th October 2009 identified a roll forward gap of 
£3.7M before any further revenue developments, pressures or savings were 
taken into account.  However, this figure has now been amended to reflect 
changes in the overall position since this date, including changes highlighted 
in the Consultation Report. 

11 The final Local Government Finance Settlement for 2010/11 was received on 
20th January 2010.  The final settlement position was marginally higher 
compared to that previously anticipated and reported on 26th October 2009 
by £38,200. 

12 The council tax base for 2010/11 has been set at 66,167, using delegated 
powers granted by Council on 17th January 2007, which has increased the 
tax base and leads to additional income of £316,000 over and above that 
assumed in October. 

13. The estimated Collection Fund surplus at the end of 2009/10 was set at 
£1.0M for the purposes of the Consultation Report for 2010/11.  Collection 
rates during the year have improved and single person discounts have been 
reduced.  The latest estimate of the surplus has consequently increased to 
£1.142M. 

14. The Risk Fund has been reduced by £1.2M.  This reflects the reduced 
contingency for staff pay increases from 2% to 1% in the light of the current 
economic climate which equates to £1.0M.  The Council is anticipating that a 
0% pay award will be agreed for 2010/11 but recognises that some 
contingency provision is required in advance of a final decision.  In addition, 
changes have been made to reflect increased certainty in relation to 
Concessionary Fares and updated forecasts of the impact of the economic 
situation on the Council’s income and demand for key services which lead to 
a net reduction of £0.2M. 

 

 

 



 7

15. Other changes in the detailed estimates submitted by Portfolios and Trading 
Areas have also been reflected in the figures and show a favourable 
variance due mainly to a downward adjustment in the estimate of inflation in 
relation to Insurance premiums payable by the Council.  However, this is 
more than offset by the adverse impact the dramatic changes in the 
economic climate have had on anticipated investment income, which is 
estimated to be lower than originally forecast.  The table below shows these 
net changes in the overall forecast position: 

 

  £000’s 

Forecast Deficit in October Cabinet Papers (assuming 2.5%) 

 
  3,656.5 

Improved RSG/NDR Settlement (38.2) 

Improved Council Tax Base (316.0) 

Collection Fund Surplus (1,141.8) 

Reduced Risk Fund (1,200.0) 

Draw From Balances (1000.0) 

Detailed Estimate Changes and Investment Income      435.9 

Revised Forecast Deficit      396.4 
 

  

16. This position shown in the table above represents the ‘base’ position from 
which all three political groups may develop their own budgets taking into 
account the proposals for new spending and savings options put forward by 
Officers.  The specific proposals in this report as set out in the appendices 
and outlined in the following paragraphs represent the Executive’s budget 
proposals for 2010/11. 

 INVEST TO SAVE 

17. During this year’s budget process, services have been asked to put forward 
efficiency savings, which assume that there will be a reduction in cost, 
without there being an overall impact on service provision and the Council’s 
performance.  For some of these proposals there is up front expenditure that 
needs to be incurred before the savings can be realised and these are being 
put forward as Invest to Save Bids although they do not impact until 2011/12. 

18. The Invest to Save Bids, listed in Appendix 3, total £45,000 in 2011/12 and 
will be met from the Invest to Save Fund. 

 REVENUE PRESSURES 

19. Part of the Budget process each year also looks at unavoidable pressures on 
services that will have a financial impact, many of which are outside of the 
control of the service itself.  Examples of these would be volume changes, 
which have a direct impact on costs (e.g. increase in waste levels), 
legislative changes such as new functions and standards, or areas where the 
current budget simply does not reflect the level of activity within the service. 

20. Pressures totalling £1.22M are being recommended for 2010/11 and are 
detailed in Appendix 4. 



 8

 REVENUE DEVELOPMENTS AND REVENUE BIDS 

21. Each political group also has the opportunity to put forward new proposals 
for spending as part of the budget process which reflect their priorities for 
service provision.  Spending to fund revenue developments is detailed in 
Appendix 5 and totals just under £5.9M in 2010/11.  Most of these reflect 
ongoing commitments that were approved as part of the budget in previous 
years. 

22. The majority of the revenue developments are complex and strategic 
projects around which there are uncertainties in relation to timing and speed 
of progress.  Consequently, the funding for revenue developments is placed 
into a Revenue Development Fund to enable the Council to retain flexibility 
in funding.  Approval to release this funding, making adjustments between 
schemes and in the timing as required, is delegated to the Executive Director 
of Resources following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources 
and Workforce Planning. 

23. Services were also invited to put forward a series of bids in order to fund new 
spending initiatives.  These have been kept separate from the pressures 
identified above since there is an element of choice in deciding whether to 
proceed or not with these items.  The bids have been reviewed and the 
proposals for new expenditure put forward by the Executive total £0.6M in 
2010/11.  These are detailed in Appendix 6. 

 

 EFFICIENCIES, INCOME AND SERVICE REDUCTIONS 

24. For the purposes of considering an overall budget package, it should be 
noted that the roll forward budget includes 1.7% inflation on fees and 
charges income and a 3% vacancy factor built in to all salary budgets as well 
as the ongoing effects of savings identified in previous budget rounds.  In 
addition, no allowance has again been given for increments in 2010/11. 

25. The 26th October 2009 Cabinet report set out major items for consultation 
and at that point, proposals for efficiencies, income generation and service 
reductions were required to bridge a revised budget gap of just under £9.1M 
after taking the following action which is now reflected in the base position: 

 

• Draw of £1.0M from balances. 

• Reduced allowance for staff pay increases from 2% to 1% which 
equates to a saving of £1.0M. 

• £1.0M Collection Fund surplus from the improved collection of the 
council tax over recent years. 

 

This level of savings was required to balance the draft budget at an assumed 
council tax increase of 2.50%. 

 

26. The Executives recommendations for efficiencies, income generation and 
service reductions now total £8.068M and are set out in detail in Appendix 7. 

27. The savings proposals inevitably have an impact on staffing within the City 



 9

Council with 119.72 FTE posts affected of which 42.62 are currently vacant 
and 77.10 are in post.  The Council has an excellent past record of using its 
redeployment policies to minimise any redundancies arising out of the 
budget proposals and the Executive will ensure that this continues for 
2010/11. 

28. Those proposals approved when the Full Council sets its budget on 17th 
February will fall into the classification of ‘urgent, unplanned’ reductions in 
employee numbers.  Therefore, employees will be notified that they are 
being placed on the ‘Redeployment Register’ following Full Council decision 
on 17th February for a period of three-months.  This has resulted in some of 
the financial savings being reduced in order to take account of the part year 
costs of redeployment, and any extension to that period would undermine 
the Councils financial planning process as the balanced budget is based 
upon this redeployment approach.  To be clear, no redeployment period 
resulting from any proposals approved by the Council on 17th February 2010 
can finish later than 30th June 2010. 

 PROPOSED BUDGET PACKAGE 

29. Summarised below is the proposed budget package put forward by the 
Executive for consideration.  The detailed analysis is reflected in the General 
Fund Revenue Account set out in Appendix 8 and shows the changes from 
the base position outlined in paragraphs 10 to 16.  The proposals are based 
on a Council Tax increase of 2.50% and include a draw from balances of 
£1M. 

 

30.  
£M 

Total roll forward spending (after use of balances)  183,666.0 

Pressures (Appendix 4)      1,220.0 

Rev Developments and Bids (Appendices 5 and 6)      6,451.7 

Efficiencies, Income and Service Reductions (Appendix 7)     (8,068.1) 

Budget requirement  183,296.6 
 

 COUNCIL TAX 

31. The Budget Requirement shown in Appendix 8 is used to calculate the level 
of council tax for 2010/11.  After taking into account Government Grants and 
an assumed surplus on the collection fund at the end of 2009/10 of just over 
£1.1M, the total amount to be met by council tax payers is £81,994.5M.  This 
is then divided by the council tax base set by the Executive Director for 
Resources in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources and 
Workforce Planning to give the basic amount of council tax for the year of 
£1,239.21 which is an increase of 2.50%.  The full calculation is set out in 
Appendix 9. 

32. The estimates of the payments from the Collection Fund in the form of 
precepts for 2010/11 are set out in Appendix 10.  This includes preliminary 
figures for the Police and Fire authorities who are proposing council tax 
increases of 2.91% and 1.79% respectively.  The Appendix also shows that 



 10

when these items are added to Southampton’s council tax, the overall 
percentage increase falls from 2.50% to 2.51%.  These figures will not be 
confirmed until the budget setting day. 

 GENERAL FUND BALANCES 

33. It is important for Cabinet to consider the position on balances.  Balances are 
used either to: 

 

• support revenue spending, 

• support the capital programme, or 

• provide a ‘working’ balance at a minimum level suggested by the CFO 
with any projected excess being available to fund any one-off 
expenditure pressures or to reduce the council tax on a one-off basis. 

 

The latter option is not recommended by the CFO. 

34. Several years ago, CIPFA issued guidance on a risk based approach to 
setting an appropriate level of reserves.  The CFO at the time produced a 
calculation for the City which took into account factors such as: 

 

• Exposure to pay and price inflation 

• Volatile areas of income generation 

• Demand led service expenditure 

• Exposure to interest rate variations 

• Contractual commitments 

• Achievement of budget savings 

• VAT partial exemption risk 
 

35. This calculation is updated periodically to reflect current levels of expenditure 
and income and treasury management operations and also new 
considerations such as the street lighting PFI scheme.  Based on this 
calculation, the minimum level of balances was increased from £4.0M to 
£4.5M in line with the good practice guidance several years ago.  This level 
has been reviewed this year and despite new risks around government grant 
and interest rate exposure, other changes (such as reduced RPI risk and 
risks around the Capita contract now that we are over two years in) have 
meant that the minimum level of balances can remain at £4.5M. 

 

36. The table below shows the position for balances after taking into account the 
outturn for 2008/09, the estimated outturn for 2009/10, the budget proposals 
set out in this report and the current update of the capital programme. 

 



 11

 

 

 2009/10 2010/11  2011/12 2012/13 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s 

Estimated Opening Balance 15,182.9 10,665.2 6,592.2 5,547.2 

Draw from / (to) Revenue      (131.8) (1,000.0)   

Other Net Contributions      900.0     874.0   

Draw to Support Capital (1,196.0) (947.0)   

Draw for Strategic Schemes (4,089.9) (3,000.0) (1,045.0) (1,045.0) 

Closing Balance 10,665.2   6,592.2 5,547.2 4,502.2 

  

 MEDIUM TERM FORECAST 

37. A roll forward forecast has been estimated for 2011/12 and 2012/13 taking 
into account the future years effects of the proposed pressures and savings 
as set out in this report.  The forecast is included as Appendix 11.  The 
funding gap will be reviewed and addressed as part of the ongoing 
development of 3 year budgeting and Members are being asked to authorise 
the Chief Officers Management Team to pursue the development of future 
years options highlighted in Appendix 7. 

 

38. Three year grant settlement figures were announced previously the last year 
of which is 2010/11 and as no figures are available for 2011/12 onwards it is 
difficult to move any further towards a more robust rolling three year financial 
plan.  This is exacerbated by the economic climate and the inevitable impact 
this will have in future years on Government spending and local authority 
funding.  The intention remains, however, to produce a high level plan 
containing longer term objectives that can be pursued outside of the annual 
budget process and the current forecasts assume a reduction of 3.0% per 
annum in Government funding for 2011/12 and 2012/13.  

 

39. Appendix 7 also highlights other options for efficiencies, income and service 
reductions in future years which the Chief Officers Management Team need 
authorisation to progress.  In addition to this work, the Council will continue 
to build on the initial work with Capita in respect of Transformation in line 
with a new Efficiency Strategy which is attached at Appendix 12. 

 

40. The aim of the Efficiency Strategy is to ensure a robust and co-ordinated 
approach to determining the programme of change which will deliver 
fundamental changes in the ways the Council works, supporting its vision to 
become more customer focused by delivering services more efficiently using 
high quality data to make better decisions.  The primary objective of the 
programme is to reduce complexity and costs through focus on customer 
outcomes, simplification and standardisation. 



 12

41. The strategy supports the systematic organisational review of functions, 
systems and processes.  In doing so it also supports the Council’s “Value for 
Money” assessment in the Use of Resources element of the Corporate Area 
Assessment, ensuring key efficiency requirements are firmly built into 
management and governance processes. 

42. The Council needs this strategic approach to efficiency in order to achieve 
long-term sustainable gains and service improvements.  The Efficiency 
Strategy attached as Appendix 12 to this report outlines in particular the 
governance arrangements which will ensure strong leadership and drive to 
deliver the annual efficiency programme plan.  

FINANCIAL/RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital  

43. The revenue implications of funding the capital programme through supported 
and unsupported borrowing are reflected in the 2010/11 estimates presented 
in Appendix 8. 

Revenue 

44. As set out in the report. 

Property 

45. None 

Other 

46. None 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

47. The Executive has a legal responsibility to recommend a budget to the 
Council. 

Other Legal Implications:  

48. Appendix 13 sets out a detailed synopsis of the legal issues associated with 
budget setting within Local Government and Appendix 14 fulfils the Chief 
Financial Officers statutory duty under the LGA 2003 for reporting on the 
robustness of the budget proposals and the adequacy of reserves. 

 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

49. This report sets out the Executive’s proposed budget to Council which is 
being developed in line with the constitution and forms an integral part of 
budget and policy framework. 

  
 



 13

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. Report on Budget Consultation Process and Outcomes 

2. Revised General Fund Revenue Budget 2009/10 

3. Summary of Invest to Save Bids 

4. Summary of Revenue Pressures 

5. Summary of Revenue Developments 

6. Summary of Revenue Bids 

7. Summary of Efficiencies, Additional Income and Service Reductions 

8. 2010/11 General Fund Revenue Account  

9. 2010/11 Council Tax Calculation 

10. 2010/11 Collection Fund Estimates 

11. Medium Term Financial Forecast 

12. Efficiency Strategy 

13. Statutory Power To Undertake Proposals In The Report 

14. Chief Financial Officers View On The Budget 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the 
Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if 
applicable) 

1. Cabinet report on draft budget proposals 26th 
October 2009 

 

Background documents available for inspection at:        

KEY DECISION? Yes   

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

 
 

CONSULTATION PROCESS 

 
The Cabinet undertook a range of consultation activities to work with all 
organisations affected by proposals, as well as consulting with the public on 
major issues.  
 
Specifically the Cabinet:  
 

• Consulted directly with schools on proposals which affect them  

• Consulted with partners in the city, including the Primary Care Trust, 
the police and the voluntary sector  

• Undertook a specific, separate consultation with voluntary 
organisations directly affected by the proposals so they could make 
detailed representations on the proposals and feed into the decision 
making process before a final decision is actually made  

• Wrote to all other organisations, and user groups which may be 
affected by the proposals to ensure there is clarity and an opportunity 
to feed back  

• Met with the Trade Unions corporately and at a Portfolio / Directorate 
level to effectively consult on staff issues which arose. 

• Ensured that the general public could comment on the budget through 
City View and the web site. 

 
There was information in City View which was distributed at the end of 
November.  This included feedback forms for readers to complete.  This 
information was also be available on the council web site with mechanisms to 
allow feedback online.  
 

Appendix 6



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

Working

Budget

Revised

Budget
Variance

£000's £000's £000's

Portfolios (Net Controllable Spend) * 166,447 166,947 500 A

Non-Controllable Portfolio Costs 19,154 19,154 0

Portfolio Total 185,601 186,101 500 A

.

Levies & Contributions

Southern Seas Fisheries Levy 36 36 0

Flood Defence Levy 42 42 0

Coroners Service 450 450 0

529 529 0

Capital Asset Management

Capital Financing Charges 9,393 7,893 1,500 F

Capital Asset Management Account (21,584) (21,584) 0

(12,191) (13,691) 1,500 F

Other Expenditure & Income

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 1,791 1,791 0

Net Housing Benefit Payments (102) (852) 750 F

Contribution from Invest to Save Fund (185) (185) 0

Contribution to Interest Equalisation Reserve 0 1,500 1,500 A

Contribution to Transformation Fund 300 300 0

Revenue Development Fund 2,426 2,426 0

Open Spaces and HRA 527 527 0

Risk Fund 4,272 4,272 0

LPSA Contribution (150) (150) 0

Contingencies 250 250 0

Surplus/Deficit on Trading Areas (50) (50) 0

9,077 9,827 750 A

NET GF SPENDING 183,016 182,766 250 F

Draw from Balances:

To fund the Capital Programme (1,791) (1,791) 0

Draw from Strategic Reserve (Pensions/Reds) (148) (148) 0

Draw from Balances (General) (1,882) (1,632) 250 F

(3,820) (3,570) 250 F

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 179,196 179,196 0

* Environment & Transport Portfolio - Additional Funding for Highways Maintenance

GENERAL FUND 2009/10 - REVISED BUDGET

Appendix 7



This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
3

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

R
e

c
u

rr
in

g

o
r

O
n

e
O

ff

(R
o

r
O

)

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

E
&

T
1

S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
C

R
C

P
o

s
t

In
v
e

s
t

to
S

a
v
e

-p
o

s
t

to
c
o

-o
rd

in
a

te
d

a
ta

c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
,

re
p

o
rt

in
g

a
n

d

c
o

m
p

lia
n

c
e

w
it
h

C
R

C
,

w
o

rk
in

g
d

ir
e

c
tl
y

w
it
h

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

to
d

e
v
e

lo
p

a
n

d
d

e
liv

e
r

e
n

e
rg

y
a

n
d

c
a

rb
o

n
s
a

v
in

g
m

e
a

s
u

re
s

R
4

5
4

5
P

a
u

l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

0
4

5
4

5

G
R

A
N

D
T

O
T

A
L

0
4

5
4

5

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
IN

V
E

S
T

T
O

S
A

V
E

B
ID

S
Appendix 8



This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
4

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e
f

S
e
rv

ic
e

A
c
ti

v
it

y
D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e
m

Im
p

a
c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

R
e
c
u

rr
in

g

o
r

O
n

e
O

ff

(R
o

r
O

)

2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
2
/1

3
H

e
a
d

o
f

S
e
rv

ic
e

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a
lt

h
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

A
S

C
H

1
A

d
u
lt

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
C

a
re

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g

A
d
u
lts

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

fo
r

sa
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g

h
a
ve

in
c
re

a
se

d
b
y

o
ve

r
3
0
0
%

a
n
d

st
a
ff

a
re

n
o

lo
n
g
e
r

a
b
le

to
m

a
n
a
g
e

th
e

im
p
a
c
t
w

ith
o
u
t

a
ff

e
c
tin

g
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

ta
rg

e
ts

in
a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n
t
a
n
d

o
th

e
r

a
re

a
s.

S
ix

fu
rt

h
e
r

so
c
ia

lw
o
rk

e
rs

a
n
d

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
a
n
d

b
u
si

n
e
ss

su
p
p
o
rt

a
re

re
q
u
ir
e
d

-
th

is
a
m

o
u
n
ts

to
tw

o
fo

r
e
a
c
h

o
f

th
e

a
re

a
te

a
m

s.
T

h
is

is
th

e
m

in
im

u
m

c
o
n
si

d
e
re

d
vi

a
b
le

to

m
a
n
a
g
e

th
e

im
p
a
c
t

R
3
3
0

4
0
4

4
0
4

J
a
n
e

B
re

n
to

r

A
S

C
H

2
L
e
a
rn

in
g

D
is

a
b
ili

tie
s

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
P

ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

st
a
n
d

F
u
n
d
in

g

T
h
e

P
C

T
IS

in
th

e
p
ro

c
e
ss

o
f

re
vi

e
w

in
g

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s

o
f

c
a
re

in

re
sp

e
c
t
o
f

le
a
rn

in
g

d
is

a
b
ili

tie
s

th
a
t
d
o

n
o
t
m

e
e
t
N

H
S

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

o
n

c
o
n
tin

u
in

g
c
a
re

.
T

o
d
a
te

a
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
a
c
k

a
g
e
s

h
a
ve

a
lr
e
a
d
y

b
e
e
n

id
e
n
tif

ie
d

th
a
t
h
a
ve

tr
a
n
sf

e
rr

e
d

to
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

th
is

p
re

ss
u
re

re
fl
e
c
ts

th
o
se

a
d
d
iti

o
n
a
lp

a
c
k
a
g
e
s.

R
4
0
0

4
0
0

4
0
0

J
a
n
e

B
re

n
to

r

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a
lt

h
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

T
o

ta
l

7
3
0

8
0
4

8
0
4

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

C
S

1
C

h
ild

re
n

in
C

a
re

In
c
re

a
si

n
g

n
u
m

b
e
rs

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

in
c
a
re

In
2
0
0
9
/1

0
th

e
O

u
t
o
f

C
ity

b
u
d
g
e
t
fo

r
c
h
ild

re
n

p
la

c
e
d

w
ith

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
F

o
st

e
ri
n
g

A
g
e
n
c
ie

s
(I

F
A

s)
w

a
s

re
d
u
c
e
d

b
y

£
4
3
7
,0

0
0
.

A
lth

o
u
g
h

it
w

a
s

h
o
p
e
d

th
a
t
c
o
st

s
c
o
u
ld

b
e

re
d
u
c
e
d
,
th

e
in

c
re

a
si

n
g

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

fa
m

ili
e
s

in
c
ri
si

s
c
o
u
p
le

d

w
ith

e
a
rl
y

re
fe

rr
a
ls

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

in
n
e
e
d
,
h
a
s

se
e
n

th
e

n
u
m

b
e
rs

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

in
c
a
re

in
c
re

a
si

n
g

a
c
ro

ss
th

e
c
ity

.
In

ve
st

in
g

in
in

-

h
o
u
se

fo
st

e
r

c
a
re

rs
sa

ve
s

a
p
p
ro

xi
m

a
te

ly
£
3
0
,0

0
0

p
e
r

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t
o
ve

r
th

e
c
o
st

o
f

a
p
ri
va

te
IF

A
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t
a
n
d

w
ill

th
e
re

fo
re

re
d
u
c
e

th
e

d
ra

w
o
n

th
e

R
is

k
F

u
n
d
.
T

h
e

£
4
9
0
,0

0
0

R
4
9
0

4
9
0

4
9
0

F
e
lic

ity

B
u
d
g
e
n

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

4
9
0

4
9
0

4
9
0

G
R

A
N

D
T

O
T

A
L

1
,2

2
0

1
,2

9
4

1
,2

9
4

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
R

E
V

E
N

U
E

P
R

E
S

S
U

R
E

S
Appendix 9



This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
5

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

C
S

1
In

fr
a

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
a

n
d

C
a

p
it
a

l

T
o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

th
e

p
la

n
n

in
g

a
n

d

p
re

p
a

ra
ti
o

n
fo

r
"B

u
ild

in
g

S
c
h

o
o

ls
fo

r

th
e

F
u

tu
re

".

T
h

is
w

ill
e

n
a

b
le

th
e

re
b

u
ild

in
g

o
r

re
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n

t
o

f
u

p
to

fi
v
e

s
e

c
o

n
d

a
ry

s
c
h

o
o

ls
.

1
,1

0
0

1
,3

5
0

1
,4

0
0

K
a

rl

L
im

b
e

rt

C
S

2
C

h
ild

re
n

in
C

a
re

S
a

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
C

h
ild

re
n

A
re

v
ie

w
o

f
th

e
s
a

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
w

it
h

in
th

e
C

it
y

h
a

s

h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
th

e
n

e
e

d
fo

r
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
s
o

c
ia

l
w

o
rk

e
rs

a
n

d
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
ta

ff
.

1
,2

2
8

1
,4

5
6

1
,4

5
6

F
e

lic
it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
T

o
ta

l
2

,3
2

8
2

,8
0

6
2

,8
5

6

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

E
&

T
1

S
tr

e
e

tl
ig

h
ti
n

g
P

F
I

In
c
re

a
s
e

d
re

v
e

n
u

e
p

ro
v
is

io
n

fo
r

s
tr

e
e

tl
ig

h
ti
n

g

T
h

is
is

th
e

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
fu

n
d

in
g

g
a

p
b

e
tw

e
e

n
th

e
le

v
e

l
o

f
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s

c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

d
e

d
ic

a
te

d
to

S
tr

e
e

t
lig

h
ti
n

g
a

n
d

th
o

s
e

re
q

u
ir

e
d

u
n

d
e

r
th

e
n

e
w

P
F

I
c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

1
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0

M
ic

k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
2

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

fu
n

d
in

g
A

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
fu

n
d

in
g

to
in

c
re

a
s
e

y
e

a
r

o
n

y
e

a
r

th
e

h
ig

h
w

a
y
s

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

8
0

0
1

,6
0

0
2

,4
0

0
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
3

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

P
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
F

u
n

d
in

g
to

p
u

rs
u

e
a

n
e

x
te

rn
a

l
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
5

0
0

1
5

0
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
4

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

&
P

o
rt

fo
lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

T
o

w
n

D
e

p
o

t
P

ro
je

c
t

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

T
h

is
fu

n
d

in
g

is
to

a
d

d
a

T
o

w
n

D
e

p
o

t
p

ro
je

c
t

m
a

n
a

g
e

r
to

th
e

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n

t.
7

0
7

0
F

ra
n

c
e

s

M
a

rt
in

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

2
,3

7
0

2
,8

2
0

3
,4

0
0

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
R

E
V

E
N

U
E

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
S

Appendix 10



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
5

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
R

E
V

E
N

U
E

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
S

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

L
C

H
1

S
p

o
rt

&
R

e
c
re

a
ti
o

n
C

o
s
ts

o
f

m
a

rk
e

t
te

s
ti
n

g
a

n
d

p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t

E
s
ti
m

a
te

d
p

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t,
le

g
a

l
a

n
d

o
th

e
r

a
n

c
ill

a
ry

c
o

s
ts

a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

w
it
h

a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

o
p

ti
o

n
s

fo
r

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
v
e

n
u

e
s
.

1
9

3
.0

M
ik

e

H
a

rr
is

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

1
9

3
0

0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

R
E

S
1

C
o

u
n

c
il

T
a

x
D

is
c
o

u
n

t
L

o
c
a

l
C

o
u

n
c
il

T
a

x
D

is
c
o

u
n

t
P

ro
v
is

io
n

fo
r

th
e

lo
c
a

l
c
o

u
n

c
il

ta
x

d
is

c
o

u
n

ts
fo

r
h

o
u

s
e

h
o

ld
s

c
o

n
ta

in
in

g

p
e

rs
o

n
s

o
v
e

r
6

5
y
e

a
rs

o
f

a
g

e
(1

0
%

)
a

n
d

fo
r

s
p

e
c
ia

l
c
o

n
s
ta

b
le

s
(1

0
0

%
)

1
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
o

ta
l

1
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0

G
R

A
N

D
T

O
T

A
L

5
,8

9
1

6
,6

2
6

7
,2

5
6



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
6

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

R
e

c
u

rr
in

g

o
r

O
n

e
O

ff

(R
o

r
O

)

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a

lt
h

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

A
S

C
H

1
P

o
rt

fo
lio

W
id

e
S

h
o

rt
T

e
rm

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

C
a

p
a

c
it
y

T
h

e
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

D
ir

e
c
to

r
h

a
s

s
u

g
g

e
s
te

d
th

a
t

fu
n

d
in

g
to

in
c
re

a
s
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

in
th

e
s
h

o
rt

te
rm

is
c
re

a
te

d
to

re
s
p

o
n

d
to

v
a

ri
o

u
s

is
s
u

e
s

in
th

e
D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
u

c
h

a
s

th
e

o
u

tc
o

m
e

o
f

th
e

C
Q

C

in
s
p

e
c
ti
o

n

O
1

0
0

B
ri

a
n

P
a

rr
o

tt

A
S

C
H

2
P

o
rt

fo
lio

W
id

e
L

o
n

g
T

e
rm

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

C
a

p
a

c
it
y

In
it
ia

l
w

o
rk

o
n

th
e

re
c
o

n
fi
g

u
ra

ti
o

n
e

x
e

rc
is

e
h

a
s

in
d

ic
a

te
d

th
a

t

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s

a
re

re
q

u
ir

e
d

a
t

th
e

s
e

n
io

r
le

v
e

l
w

it
h

in
th

e

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

to
e

n
h

a
n

c
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

fo
r

s
e

rv
ic

e
d

e
liv

e
ry

R
1

0
0

1
0

0
1

0
0

B
ri

a
n

P
a

rr
o

tt

A
S

C
H

3
P

o
rt

fo
lio

W
id

e
R

e
c
o

n
fi
g

u
ra

ti
o

n
o

f
H

e
a

lt
h

a
n

d
A

d
u

lt
S

o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

If
re

c
o

n
fi
g

u
ra

ti
o

n
w

o
rk

is
to

c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

w
it
h

th
e

P
C

T
it

w
ill

re
q

u
ir

e

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s

o
v
e

r
2

y
e

a
rs

o
f

w
h

ic
h

h
a

lf
w

o
u

ld
b

e
m

e
t

b
y

S
C

C
R

1
0

0
1

0
0

B
ri

a
n

P
a

rr
o

tt

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a

lt
h

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

3
0

0
2

0
0

1
0

0

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

C
S

1
C

h
ild

re
n

in
C

a
re

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
L

e
g

a
l
s
u

p
p

o
rt

to

S
a

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
p

lu
s

C
h

ild

P
ro

te
c
ti
o

n
C

o
-o

rd
in

a
to

r

A
re

v
ie

w
is

ta
k
in

g
p

la
c
e

to
id

e
n

ti
fy

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
le

g
a

l
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s

fo
llo

w
in

g
th

e
L

a
m

in
g

re
p

o
rt

.
T

h
e

£
1

0
5

,0
0

0
p

re
s
s
u

re
re

p
re

s
e

n
ts

tw
o

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
s
o

lic
it
o

rs
p

lu
s

a
d

m
in

ti
m

e
.

O
n

c
e

c
a

s
e

s
a

re
ta

k
e

n
o

n
b

y

in
te

rn
a

l
s
o

lic
it
o

rs
it

is
a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
th

a
t

th
e

c
o

s
t

o
f

e
x
te

rn
a

l
le

g
a

l

a
d

v
ic

e
w

ill
fa

ll
b

y
£

4
5

,0
0

0
in

fu
tu

re
y
e

a
rs

.

R
1

0
5

6
0

6
0

F
e

lic
it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
T

o
ta

l
1

0
5

6
0

6
0

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
R

E
V

E
N

U
E

B
ID

S
Appendix 11



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
6

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

R
e

c
u

rr
in

g

o
r

O
n

e
O

ff

(R
o

r
O

)

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
R

E
V

E
N

U
E

B
ID

S

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

o
c

a
l

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

H
L

S
1

P
a

rk
s

a
n

d
S

tr
e

e
t

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

T
h

o
rn

h
ill

T
id

y
T

e
a

m
+

E
a

s
t

D
is

tr
ic

t
T

e
a

m

M
a

in
s
tr

e
a

m
in

g
c
ri

ti
c
a

l
e

le
m

e
n

ts
o

f
fr

o
n

t
lin

e
o

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
fo

llo
w

in
g

w
it
h

d
ra

w
a

l
o

f
N

D
C

fu
n

d
in

g
,

s
a

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
a

n
d

c
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

ts
b

o
th

w
it
h

in
T

h
o

rn
h

ill
a

n
d

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

e
n

ti
re

th
e

E
a

s
t

D
is

tr
ic

t
T

e
a

m
(s

e
e

s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

p
a

p
e

r)
.

R
5

0
2

5
2

5

J
o

n

D
y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
2

P
a

rk
s

a
n

d
S

tr
e

e
t

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

P
a

rk
s

a
n

d
S

tr
e

e
t

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

S
e

rv
ic

e

In
c
re

a
s
e

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

o
f

s
e

rv
ic

e
to

u
ti
lis

e
in

p
u

ts
fr

o
m

v
o

lu
n

te
e

rs
a

n
d

e
x
te

rn
a

l
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
e

.g
.

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

P
a

y
b

a
c
k

T
e

a
m

s
to

c
a

rr
y

o
u

t

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

to
th

e
lo

c
a

l
e

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

th
a

t
c
a

n
n

o
t

b
e

re
s
o

u
rc

e
d

w
it
h

in
th

e
c
u

rr
e

n
t

fu
n

d
in

g
e

n
v
e

lo
p

e
.

P
o

s
t-

h
o

ld
e

r
w

ill
b

e
ta

s
k
e

d
w

it
h

in
c
re

a
s
in

g
s
e

rv
ic

e
c
a

p
a

c
it
y

b
y

a
t

le
a

s
t

1
0

0
h

o
u

rs
p

e
r

w
e

e
k

(e
q

u
iv

a
le

n
t

n
e

t
v
a

lu
e

£
6

0
,0

0
0

o
f

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
p

ro
je

c
t

w
o

rk
d

e
liv

e
re

d
p

e
r

a
n

n
u

m
).

R
3

0
3

0
3

0

J
o

n

D
y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

o
c

a
l

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

8
0

5
5

5
5

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

L
C

H
1

A
rt

s
a

n
d

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

R
e

v
e

n
u

e
s
u

b
s
id

y
fo

r
re

-

o
p

e
n

in
g

o
f

T
u

d
o

r
H

o
u

s
e

M
u

s
e

u
m

E
x
a

c
t

ti
m

in
g

w
ill

b
e

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t
o

n
d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

p
ro

p
o

s
a

ls
c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

b
e

in
g

p
u

rs
u

e
d

R
7

6
1

0
3

1
0

3
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

7
6

1
0

3
1

0
3

G
R

A
N

D
T

O
T

A
L

5
6

1
4

1
8

3
1

8



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c

ie
s

In
c

o
m

e
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

T
o

ta
l

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a

lt
h

(1
,5

2
7

)
(4

3
0

)
0

(1
,9

5
7

)

C
h

ild
re

n
s

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

(9
9

5
)

(2
8

3
)

(1
1

5
)

(1
,3

9
3

)

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

(5
1

)
0

(1
1

1
)

(1
6

2
)

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

(1
,7

6
8

)
(3

7
5

)
(2

4
6

)
(2

,3
8

9
)

H
o

u
s
in

g
&

L
o

c
a

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
(4

3
6

)
(8

)
(1

0
8

)
(5

5
2

)

L
e

a
d

e
r'
s

P
o

rt
fo

lio
(1

3
7

)
(5

8
)

(8
0

)
(2

7
5

)

L
e

is
u

re
C

u
lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

(3
9

8
)

(7
4

)
(1

7
5

)
(6

4
7

)

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

&
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
P

la
n

n
in

g
(6

9
3

)
0

0
(6

9
3

)

(6
,0

0
5

)
(1

,2
2

8
)

(8
3

5
)

(8
,0

6
8

)

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a

lt
h

3
5

.0
0

0
.0

0
3

5
.0

0

C
h

ild
re

n
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
3

.0
0

6
.0

0
9

.0
0

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

1
.5

0
3

.0
0

4
.5

0

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

1
1

.8
0

1
3

.9
0

2
5

.7
0

H
o

u
s
in

g
&

L
o

c
a

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
8

.5
0

3
.0

0
1

1
.5

0

L
e

a
d

e
rs

2
.5

0
1

.0
0

3
.5

0

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

1
0

.8
0

9
.3

0
2

0
.1

0

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

&
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
P

la
n

n
in

g
4

.0
0

6
.4

2
1

0
.4

2

7
7

.1
0

4
2

.6
2

1
1

9
.7

2

F
T

E
T

o
ta

l

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

2
0

1
0

/1
1

IM
P

A
C

T
O

F
P

R
O

P
O

S
A

L
S

O
N

S
T

A
F

F
IN

G

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E
V

a
c

a
n

t

Appendix 12



This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a

lt
h

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

A
S

C
H

1
A

d
u

lt
D

is
a

b
ili

ty

C
a

re
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

G
iv

in
g

o
n

ly
1

.0
%

in
fl
a

ti
o

n

ra
th

e
r

th
a

n
1

.7
%

in
1

0
/1

1
a

n
d

1
1

/1
2

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l
y
e

a
rs

o
n

re
s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
/

d
o

m
ic

ili
a

ry

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

a
n

d
D

ir
e

c
t

p
a

y
m

e
n

ts

P
o

s
s
ib

le
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

c
a

re
a

v
a

ila
b

ili
ty

.
R

e
d

u
c
e

d
w

o
rk

in
g

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

w
it
h

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

m
a

y
re

s
u

lt
d

u
e

to
d

is
s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
-

th
is

is
p

a
rt

ic
u

la
rl

y
h

ig
h

ri
s
k

b
e

c
a

u
s
e

in
h

o
u

s
e

h
o

m
e

c
lo

s
u

re
s

w
ill

m
e

a
n

th
a

t
th

e
re

w
ill

b
e

a
n

in
it
ia

l
p

e
a

k

o
f

d
e

m
a

n
d

o
n

to
e

x
te

rn
a

l
re

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
p

ro
v
id

e
rs

a
n

d
w

e
w

ill
w

a
n

t
th

e
m

to
w

o
rk

w
it
h

u
s

n
o

t
to

a
rt

if
ic

ia
lly

in
fl
a

te
ra

te
s
.

T
h

e
n

e
w

d
o

m
ic

ili
a

ry
c
a

re
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

d
o

e
s

n
o

t
h

a
v
e

a
s
p

e
c
if
ic

a
m

o
u

n
t

o
f

in
fl
a

ti
o

n
b

u
ilt

in
to

fr
a

m
e

w
o

rk

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

b
u

t
is

s
u

b
je

c
t

to
n

e
g

o
ti
a

ti
o

n
.

H
o

w
e

v
e

r,
w

e
h

a
v
e

n
o

t
p

a
id

in
fl
a

ti
o

n
in

th
is

c
u

rr
e

n
t

y
e

a
r

a
n

d
w

e
k
n

o
w

th
a

t
o

n
e

o
f

th
e

s
m

a
lle

r
p

ro
v
id

e
rs

h
a

s
s
o

m
e

c
a

s
h

re
s
e

rv
e

p
ro

b
le

m
s
,

a
lt
h

o
u

g
h

th
e

y
a

re
m

a
n

a
g

in
g

th
is

a
t

th
e

m
o

m
e

n
t.

It
is

p
o

s
s
ib

le
th

a
t

th
e

s
m

a
lle

r
p

ro
v
id

e
rs

w
ill

n
o

t
b

e
a

b
le

to
re

m
a

in
v
ia

b
le

a
n

d
w

e

h
a

v
e

a
lr

e
a

d
y

d
e

p
le

te
d

th
e

p
ro

v
id

e
r

m
a

rk
e

t
to

a
s
m

a
ll

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

v
ia

b
le

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

lo
c
a

lly
.

T
h

is
p

ro
p

o
s
a

l
in

c
lu

d
e

s
n

o
t

p
a

y
in

g
in

fl
a

ti
o

n
o

n
D

ir
e

c
t

P
a

y
m

e
n

ts
in

o
rd

e
r

to
tr

e
a

t
a

ll
fo

rm
s

o
f

s
o

c
ia

l
c
a

re
p

ro
v
is

io
n

e
q

u
a

lly
b

u
t

it

m
u

s
t

b
e

re
c
o

g
n

is
e

d
th

a
t

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l
u

s
e

rs
w

ill
n

o
t

h
a

v
e

th
e

n
e

g
o

ti
a

ti
n

g
p

o
w

e
r

th
a

t
is

a
v
a

ila
b

le
to

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il.

(1
4

5
)

(2
9

0
)

(2
9

0
)

J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

A
S

C
H

2
A

d
u

lt
D

is
a

b
ili

ty

C
a

re
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

G
iv

in
g

o
n

ly
0

.0
%

in
fl
a

ti
o

n

ra
th

e
r

th
a

n
1

.7
%

in
1

0
/1

1
a

n
d

1
1

/1
2

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l
y
e

a
rs

o
n

re
s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
a

n
d

d
o

m
ic

ili
a

ry

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

R
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
a

n
d

d
o

m
ic

ili
a

ry
c
a

re
re

ly
h

e
a

v
ily

o
n

h
u

m
a

n
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s
.

It
h

a
s

a
lw

a
y
s

b
e

e
n

a
c
c
e

p
te

d
th

a
t

w
h

e
re

p
e

rs
o

n
n

e
l
a

re
in

v
o

lv
e

d
a

h
ig

h
e

r
th

a
n

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

R
P

I
in

fl
a

ti
o

n
b

a
s
e

d
in

c
re

a
s
e

s
h

o
u

ld
a

p
p

ly
.

T
h

is
p

ro
p

o
s
a

l
n

o
t

o
n

ly

d
o

e
s

n
o

t
re

c
o

g
n

is
e

th
a

t
b

u
t

h
a

s
th

e
im

p
a

c
t

o
f

a
re

a
l
te

rm
s

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

p
a

y

fo
r

lo
w

p
a

id
c
a

re
rs

.
It

is
v
e

ry
p

o
s
s
ib

le
th

a
t

th
e

ri
s
k
s

a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

w
it
h

th
e

p
ro

p
o

s
a

l
w

ill
re

d
u

c
e

c
a

re
v
ia

b
ili

ty
c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

b
ly

a
n

d
a

s
s
u

c
h

it
is

a
h

ig
h

ri
s
k

p
ro

p
o

s
a

l.
H

o
w

e
v
e

r,
it

w
ill

b
e

in
fl
u

e
n

c
e

d
b

y
th

e
a

c
tu

a
l
ra

te
o

f
in

fl
a

ti
o

n
a

t
th

e

b
e

g
in

n
in

g
o

f
th

e
n

e
x
t

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l
y
e

a
r

w
h

ic
h

,
if

it
re

m
a

in
s

lo
w

,
w

ill
re

d
u

c
e

th
e

im
p

a
c
t

o
f

th
is

p
ro

p
o

s
a

l.

(1
7

9
)

(3
5

8
)

(3
5

8
)

J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

A
S

C
H

3
L

e
a

rn
in

g
D

is
a

b
ili

ty
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

fo
r

L
D

re
s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
c
a

re

W
o

rk
in

g
to

a
'c

o
s
t

m
o

d
e

l'
it

is
e

x
p

e
c
te

d
th

a
t

s
o

m
e

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

w
ill

re
d

u
c
e

th
e

ir

p
ri

c
e

d
u

ri
n

g
a

re
te

n
d

e
ri

n
g

e
x
e

rc
is

e
a

n
d

s
o

m
e

c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
w

ill
m

o
v
e

to

s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

liv
in

g
.

T
h

e
re

m
a

y
b

e
s
o

m
e

d
is

ru
p

ti
o

n
fo

r
s
o

m
e

c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
.

It
is

lik
e

ly
th

a
t

th
e

P
C

T
w

ill
e

x
p

e
c
t

a
p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
o

f
th

e
s
a

v
in

g
s

a
n

d
/o

r
d

e
c
la

re

fe
w

e
r

c
a

s
e

s
to

b
e

fu
n

d
e

d
a

s
c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
h

e
a

lt
h

c
a

re
a

s
a

re
s
u

lt
o

f
th

e
re

v
ie

w
.

T
h

e
w

o
rk

w
ill

o
n

ly
h

a
v
e

p
a

rt
y
e

a
r

e
ff

e
c
t

in
th

e
fi
rs

t
y
e

a
r.

(2
0

0
)

(4
0

0
)

(4
0

0
)

J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

A
S

C
H

4
C

a
re

r'
s

G
ra

n
t

P
ro

v
id

e
D

a
y

c
a

re
fr

o
m

C
a

re
r'
s

G
ra

n
t

S
e

m
b

a
l
a

n
d

B
e

d
fo

rd
H

o
u

s
e

d
a

y
c
a

re
p

ro
v
is

io
n

h
a

s
b

e
e

n
c
o

re
fu

n
d

e
d

b
u

t

s
o

m
e

e
le

m
e

n
ts

a
re

u
s
e

d
to

p
ro

v
id

e
re

s
p

it
e

to
c
a

re
rs

o
f

p
e

o
p

le
w

it
h

m
e

n
ta

l
ill

h
e

a
lt
h

a
n

d
p

h
y
s
ic

a
l
d

is
a

b
ili

ty
.

F
u

n
d

in
g

c
o

u
ld

b
e

p
ro

v
id

e
d

fr
o

m
th

e
C

a
re

rs

G
ra

n
t

w
h

ic
h

h
a

s
tr

a
d

it
io

n
a

lly
u

n
d

e
r

s
p

e
n

t.

(2
0

0
)

(2
0

0
)

(2
0

0
)

J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

Appendix 13



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

A
S

C
H

5
P

ro
v
id

e
r

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
h

a
n

g
e

in
h

o
u

s
e

d
o

m
ic

ili
a

ry

p
ro

v
is

io
n

to
c
re

a
te

s
h

o
rt

te
rm

e
n

a
b

lin
g

a
n

d
c
ri

s
is

s
u

p
p

o
rt

,

tr
a

n
s
fe

rr
in

g
a

p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
o

f

c
u

rr
e

n
t

in
-h

o
u

s
e

p
ro

v
is

io
n

to

th
e

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t

s
e

c
to

r

T
h

is
w

ill
re

q
u

ir
e

re
tr

a
in

in
g

a
n

d
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
,

w
it
h

re
d

u
n

d
a

n
c
ie

s

p
o

s
s
ib

le
if

a
n

d
w

h
e

n
th

e
re

m
a

in
in

g
s
e

rv
ic

e
to

lo
n

g
te

rm
c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
b

e
c
o

m
e

s

u
n

v
ia

b
le

.
A

ll
c
u

rr
e

n
t

s
ta

ff
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

fu
lly

in
fo

rm
e

d
o

f
th

e
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
a

n
d

p
e

rs
o

n
n

e
l
c
o

n
s
e

q
u

e
n

c
e

s
.

T
h

e
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
o

f
th

is
c
h

a
n

g
e

is
lik

e
ly

to
ta

k
e

9

m
o

n
th

s
m

in
im

u
m

w
it
h

th
e

p
ro

je
c
t

re
q

u
ir

in
g

C
a

b
in

e
t

d
e

c
is

io
n

a
g

re
e

d
in

N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r.

It
a

ls
o

a
s
s
u

m
e

s
s
u

ff
ic

ie
n

t
p

ro
v
is

io
n

b
e

in
g

a
v
a

ila
b

le
in

th
e

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t

s
e

c
to

r
w

it
h

n
o

ra
is

e
d

c
o

s
ts

fo
r

c
o

m
p

le
x

c
a

re
.

T
h

is
is

a
n

e
x
te

n
s
io

n
o

f
th

e
s
a

v
in

g
p

ro
p

o
s
a

l
p

u
t

fo
rw

a
rd

in
2

0
0

9
/1

0
,

it
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

id
e

n
ti
fi
e

d
th

a
t

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
s
a

v
in

g
s

c
a

n
a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
b

e
y
o

n
d

th
a

t
p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
in

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.

(2
0

3
)

(3
1

7
)

(4
3

2
)

4
.0

0
J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

A
S

C
H

6
P

ro
v
id

e
r

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

R
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
R

e
v
ie

w

G
ra

d
u

a
l
c
lo

s
u

re
o

f
tw

o
in

-h
o

u
s
e

re
s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
h

o
m

e
s

a
n

d
re

p
ro

v
is

io
n

w
it
h

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t

d
o

m
ic

ili
a

ry
o

r
re

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
c
a

re
.

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
a

l
is

s
u

b
je

c
t

to
th

e

a
s
s
u

m
e

d
c
o

m
p

le
ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
c
u

rr
e

n
t

ju
d

ic
ia

l
p

ro
c
e

s
s
.

(3
0

0
)

(4
0

0
)

(4
0

0
)

3
1

.0
0

J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

A
S

C
H

7
A

d
u

lt
D

is
a

b
ili

ty

C
a

re
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
in

th
e

p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t

o
f

R
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
a

n
d

N
u

rs
in

g

C
a

re

R
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
a

n
d

N
u

rs
in

g
c
a

re
fo

r
e

ld
e

rl
y

c
lie

n
ts

h
a

s
b

e
e

n
p

ro
c
u

re
d

in
a

m
o

re

e
ff

ic
ie

n
t

m
a

n
n

e
r

w
it
h

in
2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

In
2

0
0

8
/0

9
th

is
e

n
a

b
le

d
th

e
P

o
rt

fo
lio

to

o
ff

s
e

t
th

e
in

a
b

ili
ty

to
a

c
h

ie
v
e

a
o

n
e

o
ff

in
c
o

m
e

ta
rg

e
t

o
f

£
3

0
0

,0
0

0
fr

o
m

H
e

a
lt
h

.
F

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

a
n

d
b

e
y
o

n
d

th
e

in
c
o

m
e

ta
rg

e
t

w
a

s
n

o
t

b
u

ilt
in

to
th

e

b
u

d
g

e
t

a
s

it
w

a
s

u
n

a
c
h

ie
v
a

b
le

.
T

h
e

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
in

R
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
a

n
d

N
u

rs
in

g

c
a

re
o

b
s
e

rv
e

d
in

2
0

0
8

/0
9

w
ill

c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

fo
r

th
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

a
n

d
fu

tu
re

y
e

a
rs

a
n

d

a
re

th
e

re
fo

re
a

v
a

ila
b

le
to

b
e

g
iv

e
n

u
p

fo
r

s
a

v
in

g
s
.

(3
0

0
)

(3
0

0
)

(3
0

0
)

J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

,5
2

7
)

(2
,2

6
5

)
(2

,3
8

0
)

3
5

.0
0

0
.0

0

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a

lt
h

-
In

c
o

m
e

A
S

C
H

8
A

d
u

lt
D

is
a

b
ili

ty

c
a

re
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

N
e

w
c
h

a
rg

in
g

p
o

lic
y

to
re

s
u

lt
in

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
in

c
o

m
e

.

C
u

s
to

m
e

r
d

is
s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

e
x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

d
b

u
t

s
y
s
te

m
is

s
e

e
n

to
b

e
fa

ir

a
n

d
le

s
s

c
o

m
p

le
x
.

T
h

is
is

a
s
a

v
in

g
b

e
y
o

n
d

th
a

t
p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
d

u
ri

n
g

th
e

2
0

0
9

/1
0

b
u

d
g

e
t

s
e

tt
in

g
.

T
h

is
in

c
re

a
s
e

in
in

c
o

m
e

fo
r

1
0

/1
1

c
a

n
b

e
a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
a

s
it

h
a

s

b
e

e
n

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
th

a
t

a
h

ig
h

e
r

th
a

n
e

x
p

e
c
te

d
n

u
m

b
e

r
o

f
c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
h

a
v
e

s
u

ff
ic

ie
n

t
c
a

p
it
a

l
to

in
c
re

a
s
e

th
e

ir
c
h

a
rg

e
s

to
fu

ll
c
o

s
t.

(4
3

0
)

(4
3

0
)

(4
3

0
)

J
a

n
e

B
re

n
to

r

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(4

3
0

)
(4

3
0

)
(4

3
0

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

A
d

u
lt

S
o

c
ia

l
C

a
re

&
H

e
a

lt
h

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(1
,9

5
7

)
(2

,6
9

5
)

(2
,8

1
0

)
3

5
.0

0
0

.0
0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

C
h

il
d

re
n

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

C
S

1

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
,

P
la

n
n

in
g

&

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
w

it
h

in
C

h
ild

re
n

’s

D
a

ta
T

e
a

m

T
h

e
d

e
le

ti
o

n
o

f
a

s
e

n
io

r
m

a
n

a
g

e
r

p
o

s
t,

w
it
h

th
e

tr
a

n
s
fe

r
o

f
th

e
p

o
s
t

h
o

ld
e

r
to

a
v
a

c
a

n
t

p
o

s
t

e
ls

e
w

h
e

re
in

th
e

d
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

.
T

h
e

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

D
a

ta
T

e
a

m
h

a
s

m
a

n
a

g
e

d
w

it
h

o
u

t
th

e
p

o
s
t

h
o

ld
e

r,
w

h
o

h
a

s
b

e
e

n
o

n
D

C
S

F
s
e

c
o

n
d

m
e

n
t,

a
lt
h

o
u

g
h

te
c
h

n
ic

a
l
s
u

p
p

o
rt

to
th

is
te

a
m

h
a

s
b

e
e

n
re

d
u

c
e

d
.

(5
8

)
(5

8
)

(5
8

)
1

.0
0

S
u

e
A

lla
n

C
S

2
D

is
a

b
ili

ty
C

h
o

ic
e

s
A

d
v
o

c
a

c
y

T
h

is
s
a

v
in

g
w

ill
b

e
fo

u
n

d
th

ro
u

g
h

tr
a

n
s
fe

rr
in

g
th

e
c
o

s
t

o
f

th
e

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

to
th

e

c
a

re
rs

g
ra

n
t.

D
u

ri
n

g
th

e
fi
rs

t
q

u
a

rt
e

r
o

f
th

e
c
a

le
n

d
a

r
y
e

a
r

2
0

1
0

a
re

v
ie

w
o

f

s
e

rv
ic

e
c
o

s
t

c
o

d
e

s
w

ill
b

e
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
to

id
e

n
ti
fy

a
s
a

v
in

g
o

f
£

1
4

K
to

tr
a

n
s
fe

r

to
th

e
M

A
R

P
c
o

s
t

c
o

d
e

.

(1
4

)
(1

4
)

(1
4

)
F

e
lic

it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
S

3
E

a
rl

y
Y

e
a

rs
&

C
h

ild
c
a

re

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
w

it
h

in
C

h
ild

re
n

's

C
e

n
tr

e
s

a
n

d
u

s
e

o
f

g
ro

w
th

in

S
u

re
S

ta
rt

g
ra

n
t

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
in

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

u
s
e

o
f

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
S

u
re

S
ta

rt
g

ra
n

t
to

fu
n

d

c
o

re
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

(1
7

)
(1

7
)

(1
7

)
P

a
u

l

N
u

g
e

n
t

C
S

4
E

a
rl

y
Y

e
a

rs
&

C
h

ild
c
a

re

E
a

rl
y

Y
e

a
rs

a
n

d
C

h
ild

c
a

re

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
in

E
a

rl
y

Y
e

a
rs

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

&
C

h
ild

c
a

re
a

n
d

C
h

ild
re

n
's

In
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
S

e
rv

ic
e

te
a

m
s

(4
0

)
(4

0
)

(4
0

)
1

.0
0

P
a

u
l

N
u

g
e

n
t

C
S

5
In

fr
a

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
&

C
a

p
it
a

l
IC

T
S

tr
a

te
g

y
te

a
m

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
w

it
h

C
S

L
IC

T
T

e
a

m
b

y
d

e
le

ti
o

n
o

f
tw

o
v
a

c
a

n
t

p
o

s
ts

a
n

d
£

2
8

k

fu
n

d
e

d
fr

o
m

th
e

In
d

iv
id

u
a

l
S

c
h

o
o

ls
B

u
d

g
e

t
a

s
a

g
re

e
d

b
y

th
e

S
c
h

o
o

ls
F

o
ru

m
(1

5
0

)
(2

0
0

)
(2

0
0

)
2

.0
0

A
n

d
re

w

H
in

d

C
S

6
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
to

S
c
h

o
o

ls

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
w

it
h

in
M

u
s
ic

S
e

rv
ic

e
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s
in

s
e

n
io

r
le

a
d

e
rs

h
ip

fo
llo

w
in

g
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
s
e

rv
ic

e
(2

8
)

(2
8

)
(2

8
)

1
.0

0
P

a
u

l

N
u

g
e

n
t

C
S

7
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
to

S
c
h

o
o

ls
S

tu
d

y
S

u
p

p
o

rt
C

e
n

tr
e

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
m

a
d

e
fr

o
m

u
ti
lis

in
g

fu
n

d
in

g
fr

o
m

E
x
te

n
d

e
d

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

g
ra

n
t

(5
4

)
(5

4
)

(5
4

)

P
a

u
l

N
u

g
e

n
t/

A
lis

o
n

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r

C
S

8

C
h

ild
re

n
's

S
o

c
ia

l

W
o

rk

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

C
e

a
s
e

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

fo
r

C
h

ild
re

n
's

R
ig

h
ts

C
o

-o
rd

in
a

to
r

T
h

e
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
c
h

ild
re

n
in

c
a

re
a

n
d

c
h

ild
re

n
in

n
e

e
d

th
ro

u
g

h
g

ro
u

p

w
o

rk
a

d
v
o

c
a

c
y

a
n

d
in

d
iv

id
u

a
l
s
u

p
p

o
rt

.
T

h
e

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

h
a

s
e

n
d

e
d

,
w

it
h

a
d

v
o

c
a

c
y

a
n

d
in

d
iv

id
u

a
l
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

p
ro

v
id

e
d

b
y

te
a

m
s

w
it
h

in
th

e
Y

o
u

th

a
n

d
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y

S
u

p
p

o
rt

d
iv

is
io

n

(4
)

(4
)

(4
)

F
e

lic
it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
S

9
C

h
ild

re
n

in
C

a
re

R
e

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
U

n
it
s

R
e

v
ie

w

A
re

v
ie

w
o

f
re

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
c
a

re
is

c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

b
e

in
g

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

n
to

re
-s

h
a

p
e

th
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

p
ro

v
is

io
n

to
p

ro
v
id

e
m

o
re

ta
rg

e
te

d
a

n
d

c
o

s
t

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

to

y
o

u
n

g
p

e
o

p
le

.

(1
5

0
)

(4
5

0
)

(4
5

0
)

T
B

C
T

B
C

F
e

lic
it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

C
S

1
0

D
is

a
b

ili
ty

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
D

is
a

b
ili

ty
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
T

h
e

re
a

re
n

o
s
ta

ff
in

g
im

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
s

in
2

0
1

0
/1

1
.

S
a

v
in

g
s

w
ill

b
e

a
c
h

ie
v
e

d

th
ro

u
g

h
s
e

rv
ic

e
a

n
d

s
u

p
p

lie
s

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
.

(5
0

)
(2

0
0

)
(2

0
0

)
F

e
lic

it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
S

1
1

A
ll

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
C

h
ild

re
n

's

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
th

ro
u

g
h

s
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
to

th
e

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

in
c
lu

d
in

g

th
e

tr
a

n
s
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
a

l
c
h

a
n

g
e

in
s
e

rv
ic

e
p

ro
v
is

io
n

th
ro

u
g

h
lo

c
a

lit
ie

s
(2

5
0

)
(3

5
0

)
(3

5
0

)
1

.0
0

2
.0

0
C

liv
e

W
e

b
s
te

r

C
S

1
2

1
4

to
1

9
a

n
d

L
e

a
rn

in
g

&
S

k
ill

s

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
w

it
h

in
A

d
u

lt
&

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

L
e

a
rn

in
g

T
h

e
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
th

e
D

iv
is

io
n

h
a

s
re

s
u

lt
e

d
in

th
e

d
e

c
is

io
n

to
o

u
ts

o
u

rc
e

A
d

u
lt

&
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y

L
e

a
rn

in
g

d
e

liv
e

ry
.

C
o

n
s
e

q
u

e
n

tl
y

th
e

re
is

n
o

re
q

u
ir

e
m

e
n

t

fo
r

th
e

L
e

a
rn

e
r

S
u

p
p

o
rt

p
o

s
t

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

fu
n

d
e

d
b

y
th

e
C

it
y

C
o

u
n

c
il

(3
4

)
(3

4
)

(3
4

)
1

.0
0

A
lis

o
n

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r

C
S

1
3

C
h

ild
re

n
&

Y
o

u
th

S
u

p
p

o
rt

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
th

e
Y

o
u

n
g

P
e

o
p

le
a

n
d

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

S
u

p
p

o
rt

D
iv

is
io

n

T
h

ro
u

g
h

m
e

rg
in

g
th

e
fu

n
c
ti
o

n
s

o
f

th
e

P
la

y
S

e
rv

ic
e

,
Y

o
u

th
S

e
rv

ic
e

,

C
o

n
n

e
x
io

n
s

S
e

rv
ic

e
a

n
d

E
x
te

n
d

e
d

S
c
h

o
o

ls
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s
c
a

n
b

e
m

a
d

e
a

c
ro

s
s

th
e

D
iv

is
io

n

(4
5

)
(4

5
)

A
lis

o
n

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r

C
S

1
4

Y
o

u
n

g
P

e
o

p
le

&

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

S
u

p
p

o
rt

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
fr

o
m

fu
n

d
in

g

P
o

s
it
iv

e
A

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
fo

r
Y

o
u

n
g

P
e

o
p

le

P
o

s
it
iv

e
A

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
fo

r
Y

o
u

n
g

P
e

o
p

le
g

ra
n

t
w

ill
b

e
u

s
e

d
to

fu
n

d
e

x
is

ti
n

g
s
ta

ff
,

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

fu
n

d
e

d
b

y
C

it
y

C
o

u
n

c
il.

(2
1

)
(2

1
)

(2
1

)
A

lis
o

n

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r

C
S

1
5

A
ll

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
fr

o
m

th
e

m
e

rg
in

g
o

f
th

e
h

o
m

e
to

s
c
h

o
o

l
tr

a
n

s
p

o
rt

,
p

o
s
t

1
6

tr
a

n
s
p

o
rt

a
n

d
s
c
h

o
o

l
tr

a
v
e

l
a

d
v
is

o
r

b
u

d
g

e
ts

(1
2

5
)

(2
0

0
)

(2
0

0
)

A
lis

o
n

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(9

9
5

)
(1

,7
1

5
)

(1
,7

1
5

)
3

.0
0

6
.0

0

C
h

il
d

re
n

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
In

c
o

m
e

C
S

1
6

In
c
lu

s
io

n
S

u
p

p
o

rt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
h

a
rg

in
g

fo
r

B
e

h
a

v
io

u
r

In
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
S

u
p

p
o

rt
T

e
a

m

T
h

is
w

ill
b

e
fu

n
d

e
d

fr
o

m
th

e
In

d
iv

id
u

a
l
S

c
h

o
o

ls
B

u
d

g
e

t
a

s
a

g
re

e
d

b
y

th
e

S
c
h

o
o

ls
F

o
ru

m
(1

1
5

)
(3

4
6

)
(3

4
6

)
F

e
lic

it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
S

1
7

In
c
lu

s
io

n
S

u
p

p
o

rt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

In
c
o

m
e

g
e

n
e

ra
ti
o

n
fr

o
m

P
s
y
c
h

o
lo

g
y

S
e

rv
ic

e

T
h

is
w

ill
b

e
fu

n
d

e
d

fr
o

m
th

e
In

d
iv

id
u

a
l
S

c
h

o
o

ls
B

u
d

g
e

t
a

s
a

g
re

e
d

b
y

th
e

S
c
h

o
o

ls
F

o
ru

m
(6

0
)

(1
1

9
)

(1
1

9
)

F
e

lic
it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
S

1
8

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
&

C
a

p
it
a

l
P

F
I

U
n

it
a

ry
C

h
a

rg
e

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
fr

o
m

P
F

I
s
c
h

o
o

ls
to

w
a

rd
s

u
ti
lit

y
c
o

s
ts

s
e

c
ti
o

n
o

f

U
n

it
a

ry
C

h
a

rg
e

(5
0

)
(5

0
)

(5
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

H
in

d

C
S

1
9

S
c
h

o
o

l

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
&

S
c
h

o
o

l

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t

T
e

a
m

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
in

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
s
c
h

o
o

ls
a

n
d

e
x
te

rn
a

l
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
s

fo
r

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

p
ro

v
id

e
d

b
y

s
c
h

o
o

l
in

s
p

e
c
to

rs
a

n
d

e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
a

v
in

g
s

b
y

e
n

d
in

g

s
e

c
o

n
d

m
e

n
ts

(2
2

)
(2

2
)

(2
2

)
P

a
u

l

N
u

g
e

n
t



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

C
S

2
0

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

to

S
c
h

o
o

ls

In
c
o

m
e

g
e

n
e

ra
ti
o

n
w

it
h

in
C

it
y

C
a

te
ri

n
g

In
c
re

a
s
e

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
fo

r
in

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
e

x
te

rn
a

l
s
o

u
rc

e
(1

6
)

(6
6

)
(6

6
)

P
a

u
l

N
u

g
e

n
t

C
S

2
1

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

to

S
c
h

o
o

ls
G

o
v
e

rn
o

r
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
T

h
is

w
ill

b
e

fu
n

d
e

d
fr

o
m

th
e

In
d

iv
id

u
a

l
S

c
h

o
o

ls
B

u
d

g
e

t
a

s
a

g
re

e
d

b
y

th
e

S
c
h

o
o

ls
F

o
ru

m
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

P
a

u
l

N
u

g
e

n
t

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(2

8
3

)
(6

2
3

)
(6

2
3

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

C
h

il
d

re
n

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

C
S

2
2

In
c
lu

s
io

n
S

u
p

p
o

rt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s

w
it
h

in
In

c
lu

s
io

n

S
e

rv
ic

e
R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
s

to
tr

a
in

in
g

/c
o

n
fe

re
n

c
e

b
u

d
g

e
ts

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
F

e
lic

it
y

B
u

d
g

e
n

C
S

2
3

1
4

to
1

9
a

n
d

L
e

a
rn

in
g

&
S

k
ill

s

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
o

f
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y

S
u

b
s
id

y

T
h

is
w

ill
b

e
fu

n
d

e
d

fr
o

m
th

e
In

d
iv

id
u

a
l
S

c
h

o
o

ls
B

u
d

g
e

t
a

s
a

g
re

e
d

b
y

th
e

S
c
h

o
o

ls
F

o
ru

m
(5

3
)

(5
3

)
(5

3
)

A
lis

o
n

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r

C
S

2
4

1
4

to
1

9
a

n
d

L
e

a
rn

in
g

&
S

k
ill

s

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
o

f
g

ra
n

t
p

a
id

to
C

it
y

C
o

lle
g

e
fo

r
d

e
liv

e
ry

o
f

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t
b

a
s
e

d
tr

a
in

in
g

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
.

T
h

e
re

m
o

v
a

l
o

f
th

is
s
u

b
s
id

y
,

w
h

ils
t

a
ff

e
c
ti
n

g
th

e
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
s

b
o

tt
o

m
lin

e

s
u

rp
lu

s
,

s
h

o
u

ld
n

o
t

a
ff

e
c
t

th
e

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
’s

v
ia

b
ili

ty
.

T
h

is
m

a
y

h
a

v
e

a
n

e
ff

e
c
t

u
p

o
n

th
e

a
b

ili
ty

o
f

C
it
y

T
ra

in
in

g
to

o
ff

e
r

ta
rg

e
te

d
s
u

p
p

o
rt

fo
r

y
o

u
n

g

p
e

o
p

le
.

(4
2

)
(4

2
)

(4
2

)
A

lis
o

n

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

1
5

)
(1

1
5

)
(1

1
5

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
T

o
ta

l
(1

,3
9

3
)

(2
,4

5
3

)
(2

,4
5

3
)

3
.0

0
6

.0
0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

E
D

1
C

it
y

C
e

n
tr

e

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

D
e

le
te

p
a

rt
-t

im
e

M
a

rk
e

ti
n

g

A
s
s
is

ta
n

t
p

o
s
t

C
it
y

C
e

n
tr

e
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

to
ta

k
e

u
p

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

(9
)

(9
)

(9
)

0
.5

0
T

im

L
e

v
e

n
s
o

n

E
D

2
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

D
e

le
te

1
p

o
s
t

o
f

E
c
o

n
o

m
is

t/
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
ia

n

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

P
o

lic
y

&
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

te
a

m
to

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

th
e

c
a

lc
u

la
ti
o

n
o

f
k
e

y

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
fr

o
m

n
a

ti
o

n
a

l
d

a
ta

s
o

u
rc

e
s
.

U
s
e

o
f

P
U

S
H

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s

to

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

lo
c
a

l
re

s
e

a
rc

h
.

(2
9

)
(2

9
)

(2
9

)
1

.0
0

T
im

L
e

v
e

n
s
o

n

E
D

3

E
u

ro
p

e
a

n
&

In
te

rn
a

ti
o

n
a

l

S
e

rv
ic

e

S
u

b
s
c
ri

p
ti
o

n
s

F
in

d
a

lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

w
a

y
s

o
f

fu
n

d
in

g
s
u

b
s
c
ri

p
ti
o

n
s

(1
3

)
(1

3
)

(1
3

)
T

im

L
e

v
e

n
s
o

n

E
D

4

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

&

R
e

g
e

n
e

ra
ti
o

n

R
e

d
u

c
e

d
iv

is
io

n
a

l
g

e
n

e
ra

l

e
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

g
e

n
e

ra
l
e

x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
a

s
a

re
s
u

lt
o

f
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s
fr

o
m

th
e

a
m

a
lg

a
m

a
ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
C

it
y

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

a
n

d
E

c
o

n
o

m
y

a
n

d
R

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n

te
a

m
s

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

D
a

w
n

B
a

x
e

n
d

a
le

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(5

1
)

(7
1

)
(7

1
)

0
.5

0
1

.0
0

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

-
In

c
o

m
e

E
D

5

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

&

R
e

g
e

n
e

ra
ti
o

n

In
c
o

m
e

G
e

n
e

ra
ti
o

n
S

e
e

k
e

x
te

rn
a

l
fu

n
d

in
g

fr
o

m
a

v
a

ri
e

ty
o

f
s
o

u
rc

e
s

in
c
lu

d
in

g
E

u
ro

p
e

,
g

ra
n

ts
a

n
d

re
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
re

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
in

c
o

m
e

(1
7

)
(1

7
)

T
im

L
e

v
e

n
s
o

n

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
0

(1
7

)
(1

7
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

E
D

6
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

D
e

le
te

p
o

s
t

o
f

G
ra

p
h

ic
s

A
s
s
is

ta
n

t

G
ra

p
h

ic
s

w
o

rk
w

ill
b

e
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
th

ro
u

g
h

lia
is

o
n

w
it
h

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
.

C
u

rr
e

n
t

p
o

s
t

h
o

ld
e

r
re

ti
re

s
in

O
c
to

b
e

r
2

0
0

9
.

(2
9

)
(2

9
)

(2
9

)
1

.0
0

T
im

L
e

v
e

n
s
o

n

E
D

7
T

o
u

ri
s
m

D
e

le
te

2
p

o
s
ts

E
x
is

ti
n

g
e

c
o

n
o

m
ic

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

p
o

s
t

w
ill

m
a

n
a

g
e

to
u

ri
s
m

p
o

lic
y

a
s
p

e
c
ts

.

T
h

e
re

w
ill

,
h

o
w

e
v
e

r,
b

e
re

d
u

c
e

d
c
a

p
a

c
it
y

to
d

e
v
e

lo
p

to
u

ri
s
m

in
it
ia

ti
v
e

s
(6

9
)

(6
9

)
(6

9
)

1
.0

0
1

.0
0

T
im

L
e

v
e

n
s
o

n

E
D

8
T

o
u

ri
s
m

M
a

rk
e

ti
n

g
B

u
d

g
e

t
fo

r
T

o
u

ri
s
m

P
ri

v
a

te
s
e

c
to

r
c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

a
re

b
e

in
g

e
x
p

lo
re

d
(1

3
)

(3
1

)
(3

1
)

T
im

L
e

v
e

n
s
o

n

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

1
1

)
(1

2
9

)
(1

2
9

)
1

.0
0

2
.0

0

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(1
6

2
)

(2
1

7
)

(2
1

7
)

1
.5

0
3

.0
0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

E
&

T
1

B
e

re
a

v
e

m
e

n
t

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
h

a
n

g
e

s
in

w
o

rk
p

ra
c
ti
c
e

s
M

in
o

r
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s
a

n
d

s
a

v
in

g
s

fr
o

m
c
o

m
p

o
s
ti
n

g
w

a
s
te

a
n

d
o

th
e

r
g

ro
u

n
d

s

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l
a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

L
iz

M
a

rs
h

E
&

T
2

B
e

re
a

v
e

m
e

n
t

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
re

m
a

to
ri

u
m

-
m

o
re

e
ff

ic
ie

n
t

u
s
e

o
f

e
n

e
rg

y

A
s

p
a

rt
o

f
a

C
re

m
a

to
ri

u
m

u
p

g
ra

d
e

,
th

e
p

u
rc

h
a

s
e

o
f

m
o

re
fu

e
l
e

ff
ic

ie
n

t

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t

w
ill

h
e

lp
re

d
u

c
e

c
a

rb
o

n
fo

o
tp

ri
n

t
(3

0
)

(3
0

)
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
3

D
iv

is
io

n
a

l

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

D
e

le
ti
o

n
o

f
w

o
rd

p
ro

c
e

s
s
in

g

p
o

s
t

a
n

d
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

h
o

u
rs

fo
r

o
th

e
r

p
o

s
ts

L
e

s
s

re
s
p

o
n

s
iv

e
s
e

rv
ic

e
to

n
o

n
fr

o
n

t
lin

e
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

(3
0

)
(5

0
)

(5
0

)
1

.8
0

0
.5

0
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
4

D
iv

is
io

n
a

l

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

R
e

d
u

c
e

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l
H

e
a

lt
h

&
T

ra
d

in
g

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
tr

a
in

e
e

b
u

d
g

e
t

W
ill

re
d

u
c
e

th
e

a
b

ili
ty

o
f

th
e

s
e

rv
ic

e
to

'g
ro

w
it
's

o
w

n
'p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

l
s
ta

ff
(2

5
)

(2
5

)
(2

5
)

1
.4

0
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
5

D
iv

is
io

n
a

l

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

D
iv

is
io

n
a

l
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

S
a

v
in

g
s

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
o

f
b

u
b

g
e

ts
fo

r
s
u

p
p

lie
s
,

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

a
n

d
tr

a
n

s
p

o
rt

(1
0

)
(1

0
)

L
iz

M
a

rs
h

E
&

T
6

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

R
e

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
P

e
s
t

C
o

n
tr

o
l

P
re

m
is

e
s

D
ri

v
e

d
o

w
n

c
o

s
ts

b
y

th
e

u
s
e

o
f

s
h

a
re

d
a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
(1

0
)

(1
0

)
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
7

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

R
e

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

s
ta

ff
to

a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

a
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n

R
e

lo
c
a

te
to

D
o

c
k

G
a

te
2

0
s
it
e

o
r

a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

s
u

it
a

b
le

s
it
e

.
(6

0
)

(6
0

)
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
8

R
e

g
is

tr
a

ti
o

n

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
R

e
g

is
tr

a
ti
o

n

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

R
e

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
o

f
o

n
e

p
o

s
t

w
it
h

th
e

re
s
u

lt
th

a
t

th
e

re
w

o
u

ld
b

e

a
le

s
s

re
s
p

o
n

s
iv

e
s
ta

tu
to

ry
s
e

rv
ic

e
(2

0
)

(4
0

)
(4

0
)

1
.0

0
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
9

P
a

rk
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
R

e
d

u
c
e

b
a

c
k

o
ff

ic
e

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s

M
in

im
a

l
s
e

rv
ic

e
im

p
a

c
t

d
u

e
to

re
d

u
c
e

d
n

u
m

b
e

r
o

f
P

C
N

s
a

lt
h

o
u

g
h

re
d

u
n

d
a

n
c
y

c
o

s
ts

d
u

e
to

d
e

le
ti
o

n
o

f
fi
lle

d
p

o
s
t

(5
)

(1
5

)
(3

0
)

1
.0

0
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

0
S

e
rv

ic
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

a
n

d
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

R
e

d
u

c
e

b
a

c
k

o
ff

ic
e

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

to
fr

o
n

t
lin

e
te

a
m

s
w

ill
b

e
re

d
u

c
e

d
a

n
d

s
ta

ff
w

ill
b

e
fo

rc
e

d
to

u
s
e

s
e

lf
-

s
e

rv
ic

e
.

(4
3

)
(4

3
)

(4
3

)
1

.5
0

M
ic

k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

1
P

u
b

lic
R

e
a

lm
R

e
d

u
c
e

d
p

a
y
m

e
n

ts
in

to

h
ig

h
w

a
y
s

in
s
u

ra
n

c
e

fu
n

d

R
e

d
u

c
in

g
th

e
c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
w

ill
re

d
u

c
e

th
e

o
p

e
n

n
in

g
b

a
la

n
c
e

b
u

t
s
h

o
u

ld
b

e

m
a

n
a

g
e

a
b

le
n

e
x
t

y
e

a
ra

n
d

w
it
h

in
th

e
H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

P
P

P
.

(1
0

0
)

(1
5

0
)

(1
5

0
)

M
ic

k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

2
P

u
b

lic
R

e
a

lm

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
n

e
n

t
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s

w
it
h

in
th

e
P

u
b

lic
R

e
a

lm
T

e
a

m
s

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y

fl
o

w
s

fr
o

m
th

e
re

d
u

c
e

d
c
a

p
it
a

l
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

fo
r

2
0

1
0

/1
1

(6
0

)
(6

0
)

(6
0

)
1

.0
0

1
.0

0
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
&

T
1

3
R

O
M

A
N

S
E

R
e

d
u

c
e

C
o

n
tr

o
l
R

o
o

m

O
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
h

o
u

rs
a

n
d

m
a

in
ta

in

s
ta

tu
s

q
u

o
w

it
h

R
e

a
l
T

im
e

In
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n

R
e

a
l
ti
m

e
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
w

ill
n

o
t

b
e

e
x
p

a
n

d
e

d
a

n
d

a
re

v
ie

w
w

ill
b

e
re

q
u

ir
e

d
to

id
e

n
ti
fy

n
e

w
te

c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
.

C
o

n
tr

o
l
ro

o
m

o
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
h

o
u

rs
w

ill
b

e

re
d

u
c
e

d
.

(8
0

)
(1

0
0

)
(1

0
0

)
1

.0
0

M
ic

k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

4
A

s
s
e

t

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s

w
it
h

in

th
e

A
s
s
e

t
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
T

e
a

m

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

E
n

g
in

e
e

ri
n

g
c
a

p
a

c
it
y

m
a

y
re

d
u

c
e

th
e

a
b

ili
ty

to
g

iv
e

d
e

ta
ile

d

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

a
d

v
ic

e
(2

3
)

(2
3

)
(2

3
)

1
.0

0
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

5
H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

R
o

u
ti
n

e

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
in

fe
e

s
a

n
d

c
h

a
rg

in
g

s
e

rv
ic

e
b

u
d

g
e

ts
.

S
a

v
in

g
s

o
n

m
a

te
ri

a
ls

,
fe

e
p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
a

n
d

s
e

rv
ic

e
b

u
d

g
e

ts

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
s

w
ill

re
a

lis
e

th
is

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

(6
0

)
(6

0
)

(6
0

)
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

6
N

e
tw

o
rk

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

d
u

c
e

te
c
h

n
ic

a
l
c
le

rk

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s

A
b

ili
ty

to
m

a
n

a
g

e
a

n
d

c
o

-o
rd

in
a

te
w

o
rk

s
o

n
th

e
H

ig
h

w
a

y
m

a
y

b
e

re
d

u
c
e

d
.

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

b
u

d
g

e
t

m
a

y
a

ff
e

c
t

th
e

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

a
ff

o
rd

a
b

ili
ty

e
n

v
e

lo
p

e
a

n
d

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

s
e

rv
ic

e
le

v
e

ls
.

(2
6

)
(2

6
)

(2
6

)
1

.0
0

M
ic

k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

7
P

u
b

lic
R

e
a

lm

R
e

v
is

e
d

M
u

lt
i
S

to
re

y
C

a
r

P
a

rk

(M
S

C
P

)
m

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
,

re
d

u
c
e

d
C

iv
il

E
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n

t
b

a
c
k

o
ff

ic
e

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s
.

U
ti
lis

in
g

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
o

n
-s

tr
e

e
t

c
a

r
p

a
rk

in
g

s
u

rp
lu

s
to

s
u

p
p

o
rt

th
e

h
ig

h
w

a
y
s

c
a

p
it
a

l
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

w
it
h

c
o

rr
e

s
p

o
n

d
in

g
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s

in
th

e
D

ir
e

c
t

R
e

v
e

n
u

e

F
in

a
n

c
in

g
.

(2
5

0
)

(2
5

0
)

(2
5

0
)

M
ic

k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
1

8
T

ra
v
e

l
a

n
d

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

R
e

v
ie

w
B

u
s

O
p

e
ra

to
r

R
e

im
b

u
rs

e
m

e
n

t
S

y
s
te

m

T
o

e
n

s
u

re
c
a

lc
u

la
ti
o

n
s

a
re

m
a

d
e

o
n

a
n

a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

b
a

s
is

;
lik

e
ly

to
b

e

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l
fo

r
s
a

v
in

g
s

in
th

is
a

re
a

b
u

t
th

e
re

a
re

a
p

p
e

a
l
ri

s
k
s

(8
5

)
(1

0
0

)
(1

0
0

)
P

a
u

l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
&

T
1

9

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
o

n
tr

o
l/

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

R
e

v
ie

w
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
D

C
C

a
s
e

O
ff

ic
e

r/
T

e
c
h

n
ic

a
l
S

u
p

p
o

rt
ro

le
s

to
a

d
a

p
t

to
re

d
u

c
e

d
in

c
o

m
e

le
v
e

ls
th

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t
d

o
w

n
tu

rn

R
e

v
ie

w
ro

le
s

a
n

d
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

c
o

n
tr

o
l
a

n
d

a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

s
u

p
p

o
rt

te
a

m
s
.

T
h

e
re

a
re

ri
s
k
s

to
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t

w
h

e
re

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s

a
re

re
d

u
c
e

d
.

P
o

s
it
io

n
w

ill
n

e
e

d
to

b
e

re
v
ie

w
e

d
o

n
c
e

th
e

re
is

a
n

u
p

tu
rn

in
th

e

e
c
o

n
o

m
y
.

(1
7

0
)

(1
7

0
)

(1
7

0
)

2
.0

0
3

.0
0

P
a

u
l
N

ic
h

o
ls

E
&

T
2

0
D

iv
is

io
n

a
l

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

C
ro

s
s

D
iv

is
io

n
a

l
s
a

v
in

g
s

o
n

d
ir

e
c
t

c
o

s
ts

.
S

o
m

e
im

p
a

c
ts

o
n

le
a

rn
in

g
a

n
d

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t,

tr
a

in
e

e
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

s
a

n
d

th
e

le
v
e

l
o

f
re

s
o

u
rc

in
g

fo
r

a
ra

n
g

e
o

f

p
ro

je
c
ts

a
n

d
a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
.

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
P

a
u

l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
&

T
2

1
T

ra
v
e

l
a

n
d

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

M
o

re
e

ff
ic

ie
n

t
u

s
e

o
f

tr
a

n
s
p

o
rt

T
ra

v
e

l
C

o
o

rd
in

a
ti
o

n
U

n
it

(T
C

U
)

to
fa

c
ili

ta
te

th
e

m
o

re
e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

u
s
e

o
f

s
ta

ff

tr
a

v
e

l
w

it
h

in
th

e
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

.
(5

0
)

(5
0

)
(5

0
)

P
a

u
l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
&

T
2

2
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
C

o
n

tr
a

c
t

n
e

g
o

ti
a

ti
o

n
s

re
d

u
c
in

g

c
o

s
ts

T
h

e
s
e

a
re

'o
n

e
o

ff
's

a
v
in

g
s

(1
1

9
)

(1
0

0
)

A
n

d
re

w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
2

3
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
S

a
v
in

g
s

o
n

b
u

d
g

e
te

d
p

a
s
s

th
ro

u
g

h
c
o

s
ts

N
o

n
e

(8
0

)
(8

0
)

(8
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
&

T
2

4
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
R

e
d

u
c
e

d
to

n
n

a
g

e
o

f
w

a
s
te

c
o

lle
c
te

d
fo

r
d

is
p

o
s
a

l
C

iv
ic

A
m

e
n

it
y

W
a

s
te

(8
0

)
(8

0
)

(8
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
2

5
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
D

is
p

o
s
a

l
c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l

w
a

s
te

re
b

a
te

S
C

C
s
h

a
re

o
f

in
c
o

m
e

s
e

c
u

re
d

th
ro

u
g

h
2

0
0

9
w

a
s
te

d
is

p
o

s
a

l
c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

n
e

g
o

ti
a

ti
o

n
s

b
a

s
e

d
u

p
o

n
th

e
a

m
o

u
n

t
o

f
c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l
w

a
s
te

p
ro

c
e

s
s
e

d
a

t
th

e

E
n

e
rg

y
R

e
c
o

v
e

ry
F

a
c
ili

ti
e

s
.

(3
5

)
(3

5
)

(3
5

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
2

6
W

a
s
te

C
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
Im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

to
a

b
s
e

n
c
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

Im
p

ro
v
e

a
b

s
e

n
c
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
th

ro
u

g
h

a
c
o

m
b

in
a

ti
o

n
o

f

e
n

h
a

n
c
e

d
re

p
o

rt
in

g
p

ro
c
e

d
u

re
s

a
n

d
re

v
ie

w
in

g
c
u

rr
e

n
t

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

p
o

lic
ie

s
.

(4
)

(4
)

(4
)

A
n

d
re

w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
2

7
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
R

e
fi
n

a
n

c
in

g
o

f
th

e
w

a
s
te

d
is

p
o

s
a

l
c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

D
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t
u

p
o

n
th

e
c
o

n
c
lu

s
io

n
o

f
n

e
g

o
ti
a

ti
o

n
s

b
y

th
e

A
u

th
o

ri
ti
e

s

(H
a

m
p

s
h

ir
e

C
o

u
n

ty
C

o
u

n
c
il,

S
o

u
th

a
m

p
to

n
C

it
y

C
o

u
n

c
il

a
n

d
P

o
rt

s
m

o
u

th
C

it
y

C
o

u
n

c
il)

w
it
h

V
e

o
lia

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

(6
0

)
(6

0
)

A
n

d
re

w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
2

8
F

le
e

t
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

F
le

e
t

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

w
a

rr
a

n
ti
e

s
&

ty
re

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s

R
e

c
e

n
tl
y

n
e

g
o

ti
a

te
d

ty
re

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

in
c
o

rp
o

ra
te

s
s
tr

ic
te

r
c
o

n
tr

o
ls

a
n

d

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
.

R
o

b
u

s
t

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

o
f

v
e

h
ic

le
a

n
d

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t

w
a

rr
a

n
ti
e

s
to

e
n

s
u

re
c
o

s
ts

o
f

re
p

a
ir

s
u

n
d

e
r

w
a

rr
ra

n
ty

a
re

re
im

b
u

rs
e

d
.

(2
5

)
(2

5
)

(2
5

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
2

9
F

le
e

t
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

D
ri

v
in

g
s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

In
v
e

s
t

to
s
a

v
e

'p
o

s
t

w
h

ic
h

w
ill

im
p

le
m

e
n

t
p

o
lic

ie
s
/p

ro
c
e

d
u

re
s

a
n

d
p

ro
v
id

e
/

p
ro

c
u

re
d

ri
v
e

r
tr

a
in

in
g

to
re

d
u

c
e

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

a
n

d
v
e

h
ic

le
d

a
m

a
g

e
c
o

s
ts

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

a
u

th
o

ri
ty

.
T

h
is

in
it
ia

ti
v
e

w
ill

re
q

u
ir

e
n

e
g

o
ti
a

ti
o

n
w

it
h

T
U

's
a

n
d

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

/
p

o
lit

ic
a

l
e

n
d

o
rs

e
m

e
n

t.

(1
0

)
(4

0
)

(4
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
3

0
F

le
e

t
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

E
x
te

rn
a

l
v
e

h
ic

le
h

ir
e

c
o

s
t

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
s

S
a

v
in

g
s

w
ill

b
e

a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
d

u
e

to
th

e
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

a
g

e
o

f
th

e
v
e

h
ic

le
fl
e

e
t.

N
e

w
e

r
v
e

h
ic

le
s

h
a

v
e

le
s
s

'fa
ir

w
e

a
r

a
n

d
te

a
r'

d
a

m
a

g
e

w
h

ic
h

re
d

u
c
e

s

d
o

w
n

ti
m

e
.

C
o

n
s
e

q
u

e
n

tl
y
,

th
e

re
w

ill
b

e
a

re
d

u
c
e

d
n

e
e

d
to

h
ir

e
re

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t

v
e

h
ic

le
s

w
h

ile
fl
e

e
t

v
e

h
ic

le
s

a
re

o
ff

ro
a

d
b

e
in

g
m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

in
th

e
w

o
rk

s
h

o
p

s
.

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
3

1
W

a
s
te

a
n

d
F

le
e

t
D

iv
is

io
n

a
l
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

S
a

v
in

g
s

-

F
u

tu
re

m
e

a
s
u

re
s

In
c
re

a
s
e

d
fe

e
s

&
c
h

a
rg

e
s

in
c
lu

d
in

g
th

o
s
e

to
s
c
h

o
o

ls
/

H
R

A
;

W
a

s
te

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n

m
e

a
s
u

re
s
;

N
e

g
o

ti
a

te
fa

v
o

u
ra

b
le

v
e

h
c
ile

p
a

rt
s

c
o

n
tr

a
c
ts

e
tc

,
re

d
u

c
e

d

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s
,

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
to

tr
a

in
in

g
b

u
d

g
e

ts
,

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t
s
a

v
in

g
s
.

(2
0

)
(1

0
2

)
(1

0
2

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
3

2
W

a
s
te

C
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
R

e
d

u
c
e

d
c
o

n
ta

in
e

r
s
to

ra
g

e

c
o

s
ts

C
o

n
ta

in
e

r
s
to

ra
g

e
re

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

h
a

v
e

b
e

e
n

re
v
ie

w
e

d
a

n
d

re
d

u
c
e

d
.

A
b

le
to

re
le

a
s
e

s
o

m
e

o
f

th
e

b
u

d
g

e
t

s
e

t
a

s
id

e
.

(1
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
3

3
W

a
s
te

a
n

d
F

le
e

t
D

iv
is

io
n

a
l
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

S
a

v
in

g
s

-

F
u

tu
re

m
e

a
s
u

re
s

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
o

f
a

ra
n

g
e

o
f

b
u

d
g

e
t

h
e

a
d

in
g

s
in

c
lu

d
in

g
e

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t,
v
e

h
ic

le

re
p

a
ir

s
,

s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

(5
0

)
(5

0
)

A
n

d
re

w

T
ra

y
e

r



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
&

T
3

4
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
D

is
p

o
s
a

l
C

o
n

tr
a

c
t

-
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n

in
la

n
d

fi
ll

c
o

s
ts

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

c
o

s
ts

a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

w
it
h

th
e

re
c
y
c
lin

g
o

f
th

e
in

c
in

e
ra

to
r

b
o

tt
o

m

a
s
h

.
(5

0
)

(5
0

)
(5

0
)

A
n

d
re

w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
3

5
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
D

is
p

o
s
a

l
C

o
n

tr
a

c
t

-
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n

in
fi
x
e

d
fe

e
s
.

R
e

n
e

g
o

ti
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

te
rm

s
a

n
d

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
s

h
a

s
re

s
u

lt
e

d
in

a

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

th
e

fi
x
e

d
fe

e
s

fo
r

th
e

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
.

(8
0

)
(8

0
)

(8
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
3

6
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
R

e
d

u
c
e

d
to

n
n

a
g

e
o

f
w

a
s
te

c
o

lle
c
te

d
fo

r
d

is
p

o
s
a

l
K

e
rb

s
id

e
c
o

lle
c
te

d
w

a
s
te

(4
6

)
(4

6
)

(4
6

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
3

7
R

O
M

A
N

S
E

In
s
ta

ll
L

E
D

T
ra

ff
ic

L
ig

h
ts

E
n

e
rg

y
s
a

v
in

g
fr

o
m

S
A

L
IX

in
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t.
D

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t

u
p

o
n

H
ig

h
w

a
y

F
u

tu
re

s

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

in
y
e

a
rs

2
a

n
d

b
e

y
o

n
d

(6
0

)
(6

0
)

(6
0

)
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
3

8

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

&

P
o

rt
fo

lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

d
u

c
e

S
u

p
p

lie
s

&
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

B
u

d
g

e
ts

N
o

s
c
o

p
e

to
fu

n
d

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

in
it
ia

ti
v
e

s
.

V
e

ry
lim

it
e

d
o

v
e

ra
ll

b
u

d
g

e
t

(6
2

)
(6

2
)

(6
2

)
F

ra
n

c
e

s

M
a

rt
in

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

,7
6

8
)

(2
,2

2
6

)
(2

,1
4

1
)

9
.8

0
7

.4
0

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

-
In

c
o

m
e

E
&

T
3

9
B

e
re

a
v
e

m
e

n
t

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
re

m
a

to
ri

u
m

C
re

m
a

ti
o

n
fe

e
in

c
re

a
s
e

b
y

6
.6

3
%

(o
v
e

r
th

e
1

.7
%

)
to

£
6

5
0

(f
ro

m
£

6
0

0
).

In
c
re

a
s
e

b
u

ri
a

l
fe

e
b

y
a

fu
rt

h
e

r
2

2
.4

%
(a

b
o

v
e

th
e

1
.7

%
)

to
£

5
0

0
(f

ro
m

£
4

0
3

)

a
n

d
p

u
rc

h
a

s
e

o
f

g
ra

v
e

/b
u

ri
a

l
fe

e
b

y
a

fu
rt

h
e

r
1

3
.8

%
to

£
1

,2
0

0
(f

ro
m

£
1

,0
3

9
)

-

F
u

rt
h

e
r

fe
e

in
c
re

a
s
e

s
in

2
0

1
1

/1
2

.
In

c
re

a
s
e

d
c
o

s
t

to
b

e
o

ff
s
e

t
b

y
in

v
e

s
tm

e
n

t

in
p

h
y
s
ic

a
l
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

to
th

e
c
re

m
a

to
ri

u
m

.

(1
5

0
)

(2
7

0
)

(2
7

0
)

L
iz

M
a

rs
h

E
&

T
4

0
B

e
re

a
v
e

m
e

n
t

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

In
c
re

a
s
e

d
m

e
m

o
ri

a
lis

a
ti
o

n

s
a

le
s
.

(5
0

)
(5

0
)

L
iz

M
a

rs
h

E
&

T
4

1
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

N
e

w
in

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
S

c
o

re
s

o
n

th
e

D
o

o
rs

s
ta

r
ra

ti
n

g
s
y
s
te

m
(1

0
)

(1
0

)
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
4

2
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

In
c
o

m
e

a
ri

s
in

g
fr

o
n

n
e

w
P

o
rt

H
e

a
lt
h

c
h

e
c
k
s

o
n

im
p

o
rt

e
d

fo
o

d

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
L

iz
M

a
rs

h

E
&

T
4

3
N

e
tw

o
rk

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

In
c
re

a
s
e

d
in

c
o

m
e

fl
o

w
in

g
fr

o
m

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
e

n
fo

rc
e

m
e

n
t

a
c
ti
o

n
F

ig
u

re
s

a
s
s
u

m
e

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

P
P

P
c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

s
in

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

2
0

1
0

(1
3

)
(1

3
)

(1
3

)
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
4

4
N

e
tw

o
rk

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
in

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
s
a

m
p

lin
g

in
s
p

e
c
ti
o

n
s

o
f

w
o

rk
s

o
n

th
e

h
ig

h
w

a
y

P
o

te
n

ti
a

l
is

s
u

e
w

it
h

u
ti
lit

y
c
o

m
p

a
n

ie
s
,

fu
ll

e
ff

e
c
t

m
a

y
n

o
t

b
e

re
a

lis
e

d
.

F
ig

u
re

s

a
s
s
u

m
e

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

P
P

P
c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

s
in

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

2
0

1
0

(1
3

)
(1

3
)

(1
3

)
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
&

T
4

5
N

e
tw

o
rk

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

S
e

c
ti
o

n
7

4
H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

N
o

ti
c
e

s

U
ti
lit

ie
s

m
a

y
o

b
je

c
t

a
n

d
c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
th

e
n

o
ti
c
e

s
re

la
ti
n

g
to

e
x
te

n
d

e
d

o
c
c
u

p
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
h

ig
h

w
a

y
.

F
ig

u
re

s
a

s
s
u

m
e

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

P
P

P
c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

s
in

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

2
0

1
0

(3
8

)
(3

8
)

(3
8

)
M

ic
k

B
is

h
o

p

E
&

T
4

6
T

ra
v
e

l
a

n
d

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t
tr

a
v
e

l
p

la
n

g
u

id
a

n
c
e

w
it
h

c
h

a
rg

e
s

fo
r

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
o

f
p

la
n

s

In
tr

o
d

u
c
e

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
r

c
h

a
rg

e
s

fo
r

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
o

f
tr

a
v
e

l
p

la
n

s
.

L
ik

e
ly

to
in

c
re

a
s
e

w
o

rk
lo

a
d

in
th

is
a

re
a

s
o

s
o

m
e

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
c
o

s
t

w
ill

o
ff

s
e

t
n

e
w

in
c
o

m
e

.
(3

0
)

(3
0

)
P

a
u

l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
&

T
4

7
P

la
n

n
in

g
a

n
d

S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty

C
a

p
it
a

lis
e

s
ta

ff
ti
m

e
a

g
a

in
s
t

n
e

w
in

fr
a

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
ta

ri
ff

R
e

lie
s

o
n

th
e

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

a
n

d
im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
o

f
a

n
u

p
d

a
te

d
p

o
lic

y
fo

r

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
r

c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s
,

in
lin

e
w

it
h

th
e

C
o

re
S

tr
a

te
g

y
,

to
s
e

t
u

p
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

fu
n

d
s

fo
r

a
ra

n
g

e
o

f
in

fr
a

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
p

ro
je

c
ts

.
Y

ie
ld

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t
o

n
th

e
ti
m

in
g

o
f

th
e

e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

u
p

tu
rn

.

(3
2

0
)

(3
2

0
)

P
a

u
l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
&

T
4

8
D

iv
is

io
n

a
l

S
e

lli
n

g
s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

n
c
y

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

to
o

th
e

r
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s

A
llo

c
a

ti
n

g
a

lim
it
e

d
p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

o
f

s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

o
ff

ic
e

r
ti
m

e
fo

r
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

n
c
y
,

to

e
n

a
b

le
u

s
to

re
ta

in
a

c
c
e

s
s

to
a

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

,
in

-h
o

u
s
e

s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

te
a

m
.

A
re

a
s

b
e

in
g

c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
a

re
S

E
A

,
e

n
e

rg
y
,

fl
o

o
d

ri
s
k

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t,

c
o

n
s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

a
rc

h
a

e
o

lo
g

y
.

(2
0

)
(4

0
)

(4
0

)
P

a
u

l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
&

T
4

9
W

a
s
te

C
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
In

c
re

a
s
e

to
H

R
A

s
e

c
o

n
d

&

s
u

b
s
e

q
u

e
n

t
c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
c
h

a
rg

e
s

In
c
re

a
s
e

c
h

a
rg

e
s

to
H

R
A

fo
r

s
e

c
o

n
d

&
s
u

b
s
e

q
u

e
n

t
c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
s
,

to
b

ri
n

g

th
e

s
e

in
lin

e
w

it
h

th
o

s
e

c
h

a
rg

e
d

to
e

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
a

l
e

s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n

ts
.

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
5

0
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o

s
a

l

C
h

a
rg

e
H

R
A

fo
r

th
e

d
is

p
o

s
a

l
o

f

w
a

s
te

c
o

lle
c
te

d
fr

o
m

h
o

u
s
in

g

e
s
ta

te
s
.

T
o

b
ri

n
g

S
o

u
th

a
m

p
to

n
C

it
y

C
o

u
n

c
il

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

fo
r

th
is

ty
p

e
o

f
w

a
s
te

in
-

lin
e

w
it
h

th
o

s
e

a
t

H
a

m
p

s
h

ir
e

C
o

u
n

ty
C

o
u

n
c
il

a
n

d
P

o
rt

s
m

o
u

th
C

it
y

C
o

u
n

c
il.

(8
1

)
(8

1
)

(8
1

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

E
&

T
5

1
W

a
s
te

C
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
C

h
a

rg
e

fo
r

re
p

la
c
e

m
e

n
t

g
re

e
n

g
a

rd
e

n
w

a
s
te

b
a

g
s

T
o

b
e

a
p

p
lie

d
w

h
e

n
re

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t

s
a

c
k
s

a
re

re
q

u
e

s
te

d
b

y
re

s
id

e
n

ts
.

W
ill

n
e

e
d

a
ro

b
u

s
t

p
o

lic
y

to
p

re
v
e

n
t

th
e

u
s
e

o
f

n
o

n
S

C
C

b
a

g
s

fo
r

c
o

n
ta

in
m

e
n

t
o

f

g
a

rd
e

n
w

a
s
te

,
to

g
e

th
e

r
w

it
h

p
o

lic
y

a
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

ts
fo

r
re

s
id

u
a

l
/

re
c
y
c
lin

g
w

a
s
te

c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
s

re
g

a
rd

in
g

g
a

rd
e

n
w

a
s
te

in
w

h
e

e
le

d
b

in
s

/
b

a
g

s

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
A

n
d

re
w

T
ra

y
e

r

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(3

7
5

)
(9

2
5

)
(9

2
5

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

E
&

T
5

2
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
o

f
tw

o
p

o
s
ts

in
th

e

P
e

s
t

C
o

n
tr

o
l
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
is

k
o

f
a

d
v
e

rs
e

im
p

a
c
t

o
n

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il'

s
's

tr
e

e
t

s
c
e

n
e

'a
g

e
n

d
a

a
n

d
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n

in
in

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
p

ro
a

c
ti
v
e

w
o

rk
,

e
.g

.
p

ig
e

o
n

p
ro

o
fi
n

g
a

n
d

c
le

a
ra

n
c
e

o
f

fi
lt
h

y

a
n

d
v
e

rm
in

o
u

s
p

re
m

is
e

s
.

(2
0

)
(5

0
)

(5
0

)
2

.0
0

L
iz

M
a

rs
h

E
&

T
5

3
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
to

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

F
o

o
d

S
a

fe
ty

S
e

rv
ic

e

F
u

rt
h

e
r

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
s

in
s
ta

ff
in

g
le

v
e

ls
m

a
y

b
e

to
th

e
d

e
tr

im
e

n
t

o
f

fo
o

d
s
a

fe
ty

re
la

te
d

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

in
d

ic
a

to
rs

-
p

a
rt

ic
u

la
rl

y
o

n
c
e

th
e

e
c
o

n
o

m
y

b
e

g
in

s
to

re
c
o

v
e

r.

(4
5

)
(4

5
)

(4
5

)
1

.5
0

L
iz

M
a

rs
h

E
&

T
5

4
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
to

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

P
o

llu
ti
o

n
a

n
d

S
a

fe
ty

S
e

rv
ic

e
.

D
e

le
te

1
.5

te
c
h

n
ic

a
l
a

n
d

0
.5

a
d

m
in

p
o

s
ts

a
n

d
tr

a
in

in
g

o
th

e
r

P
&

S
s
ta

ff
to

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

a
s
b

e
s
to

s
s
u

rv
e

y
in

g
w

o
rk

.
T

h
is

w
ill

ta
k
e

s
ta

ff
a

w
a

y
fr

o
m

h
e

a
lt
h

a
n

d
s
a

fe
ty

a
n

d
p

o
llu

ti
o

n
c
o

n
tr

o
l
a

n
d

n
u

is
a

n
c
e

w
o

rk
(s

ta
tu

to
ry

w
o

rk
)

w
it
h

th
e

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l
to

im
p

a
c
t

o
n

c
u

s
to

m
e

r
s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

in
d

ic
a

to
rs

d
u

e
to

re
d

u
c
e

d
re

s
p

o
n

s
e

ti
m

e
s
.

(6
0

)
(6

0
)

(6
0

)
2

.0
0

L
iz

M
a

rs
h

E
&

T
5

5
T

ra
v
e

l
a

n
d

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

R
e

m
o

v
e

N
o

1
5

4
s
e

rv
ic

e
to

a
n

d

fr
o

m
S

p
ri

n
g

h
ill

S
c
h

o
o

l

T
h

is
s
e

rv
ic

e
is

a
n

a
n

o
m

a
ly

,
b

e
in

g
th

e
o

n
ly

d
e

d
ic

a
te

d
s
c
h

o
o

l
s
e

rv
ic

e
in

th
e

c
it
y
.

S
e

rv
ic

e
to

b
e

re
te

n
d

e
re

d
in

O
c
t/

N
o

v
0

9
.

(1
5

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
P

a
u

l
N

ic
h

o
ls

E
&

T
5

6
D

iv
is

io
n

a
l

C
lo

s
e

th
e

P
la

n
n

in
g

O
ff

ic
e

r

T
ra

in
e

e
P

ro
g

in
2

0
1

0
/1

1
(3

p
o

s
ts

)

T
h

is
is

a
n

H
P

D
G

fu
n

d
e

d
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

th
ro

u
g

h
1

0
/1

1
.

C
lo

s
in

g
th

e
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

w
ill

h
a

v
e

a
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t
im

p
a

c
t

o
n

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
o

n
tr

o
l,

S
p

a
ti
a

l
P

la
n

n
in

g
a

n
d

S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
,

e
a

c
h

lo
s
in

g
a

n
e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

l
p

o
s
t.

A
s

a
D

iv
is

io
n

,
w

e

a
re

lo
s
in

g
th

e
a

b
ili

ty
to

'g
ro

w
o

u
r

o
w

n
'f

u
tu

re
p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

l
s
ta

ff
.

(4
0

)
3

.0
0

P
a

u
l
N

ic
h

o
ls

E
&

T
5

7
T

ra
v
e

l
a

n
d

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

R
e

d
u

c
e

d
s
u

b
s
id

y
fo

r
th

e
1

3
/1

5

b
u

s
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

S
h

o
lin

g
,

B
it
te

rn
e

a
n

d
W

e
s
to

n
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

p
ro

v
id

e
p

o
o

r
v
a

lu
e

fo
r

m
o

n
e

y
.

.
(6

6
)

(6
6

)
(6

6
)

P
a

u
l
N

ic
h

o
ls

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(2

4
6

)
(2

4
1

)
(2

4
1

)
2

.0
0

6
.5

0

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(2
,3

8
9

)
(3

,3
9

2
)

(3
,3

0
7

)
1

1
.8

0
1

3
.9

0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

o
c

a
l

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

H
L

S
1

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d

W
a

rd
e

n
s

R
e

a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

o
v
e

rh
e

a
d

s
fr

o
m

G
e

n
e

ra
l
F

u
n

d

to
H

R
A

R
e

a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
o

v
e

rh
e

a
d

a
tt

ri
b

u
te

d
to

th
is

s
e

rv
ic

e
a

re
a

a
n

d

s
a

v
in

g
s

in
s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
t

fr
o

m
2

0
1

0
/1

1
.

T
h

is
w

ill
in

c
re

a
s
e

c
o

s
ts

to
H

R
A

a
n

d
b

e
a

llo
w

e
d

fo
r

in
H

R
A

b
u

d
g

e
t

s
e

tt
in

g
.

(3
5

)
(3

5
)

(3
5

)
N

ic
k

C
ro

s
s

H
L

S
2

K
a

n
e

s
H

ill
G

y
p

s
y

S
it
e

S
a

v
in

g
s

o
n

w
a

te
r

c
o

s
ts

p
lu

s

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
e

le
c
tr

ic
it
y

c
h

a
rg

e
s

to
re

s
id

e
n

ts

R
e

m
o

v
e

c
o

n
ti
n

g
e

n
c
y

w
h

ic
h

w
a

s
in

c
lu

d
e

d
to

a
n

ti
c
ip

a
te

h
ig

h
in

c
re

a
s
e

s
in

c
o

s
ts

o
f

w
a

te
r

a
n

d
w

a
s
te

o
n

s
it
e

th
a

t
h

a
v
e

n
o

t
m

a
te

ri
a

lis
e

d
.

T
h

e
u

n
it

c
h

a
rg

e

fo
r

e
le

c
tr

ic
it
y

a
t

th
e

s
it
e

h
a

s
fa

lle
n

o
u

t
o

f
s
te

p
w

it
h

c
u

rr
e

n
t

p
ri

c
e

s
.

T
h

e
u

n
it

c
h

a
rg

e
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

in
c
re

a
s
e

d

(1
0

)
(1

0
)

(1
0

)
N

ic
k

C
ro

s
s

H
L

S
3

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

&

P
o

rt
fo

lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
b

a
c
k

o
ff

ic
e

/

a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
v
e

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
in

D
ir

e
c
to

r'
s

O
ff

ic
e

R
e

v
ie

w
&

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
b

u
s
in

e
s
s

s
u

p
p

o
rt

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a

n
d

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
fu

n
c
ti
o

n
s

b
e

tw
e

e
n

D
ir

e
c
to

r'
s

O
ff

ic
e

a
n

d
D

iv
is

io
n

s
to

m
a

x
im

is
e

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
,

re
m

o
v
e

d
u

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

n
o

n
e

s
s
e

n
ti
a

l
a

c
ti
v
it
y
.

D
ir

e
c
to

r'
s

O
ff

ic
e

s
a

v
in

g
s

a
re

s
h

a
re

d

b
e

tw
e

e
n

th
e

H
R

A
a

n
d

th
e

G
e

n
e

ra
l
F

u
n

d
.

(1
0

)
(1

5
)

(1
5

)
0

.5
0

J
o

n

W
a

lla
c
e

H
L

S
4

H
o

u
s
in

g
N

e
e

d
s

R
e

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t
o

f
c
h

a
rg

e
s

to

H
R

A

T
h

is
w

ill
in

c
re

a
s
e

c
o

s
ts

to
th

e
H

R
A

w
h

ic
h

w
ill

b
e

c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
a

s
p

a
rt

o
f

th
e

b
u

d
g

e
t

s
e

tt
in

g
p

ro
c
e

s
s

fo
r

th
a

t
a

c
c
o

u
n

t.
(2

7
)

(2
7

)
(2

7
)

B
a

rb
a

ra

C
o

m
p

to
n

H
L

S
5

H
o

u
s
in

g
S

tr
a

te
g

y

R
e

o
rg

a
n

is
e

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

/

S
tr

a
te

g
y

te
a

m
s

w
o

rk
a

n
d

re
d

u
c
e

s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

P
h

a
s
e

2
R

e
v
ie

w
&

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
H

o
u

s
in

g
S

tr
a

te
g

y
a

n
d

b
u

s
in

e
s
s

s
u

p
p

o
rt

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a

n
d

fu
n

c
ti
o

n
s

to
s
u

p
p

o
rt

P
U

S
H

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a

n
d

m
a

x
im

is
e

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

w
h

ic
h

m
e

a
n

s
th

a
t

s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

c
a

n
b

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

lis
e

d
.

N
o

d
ir

e
c
t

s
e

rv
ic

e
o

r
s
ta

ff
in

g
im

p
a

c
t

a
n

ti
c
ip

a
te

d
.

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
B

a
rb

a
ra

C
o

m
p

to
n

H
L

S
6

C
o

m
m

o
n

,

H
a

w
th

o
rn

s
&

N
a

tu
ra

l

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

R
e

v
is

e
th

e
o

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

a
t

th
e

H
a

w
th

o
rn

s

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
th

e
o

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
a

t
th

e
H

a
w

th
o

rn
s

u
s
in

g
m

o
re

fl
e

x
ib

le
w

o
rk

in
g

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

to
a

c
h

ie
v
e

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
in

c
o

m
e

a
n

d
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s

in
o

v
e

ra
ll

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l
c
o

s
ts

.

(1
0

)
(1

5
)

(1
5

)
J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
7

C
o

m
m

o
n

,

H
a

w
th

o
rn

s
&

N
a

tu
ra

l

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

R
e

d
u

c
e

N
a

tu
ra

l
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

S
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
s
p

e
n

d

T
h

e
a

b
ili

ty
to

m
a

in
ta

in
th

e
in

fr
a

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
T

h
e

C
o

m
m

o
n

a
n

d
H

a
w

th
o

rn
s

re
d

u
c
e

s
to

e
s
s
e

n
ti
a

l
H

&
S

re
p

a
ir

s
o

n
ly

.
(1

0
)

(1
0

)
(1

0
)

J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
8

T
re

e
s
,

A
llo

tm
e

n
ts

&
P

a
rk

s

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

R
e

d
u

c
e

th
e

v
o

lu
m

e
o

f
tr

e
e

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

w
o

rk
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n

b
y

e
x
te

rn
a

l
c
o

n
tr

a
c
to

r

P
h

a
s
e

1
o

f
S

T
O

R
M

S
w

ill
b

e
c
o

m
p

le
te

d
.

It
is

e
x
p

e
c
te

d
th

a
t

th
e

a
m

o
u

n
t

o
f

re
a

c
ti
v
e

tr
e

e
w

o
rk

w
ill

re
d

u
c
e

re
d

u
c
e

.
T

h
e

re
is

lik
e

ly
to

b
e

a
s
lig

h
t

b
u

t

m
a

n
a

g
e

b
le

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
H

&
S

/
in

s
u

ra
n

c
e

c
la

im
s

ri
s
k

a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

w
it
h

th
is

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
.

(4
5

)
(6

5
)

(6
5

)
J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

H
L

S
9

A
c
ti
v
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
/

S
tr

o
n

g
e

r

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s

P
h

a
s
e

1
o

f
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

ri
n

g
th

e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

s
e

p
a

ra
te

A
c
ti
v
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
a

n
d

S
tr

o
n

g
e

r

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
te

a
m

a
n

d

s
im

p
lif

y
th

e
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

D
e

le
te

th
e

A
c
ti
v
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
M

a
n

a
g

e
r

p
o

s
t

d
u

ri
n

g
2

0
1

0
/1

1
a

n
d

a
c
h

ie
v
e

fu
ll

y
e

a
r

s
a

v
in

g
in

2
0

1
1

/1
2

a
n

d
o

ff
s
e

t
p

a
rt

o
f

th
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

r
p

o
s
t

w
it
h

e
x
te

rn
a

l

fu
n

d
in

g
fo

r
o

n
e

y
e

a
r.

C
o

m
b

in
e

a
d

m
in

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

fo
r

th
e

tw
o

te
a

m
s

a
n

d

re
d

u
c
e

c
o

s
t.

(5
5

)
(4

9
)

(4
9

)
2

.0
0

1
.0

0
J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
1

0
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

S
tr

e
e

t
C

le
a

n
s
in

g
W

a
s
te

tr
a

n
s
fe

r
&

D
is

p
o

s
a

l
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

L
in

k
e

d
to

d
e

p
o

t
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
b

u
t

w
o

rk
in

g
o

n
fu

rt
h

e
r

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
fr

o
m

th
is

a
re

a
in

v
o

lv
in

g
re

v
is

e
d

w
a

s
te

c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
,

tr
a

n
s
p

o
rt

a
n

d
d

is
p

o
s
a

l
m

e
th

o
d

s
/

te
c
h

n
o

lo
g

ie
s
.

(2
0

)
(3

0
)

(3
0

)
J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
1

1
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g
F

le
e

t
C

o
s
t

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s

T
h

is
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
in

p
a

rt
th

ro
u

g
h

re
d

u
c
in

g
n

u
m

b
e

r
o

f
v
e

h
ic

le
s

a
s

a

re
s
u

lt
o

f
re

-m
o

d
e

lli
n

g
s
e

rv
ic

e
d

e
liv

e
ry

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

fo
r

fr
o

n
t-

lin
e

te
a

m
s
,

a
n

d

in
p

a
rt

th
ro

u
g

h
w

o
rk

in
g

w
it
h

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

to
re

d
u

c
e

fl
e

e
t

s
u

p
p

ly
a

n
d

s
u

p
p

o
rt

c
o

s
ts

.

(7
0

)
(1

0
0

)
(1

0
0

)
J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
1

2
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

R
e

te
n

d
e

r
s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s

c
le

a
n

in
g

C
o

m
b

in
in

g
a

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

s
m

a
lle

r
c
o

n
tr

a
c
ts

in
to

a
la

rg
e

r
te

n
d

e
re

d
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

t

a
n

d
re

d
u

c
in

g
th

e
s
p

e
c

s
lig

h
tl
y

to
a

c
h

ie
v
e

b
e

tt
e

r
v
a

lu
e

fo
r

m
o

n
e

y
.

In
c
lu

d
e

s

p
a

rk
s

a
n

d
s
p

o
rt

in
g

v
e

n
u

e
s
.

(1
4

)
(1

4
)

(1
4

)
J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
1

3
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

C
o

n
ti
n

g
e

n
c
y

fu
n

d
s

re
m

o
v
e

d
,

in
c
lu

d
in

g
fu

n
d

s
fo

r
H

e
a

lt
h

a
n

d

S
a

fe
ty

w
o

rk
a

n
d

m
in

o
r

re
p

a
ir

s

M
a

in
ly

H
&

S
fu

n
d

s
.

M
a

jo
r

re
p

a
ir

s
to

p
a

rk
s

a
s
s
e

ts
c
a

n
o

n
ly

b
e

fu
n

d
e

d
in

fu
tu

re

th
ro

u
g

h
re

q
u

e
s
ts

to
ri

s
k

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

fu
n

d
,

o
r

fu
tu

re
in

c
lu

s
io

n
o

f
a

s
s
e

ts

w
it
h

in
th

e
s
c
o

p
e

o
f

th
e

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

re
p

a
ir

a
n

d
m

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

b
u

d
g

e
t,

w
it
h

R
&

M

n
e

e
d

s
p

ri
o

ri
ti
s
e

d
a

lo
n

g
w

it
h

o
th

e
r

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

a
s
s
e

ts
.

(3
5

)
(3

5
)

(3
5

)
J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
1

4
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
&

e
x
tr

a
in

c
o

m
e

w
it
h

in
th

e
g

ro
u

n
d

s

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

te
a

m
w

o
rk

in
g

in

s
c
h

o
o

ls
a

n
d

e
x
te

rn
a

l
c
o

lle
g

e
s

In
c
re

a
s
e

d
in

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
e

x
p

a
n

d
in

g
th

e
e

x
te

rn
a

l
w

o
rk

a
n

d
im

p
ro

v
in

g
th

e

g
ro

u
n

d
s

to
s
c
h

o
o

ls
(2

0
)

(3
0

)
(3

0
)

J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
1

5
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g
R

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
P

ro
je

c
t

T
e

a
m

D
e

v
e

lo
p

b
e

tt
e

r
jo

in
t

w
o

rk
in

g
w

it
h

S
a

fe
r

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
s
ta

ff
a

n
d

te
a

m
s

in

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
.

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
0

.5
0

J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
1

6
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

D
e

v
o

lv
e

s
ta

ff
a

n
d

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
o

f

c
it
y
w

id
e

re
a

c
ti
v
e

te
a

m
in

to
n

e
w

C
e

n
tr

a
l,

E
a

s
t

a
n

d
W

e
s
t

D
is

tr
ic

t

T
e

a
m

s
.

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

o
f

m
o

b
ile

te
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
w

ill
e

n
a

b
le

e
ff

ic
ie

n
t

d
e

v
o

lu
ti
o

n
o

f

re
s
p

o
n

s
e

to
2

4
h

o
u

r
c
u

s
to

m
e

r
e

n
q

u
ir

ie
s

to
D

is
tr

ic
t

T
e

a
m

s
w

it
h

a
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

o
v
e

ra
ll

c
le

a
n

s
in

g
e

s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n

t
b

y
2

F
T

E
p

o
s
ts

.
S

p
e

c
ia

lis
t

fu
n

c
ti
o

n
s

s
u

c
h

a
s

m
e

c
h

a
n

ic
a

l
s
w

e
e

p
in

g
,

g
ra

ff
it
i
re

m
o

v
a

l,
a

n
d

F
re

s
h

S
ta

rt
w

ill
re

ta
in

a
c
it
y
w

id
e

re
m

it
b

u
t

b
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

d
a

s
p

a
rt

o
f

th
e

C
it
y

C
e

n
tr

e
c
le

a
n

s
in

g
te

a
m

.

(3
0

)
(4

0
)

(4
0

)
2

.0
0

J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

H
L

S
1

7
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

R
a

ti
o

n
a

lis
e

e
le

m
e

n
ts

o
f

th
e

s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

g
ro

u
n

d
s

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

te
a

m
a

n
d

c
o

n
v
e

rt

g
ra

s
s

te
n

n
is

c
o

u
rt

s
to

a
n

e
v
e

n
t

s
p

a
c
e

(A
rt

s
M

a
rk

e
t)

.

L
o

c
a

lis
e

d
d

e
liv

e
ry

o
f

th
e

o
u

td
o

o
r

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

p
lu

s
m

o
d

e
s
t

in
c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
e

v
e

n
t

s
p

a
c
e

.
(5

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
0

.5
0

J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(4

3
6

)
(5

3
5

)
(5

3
5

)
5

.5
0

1
.0

0

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

o
c

a
l

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
In

c
o

m
e

H
L

S
1

8
P

a
rk

s
a

n
d

S
tr

e
e

ts

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

F
u

rt
h

e
r

in
c
o

m
e

a
n

d

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
fr

o
m

P
a

rk
s

a
n

d

O
p

e
n

S
p

a
c
e

s

C
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

p
ri

c
e

s
a

re
w

e
ll

b
e

lo
w

m
a

rk
e

t
n

o
rm

s
a

n
d

n
e

ig
h

b
o

u
ri

n
g

a
u

th
o

ri
ti
e

s
.

T
h

e
s
e

m
o

d
e

s
t

in
c
re

a
s
e

s
w

ill
re

d
u

c
e

th
e

s
u

b
s
id

y
a

c
ro

s
s

th
e

s
e

rv
ic

e
a

re
a

.

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

w
ill

s
ti
ll

b
e

p
ro

v
id

e
d

a
t

p
ri

c
e

s
b

e
lo

w
m

a
rk

e
t

n
o

rm
s
.

(8
)

(1
5

)
(1

5
)

J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(8

)
(1

5
)

(1
5

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

o
c

a
l

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

H
L

S
1

9
H

o
u

s
in

g
N

e
e

d
s

S
tr

e
a

m
lin

e
w

o
rk

e
.g

.R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s

in
n

u
m

b
e

r
o

f

S
p

e
c
ia

l
A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
a

n
d

c
h

e
c
k
s

o
n

H
o

u
s
in

g
R

e
g

is
te

r

a
p

p
lic

a
n

ts
d

o
n

e
o

n
s
a

m
p

le

b
a

s
is

o
n

ly
.

C
h

a
n

g
e

in
p

o
lic

y
o

n
s
p

e
c
ia

l
a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
w

ill
m

e
a

n
th

a
t

n
o

m
e

d
ic

a
l
/

s
o

c
ia

l
/

w
e

lf
a

re
a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
w

ill
b

e
d

o
n

e
e

x
c
e

p
t

fo
r

e
x
c
e

p
ti
o

n
a

l
u

rg
e

n
t

c
ir

c
u

m
s
ta

n
c
e

s
.

A
ls

o
c
e

a
s
e

c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
d

e
ta

ile
d

c
h

e
c
k
s

o
n

a
p

p
lic

a
n

ts
to

h
o

u
s
in

g
re

g
is

te
r

a
n

d
re

p
la

c
e

w
it
h

s
a

m
p

le
c
h

e
c
k
.

(4
3

)
(4

3
)

(4
3

)
2

.0
0

B
a

rb
a

ra

C
o

m
p

to
n

H
L

S
2

0

A
c
ti
v
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
/

S
tr

o
n

g
e

r

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s

P
h

a
s
e

1
o

f
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

ri
n

g
th

e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

s
e

p
a

ra
te

A
c
ti
v
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
a

n
d

S
tr

o
n

g
e

r

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
te

a
m

s
a

n
d

s
im

p
lif

y
th

e
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

.

T
h

e
s
e

rv
ic

e
w

o
u

ld
b

e
re

d
u

c
e

d
b

y
c
o

m
b

in
in

g
th

e
ro

le
o

f
p

o
s
ts

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

S
tr

o
n

g
e

r
a

n
d

A
c
ti
v
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
T

e
a

m
s

a
n

d
fo

c
u

s
s
in

g
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s

o
n

s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

th
e

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

a
s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o

n
s

in
ru

n
n

in
g

th
e

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

b
u

ild
in

g
s
.

T
h

e
re

w
ill

b
e

a
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

th
e

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

p
ro

je
c
t

w
o

rk
e

r
p

o
s
ts

a
n

d
th

e

b
u

d
g

e
t

to
s
u

p
p

o
rt

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

g
ro

u
p

s
/

re
s
id

e
n

t
a

s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o

n
s
.

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

w
o

rk
e

rs
w

ill
re

d
u

c
e

fr
o

m
5

.5
to

4
.5

m
a

tc
h

in
g

o
n

e
p

e
r

d
is

tr
ic

t
(3

)

p
lu

s
1

c
it
y
w

id
e

te
a

m
le

a
d

e
r

a
n

d
s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

s
u

p
p

o
rt

fo
r

th
e

C
it
y

C
e

n
tr

e
a

re
a

.

(6
5

)
(8

3
)

(8
3

)
3

.0
0

J
o

n
D

y
e

r-

S
la

d
e

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

0
8

)
(1

2
6

)
(1

2
6

)
3

.0
0

2
.0

0

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

o
c

a
l

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(5
5

2
)

(6
7

6
)

(6
7

6
)

8
.5

0
3

.0
0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

L
e

a
d

e
rs

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

L
1

P
o

rt
fo

lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
a

n
n

u
a

l
s
u

b
s
c
ri

p
ti
o

n
s

to
e

x
te

rn
a

l
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
s

T
h

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

h
a

s
a

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

s
u

b
s
c
ip

ti
o

n
s

to
e

x
te

rn
a

l
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
s

w
h

ic
h

re
s
id

e
w

it
h

in
th

e
L

e
a

d
e

r'
s

P
o

rt
o

lio
b

e
c
a

u
s
e

o
f

th
e

ir
im

p
a

c
t

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

e
n

ti
re

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
.

T
h

e
s
e

s
u

b
s
c
ri

p
ti
o

n
s

h
a

v
e

b
e

e
n

re
v
ie

w
e

d
to

e
n

s
u

re
th

a
t

th
e

y

a
re

c
o

n
s
is

te
n

t
w

it
h

c
u

rr
e

n
t

c
o

u
n

c
il

p
ri

o
ri

ti
e

s
a

n
d

p
ro

v
id

e
v
a

lu
e

fo
r

m
o

n
e

y
.

A

£
2

5
,0

0
0

s
a

v
in

g
fr

o
m

2
0

1
0

/1
1

o
n

w
a

rd
s

w
a

s
a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
a

s
p

a
rt

o
f

th
e

m
in

i

b
u

d
g

e
t

la
s
t

y
e

a
r

a
n

d
th

is
s
a

v
in

g
re

p
re

s
e

n
ts

th
e

b
a

la
n

c
e

o
f

th
e

e
x
p

e
c
te

d

s
a

v
in

g
s

fr
o

m
th

e
re

v
ie

w
p

ro
c
e

s
s
.

(1
)

(9
)

(9
)

J
o

y
W

ilm
o

t-

P
a

lm
e

r

L
2

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

D
e

le
ti
o

n
o

f
C

a
p

it
a

C
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o

n
fe

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
t

N
o

n
e

th
is

is
a

b
e

lo
w

th
e

lin
e

re
c
h

a
rg

e
a

n
d

n
o

re
s
id

u
a

l
w

o
rk

s
a

re
a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d

lo
c
a

lly
in

lie
u

o
f

th
e

m
a

jo
r

a
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
(A

S
A

P
)

p
ro

je
c
t

in
2

0
1

0
/1

1
.

(4
)

(4
)

(4
)

J
o

y
W

ilm
o

t-

P
a

lm
e

r

L
3

B
e

s
t

V
a

lu
e

&

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

O
ff

ic
e

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
a

n
d

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

L
e

a
rn

in
g

a
n

d
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

e
x
p

e
n

s
e

s

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
s
e

n
io

r
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
c
o

n
fe

re
n

c
e

s
,

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
a

l
b

ri
e

fi
n

g
s

a
n

d

a
w

a
y
d

a
y
s

w
ill

n
e

e
d

to
b

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

lis
e

d
a

n
d

th
e

u
s
e

o
f

e
x
te

rn
a

l
v
e

n
u

e
s

lim
it
e

d
.

R
e

v
is

e
d

w
o

rk
in

g
p

ra
c
ti
c
e

s
w

ill
b

e
in

tr
o

d
u

c
e

d
to

e
n

a
b

le
s
h

a
ri

n
g

o
f

P
A

's
,

o
ff

ic
e

a
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

tr
a

in
in

g
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
a

c
ro

s
s

th
e

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

p
o

lic
y

te
a

m
.

(2
8

)
(2

8
)

(2
8

)
J
o

y
W

ilm
o

t-

P
a

lm
e

r

L
4

L
e

g
a

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
D

e
le

ti
o

n
o

f
o

n
e

s
e

c
re

ta
ri

a
l

A
s
s
is

ta
n

t
P

o
s
t

T
h

e
p

o
s
t

s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
th

e
H

o
u

s
in

g
/A

S
B

a
n

d
S

o
c
ia

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
/E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
T

e
a

m
.

T
a

s
k
s

w
ill

b
e

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
b

y
th

e
re

s
t

o
f

th
e

te
a

m
a

n
d

m
a

y
h

a
v
e

a
n

im
p

a
c
t

o
n

s
p

e
e

d
o

f
s
e

rv
ic

e
p

ro
v
is

io
n

(2
4

)
(2

4
)

(2
4

)
1

.0
0

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

L
5

R
e

g
is

tr
a

ti
o

n
s

&

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

D
e

le
ti
o

n
o

f
o

n
e

C
le

ri
c
a

l

A
s
s
is

ta
n

t
p

o
s
t

A
ll

c
e

n
tr

a
lis

e
d

a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
o

n
d

u
ti
e

s
w

o
u

ld
b

e
a

b
s
o

rb
e

d
b

y
s
e

c
re

ta
ri

a
l/
a

d
m

in

s
ta

ff
a

c
ro

s
s

th
e

d
iv

is
io

n
.

In
a

d
d

it
io

n
th

e
m

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

o
f

p
e

rs
o

n
n

e
l
re

c
o

rd
s
,

e
.g

.
s
ic

k
n

e
s
s
,

a
tt

e
n

d
a

n
c
e

e
tc

.
w

o
u

ld
h

a
v
e

to
b

e
m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

b
y

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l
lin

e

M
a

n
a

g
e

rs
to

g
e

th
e

r
w

it
h

h
e

a
lt
h

a
n

d
s
a

fe
ty

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
e

.g
.

P
A

T
te

s
ts

,

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t

in
v
e

n
to

ri
e

s
e

tc
.

T
h

is
m

a
y

le
a

d
to

a
s
m

a
ll

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

fe
e

e
a

rn
in

g

h
o

u
rs

a
v
a

ila
b

le
.

(2
1

)
(2

1
)

(2
1

)
1

.0
0

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

L
6

L
e

g
a

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

e
x
te

rn
a

l
le

g
a

l

c
o

s
ts

T
h

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

s
p

e
n

d
s

m
o

n
e

y
o

n
e

x
te

rn
a

l
la

w
y
e

rs
,

a
s

th
e

p
ro

v
is

io
n

o
f

le
g

a
l

s
u

p
p

o
rt

is
m

a
n

a
g

e
d

o
n

a
m

ix
e

d
e

c
o

n
o

m
y

b
a

s
is

.
A

s
a

re
s
u

lt
o

f
a

jo
in

t
p

ro
je

c
t

b
e

tw
e

e
n

a
ll

th
e

H
a

m
p

s
h

ir
e

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri

ty
le

g
a

l
d

e
p

ts
o

v
e

r
th

e
la

s
t

5
y
e

a
rs

,

th
e

s
h

a
re

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

a
g

e
n

d
a

is
w

e
ll

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
.

It
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

a
g

re
e

d
to

p
u

rs
u

e

a
H

a
n

ts
le

d
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

,
te

n
d

e
ri

n
g

o
f

w
h

ic
h

w
ill

e
n

a
b

le
fu

rt
h

e
r

s
a

v
in

g
s

to
b

e

m
a

d
e

.
T

h
a

t
w

ill
ta

k
e

a
t

le
a

s
t

a
y
e

a
r

to
c
o

m
p

le
te

.
In

th
e

m
e

a
n

ti
m

e
th

e
c
u

rr
e

n
t

le
v
e

l
o

f
e

x
te

rn
a

l
s
p

e
n

d
w

ill
b

e
ro

b
u

s
tl
y

m
a

n
a

g
e

d
.

(2
5

)
(5

0
)

(5
0

)
M

a
rk

H
e

a
th

L
7

L
e

g
a

l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

R
e

v
ie

w
th

e
c
o

n
tr

a
c
te

d

p
ro

v
is

io
n

fo
r

le
g

a
l
p

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t

a
d

v
ic

e
le

a
d

in
g

to
a

m
in

i

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
w

it
h

in
th

e
te

a
m

.

T
h

e
s
e

c
ti
o

n
7

5
w

o
rk

fo
r

c
h

ild
re

n
’s

a
n

d
a

d
u

lt
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
-

i.
e

.
th

e
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip

w
o

rk
w

it
h

th
e

P
C

T
w

o
u

ld
b

e
s
p

re
a

d
a

c
ro

s
s

th
e

s
a

m
e

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

le
g

a
l
s
ta

ff

b
u

t
th

e
le

v
e

l
o

f
e

x
p

e
rt

is
e

c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

h
e

ld
w

ill
b

e
re

d
u

c
e

d
a

n
d

th
e

re
w

ill
b

e
a

le
a

rn
in

g
c
u

rv
e

d
u

ri
n

g
w

h
ic

h
ti
m

e
th

e
re

is
lik

e
ly

to
b

e
s
lo

w
e

r
tu

rn
a

ro
u

n
d

fo
r

a
ll

p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
w

o
rk

.

(3
4

)
(3

4
)

(3
4

)
0

.5
0

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

3
7

)
(1

7
0

)
(1

7
0

)
2

.5
0

0
.0

0

L
e

a
d

e
rs

-
In

c
o

m
e

L
8

D
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c

S
u

p
p

o
rt

a
n

d

M
e

m
b

e
rs

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
o

f

a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
o

n
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts

fo
r

S
ta

tu
to

ry
A

d
m

is
s
io

n
s

F
o

ru
m

T
h

is
a

c
ti
v
it
y

w
a

s
a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
b

y
C

a
b

in
e

t
in

J
u

ly
2

0
0

9
w

it
h

th
e

fo
ru

m
c
o

m
in

g

in
to

b
e

in
g

in
S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r
2

0
0

9
.

T
h

is
w

ill
re

q
u

ir
e

a
re

-e
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e

w
o

rk
lo

a
d

s
in

d
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

to
a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
te

th
e

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
s
e

tt
in

g
u

p

a
n

d
a

d
m

in
is

tr
a

ti
o

n
re

q
u

ir
e

d
in

c
lu

d
in

g
e

n
s
u

ri
n

g
th

a
t

c
o

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o

n
s

e
tc

,
a

re

c
o

rr
e

c
t

a
n

d
in

p
la

c
e

.

(6
)

(6
)

(6
)

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

L
9

L
ic

e
n

s
in

g
A

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
In

c
o

m
e

-
E

B
C

jo
in

t

w
o

rk
in

g
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
A

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
w

o
rk

lo
a

d
p

re
s
s
u

re
s

fo
r

e
x
is

ti
n

g
te

a
m

m
e

m
b

e
rs

(3
5

)
(3

5
)

(3
5

)
M

a
rk

H
e

a
th

L
1

0
L

e
g

a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
C

it
y

C
e

n
tr

e
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
In

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
L

e
g

a
l
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

p
ro

v
id

e
d

to
S

tr
e

e
ts

A
h

e
a

d
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

L
td

(t
h

e

n
e

w
C

it
y

C
e

n
tr

e
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
c
o

m
p

a
n

y
)

(2
)

(2
)

(2
)

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

L
1

1
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
L

e
g

a
l

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
in

c
o

m
e

-
O

th
e

r
L

A

in
v
e

s
ti
g

a
ti
o

n
s

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
w

o
rk

lo
a

d
p

re
s
s
u

re
s
,

a
v
a

ila
b

ili
ty

o
f

o
ff

ic
e

rs
m

a
y

b
e

re
d

u
c
e

d
if

w
o

rk
in

g
o

ff
-s

it
e

(1
5

)
(5

)
(5

)
M

a
rk

H
e

a
th

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(5

8
)

(4
8

)
(4

8
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

L
e

a
d

e
rs

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

L
1

2
S

tr
a

te
g

ic
/

P
o

rt
fo

lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

D
e

le
ti
o

n
o

f
c
o

rp
o

ra
te

re
s
id

e
n

t

s
u

rv
e

y
b

u
d

g
e

ts

T
h

e
d

e
le

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e

y
a

n
d

o
th

e
r

re
s
id

e
n

t
s
u

rv
e

y
b

u
d

g
e

ts
w

ill

re
s
u

lt
in

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il

n
o

t
re

c
e

iv
in

g
a

n
y

o
v
e

ra
ll,

re
p

re
s
e

n
ta

ti
v
e

fe
e

d
b

a
c
k

fr
o

m

lo
c
a

l
re

s
id

e
n

ts
o

n
a

ll
o

f
it
s

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
.

S
in

c
e

th
is

is
a

m
o

re
c
o

s
t

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

s
o

lu
ti
o

n
th

a
n

th
is

b
e

in
g

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

n
o

n
a

s
e

rv
ic

e
b

y
s
e

rv
ic

e
b

a
s
is

it
is

p
ro

p
o

s
e

d
th

a
t

th
is

w
ill

s
a

v
in

g
b

e
a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
b

y
th

e
c
o

n
s
o

lid
a

ti
o

n
o

f
a

ll
P

o
rt

fo
lio

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

s
u

rv
e

y
b

u
d

g
e

ts
w

it
h

in
th

e
L

e
a

d
e

r'
s

P
o

rt
fo

lio
to

g
e

th
e

r
w

it
h

p
a

rt
n

e
r

c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s
.

T
h

e
c
o

n
s
o

lid
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
s
e

b
u

d
g

e
ts

w
ill

a
ls

o
s
u

p
p

o
rt

th
e

a
m

b
it
io

n
o

f
tr

a
c
k
in

g
th

e
im

p
a

c
t

o
f

ta
rg

e
te

d
M

e
d

ia
c
a

m
p

a
ig

n
s

s
e

t
o

u
t

in

W
e

s
tm

in
s
te

r'
s

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

R
e

v
ie

w
re

p
o

rt
.

(4
0

)
(4

0
)

(4
0

)
J
o

y
W

ilm
o

t-

P
a

lm
e

r

L
1

3

D
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c

S
u

p
p

o
rt

a
n

d

M
e

m
b

e
rs

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

M
e

m
b

e
rs

A
llo

w
a

n
c
e

s
N

o
a

n
n

u
a

l
in

fl
a

ti
o

n
a

ry
in

c
re

a
s
e

in
M

e
m

b
e

rs
a

llo
w

a
n

c
e

s
.

R
e

q
u

ir
e

s
C

o
u

n
c
il

d
e

c
is

io
n

b
u

t
n

o
n

e
w

IR
P

re
p

o
rt

a
s

th
e

s
c
h

e
m

e
is

n
o

t
b

e
in

g
a

m
e

n
d

e
d

(6
)

(6
)

(6
)

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

L
1

4

D
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c

S
u

p
p

o
rt

a
n

d

M
e

m
b

e
rs

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

M
e

m
b

e
rs

E
x
p

e
n

s
e

s
R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
s

in
th

e
b

u
d

g
e

ts
fo

r
c
o

n
fe

re
n

c
e

s
,

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t,

s
ta

ti
o

n
e

ry
a

n
d

p
u

b
lic

a
ti
o

n
s

(4
)

(4
)

(4
)

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

L
1

5

D
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c

S
u

p
p

o
rt

a
n

d

M
e

m
b

e
rs

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
P

a
n

e
ls

R
e

d
u

c
e

th
e

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

s
c
ru

ti
n

y
p

a
n

e
ls

b
y

2
.

T
h

e
lo

s
s

o
f

th
e

s
e

m
e

e
ti
n

g
s

w
o

u
ld

re
s
u

lt
in

a
s
a

v
in

g
in

th
e

S
p

e
c
ia

l
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

A
llo

w
a

n
c
e

.
(5

)
(5

)
(5

)
M

a
rk

H
e

a
th

L
1

6

D
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c

S
u

p
p

o
rt

a
n

d

M
e

m
b

e
rs

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

B
ri

e
fi
n

g
m

e
e

ti
n

g
p

ro
c
e

s
s

to
b

e

re
v
is

e
d

a
n

d
C

o
u

n
c
il

m
e

e
ti
n

g
s

to
b

e
re

d
u

c
e

d
b

y
1

m
e

e
ti
n

g

p
e

r
y
e

a
r

R
e

v
is

e
d

a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

to
th

e
s
e

rv
ic

in
g

a
n

d
s
u

p
p

o
rt

to
C

a
b

in
e

t
M

e
m

b
e

r
B

ri
e

fi
n

g
s

w
h

ic
h

m
a

y
h

a
v
e

im
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s

fo
r

o
th

e
r

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

s
.

T
h

e
s
c
h

e
m

e
o

f

d
e

le
g

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l
lim

it
s

m
a

y
a

ls
o

n
e

e
d

to
b

e
a

m
e

n
d

e
d

.
T

h
e

lo
s
s

o
f

o
n

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

m
e

e
ti
n

g
w

ill
m

e
a

n
th

a
t

th
e

b
u

s
in

e
s
s

fo
r

th
a

t
m

e
e

ti
n

g
w

ill
n

e
e

d
to

b
e

tr
a

n
s
fe

rr
e

d
to

o
th

e
r

C
o

u
n

c
il

m
e

e
ti
n

g
s

w
it
h

in
th

e
c
y
c
le

.

(2
5

)
(2

5
)

(2
5

)
1

.0
0

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(8

0
)

(8
0

)
(8

0
)

0
.0

0
1

.0
0

L
e

a
d

e
rs

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(2
7

5
)

(2
9

8
)

(2
9

8
)

2
.5

0
1

.0
0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

L
C

H
1

L
ib

ra
ri

e
s

V
o

lu
n

te
e

ri
n

g
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

to

s
u

p
p

o
rt

L
ib

ra
ry

s
ta

ff

E
x
p

a
n

d
v
o

lu
n

te
e

ri
n

g
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

to
in

c
re

a
s
e

p
re

s
e

n
c
e

a
n

d
ro

le
o

f
v
o

lu
n

te
e

rs

in
th

e
d

e
liv

e
ry

o
f

th
e

lib
ra

ry
s
e

rv
ic

e
.

T
h

is
in

v
o

lv
e

s
re

c
ru

it
in

g
a

n
d

re
ta

in
in

g
a

la
rg

e
p

o
o

l
o

f
v
o

lu
n

te
e

rs
to

d
e

liv
e

r
s
a

v
in

g
s

ta
rg

e
t.

P
ro

p
o

s
a

l
is

to
d

e
liv

e
r

p
a

rt

y
e

a
r

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
in

2
0

1
0

/1
1

d
u

e
to

s
c
a

le
o

f
v
o

lu
n

te
e

r
re

c
ru

it
m

e
n

t

re
q

u
ir

e
d

.
D

u
e

to
th

is
p

h
a

s
in

g
e

x
p

e
c
te

d
to

re
d

u
c
e

F
T

E
s

b
y

2
in

2
0

1
0

/1
1

w
it
h

fu
rt

h
e

r
4

b
y

2
0

1
1

/1
2

(3
7

)
(1

1
2

)
(1

1
2

)
5

.4
0

0
.6

0
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
2

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
re

ta
in

e
d

C
lie

n
t

S
id

e
/

S
p

o
rt

s
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

R
e

v
ie

w
re

ta
in

e
d

c
lie

n
t

s
id

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
p

o
s
t

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

in
c
lu

d
in

g
d

e
le

ti
o

n
o

f

S
p

o
rt

s
d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

p
o

s
t,

a
n

d
d

e
le

ti
o

n
o

f
fa

c
ili

ti
e

s
m

a
n

a
g

e
rs

p
o

s
t.

C
re

a
ti
o

n

o
f

P
T

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
o

ff
ic

e
r

p
o

s
t.

F
o

c
u

s
o

n
s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

A
c
ti
v
e

S
o

u
th

a
m

p
to

n
a

s
b

ro
a

d
e

r
p

h
y
s
ic

a
l
a

c
ti
v
it
y

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

.
L

o
s
s

o
f

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

to

s
u

p
p

o
rt

v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

s
e

c
to

r.

(2
2

)
(4

2
)

(4
2

)
1

.0
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
3

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
M

a
rk

e
ti
n

g
&

S
a

le
s

B
u

d
g

e
ts

M
a

rk
e

ti
n

g
re

s
o

u
rc

e
w

ill
tr

a
n

s
fe

r
to

n
e

w
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
,

p
la

n
s

fo
r

re
ta

in
e

d

b
u

d
g

e
ts

c
a

n
b

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

lis
e

d
,

p
a

rt
ic

u
la

rl
y

if
O

a
k
la

n
d

s
a

n
d

S
t

M
a

ry
's

a
re

tr
a

n
s
fe

rr
e

d
to

a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

.

(1
0

)
(1

0
)

(1
0

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
4

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

A
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

a
t

S
t

M
a

ry
's

L
e

is
u

re
C

e
n

tr
e

S
e

c
u

re
a

p
a

rt
n

e
r

to
m

a
n

a
g

e
fa

c
ili

ty
o

n
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
b

e
h

a
lf
.

T
h

e
s
ta

ff
in

v
o

lv
e

d

w
o

u
ld

T
U

P
E

to
th

e
n

e
w

p
ro

v
id

e
r.

P
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
ro

u
te

m
a

y
m

e
a

n
th

a
t

c
u

rr
e

n
t

le
v
e

ls
o

f
p

u
b

lic
a

c
c
e

s
s

/
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g
m

a
y

v
a

ry
.

(4
0

)
(5

1
)

(5
1

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
5

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
fr

o
m

a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

P
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
o

f
a

p
a

rt
n

e
r

to
m

a
n

a
g

e
fa

c
ili

ti
e

s
o

n
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
b

e
h

a
lf
.

D
e

c
is

io
n

e
x
p

e
c
te

d
F

e
b

ru
a

ry
2

0
1

0
,

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

to
s
ta

rt
S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r
2

0
1

0
.

P
a

rt

y
e

a
r

fo
r

2
0

1
0

/1
1

.
Im

p
a

c
t

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t
c
o

m
p

le
te

d

(1
1

1
)

(4
0

7
)

(4
0

7
)

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
6

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

D
e

le
ti
o

n
o

f
a

S
e

n
io

r

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
A

s
s
is

ta
n

t
P

o
s
t

a
t

th
e

Q
u

a
y
s

-
p

a
rt

y
e

a
r

o
n

ly
.

L
in

k
s

to
it
e

m
L

C
H

5
A

s
s
u

m
p

ti
o

n
is

th
a

t
v
a

lu
e

o
f

s
a

v
in

g
is

p
a

rt
o

f

p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
s
a

v
in

g
o

n
c
e

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

is
le

t.
(7

)
1

.0
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

L
C

H
7

M
a

jo
r

P
ro

je
c
ts

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
M

a
jo

r
P

ro
je

c
ts

T
e

a
m

S
ta

ff
in

g
S

tr
u

c
tu

re

L
o

s
s

o
f

d
e

d
ic

a
te

d
p

ro
je

c
t

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

fo
r

s
p

e
c
if
ic

p
ro

je
c
ts

a
n

d

re
d

u
c
e

d
a

b
ili

ty
to

re
s
p

o
n

d
to

u
n

fo
re

s
e

e
n

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
/

p
ro

je
c
ts

.

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

fo
r

T
it
a

n
ic

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
d

iv
e

rt
e

d
to

A
rt

s
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

te
a

m
,

O
ly

m
p

ic
s

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
to

b
e

c
o

o
rd

in
a

te
d

b
y

lo
w

e
r

g
ra

d
e

d
p

o
s
t

a
n

d
re

ly
in

g
o

n

c
ro

s
s

c
o

u
n

c
il

te
a

m
to

d
e

liv
e

r.

(3
3

)
(3

3
)

(3
3

)
1

.0
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
8

E
x
te

rn
a

lis
e

d

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

M
o

v
e

c
o

n
ti
n

g
e

n
c
y

b
u

d
g

e
ts

to

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

R
is

k
F

u
n

d

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

ri
s
k

fu
n

d
w

ill
ta

k
e

ri
s
k

o
f

m
e

e
ti
n

g
S

C
C

's
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
a

s

la
n

d
lo

rd
in

c
o

n
tr

a
c
ts

re
la

ti
n

g
to

S
k
i
C

e
n

tr
e

,
G

u
ild

h
a

ll
a

n
d

F
o

u
n

ta
in

s
C

a
fe

(2
5

)
(2

5
)

(2
5

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
9

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

&

P
o

rt
fo

lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
b

a
c
k

o
ff

ic
e

/

a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
v
e

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
in

D
ir

e
c
to

r'
s

O
ff

ic
e

R
e

v
ie

w
&

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
b

u
s
in

e
s
s

s
u

p
p

o
rt

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a

n
d

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
fu

n
c
ti
o

n
s

b
e

tw
e

e
n

D
ir

e
c
to

r'
s

O
ff

ic
e

a
n

d
D

iv
is

io
n

s
to

m
a

x
im

is
e

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
,

re
m

o
v
e

d
u

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

n
o

n
e

s
s
e

n
ti
a

l
a

c
ti
v
it
y
.

D
ir

e
c
to

r'
s

O
ff

ic
e

s
a

v
in

g
s

a
re

s
h

a
re

d

b
e

tw
e

e
n

th
e

H
R

A
a

n
d

th
e

G
e

n
e

ra
l
F

u
n

d
.

(1
0

)
(1

5
)

(1
5

)
0

.5
0

J
o

n

W
a

lla
c
e

L
C

H
1

0

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

&

P
o

rt
fo

lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

S
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

R
a

n
g

e
o

f
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
s

fo
llo

w
in

g
re

v
ie

w
o

f
th

e
s
e

b
u

d
g

e
ts

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

d
iv

is
io

n
.

(1
7

)
(1

7
)

(1
7

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
1

1
A

rt
s

&
H

e
ri

ta
g

e
D

e
v
e

lo
p

u
s
e

o
f

v
o

lu
n

te
e

rs
in

A
rt

s
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

v
e

n
u

e
s

D
e

v
e

lo
p

v
o

lu
n

te
e

r
b

a
s
e

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
to

w
o

rk
a

lo
n

g
s
id

e
p

a
id

s
ta

ff
in

M
u

s
e

u
m

s

a
n

d
G

a
lle

ry
to

re
d

u
c
e

re
lia

n
c
e

o
n

c
a

s
u

a
l
a

n
d

p
o

o
l
s
ta

ff
.

(2
5

)
(4

0
)

(4
0

)
3

.0
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
1

2
A

rt
s

&
H

e
ri

ta
g

e

R
e

d
u

c
e

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

a
n

d
s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

F
o

llo
w

in
g

re
c
e

n
t

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
o

f
n

e
w

s
ta

ff
in

g
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
a

n
d

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

,
to

fu
rt

h
e

r
re

v
ie

w
/

ra
ti
o

n
a

lis
e

v
is

it
o

r
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
,

c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
s

s
to

ra
g

e
,

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

a
n

d
g

e
n

e
ra

l
s
u

p
p

lie
s

&
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

.
N

o
d

ir
e

c
t

s
e

rv
ic

e
im

p
a

c
t.

(4
9

)
(4

9
)

(4
9

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
1

3
A

rt
s

&
H

e
ri

ta
g

e
D

e
le

te
v
a

c
a

n
t

p
a

rt
ti
m

e
p

o
s
t

in

C
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
s

te
a

m
R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

c
u

ra
to

ri
a

l
c
a

p
a

c
it
y
.

N
o

d
ir

e
c
t

s
e

rv
ic

e
im

p
a

c
t.

(1
2

)
(1

2
)

(1
2

)
0

.2
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(3

9
8

)
(8

1
3

)
(8

1
3

)
7

.9
0

4
.8

0

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

-
In

c
o

m
e

L
C

H
1

4
L

ib
ra

ri
e

s
In

c
re

a
s
e

d
in

c
o

m
e

ta
rg

e
ts

In
c
re

a
s
e

D
V

D
h

ir
e

c
h

a
rg

e
s
,

in
tr

o
d

u
c
ti
o

n
o

f
v
e

n
d

in
g

m
a

c
h

in
e

s
,

c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l

a
g

re
e

m
e

n
ts

w
it
h

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

fo
r

e
v
e

n
t

/
p

ro
d

u
c
t

p
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
(1

2
)

(1
2

)
(1

2
)

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
1

5
S

p
o

rt
s

&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
F

e
e

s
&

C
h

a
rg

e
s

a
t

a
ll

v
e

n
u

e
s

T
a

rg
e

te
d

in
c
re

a
s
e

a
b

o
v
e

in
fl
a

ti
o

n
fo

r
c
e

rt
a

in
s
p

o
rt

s
a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
w

h
e

re
m

a
rk

e
t

a
llo

w
s
.

L
in

k
s

to
it
e

m
L

C
H

5
.

A
s
s
u

m
p

ti
o

n
is

th
a

t
v
a

lu
e

o
f

s
a

v
in

g
is

p
a

rt
o

f

p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
s
a

v
in

g
o

n
c
e

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

is
le

t.
P

a
rt

y
e

a
r

a
ff

e
c
t

o
n

ly
.

(4
3

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

L
C

H
1

6
S

p
o

rt
s

&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

C
h

a
rg

e
fo

r
S

tr
o

k
e

s
a

v
e

r

B
o

o
k
le

ts
a

t
G

o
lf

C
o

u
rs

e
N

e
w

c
h

a
rg

e
fo

r
e

n
h

a
n

c
e

d
p

ro
d

u
c
t

(1
1

)
(1

1
)

(1
1

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
1

7
S

p
o

rt
s

&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

C
h

a
n

g
e

s
to

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

fo
r

m
a

n
a

g
in

g
fo

o
tb

a
ll

p
it
c
h

b
o

o
k
in

g
s
.

L
in

k
s

to
it
e

m
L

C
H

5
.

A
s
s
u

m
p

ti
o

n
is

th
a

t
v
a

lu
e

o
f

s
a

v
in

g
is

p
a

rt
o

f

p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
s
a

v
in

g
o

n
c
e

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

is
le

t.
R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

s
ta

ff
c
a

s
u

a
l
h

o
u

rs

c
o

s
ts

fa
c
ili

ta
te

d
b

y
h

ir
e

rs
p

u
tt

in
g

o
u

t
c
o

rn
e

r
fl
a

g
s
,

n
e

ts
e

tc
.

(8
)

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(7

4
)

(2
3

)
(2

3
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

L
C

H
1

8
L

ib
ra

ri
e

s

C
lo

s
u

re
o

f
M

ill
b

ro
o

k
L

ib
ra

ry
a

s

p
a

rt
o

f
C

u
m

b
ri

a
n

W
a

y
E

s
ta

te

R
e

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

E
s
ta

te
re

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

p
la

n
n

e
d

o
n

e
x
is

ti
n

g
s
it
e

w
it
h

te
n

a
n

t
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
to

b
e

h
e

ld
o

n
fu

tu
re

re
p

ro
v
is

io
n

.
A

p
p

ro
x

1
2

,5
0

0
v
is

it
s

y
e

a
rl

y
w

it
h

p
a

rt
ti
m

e
o

p
e

n
in

g

h
o

u
rs

.
P

o
te

n
ti
a

l
c
o

v
e

ra
g

e
b

y
m

o
b

ile
lib

ra
ry

a
n

d
s
o

m
e

u
s
e

r
d

is
p

la
c
e

m
e

n
t

to

m
a

in
lib

ra
ry

in
S

h
ir

le
y
.

A
s
s
u

m
e

d
p

a
rt

y
e

a
r

s
a

v
in

g
fr

o
m

O
c
to

b
e

r
2

0
1

0

(1
0

)
(2

6
)

(2
6

)
0

.9
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
1

9
L

ib
ra

ri
e

s

S
h

a
re

d
b

u
ild

in
g

c
o

s
ts

fr
o

m

d
u

a
l
u

s
e

o
f

B
u

rg
e

s
s

R
o

a
d

lib
ra

ry
w

it
h

lo
c
a

l
h

o
u

s
in

g
o

ff
ic

e

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
u

rr
e

n
t

p
re

m
is

e
s

o
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
c
o

s
ts

a
re

a
p

p
ro

x
£

2
4

k
.

A
llo

w
in

g
fo

r
p

o
s
s
ib

le

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
e

n
e

rg
y

/
c
le

a
n

in
g

c
o

s
t

e
tc

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
s
h

a
re

d
c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
o

f
£

1
0

k
.

L
H

O
m

o
v
in

g
d

u
e

to
T

a
n

k
e

rv
ill

e
R

o
a

d
re

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t.

(1
0

)
(1

0
)

(1
0

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

L
C

H
2

0
L

ib
ra

ri
e

s
D

e
le

te
C

h
ild

re
n

's
L

ib
ra

ri
a

n

p
o

s
t

L
o

s
s

o
f

d
e

d
ic

a
te

d
c
a

p
a

c
it
y

to
c
o

o
rd

in
a

te
c
it
y
w

id
e

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
,

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a

n
d

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

fo
r

y
o

u
n

g
p

e
o

p
le

.
R

e
d

u
c
e

d
le

v
e

l
o

f
c
h

ild
re

n
's

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a

n
d

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

w
ill

re
m

a
in

.

(3
8

)
(3

8
)

(3
8

)
1

.0
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
2

1
A

rt
s

&
H

e
ri

ta
g

e
D

e
le

ti
o

n
o

f
P

u
b

lic
A

rt
s

O
ff

ic
e

r

P
o

s
t

L
o

s
s

o
f

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

to
im

p
le

m
e

n
t

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il'

s
P

u
b

lic
A

rt
s

P
o

lic
y
.

P
o

s
th

o
ld

e
r

p
ro

v
id

e
s

lin
k

b
e

tw
e

e
n

b
ro

a
d

e
r

c
it
y

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
ts

a
n

d
c
u

lt
u

re
a

n
d

h
e

ri
ta

g
e

a
s
p

ir
a

ti
o

n
s

/
d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

p
la

n
s
;

m
a

n
a

g
e

s
h

e
ri

ta
g

e
p

ro
je

c
ts

in
c
lu

d
in

g
w

a
ll

o
f

re
m

e
m

b
ra

n
c
e

(4
2

)
(4

2
)

(4
2

)
1

.0
0

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

L
C

H
2

2
L

ib
ra

ri
e

s
R

e
v
ie

w
o

f
B

o
o

k
F

u
n

d

P
ro

v
is

io
n

R
a

ti
o

n
a

lis
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
o

f
ra

n
g

e
&

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
b

o
o

k
s

/
o

th
e

r
it
e

m
s

in

lib
ra

ri
e

s
.

(A
llo

w
a

n
c
e

a
lr

e
a

d
y

b
e

e
n

m
a

d
e

fo
r

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
th

ro
u

g
h

L
ib

ra
ry

c
lo

s
u

re
s
).

B
o

o
k
s

a
re

c
o

re
p

ro
d

u
c
t

o
f

th
e

s
e

rv
ic

e
a

n
d

lo
s
s

o
f

ra
n

g
e

a
n

d

q
u

a
lit

y
w

ill
im

p
a

c
t

o
n

c
u

s
to

m
e

r
s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
.

(7
5

)
(1

3
5

)
(1

3
5

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

7
5

)
(2

5
1

)
(2

5
1

)
2

.9
0

9
.0

0

L
e

is
u

re
,

C
u

lt
u

re
&

H
e

ri
ta

g
e

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(6
4

7
)

(1
,0

8
7

)
(1

,0
8

7
)

1
0

.8
0

9
.3

0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
7

b

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

F
T

E
In

P
o

s
t

F
T

E

V
a

c
a

n
t

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

,
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
IN

C
O

M
E

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

&
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
P

la
n

n
in

g
-

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c

ie
s

R
E

S
1

A
u

d
it

&
R

is
k

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
R

is
k

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

F
u

n
c
ti
o

n

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

s
a

v
in

g
s

re
s
u

lt
in

g
fr

o
m

a
re

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
d

e
liv

e
ry

o
f

th
e

ri
s
k

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

s
e

rv
ic

e
(3

9
)

(3
9

)
(3

9
)

1
.0

0
N

e
il

P
it
m

a
n

R
E

S
2

D
ir

e
c
to

r
D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
c
lie

n
t

fu
n

c
ti
o

n

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

s
a

v
in

g
s

re
s
u

lt
in

g
fr

o
m

th
e

re
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
o

v
e

ra
ll

c
lie

n
t

fu
n

c
ti
o

n
(1

9
0

)
(1

9
0

)
(1

9
0

)
T

B
C

T
B

C
C

a
ro

ly
n

W
ill

ia
m

s
o

n

R
E

S
3

F
in

a
n

c
e

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
F

in
a

n
c
e

fo
llo

w
in

g
re

v
ie

w
o

f
s
e

rv
ic

e

T
h

e
s
e

s
a

v
in

g
s

w
ill

b
e

m
a

d
e

th
ro

u
g

h
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s
th

a
t

h
a

v
e

b
e

e
n

g
e

n
e

ra
te

d

fo
llo

w
in

g
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
in

w
o

rk
in

g
p

ra
c
ti
c
e

s
a

n
d

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

is
a

ti
o

n
/

a
u

to
m

a
ti
o

n
o

f

p
ro

c
e

s
s
e

s
w

h
e

re
v
e

r
p

o
s
s
ib

le
.

T
h

e
re

v
ie

w
o

f
th

e
s
e

rv
ic

e
a

ls
o

ta
k
e

s
in

to

a
c
c
o

u
n

t
fo

c
u

s
s
in

g
o

n
c
o

re
s
e

rv
ic

e
p

ro
v
is

io
n

to
g

e
th

e
r

w
it
h

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

b
u

ild
in

g

to
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

m
o

re
'v

a
lu

e
a

d
d

e
d

'w
o

rk
in

th
e

fu
tu

re
to

h
e

lp
D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s

m
a

n
a

g
e

th
e

ir
b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e

s
m

o
re

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

ly
.

T
h

e
s
e

s
a

v
in

g
s

h
a

v
e

a
ls

o
b

e
e

n

m
a

d
e

w
h

ils
t

re
ta

in
in

g
th

e
c
u

rr
e

n
t

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

s
w

it
h

d
e

d
ic

a
te

d
F

in
a

n
c
e

M
a

n
a

g
e

rs
a

n
d

T
e

a
m

s
,

h
o

w
e

v
e

r
fu

rt
h

e
r

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

s
a

v
in

g
s

in
fu

tu
re

y
e

a
rs

m
a

y
im

p
a

c
t

o
n

th
is

b
a

s
ic

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
.

(2
5

2
)

(4
0

4
)

(4
0

4
)

3
.0

0
5

.4
2

R
o

b
C

a
rr

R
E

S
4

F
in

a
n

c
e

a
n

d
IT

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
IT

C
lie

n
t

F
u

n
c
ti
o

n

T
h

is
a

re
a

w
ill

b
e

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d

to
ta

k
e

o
n

b
o

a
rd

n
e

w
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
a

n
d

s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

m
a

jo
r

p
ro

je
c
ts

.
T

h
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

n
c
y

b
u

d
g

e
t

w
ill

a
ls

o
b

e

d
e

le
te

d
w

h
ic

h
w

ill
lim

it
fl
e

x
ib

ili
ty

fo
r

c
a

lli
n

g
in

s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

a
d

v
ic

e
in

th
e

fu
tu

re
.

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

R
o

b
C

a
rr

R
E

S
5

T
ra

n
s
a

c
ti
o

n
s

&

C
u

s
to

m
e

r

E
x
c
e

lle
n

c
e

R
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o

f
c
a

s
h

o
ff

ic
e

fu
n

c
ti
o

n

T
h

e
c
a

s
h

o
ff

ic
e

fu
n

c
ti
o

n
w

ill
b

e
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d

fo
llo

w
in

g
th

e
re

v
ie

w
a

s
p

a
rt

o
f

th
e

tr
a

n
s
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

.
T

h
e

s
e

rv
ic

e
w

ill
b

e
tr

a
n

s
fe

rr
in

g
to

th
e

F
in

a
n

c
e

d
iv

is
io

n
a

n
d

a
s
e

p
a

ra
te

re
v
ie

w
w

ill
b

e
n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
to

d
e

te
rm

in
e

th
e

fu
tu

re
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
.

T
h

e
s
a

v
in

g
is

b
a

s
e

d
a

t
th

is
s
ta

g
e

o
n

th
e

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
o

f
o

n
e

p
o

s
t.

(1
5

)
(1

5
)

(1
5

)
1

.0
0

A
le

x
M

o
o

re

R
E

S
6

P
ro

p
e

rt
y

P
o

rt
fo

lio

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

D
ir

e
c
t

e
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
re

la
te

d
to

m
a

n
a

g
in

g
in

v
e

s
tm

e
n

t
p

ro
p

e
rt

y

R
a

ti
o

n
a

lis
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
p

o
rt

fo
lio

a
n

d
s
o

m
e

d
e

m
o

lit
io

n
s
/d

is
p

o
s
a

ls
re

n
d

e
r

s
o

m
e

b
u

d
g

e
t

h
e

a
d

s
u

n
n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
.

T
h

e
m

a
in

a
m

o
u

n
ts

re
la

te
to

a
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

c
o

s
ts

d
u

e
to

th
e

d
e

m
o

lit
io

n
o

f
th

e
fo

rm
e

r
T

y
re

ll
&

G
re

e
n

B
u

ild
in

g
in

N
o

rt
h

e
rn

A
b

o
v
e

B
a

r

(1
5

7
)

(1
5

7
)

(1
5

7
)

J
o

h
n

S
p

ie
rs

R
E

S
7

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

R
e

v
ie

w
A

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
s
a

v
in

g
a

ri
s
in

g
fr

o
m

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
(2

5
)

(2
5

)
(2

5
)

T
B

C
T

B
C

B
e

n
W

h
it
e

R
E

S
8

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
A

d
v
e

rt
is

in
g

P
u

b
lic

it
y

a
n

d
P

ri
n

ti
n

g
T

a
rg

e
te

d
s
a

v
in

g
s

re
s
u

lt
in

g
fr

o
m

a
re

v
ie

w
o

f
th

e
s
e

a
re

a
s

o
f

s
p

e
n

d
(1

5
4

)
(1

5
4

)
B

e
n

W
h

it
e

R
E

S
9

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
C

it
y

V
ie

w
R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

e
d

it
io

n
s

fr
o

m
1

0
to

6
p

e
r

a
n

n
u

m
(1

5
)

(1
5

)
(1

5
)

B
e

n
W

h
it
e

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(6

9
3

)
(1

,0
1

9
)

(1
,0

1
9

)
4

.0
0

6
.4

2

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

&
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
P

la
n

n
in

g
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
T

o
ta

l
(6

9
3

)
(1

,0
1

9
)

(1
,0

1
9

)
4

.0
0

6
.4

2

G
R

A
N

D
T

O
T

A
L

(8
,0

6
8

)
(1

1
,8

3
7

)
(1

1
,8

6
7

)
7

7
.1

0
4

2
.6

2



APPENDIX 8

Portfolios
2010/11

Forecast

Invest to

Save Bids

Revenue

Pressures

Revenue

Bids

Savings &

Income

2010/11

Budget
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Adult Social Care & Health 56,373.5 0.0 730.0 300.0 (1,957.0) 55,446.5

Childrens Services 52,771.0 0.0 490.0 105.0 (1,393.3) 51,972.7

Economic Development 5,077.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 (162.0) 4,915.3

Environment & Transport 33,553.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (2,329.0) 31,224.0

Housing & Local Services 12,030.9 0.0 0.0 80.0 (552.0) 11,558.9

Leader's Portfolio 5,821.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 (275.0) 5,546.5

Leisure Culture & Heritage 14,297.6 0.0 0.0 76.0 (647.0) 13,726.6

Resources & Workforce Planning 10,180.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 (692.8) 9,487.4

Sub-total for Portfolios 190,105.0 0.0 1,220.0 561.0 (8,008.1) 183,877.9

Levies & Contributions

Southern Seas Fisheries Levy 44.0 44.0

Flood Defence Levy 44.0 44.0

Coroners Service 440.5 440.5

528.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 528.5

Capital Asset Management

Capital Financing Charges 11,572.9 11,572.9

Capital Asset Management Account (23,652.4) (23,652.4)

(12,079.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (12,079.5)

Other Expenditure & Income

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 947.0 947.0

Trading Areas (Surplus) / Deficit 208.2 (60.0) 148.2

Net Housing Benefit Payments (881.9) (881.9)

Revenue Development Fund 0.0 5,890.7 5,890.7

Open Spaces and HRA 535.7 535.7

Risk Fund 6,000.0 6,000.0

Contingencies 250.0 250.0

7,059.0 0.0 0.0 5,890.7 (60.0) 12,889.7

NET GF SPENDING 185,613.0 0.0 1,220.0 6,451.7 (8,068.1) 185,216.6

Draw from Balances:

Draw from Balances (General) (1,000.0) (1,000.0)

To Fund the Capital Programme (947.0) (947.0)

(1,947.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1,947.0)

Net Gap in Budget 396.4 0.0 1,220.0 6,451.7 (8,068.1) 0.0

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 183,269.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 183,269.6

2010/11 GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT
Appendix 14



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 9

2009/10 2010/11 Change Change

£000 £000 £000 %

Budget Requirement (a) 179,195.6 183,269.6 4,074.0 2.27%

Less NDR (79,846.2) (87,436.7)

Less RSG (18,429.5) (12,696.6)

Aggregate External Finance (98,275.7) (100,133.3) (1,857.6) 1.89%

Deficit / (Surplus) on Collection Fund (1,536.8) (1,141.8) 395.0 0.0%

Net Grant Income (b) (99,812.5) (101,275.1) (1,462.6) 1.47%

Amount to be met from Council Tax (a - b) 79,383.1 81,994.5 2,611.4 3.29%

Tax base 65,661.5 66,167.0 505.5 0.77%

Basic amount of Council Tax (Band D) 1,208.97 1,239.21 30.24 2.50%

Last years Council Tax 1,208.97

Increase (Cash) 30.24

Increase (Cash per Week) 0.58

Increase (%) 2.50%

COUNCIL TAX CALCULATION - 2010/11
Appendix 15



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 10

2009/10 2010/11 Change Change

£000's £000's £000's %

Southampton City Council Precept 79,383.1 81,994.5 2,611.4 3.29%

Hampshire Police Precept 9,331.2 9,676.9 345.8 3.71%

Fire and Rescue Services Precept 3,959.4 4,061.3 101.9 2.57%

Income due from Council Tax Payers 92,673.6 95,732.8 3,059.1 3.30%

Tax Base for Area 65,661.5 66,167.0 505.5 0.77%

Basic Amount of Tax for Band D Property 1,411.37 1,446.84 35.46 2.51%

COLLECTION FUND ESTIMATES 2010/11

Appendix 16



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 11

Portfolios
2010/11

Forecast

Base

Changes

2011/12

Forecast

Base

Changes

2012/13

Forecast

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Adult Social Care & Health 55,446.5 55,446.5 55,446.5

Childrens Services 51,972.7 51,972.7 51,972.7

Economic Development 4,915.3 4,915.3 4,915.3

Environment & Transport 31,224.0 31,224.0 31,224.0

Housing & Local Services 11,558.9 11,558.9 11,558.9

Leader's Portfolio 5,546.5 5,546.5 5,546.5

Leisure Culture & Heritage 13,726.6 13,726.6 13,726.6

Resources & Workforce Planning 9,487.4 9,487.4 9,487.4

Base Changes & Inflation 9,281.2 9,281.2 8,000.0 17,281.2

Sub-total for Portfolios 183,877.9 9,281.2 193,159.1 8,000.0 201,159.1

Levies & Contributions

Southern Seas Fisheries Levy 44.0 44.0 44.0

Flood Defence Levy 44.0 44.0 44.0

Coroners Service 440.5 440.5 440.5

528.5 0.0 528.5 0.0 528.5

Capital Asset Management

Capital Financing Charges 11,572.9 600.0 12,172.9 600.0 12,772.9

Capital Asset Management Account (23,652.4) (23,652.4) (23,652.4)

(12,079.5) 600.0 (11,479.5) 600.0 (10,879.5)

Other Expenditure & Income

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 947.0 (947.0) 0.0 0.0

Trading Areas (Surplus)/Deficit 148.2 (148.2) 0.0 0.0

Net Housing Benefit Payments (881.9) (881.9) (881.9)

Contribution from Invest to Save Fund (45.0) (45.0) (45.0)

Revenue Development Fund 5,890.7 735.3 6,626.0 630.0 7,256.0

Open Spaces and HRA 535.7 535.7 535.7

Risk Fund 6,000.0 1,000.0 7,000.0 500.0 7,500.0

Contingencies 250.0 250.0 250.0

12,889.7 595.1 13,484.8 1,130.0 14,614.8

NET GF SPENDING 185,216.6 10,476.3 195,692.9 9,730.0 205,422.9

Draw from Balances:

Draw from Balances (General) (1,000.0) 1,000.0 0.0 0.0

To fund the Capital Programme (947.0) 947.0 0.0 0.0

NET GAP IN BUDGET (1,947.0) 1,947.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Budget requirement 183,269.6 12,423.3 195,692.9 9,730.0 205,422.9

Capping Limit 183,269.6 (2,131.1) 181,138.5 (897.6) 180,240.9

Roll Forward Gap 0.0 14,554.4 14,554.4 10,627.6 25,182.0

Add Pressures - Future Years (Known) 74.0 74.0 74.0

Add Pressures - Future Years (Unknown) 1,500.0 1,500.0 1,500.0 3,000.0

Add Revenue Bids - Future Years (Known) (98.0) (98.0) (100.0) (198.0)

Add Revenue Bids - Future Years (Unknown) 500.0 500.0 500.0 1,000.0

Less Savings - Future Years (Known) (3,769.0) (3,769.0) (30.0) (3,799.0)

Revised Gap 0.0 12,761.4 12,761.4 12,497.6 25,259.0

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL FORECAST
Appendix 17



This page is intentionally left blank



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 1 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

APPENDIX 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL  

 

 

EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY 2010 - 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

Release: Final 

Date: 18 January 2010 

Author: Sarah Dennis 

Owner: Carolyn Williamson 

Client: Director of Resources 

Version Number: V0.7 

 

Appendix 18



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 2 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

CONTENTS 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 3 

1.1. AIM OF THE EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME 3 

1.2. TO BE SUCCESSFUL IN THESE ASPIRATIONS 3 

1.3. PURPOSE 3 

2. OUR CURRENT POSITION 4 

2.1. EFFICIENCY CHALLENGES 4 

2.2. DELIVERY TO DATE 4 

2.3. GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 4 

3. BUSINESS DRIVERS FOR THE EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY 5 

3.1. NATIONAL CONTEXT 5 

3.2. CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND VALUES 5 

3.3. CORPORATE STRATEGIES 6 

3.4. CORPORATE BUSINESS PLANS 6 

4. STRATEGIC PLAN 6 

4.1. DEVELOPING AN EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME PLAN 6 

4.2. PLAN DELIVERY 7 

4.3. GATEWAY 1 – STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 8 

4.4. GATEWAY 2 – BUSINESS JUSTIFICATION 8 

4.5. GATEWAY 3 – PROJECT INITIATION 9 

4.6. GATEWAY 4 – IMPLEMENTATION 9 

4.7. GATEWAY 5 – PROJECT CLOSURE 9 

5. EFFICIENCY STRATEGY DELIVERY – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 10 

5.1. MEMBERS ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED. 

5.2. EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME BOARD 10 

5.3. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND HEADS OF SERVICE 10 

5.4. EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME TEAM 10 

6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 12 

APPENDIX ONE – ACTION PLAN 13 

APPENDIX TWO – EFFIENCY PROGRAMME PROJECT OVERVIEW     15

 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 3 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. Aim of the Efficiency Programme 

The aim of this Efficiency Programme is to deliver fundamental changes in the 

ways the Council works, supporting its vision to become more customer 

focused by delivering services more efficiently using high quality data to make 

better decisions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2. To be successful in these aspirations the Efficiency Programme needs: 

• Clear and strong leadership of change and ownership of challenges by members 
and senior management; 

• Commitment to delivering defined and realistic outcomes by all stakeholders 
including employees, involving citizens and suppliers where relevant; 

• To redesign services based on an understanding of value from the customers’ 
perspective; 

• To operate within a programme management framework where project 
interdependencies are clearly recognised and managed and projects are prioritised 
and coordinated appropriately; 

• A structured, evidence based and ‘fit for purpose’ business case approach; 

• Sufficient resource capacity for change and implementation; 

• Recognition that to change, the Council needs to empower employees, challenge 
unnecessary bureaucracy and tradition and accept measured risks;  

• A mechanism to monitor, evaluate and review progress in the programme’s 
delivery. 

1.3. Purpose 

The purpose of this strategy is to set out a shared view for a coordinated approach to 
the efficiency programme.   



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 4 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

The primary objectives of the programme will be to reduce complexity and costs 
through focus on customer outcomes, simplification and standardisation.   

The strategy supports the systematic organisational review of functions, systems and 
processes.  In doing so it also supports the Council’s “Value for Money” assessment in 
the Use of Resources element of the Corporate Area Assessment, ensuring key 
efficiency requirements are firmly built into management and governance processes. 

2. OUR CURRENT POSITION 

2.1. Efficiency challenges 

The Council faces unprecedented financial pressures against increasing demand for 
services, service quality and value for money, which will impact ability to deliver 
corporate priorities through existing service delivery models and operational 
infrastructure.  The next Comprehensive Spending Review is likely to result in further 
significant reductions in Council funding, commanding challenging financial savings 
over a sustained period.   

The Council needs a strategic approach to efficiency which aims for long-term 
sustainable gains and service improvements.  The approach must support the 
Council’s wider objectives and cut waste throughout the delivery chain.  It must be 
capable of taking an holistic view of the Council’s planned outcomes, whilst seeking 
integration and efficiency opportunities across the organisation, going beyond 
traditional departmental boundaries, structures and service delivery models. 

2.2. Delivery to date 

A range of service-based procurement and efficiency savings have been delivered 
since 2007/08 under the joint Transformation Programme within the framework of the 
Strategic Services Partnership with Capita.  In accordance with the partnership 
agreement, the leadership role for this programme passed back to the Council in 
September 2009, releasing Capita from the transformation approach and establishing 
the Efficiency Programme. 

It is widely considered that the opportunities for further service-based reviews still exist; 
however, these alone will not be sufficient to drive the levels of financial savings 
required in the future and it is evident that a comprehensive programme of cross-
cutting reviews needs to be established. 

The Council has commissioned a review by LG Futures, due for completion early 2010, 
drawing upon national benchmarking and comparative cost and performance data, to 
identify prioritised options to deliver significant cost savings based on cessation or 
reduction of services and potential service efficiencies.  The outcomes of this review 
will provide focus for further investigation within the efficiency programme. 

2.3. Governance framework 

The Council has recently introduced a robust programme and project management 
methodology, PM Connect, to ensure that all change programmes and investments are 
properly justified, owned, visible and capable of delivering clearly stated outcomes.  
PM Connect will define the management framework for the Efficiency Programme and 
all projects will be governed using this methodology which supports appropriate scaling 
of effort commensurate with the level of project risk.    



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 5 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

3. BUSINESS DRIVERS FOR THE EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY 

3.1. National Context 

Operational Efficiency Programme (Comprehensive Spending Review 2007) – 
resulted in challenging year on year budget reductions until 2010-11.  The OEP 
workstream on back office operations and IT claims that the public sector should be 
able to achieve a reduction in annual back office costs of around 20-25% by the end of 
2011-2012.  It recommends publication of a set of ‘value for money’ indicators on back 
office operations which will be reviewed by the Audit Commission under the ‘Use of 
Resources’ assessment.  Further, it recommends that “a systematic review of 
functions, systems and processes” should be conducted by the end of 2010-11 to drive 
simplification and standardisation, leading to significantly greater sharing of services 
and potentially increasing outsourcing.  The scale and timeframes for improvement are 
considerable compared to previous requirements (e.g. Gershon) and therefore a 
faster, more powerful approach to change is necessary. 

Economic Trends – the current state of the economy is creating additional challenges 
for the Council.  Demands for some services are significantly increasing, with 
businesses and residents needing additional support and intervention, whilst income 
collection in traditionally profitable areas is being impacted.  Services need to develop 
a better data driven understanding of variation in demand for services, in terms of both 
volumes and quality, of the capacity required to meet demand and of the relationship 
between cost and customer value.  Without this, services will lack the agility to map 
scarce resources to demand proactively, therefore being unable to meet shifts in 
demand with existing or reduced resources. 

‘Total Place’ Agenda – is focused on designing services around the needs of 
individuals.  Its aim is to look at how a ‘whole area’ approach to public services can 
lead to better services at less cost, identifying and avoiding overlap and duplication 
between organisations, delivering change in both service improvement and efficiency. 

Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) –“Use of Resources” assessment requires 
as a minimum that the council actively seeks and evaluates new ways of delivering 
services to achieve efficiencies, for example using business process re-engineering 
techniques to improve processes and structures.  It also requires the council to set 
itself and monitor and manage performance against challenging efficiency targets.  A 
council that is performing well will implement innovative was of delivering services, 
again using business process re-engineering techniques to change processes and 
structures, resulting in more efficient and improved services.  The Transformation 
programme was previously used to evidence the Council’s performance in this area. 

3.2. Corporate priorities and values 

The principal aims of this Efficiency Programme strategy are embedded within the 
Council’s first corporate priority theme: 

Providing good value, high quality services – delivering value for money and efficient 
services, avoiding excessive taxation, ensuring good City governance, and working 
with neighbouring authorities, partner agencies and with appropriate strategic partners 

And within the fourth organisational value: 

Deliver outcomes and strive for continuous improvement - we will manage effectively 
to ensure business performance and high standards of service.  We will monitor and 
evaluate our activities continuously and strive for improvements in all that we do.  We 
will promote effective working partnerships, internally and externally 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 6 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

3.3. Corporate strategies 

The Council’s response to central government’s Operational Efficiency Programme 
workstrands is supported by the Corporate Improvement Plan and the following 
corporate strategies, approved and adopted by Cabinet in 2009: 

Customer Services Strategy – delivering services to citizens at a time and in a 
manner suited to their requirements, ensuring that the vast majority of enquiries are 
responded to promptly and resolved at first point of contact. 

Workforce strategy (local incentives and empowerment) – developing a more flexible, 
responsive and skilled workforce to deliver services efficiently 

Corporate information management strategy (back office / IT) – managing and 
exploiting information as a valuable asset 

Procurement strategy (collaborative procurement) – ensuring best value in 
procurement through an appropriate balance of quality and price and making effective 
use of frameworks and collaborative buying where possible 

Corporate Property Strategy (asset management / sales and property) - owning and 
managing a property portfolio of the right size and quality to support the corporate 
priorities and be responsive to the service needs of modern local government 

Accommodation Strategy (asset management / sales and property) – rationalising 

civic property portfolio and implementing flexible working arrangements that 
optimise the use of space in a structured way. 

Organisational agility, change, efficiency, collaboration and innovation are key themes 
within these strategies.   

These strategies have many interdependencies and therefore the Council needs to 
ensure through its programme management and by application of a ‘whole system’ 
approach to decision making, that overall value takes precedence over locally optimal 
solutions should a conflict occur.  The Efficiency Programme Strategy will therefore 
‘underpin’ these strategic themes, supporting their coordination and delivery. 

3.4. Corporate business plans 

Business Planning and EFQM - the annual process identifies core service outcomes, 
service levels and resource requirements, supporting identification of areas where the 
overall capability and efficiency of services can be optimised, so providing focus for 
efficiency programme reviews. 

Portfolio Spending Reviews - quantify management’s targets for delivering service-
based efficiency savings. 

4. STRATEGIC PLAN 

4.1. Developing an Efficiency Programme Plan 

The key themes identified within this document will be the driving force for the 
Efficiency Programme Strategy.  The fundamental purpose of which must be to move 
the Council towards a culture of ongoing continuous improvement and efficiency. 

The Council needs to be able to demonstrate it has adopted a structured and 
systematic approach to its review of functions, systems and processes.  As such, the 
strategy will be implemented through the determination and delivery of a rolling 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 7 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

Efficiency Programme Plan, developed in consultation with senior management and 
based on the outcomes of the LG Futures Review, Business Planning and EFQM 
process and Portfolio Spending Reviews. 

The plan will be subject to ongoing review and annual adjustment, to ensure it remains 
aligned with the Council’s key objectives and changing priorities. 

4.2. Plan delivery 

The Efficiency Programme Plan will identify a programme of prioritised strategic 
assessments.  Progress of the reviews from this assessment to full efficiency project 
implementation and conclusion will follow the PM Connect approval route.  Using the 
PM Connect Project Evaluation Tool, the reviews will be categorised and supported as 
follows: 
 
Project 

category 

Project support Typical review type 

Gold § Project sponsored by nominated 
Executive Director. 

§ High level of project leadership/ 
support or project delivery from 
Efficiency Team.   

 

§ Expected to lead to significant efficiency 
savings 

§ Involves a high level of complexity to 
implement (for example, cross-cutting 
reviews) 

§ High risk or high profile (for example, 
reviews involving customer facing 
services) 

Silver § Project sponsored by relevant 
Executive Director. 

§ Directorate led with project 
guidance/ assurance from 
Efficiency Team.   

 

§ Expected to lead to some efficiency 
savings  

§ Involves a medium level of complexity 
or risk to implement 

§ Not expected to attract significant 
attention (for example, a review 
involving support services) 

Bronze § Project sponsored by relevant 
Head of Service/  Level 1 

§ Project led and managed by 
Level 2 within service area under 
review 

§ Not expected to contribute significantly 
to efficiency savings 

§ Implementation is expected to be 
straight forward and low risk 

§ Low profile review 

 

Reviews will broadly follow the PDCA (plan-do-check-act) iterative four-step 
improvement process [see also Project Overview template in Appendix two]: 

 

 

PLAN the change 
aimed at improvement, 
based on customer 
requirements and 
performance data 

DO, test the change on 
a small scale, 
implement proposal 
and track progress 

 

CHECK the results of 
your actions 

 

ACT on lessons 
learned and identify 
any future actions 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 8 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

4.3. Gateway 1 – strategic assessment 

An in-house review team, comprising representatives from the Efficiency Programme 
team, Finance, Corporate Policy and Performance and the directorate/service under 
review, will be responsible for delivering the strategic assessment to the nominated 
Project Sponsor.   

Each strategic assessment will involve a thorough data-driven analysis of the service 
position based on customer outcomes.  The assessment will be delivered within a 4 
week timescale and will: 

Define the scope and intended outcomes of the project for confirmation with the 
Project Sponsor.   

Measure the current process value stream and performance and efficiency indicators 
to understand customer outcome requirements and to ensure appropriate focus of the 
service efficiency design. 

Explore options for future service delivery targets, focused on customer outcome 
requirements and undertake a gap analysis between the current (‘as is’) situation and 
the customer outcome requirements (‘to be’) to provide a high level solution design. 

The design will be documented in an Outline Project Proposal, identifying a series of 
workstreams, which will include “quick wins” and some medium to longer term 
implementation projects, together with estimated timescales and costs for delivery of 
the workstreams. 

4.4. Gateway 2 – business justification 

This stage will require development of a Project Business Case for each project 
workstream within an 8 week timescale, providing a detailed and prioritised solution 
design for each of the recommended option(s).  The business case will consider: 

Service levels – consideration of whether the services could be stopped; reduced to a 
defined statutory minimum or to “statutory minimum plus” 

Service efficiencies - delivering the service in a more efficient way, using ‘lean’ 
principles (i.e. reviewing how services function or organise their work and removing or 
significantly reducing “waste”) underpinned by a customer outcome focused approach 
to include: 

• Process – ‘doing the right work’, removing work that does not deliver “customer 
value” and utilising existing technologies more effectively to streamline the process;’ 

• People – ‘doing the work right’, ensuring staff are properly trained, resourced, 
utilised and empowered to deliver the service; 

• Organisation – ‘managing the right way’, supporting the people who operate the 
process with the right organisational structure, technology, measurements and 
delivery channel.  This may include review of options for integrated service delivery, 
shared services, commissioning or outsourcing. 

Service charges - options for developing the service strategy on fees and charges 

A ‘challenge group’ will be established for each review, chaired by the nominated 
Project Sponsor.  The purpose of the group will be to ensure the business case(s) 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 9 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

have been robustly prepared and that all efficiency options have been appropriately 
explored and appraised. 

To ensure business case recommendations are effective and sustainable they must: 

• focus on delivering customer value; 

• be appropriate to the scale and scope of the area under review; 

• focus on sustainable outcomes, with success evaluated by agreed measures of 
performance including cashable benefits and release of productive time; 

• support realisation of benefits that extend beyond the review itself and “future proof” 
the review area as far as possible; and 

• ensure clear accountability for the delivery of the project benefits. 

4.5. Gateway 3 – project initiation 

Project initiation may include implementation of a pilot project to test the 
recommended solution(s).  Any lessons learned or conclusion from the pilot will be fed 
back into the solution design. 

A clear Project initiation document will be developed, aligning planned outcomes 
and milestones with resource utilisation proposals.  All parties involved in the project 
must be clear on the project’s intended outcomes and their responsibilities in delivering 
those outcomes.   

The Project Sponsor must ensure there is genuine commitment to the project.  Any 
concerns around commitment and its impact on delivery, that cannot be easily resolved 
must be escalated through the reporting process to the Efficiency Programme Board. 

4.6. Gateway 4 – implementation 

Full project implementation will be the responsibility of the nominated new process 

or service owner. 

Support will be provided to the projects from the Efficiency Programme Team in 
accordance with the project categorisation. 

Highlight reports will be made throughout the duration of the project to the Project 
Sponsor and to the Efficiency Programme Board at key project delivery milestones. 

4.7. Gateway 5 – project closure 

The business cases will define the expected outcomes from the efficiency projects and 

success in delivering project outcomes will be checked against this.   

There will be an expectation that any cashable efficiencies identified will be delivered in 
accordance with the agreed project implementation timescale and integrated into the 
budget process.  The cashable efficiencies will normally be attributed to the service 
delivering the efficiencies.  Where efficiencies result from a cross-cutting review, the 
efficiencies will be attributed on a fair and equitable basis.   

Any variation to project outcomes, be they level, timescale or scope of project delivery, 
must be agreed by the Efficiency Programme Board on a timely basis and would 
normally be expected to have been identified prior to project closure.  



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 10 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

Project closure will include the identification of any future actions and identification of 
lessons learned and any other benefits realised. 

5. EFFICIENCY STRATEGY DELIVERY – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

5.1. Members 

The Cabinet will review and approve any significant amendments to the Efficiency 
Programme Strategy as part of the annual budget setting process. 

5.2. Efficiency Programme Board 

An ‘Efficiency Programme Board’, comprising the Cabinet Member for Resources, 
Chief Executive, Assistant Chief Executive (Strategy), Executive Director for 
Resources, and the Solicitor to the Council will: 

• select and prioritise efficiency reviews, creating an Efficiency Programme; 

• meet on a quarterly basis to oversee and challenge delivery of the programme; 

• bring timely resolution to any issues blocking programme delivery;  

• meeting “virtually” on an ad hoc basis to resolve any significant corporate issues 
affecting the balance of the programme should the needs arise. 

The Head of the Efficiency Programme will report to the Board but will not be a board 
member. 

5.3. Chief Officers and Heads of Service 

Chief Officers and Heads of Service will: 

• actively and consistently sponsor the efficiency programme reviews; 

• ensure the efficiency agenda and delivery targets (including financial targets) are 
incorporated into the EFQM business planning process and portfolio spending 
reviews; 

• take ownership and responsibility for delivery of Efficiency Programme reviews; 

• make progress reports on key milestone delivery and outcomes to the Efficiency 
Programme Team; 

• attend the Efficiency Programme Board on request to report on progress; and 

• commit appropriate resources in terms of project support and professional/technical 
expertise to ensure the efficiency programme can be delivered in a relevant and 
timely manner. 

5.4. Efficiency Programme Team 

The Efficiency Programme team, led by a Head of Efficiency Programme, will operate 
as ‘programme office’ to coordinate the planning and realisation of outcomes in 
relation to the Council’s efficiency agenda.  In particular the team will: 

• lead on the development of the Council’s Efficiency Programme Strategy; 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 11 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

• coordinate a systematic programme of reviews of all functions, systems and 
processes over a five year period, to drive simplification and standardisation and to 
ensure they are fit for purpose and deliver value for money; 

• review progress against delivery plans on a regular basis, ensuring outcomes are 
clearly focused on efficiency savings and service improvements; 

• work across the Council regarding any efficiency programme implications for 
corporate policies and complex and cross-cutting reviews; 

• provide an independent and objective challenge to Directorate-led efficiency 
reviews, assisting project leaders in focusing on the core service delivery value 
chain and removing or streamlining activities that do not add value to the service 
user; 

• lead on cross-cutting efficiency reviews as appropriate; 

• manage the allocation and prioritisation of funding for “invest to save” programmes 
and initiatives; 

• ensure the Council can demonstrate a systematic review of functions, systems and 
processes to drive leaner operational management, simplification and 
standardisation in support of the central government operational efficiency 
programme; 

• advise on the proper management and delivery of efficiency projects and 
programmes in accordance with the principles set out under the Council’s P.M. 
Connect Methodology; 

• work alongside the Organisational Development team to ensure that appropriate 
skills and capability are developed and maintained within the authority to support 
the efficiency programme; 

• act as ‘coordinator’ for benchmarking activity and recruitment and selection of 
external support/ expertise for the efficiency programme; and 

• work alongside external support/ expertise to ensure adopted review processes 
are capable of delivering required outcomes and behaviours and skills are 
transferred to the in-house team where appropriate. 

Staff for the Efficiency Programme Team will be drawn from four areas: 

• the Efficiency Programme service; 

• using secondees into the Efficiency Programme Service from across the Council; 

• from service areas managing change directly; and 

• from limited use of specialist resource from external resources. 

The programme will have access to the Efficiency Fund for enabling and invest to save 
projects. 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 12 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

 
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc 

 

6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 

 

Risk Probability Impact Mitigation 

Efficiency 
programme does 
not deliver 
anticipated benefits 

Medium High Programme owned and sponsored at 
Executive Director level with regular 
reporting and accountability for delivery to 
the Efficiency Programme Board. 

Working culture 
does not support 
delivery of benefits 
through rapid and 
significant 
behaviour change. 

Medium High Behaviour change supported by 
Management Academy work 
programmes.  Change programme will be 
properly and appropriately communicated 
to staff. 

Programme 
complexity will 
result in lack of 
certainty over costs 
and efficiency 
savings. 

High Medium Robust programme and project 
management and governance will ensure 
visibility of costs and efficiency savings.  
Estimated efficiency savings will focus on 
removal of the root causes of waste and 
will be based on best available financial 
data.  Decisions to proceed will be based 
on an evaluation of pessimistic, realistic 
and optimistic costs and savings. 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 13 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL  
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc      LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

APPENDIX ONE – ACTION PLAN 

REF OUTCOME 

 

ACTIONS 

Q
4
-0
9
 

Q
1
-1
0
 

Q
2
-1
0
 

Q
3
-1
0
 

Q
4
-1
0
 

Q
1
-1
1
 

Q
2
-1
1
 

Q
3
-1
1
 

Q
4
-1
1
 

Q
1
-1
2
 

Q
2
-1
2
 

Q
3
-1
2
 

Q
4
-1
2
 

1. 

 

Clear strategic direction 
and governance 
arrangements for 
Efficiency Programme.  

1.1 Develop and implement a 
comprehensive efficiency 
programme strategy that ensures 
roles and responsibilities for 
delivery are clearly understood. 

             

1.2 Initiate quarterly Efficiency 
Programme Board meetings and 
ensure Board members are 
apprised of their roles and 
responsibilities. 

             

1.3 Establish programme 
management structure and 
reporting arrangements 

             

2 A rolling schedule of 
reviews to be 
conducted within a 
three-year period, to 
deliver a systematic 
review of all functions, 
systems and processes 
every five years. 

2.1 Desk top review of LG Futures 
review recommendations, 
Business Planning and EFQM 
exercises and Portfolio Spending 
Reviews to develop Efficiency 
Programme in consultation with 
senior management. 

             

2.2 Obtain Board approval for the 
Efficiency Programme Plan. 

             



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 14 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL  
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc      LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

REF OUTCOME 

 

ACTIONS 

Q
4
-0
9
 

Q
1
-1
0
 

Q
2
-1
0
 

Q
3
-1
0
 

Q
4
-1
0
 

Q
1
-1
1
 

Q
2
-1
1
 

Q
3
-1
1
 

Q
4
-1
1
 

Q
1
-1
2
 

Q
2
-1
2
 

Q
3
-1
2
 

Q
4
-1
2
 

3 Outline Project 
Proposals that identify 
projects workstreams 
based around service 
levels, efficiencies and 
charges. 

3.1 Commence service ‘health 
check’ reviews.  

             

4 Business case for each 
review that details 
recommended 
option(s), cashable 
benefits, performance 
measures and planned 
outcomes. 

4.1 Establish challenge groups.              

4.2 Develop business cases for each 
project workstream or set of 
workstreams. 

             

5 In-house capability and 
skills to support the 
efficiency programme 

5.1 Develop and roll-out 
management academy “Win, 
win, win” workshop module that 
supports the efficiency 
programme strategy delivery. 

             

 



EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME STRATEGY  Page 15 of 15 

 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL  
E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\3\AI00001368\4bRevenueAPP120.doc      LAST AMENDED: 08/02/2010 

Check

Act

Do

Plan

APPENDIX TWO: EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME PROJECT OVERVIEW      
 

Team leader  Pilot 

 

Implement a pilot – did the solution work? 
Feedback any lessons learned/ conclusions into solution design. 
Retest. 
Transfer ownership of the project to the process/ service owner. 
 

 PM Connect Product: Project initiation document – Gateway 3 (Project initiation) 

Team members  
 

 

Project outline 

 

Define the case for change in terms of reasons for action or a problem statement. 
What are the project scope and intended outcomes?   
What will change as a result? 
 

Completion 
 

Implement the new service/ processes. 
Track progress. 
 

 PM Connect Product: Highlight Reports – Gateway 4 (Implementation) 
 

Current state ‘as is’ 
 

Measure the current state in terms of the process value stream and performance or efficiency indicators to 
provide a baseline. 
Use existing data wherever possible that can later ‘prove the case’.   
Measures should be relevant to customer outcome requirements, e.g. turnaround time, cost, process 
complexity, approvals or handoffs, service levels and charges. 
Present graphically where appropriate.   
 
 

Confirmed state ‘as is’ 

 

Check that the target state has been achieved using measures identified in the Target state box. 
Have we achieved and closed the gap? 
 

 PM Connect Product: Project End Report – Gateway 5 (Project closure) 

Target state ‘to be’ 

 

Explore required target service delivery focusing on customer outcome requirements (voice of the 
customer) 
Explain target situation using measures identified above. 
Present graphically where appropriate. 
Analyse data measures to identify sources of delays, waste and poor quality. 
Undertake a gap analysis between the current situation (‘as is’) and customer outcome requirements (‘to be’) 
to provide a high level solution design. 
 

 PM Connect Product: Outline Project Proposal – Gateway 1 (strategic assessment) 
 
 

Act 
 
Identify any future actions 
 
 
 
  
 

Solution requirements 
 

Develop detailed solution design to solve the problems causing the gaps. 
Consider: service levels, service efficiencies, service charges. 
Prioritise solution requirements through evaluation of impact and risk. 
 

 PM Connect Product: Project Business case – Gateway 2 (Business justification) 
 

Reflect 

 
Lessons learned? 
What other benefits have been realised?  

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 13 
 
 

STATUTORY POWER TO UNDERTAKE PROPOSALS IN THE REPORT 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
 

It is important that Members are fully aware of the full legal implications of the 
entire budget and Council Tax making process, when they consider any 
aspect of setting the Council’s Budget.  Formal and full advice to all Members 
of the Council protects Members, both in their official and personal capacity, 
as well as the Council.  If Members have received the appropriate 
professional legal and financial advice and act reasonably, generally the 
courts will not interfere in their decisions. 
 
 

2. GENERAL POSITION 

a. The first and overriding legal duty on Members is their fiduciary duty to 
weigh the needs of service users against the interests of local taxpayers.  
In planning the budget, Members are under a fiduciary duty to act 
prudently, responsibly, in a businesslike manner and in their view of what 
constitutes the best interests of the general body of local taxpayers.  In 
deciding upon expenditure, the Council must fairly hold a balance between 
recipients of the benefits of services provided by the Council and its local 
taxpayers.  Members should note that their fiduciary duty includes 
consideration of future local taxpayers as well as present local taxpayers. 

b. There is a general requirement in administrative law that a local authority 
decision must be rational, authorised by law and must take account of all 
relevant considerations, whilst ignoring any irrelevant ones.  It should also 
be noted that the concept of proportionality, given great emphasis in the 
Human Rights Act 1998, is also becoming a relevant factor for determining 
the reasonableness of any decision and should be borne in mind by 
Members. 

c.  An authority commits an illegal act if it acts beyond or in abuse of its 
statutory powers or in breach of its fiduciary duty.  It will also act illegally if 
it fails to take relevant considerations into account or acts in outrageous 
defiance of reason. 

 
3. OBLIGATION TO MAKE A COUNCIL TAX 

a.  The legal significance of the Annual Budget derives from the Council's 
duty under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the 1992 Act) to set a 
balanced budget.  This is achieved by calculating the aggregate of: 

i.  the expenditure it estimates it will incur in the year in performing its 
functions in the year (including an allowance for contingencies), 

Appendix 19



Page 2 of 6 

ii.  the payments it estimates it will make in the year in defraying 
expenditure already incurred and 

iii.  expenditure it will incur in funding costs before a transfer of funds is 
made from the Collection Fund and then deducting such sums as will 
be paid into the General Fund, i.e. income.  Calculations made under 
this section must be made before 11th March in the preceding financial 
year. 

b.  In order to fulfil this duty, the Council must prepare detailed estimates of its 
expenditure for the coming year and of the resources which will be 
available to meet this expenditure.  Account must be taken of any deficit 
brought forward from a previous year and the amount needed to cover 
contingencies.  The resources include income from rents, fees and 
charges and any available balances.  All of these issues must be 
addressed in the budget report.  The estimation of the detailed resource 
and expenditure items is the main reason for the budget process.  The 
budget must balance, i.e. proposed expenditure must be met from 
proposed income from all sources, with any shortfall being the precept on 
the Collection Fund. 

c.  Failure to make a lawful Council Tax on or before 11th March could have 
serious financial results for the Council and make the Council vulnerable to 
an Order from the Courts requiring it to make a Council Tax. 

d.  Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 places a general duty on 
local authorities to make arrangements for "the proper administration of 
their financial affairs'. 

e.  Information must be published and included in the Council Tax demand 
notice.  The Secretary of State has made regulations, which require 
charging authorities to issue demand notices in a form and with contents 
prescribed by these regulations. 

f.  There is also a duty under Section 65 of the 1992 Act to consult persons 
or bodies appearing to be representative of persons subject to non-
domestic rates in each area about proposals for expenditure (including 
capital expenditure) for each financial year. 

 
4. DEFICIT BUDGETING  

 

a.  A deficit budget, one which does not cover all anticipated expenditure with 
resources reasonably expected to be available, is unlawful.  Any Council 
Tax which rests on such a budget will be invalid.  Councils are constrained 
to make a Council Tax before all the separate elements, which will 
constitute available resources or anticipated expenditure, have been 
identified and quantified fully.  Best estimates have to be employed. 

b.  Where these best estimates include sums for unallocated savings or 
unidentified expectations of income, extreme care must be taken to ensure 



Page 3 of 6 

that the estimates are reasonable and realistic and do not reflect an 
unlawful intention to incur a deficit.  It might be appropriate at budget 
setting time to require regular monitoring throughout the financial year of 
such estimated savings or income. Prompt action to reduce spending must 
be taken, if at any stage it seems likely that a balance between income 
and expenditure will not be achieved. 

  
5. BORROWING  
 

The rules and regulations governing a local authority's ability to borrow money 
were altered significantly by the introduction of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 and subsequent regulations.  This has now been abolished 
and replaced by the self regulating Prudential Code. 

 
 

6. OTHER RELEVANT LEGISLATION  
 

a.  The Local Government Finance Act 1988 (the 1988 Act) created the (now 
repealed) Community Charge and the current National Non- Domestic 
Rating regime and deals with grants, funds, capital expenditure and the 
financial administration of a local authority. 

b.  Under Section 114 (2) and 114 (3) of the 1988 Act, the Chief Financial 
Officer is required to make a report, if it appears to him/her that a decision 
or course of action the Council or an officer has agreed or is about to 
make is unlawful, or that expenditure is likely to exceed resources 
available. 

c.  Members have a duty to determine whether they agree with the Chief 
Financial Officer's statutory report issued under Section 26 Local 
Government Act 2003.  If Members were to disagree, they would need to 
set out cogent reasons for so doing.  Unless such reasons could be set 
forward, Members' action in disagreeing with the Chief Financial Officer's 
views on the basis of his/her professional judgement would be likely to be 
held unreasonable and constitute wilful misconduct.  It should be noted 
that under the Members’ Code of Conduct, Members are required to take 
account of any advice issued by Chief Financial Officer (and the 
Monitoring Officer) acting in their statutory capacities. 

 
7. BEST VALUE: LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1999  

 

The Local Government Act 1999 (the 1999 Act) introduced a duty of Best 
Value, which came into force on 1st April 2000. Members need to be aware 
of and take account of the impact on the Council of this duty. 

 
 
 
 



Page 4 of 6 

8. THE CONSTITUTIONAL POSITION: LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
(THE 2000 ACT)  
 

a.  The 2000 Act has had a fundamental effect on the governance of the 
Council and in particular has resulted in a change to the working 
arrangements of Council, with the requirement for a Constitution setting 
out executive (Cabinet) and scrutiny and overview arrangements.  The 
2000 Act also provides a power for Councils to promote the economic, 
social and environmental well-being of their areas and develop community 
strategies. In addition, the 2000 Act establishes an ethical framework. 

b.  Of particular importance to the Council Tax setting process and Budget 
Meeting of the Full Council is the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the City Council’s Constitution.  These 
provide a legal framework for the decision making process whereby the 
Budget of the City Council is determined, and the Council Tax is set.  In 
addition, Members need to be aware that these Rules provide a route 
whereby the Leader may require the Full Council to reconsider their 
position if they do not accept the Executive’s recommended budget 
without amendment. 

c.  In addition, the Constitution contains a range of further material relevant to 
the setting of the Council Tax and the Budget Setting meeting: 

i.  Article 12 contains guidance on decision making and the law; 

ii.  The Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 regulate the conduct of the Full 
Council meeting (although traditionally, some of the rules relating to the 
conduct of the debate are suspended to allow different arrangements 
during the budget debate); 

iii.  The Members’ Code of Conduct must be followed by Members; and 

iv. The Officer/Member Protocol contains guidance both on pre-budget 
discussions, but also on how officers and Members should interact with 
specific guidance about budget preparation issues. 

 
 
9. PERSONAL LIABILITY AND SURCHARGE  

 
The 2000 Act abolished the local government surcharge provisions and 
replaced them with a new statutory offence of 'misuse of public office'.  This 
new statutory offence covers two situations, namely unlawfully incurring 
expenditure or incurring expenditure as a result of wilful misconduct.  It also 
covers the exercise of a public function in a manner that involves dishonesty 
or oppression or malice.  The Courts (rather than the District Auditor) would 
impose penalties.  The Council could sue for losses/deficiencies sustained.   

 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 6 

10. LEGAL STATUS OF POLITICAL PROMISES AND DOCUMENTS  
 
a.  It is appropriate for Members to consider their own position as some 

Members may have expressed support publicly for policies that are not 
policies of the Council. 

 
b.  Political documents do not represent a legal commitment on behalf of the 

Council.  To treat any political document as a legal commitment by the 
Council would be illegal.  Where there is a valid choice before Members, 
then, at that stage and only at that stage, Members may take political 
documents into account. 

 
c.  All decisions must be taken within the framework of the formal decision 

making process of the Authority. Members must take into account all 
relevant matters and disregard all irrelevant ones.  Decisions taken at a 
political meeting, such as a political group meeting, have no status within 
this process.  A Member, who votes in accordance with a group decision 
which has been reached, having regard to relevant factors and who has 
addressed their mind independently to those factors and to the decision 
itself, will be acting within the law. 

 
d.  The Courts have also advised on the balancing exercise to be undertaken 

by a Council when deciding whether to pursue a particular policy: 
 
 
A local authority must exercise its statutory powers in the public interest and 
for the purpose of which those powers have been conferred.  Political views, 
as to the weight to be attached to the various relevant considerations and as 
to what is appropriate in the public interest in the light of those considerations 
may properly influence the exercise of a statutory discretion.  A decision will 
not be unlawful merely because some political advantage, such as electoral 
popularity, is expected to flow from it, so long as the decision is made for a 
legitimate purpose or purposes.  Because at some stage in the evolution of a 
policy an improper political purpose has been espoused, does not mean that 
the policy ultimately adopted is necessarily unlawful.  However, a political 
purpose extraneous to the statutory purpose can taint a decision with 
impropriety.  Where there is more than one purpose:- 
 
a)  The decision will generally be lawful provided that the permitted purpose is 

the true and dominant purpose behind the act.  This is so even though 
some secondary or incidental advantage may be gained for some 
purpose, which is outside the authority's powers. 

 
b) The decision will be invalid if there are two purposes one ultra vires and 

one intra vires and the ultra vires purpose is a (even if not the) major 
purpose of the decision.  Accordingly a decision substantially influenced by 
a wish to alter the composition of the electorate would be unlawful. 

 
c)  Where there is some evidence justifying enquiry, the Court will consider 

whether an apparently lawful purpose e.g. home ownership is merely a 
colourable device to conceal an illegitimate purpose e.g. electoral 
advantage. 

 



Page 6 of 6 

d) Even if those voting for a particular policy at a Council meeting have 
perfectly proper reasons in mind, the policy can be tainted by the improper 
motives of others who have taken part in the formulation of that policy 
although not actually present to vote.  As a matter of law it is possible for a 
corrupt principal to cause a result through an innocent agent. 

 

11. OTHER LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The financial forecasts contained in this report have been prepared and are 
submitted as part of the budget process set out in the Council’s Constitution.  
As part of the review process by Chief Officers Management Team, the 
proposals contained in this report have been checked from a legal viewpoint 
and a number in minor issues are being followed up with Officers. 



APPENDIX 14 

 
 

STATEMENT ON GENERAL FUND BUDGET STRATEGY 

BY THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

UNDER S.25 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 

 
 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a duty on the Chief 
Financial Officer to report on the following matters:- 
 

a)  The robustness of the estimates made for the purpose of the 
calculations (to set the Council Tax), and 

 
b)  The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. 
 

a) Robustness of estimates 
 

Budget setting is made up of several estimates some involving quite complex 
forecasting.  By the very definition of the word, estimates are not factual and 
the degree of accuracy will not only vary but also take different periods of time 
to be proven to be correct or otherwise. 
 
During the Spring and Summer of 2009 the Executive (supported by the Chief 
Officers Management Team) developed a series of detailed budget proposals 
of which the major items for consultation were presented to Cabinet on 26th 
October 2009.  These were subsequently given to all political groups in 
December.  Whilst some figures were changed and new proposals have been 
put forward, these have also been validated by COMT prior to their inclusion 
in the final proposed budget.  There is therefore a high degree of validation 
inherent within the final budget proposals. 
 
Key elements within the budget are provisions for inflation on pay and prices, 
projected levels of income and achievability of savings.  Details of these items 
are included in the reports and have already been through the validation 
process as set out above, however, there are five points to draw out:- 
 

i) Assumptions made in all of the forecasts are basically sound. The 
pay increases have yet to be negotiated, however, a zero pay 
award has been incorporated into the budget for 2010/11, with a 
contingency for up to 1.0%. 

 
ii) Individual savings items have been approved by relevant Chief 

Officers and have been subject to scrutiny by the Chief Officers 
Management Team. Responsibility for actioning any changes in 
the budgets will fall to me as Chief Financial Officer and all 
savings approved will be monitored throughout the year although 
responsibility for the delivery of these savings rests with the 
relevant Executive Director. 

 

Appendix 20



iii) The current recommendation by the Cabinet retains a general 
contingency of £250,000 together with a risk based contingency 
sum of £6.0M which should cover any estimation issues or 
activity changes that arise during the year. 

 
iv) The current recommendation by Cabinet includes the continued 

use of a fund to manage the cost of revenue developments 
totalling just under £6.0M.  This will enable any adjustments 
between schemes and in the timing of projects to be managed 
during the year. 

 
v) The current economic climate and national issues surrounding 

continuing care and the safeguarding of children have impacted 
on the budget.  Adequate provision to cover all of these issues 
has been included within the final budget proposals and will be 
the subject of detailed monitoring throughout the year. 

 
b)  Adequacy of proposed financial reserves 
 

i) The Council holds a number of specific reserves for issues like 
debt write off that are assessed on an ongoing basis against the 
specific debts to which they relate. Review of these provisions 
forms part of the budget preparations covered above. 

 
ii) The general reserves are used to support revenue, capital and 

strategic pressures and to provide a working balance. 
 

Details of the use of general reserves are included in the report.  
The level of reserves and the projected use is forecast for 3 
years.  The minimum level of balances is recommended by the 
Chief Financial Officer taking into account issues like the 
proposed draw from reserves, the level of risk contained within 
the budget and previous experience on potential levels of net 
overspend. 
 
Best practice guidance issued by CIPFA is followed in 
determining a level of reserves based on assessed risks, which 
are periodically reviewed and which currently produces a 
recommended minimum working balance of £4.5M despite 
increased risks in some areas such as future government 
funding.  There is no legal definition or Audit Commission 
recommendation on the absolute level of reserves that any 
authority should hold but the risk based approach does provide a 
consistent, transparent methodology that can be updated 
periodically. 
 
In order to balance the budget, it has been necessary to draw 
£1M from balances.  However, the estimated outturn position for 
the current year reported for Month 9 monitoring indicates that 



sufficient balances will still exist and the Council will avoid 
dropping below the minimum level of balances. 
 

iii) Attention is drawn to the level and use of capital resources in the 
General Fund Capital Programme report.  This identifies that 
there is currently a deficit in the funding of the overall capital 
programme based on a revised estimate of capital receipts which 
have been affected by the current economic climate. 

 
Slippage in capital receipts could also require a further temporary 
draw from balances unless accompanied by equivalent slippage 
in spend. Non receipt of any planned income will require a 
permanent draw from balances or savings in the programme.  In 
drawing up the capital programme these risk factors are obviously 
taken into account but as a backstop position these potential 
shortfalls will continue to be reviewed over the longer term and 
where possible, be reduced by re-phasing schemes or bringing 
forward the use of prudential borrowing. 
 
The Council also has key strategic sites which it is currently 
holding until market conditions improve and this provides a further 
source of contingency to reduce the risks outlined in the above 
paragraphs. 



This page is intentionally left blank



LABOUR GROUP 

 

GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET AND COUNCIL TAX 2010/11 

 

AMENDMENT 

 

It is recommended that Council : 

i) Approves the Revised Budget for 2009/10 as set out in Appendix 2 to the 
General Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council 
agenda 

ii) Approves the Invest to Save Bids as set out in Appendix 3 to the General 
Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council agenda 

iii) Approves the revenue pressures as set out in Appendix 4 to the General 
Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council agenda 

iv) Approves the Revenue Developments as set out in Appendix 5 to the 
General Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council 
agenda as amended by the changes in Section A of Annex 1 to this 
Amendment. 

v) Approves the Revenue Bids as set out in Appendix 6 to the General Fund 
Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council agenda as 
amended by the changes in Section B of Annex 1 to this Amendment 

vi) Approves the efficiencies, income and service reductions as set out in 
Appendix 7 to the General Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 
report on the Council agenda as amended by the changes in Section C and 
D of Annex 1 to this Amendment. 

vii) Approves the General Fund Revenue Budget as set out in Annex 2 to this 
Amendment which assumes a council tax increase of 2.50%. 

viii) Notes that after taking these items into account, there is an estimated 
General Fund balance of £4.5M at the end of 2012/13. 

ix) Sets the Budget Requirement for 2010/11 at £183,269,600. 

  

 

Appendix 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1

Ref. Better Worse

£000's £000's

SECTION A - Reductions to Revenue Developments

RES 1
End the higher-income pensioner and special constables Council

Tax discount
(1,000)

E&T 3 Stop expenditure on a private sector Highways Partner (500)

LCH 1 Stop expenditure on a private sector Sport & Recreation Partner (193)

SECTION B - New Revenue Bids

New
Increase parking in residential areas by the Introduction of marked

parking bays
100

New
Set up a mentoring Programme for NEETs (Training for 30

mentors - taking 2 NEETs each)
90

New Increase funding to various Coxford and Thornhill youth projects 65

New Attack fuel poverty - Based on the Luton model 100

New Additional repairs to pavements 193

New

Set up an independent inquiry into Educational Attainment in the

City. This will comprise of national experts and be required to

produce a report within three months of formation.

50

New
Set aside a reserve to implement any recommendations from the

Education Inquiry
300

SECTION C - Additional Savings

New Reduce mileage rate to 40p for all staff and Councillors (38)

New Stop insuring the art collection (50)

LABOUR GROUP BUDGET PROPOSALS

AMENDMENTS TO GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET PAPERS

Appendix 22



Annex 1

Ref. Better Worse

£000's £000's

LABOUR GROUP BUDGET PROPOSALS

AMENDMENTS TO GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET PAPERS

SECTION D - Rejected Savings Proposals

ASCH 5
Do not support transfers of in-house looked after children to

private sector provision
203

CS24
Do not reduce the grant paid to City College for delivery of

employment based training programmes.
42

E&T 39 Bereavement Services - Reduce fee Increases for cremations etc 130

E&T Do not charge for replacement green waste bags 20

E&T 4
Do not reduce the Environmental Health & Trading Standards

trainee budget
25

E&T 52 Do not delete two posts in the Pest Control Service 20

E&T 53 Do not reduce Environmental Health Food Safety Service 45

E&T 54 Do not reduce Environmental Health Pollution and Safety Service. 60

HLS 18 Reduce by half the planned increase in pitch & put charges etc 4

HLS 19
Do not make reductions in number of Special Assessments and

checks on Housing Register applicants
43

HLS 20
Do not reduce the Active Communities and Stronger Communities

teams
65

L 13
Make no changes in Members allowances and keep the external

link
6

L 15 Do not reduce number of Scrutiny panels and enquiries 5

LCH 21 Do not delete of Public Arts Officer Post 42

LCH 4 Do not privatise St Mary's Leisure Centre 40

LCH 5 Do not privatise sports and recreation management 111

LCH14 Do not increase Libraries charges 12

LCH 18 Do not close Millbrook Library 10

(1,781) 1,781

Net Gap / (Surplus) 0



Annex 2

Portfolios
2010/11

Forecast

Invest to

Save Bids

Revenue

Pressures

Revenue

Bids

Savings &

Income

2010/11

Budget
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Adult Social Care & Health 56,373.5 0.0 730.0 300.0 (1,754.0) 55,649.5

Childrens Services 52,771.0 0.0 490.0 610.0 (1,351.3) 52,519.7

Economic Development 5,077.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 138.0 5,215.3

Environment & Transport 33,553.0 0.0 0.0 293.0 (2,329.0) 31,517.0

Housing & Local Services 12,030.9 0.0 0.0 180.0 (440.0) 11,770.9

Leader's Portfolio 5,821.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 (264.0) 5,557.5

Leisure Culture & Heritage 14,297.6 0.0 0.0 76.0 (482.0) 13,891.6

Resources & Workforce Planning 10,180.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 (730.8) 9,449.4

Sub-total for Portfolios 190,105.0 0.0 1,220.0 1,459.0 (7,213.1) 185,570.9

Levies & Contributions

Southern Seas Fisheries Levy 44.0 44.0

Flood Defence Levy 44.0 44.0

Coroners Service 440.5 440.5

528.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 528.5

Capital Asset Management

Capital Financing Charges 11,572.9 11,572.9

Capital Asset Management Account (23,652.4) (23,652.4)

(12,079.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (12,079.5)

Other Expenditure & Income

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 947.0 947.0

Trading Areas (Surplus) / Deficit 208.2 (60.0) 148.2

Net Housing Benefit Payments (881.9) (881.9)

Revenue Development Fund 0.0 4,197.7 4,197.7

Open Spaces and HRA 535.7 535.7

Risk Fund 6,000.0 6,000.0

Contingencies 250.0 250.0

7,059.0 0.0 0.0 4,197.7 (60.0) 11,196.7

NET GF SPENDING 185,613.0 0.0 1,220.0 5,656.7 (7,273.1) 185,216.6

Draw from Balances:

Draw from Balances (General) (1,000.0) (1,000.0)

To Fund the Capital Programme (947.0) (947.0)

(1,947.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1,947.0)

Net Gap in Budget 396.4 0.0 1,220.0 5,656.7 (7,273.1) 0.0

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 183,269.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 183,269.6

2010/11 GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT



This page is intentionally left blank



LIBERAL DEMOCRAT GROUP 

 

GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET AND COUNCIL TAX 2010/11 

 

AMENDMENT 

 

It is recommended that Council : 

i) Approves the Revised Budget for 2009/10 as set out in Appendix 2 to the 
General Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council 
agenda 

ii) Approves the Invest to Save Bids as set out in Appendix 3 to the General 
Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council agenda 

iii) Approves the revenue pressures as set out in Appendix 4 to the General 
Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council agenda 

iv) Approves the Revenue Developments as set out in Appendix 5 to the 
General Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council 
agenda as amended by the changes in Section A of Annex 1 to this 
Amendment. 

v) Approves the Revenue Bids as set out in Appendix 6 to the General Fund 
Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 report on the Council agenda 

vi) Approves the efficiencies, income and service reductions as set out in 
Appendix 7 to the General Fund Revenue Budget 2010/11 to 2012/13 
report on the Council agenda as amended by the changes in Section B of 
Annex 1 to this Amendment. 

vii) Approves the General Fund Revenue Budget as set out in Annex 2 to this 
Amendment which assumes a council tax increase of 1.49%. 

viii) Notes that after taking these items into account, there is an estimated 
General Fund balance of £4.5M at the end of 2012/13. 

ix) Sets the Budget Requirement for 2010/11 at £182,464,600. 

  

 

Appendix 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1

Ref. Better Worse

£000's £000's

SECTION A - Changes to Revenue Developments

Delete Provision for Council Tax Discount to

Pensioners and Special Constables
(1,000)

Increase Funding to Highways Repairs 165

SECTION B - Rejected Savings Proposals

E&T 52 Do not reducte two posts in the Pest Control Service 20

LCH 18
Do not close Millbrook Library as part of Cumbrian

Way Estate Redevelopment
10

Council Tax

Reduce increase in Council Tax to 1.49% 805

Sub Total (1,000) 1,000

Net Gap / (Surplus) 0

LIBERAL DEMOCRAT GROUP BUDGET PROPOSALS

AMENDMENTS TO GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET PAPERS

Appendix 24



Annex 2

Portfolios
2010/11

Forecast

Invest to

Save Bids

Revenue

Pressures

Revenue

Bids

Savings &

Income

2010/11

Budget
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Adult Social Care & Health 56,373.5 0.0 730.0 300.0 (1,957.0) 55,446.5

Childrens Services 52,771.0 0.0 490.0 105.0 (1,393.3) 51,972.7

Economic Development 5,077.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 (162.0) 4,915.3

Environment & Transport 33,553.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (2,309.0) 31,244.0

Housing & Local Services 12,030.9 0.0 0.0 80.0 (552.0) 11,558.9

Leader's Portfolio 5,821.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 (275.0) 5,546.5

Leisure Culture & Heritage 14,297.6 0.0 0.0 76.0 (637.0) 13,736.6

Resources & Workforce Planning 10,180.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 (692.8) 9,487.4

Sub-total for Portfolios 190,105.0 0.0 1,220.0 561.0 (7,978.1) 183,907.9

Levies & Contributions

Southern Seas Fisheries Levy 44.0 44.0

Flood Defence Levy 44.0 44.0

Coroners Service 440.5 440.5

528.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 528.5

Capital Asset Management

Capital Financing Charges 11,572.9 11,572.9

Capital Asset Management Account (23,652.4) (23,652.4)

(12,079.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (12,079.5)

Other Expenditure & Income

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 947.0 947.0

Trading Areas (Surplus) / Deficit 208.2 (60.0) 148.2

Net Housing Benefit Payments (881.9) (881.9)

Revenue Development Fund 0.0 5,055.7 5,055.7

Open Spaces and HRA 535.7 535.7

Risk Fund 6,000.0 6,000.0

Contingencies 250.0 250.0

7,059.0 0.0 0.0 5,055.7 (60.0) 12,054.7

NET GF SPENDING 185,613.0 0.0 1,220.0 5,616.7 (8,038.1) 184,411.6

Draw from Balances:

Draw from Balances (General) (1,000.0) (1,000.0)

To Fund the Capital Programme (947.0) (947.0)

(1,947.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1,947.0)

Net Gap in Budget 1,201.4 0.0 1,220.0 5,616.7 (8,038.1) 0.0

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 182,464.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 182,464.6

2010/11 GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT



  

 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  CABINET 

COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET REPORT 

DATE OF DECISION: 1 FEBRUARY 2010 

17 FEBRUARY 2010 

REPORT OF: Cabinet Member for Housing and Local Services 

AUTHOR: Name:  David Singleton Tel: 023 8083 2236 

 E-mail: David.Singleton@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

 

SUMMARY 

This is the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget report covering the HRA revenue 
budget for 2009/10 and 2010/11 and capital budget for the period 2009/10 to 2012/13. 

For the revenue budget this report sets out the revised budgets for the current 
financial year and the budgets for the new financial year for all the day to day housing 
services that are provided to Council tenants.  This report also sets out the proposed 
increases in rents, service charge and other charges to council tenants from April 
2010.  Key revenue issues are: 

• At the time of preparing this report the final HRA subsidy determination for 
2010/11 have not been received from the Department for Communities and 
Local Government (CLG) so the budget proposals in this report may need to be 
modified if there is a material difference between the final and draft 
determinations.  

• The Council is in “negative subsidy”.  The payment to CLG is increasing from 
£4.0M in 2009/10 to £8.5M in 2010/11.  However, the payment for 2010/11 is 
£2.4M higher than would have been the case because £2.4M of the Major 
Repairs Allowance was taken into account in assessing the subsidy payment 
for 2009/10.  The negative subsidy payment is forecast to increase in 
subsequent years. 

• In the draft determinations the CLG are proposing to bring the target 
completion date for rent restructuring forward to 2012/13 from 2023/24. 

• Following the CLGs new rent restructuring rules would give an average rent 
increase of 2.45%. 

• There are net revenue efficiency savings of approximately £750,000 p.a. 

• No increases are proposed on service charges or charges for garages and 
parking spaces. 

This report also updates the HRA Capital Programme that was approved by Council 
in September 2009.  The capital programme has spending plans of approximately 
£110M over the period 2009/10 to 2012/13.  The  focus of spending is: 

Agenda Item 5



 2

• Making improvements to over 6,000 dwellings in order to achieve and maintain 
the decent homes standard 

• Improvements to housing for older people 

• Crime reduction and safety  

• Lift refurbishments  

• Communal Digital TV  

• Heating upgrades 

• Window replacement 

• Energy efficiency measures 

• Decent Neighbourhoods Programme 

The detailed spending plans reflect the priorities set out in the HRA Business Plan 
and have been discussed with tenants.  It is expected that this programme of 
improvement works will achieve the objective of ensuring that all Council owned 
homes reach the decent homes standard by 2010. 

The report also provides an update on the Reform of Council Housing Finance, 
including the possibility of the Council receiving a “buy-out” offer that would enable it 
to exit from the HRA subsidy system and cease making annual payments to CLG. 
Delegations to officers are proposed in the event that a response to the “buy-out” offer 
is required in such a period that it is not possible to report to Council.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 CABINET 

 (i) To consider the report and agree that the following 
recommendations be made to Council at the meeting on 17 February 
2010. 

 COUNCIL 

 (i) To thank Tenant Association Representatives for their input to the 
capital and revenue budget setting process and to note their views 
as set out in this report. 

 (ii) To agree that, with effect from the 5th April 2010, the current average 
weekly dwelling rent figure of £63.57 should increase by 2.45%, 
which equates to an average increase of £1.56 per week, and to 
approve the following to calculate this increase: 

  • That the percentage reduction applied to all dwelling rents 
should be 0.9%, equivalent to a reduction of £0.57 per week 

• That the revised phased introduction of the Government’s 
Rent  Restructuring regime should be followed, giving an 
increase in average rent levels of 2.96% (£1.88 per week) 

• That the final step should be a further increase in average 
rent levels of 0.39% (£0.25 per week) for the caps and limits 
adjustment and, 

to note that: 

• The total percentage increase in individual rents will vary 
according to the restructured rent of their property in 2012/13. 



 3

 (iii) To agree that there is no increase in the charges for garages and 
parking spaces for 2010/11. 

 (iv) To agree that there is no increase in tenants service charges for 
2010/11. 

 (v) To approve the Housing Revenue Account Revenue Estimates as 
set out in the attached Appendix 1. 

 (vi) To approve the revised Housing Revenue Account Capital 
Programme set out in Appendix 2 which includes total spending of 
£82.214M on work that meets the definition of “affordable housing”. 

 (vii) To approve the use of resources to fund the HRA Capital 
Programme as shown in Appendix 3, including the following use of 
unsupported (prudential) borrowing: 

• £2.150M to support the overall programme (unchanged from 
the report in September 2009) 

• £3.356M to fund the new build programme that is not funded 
from HCA grant 

• £2.600M to fund the digital TV proposals if this is more cost 
effectively purchased rather than leased  

• £0.870M to fund the estate regeneration programme pending 
the receipt of capital receipts from sale of the sites and 

• £3.100M of short term borrowing to sustain the programme 
in 2010/11, which can be repaid by the end of 2012/13. 

 (viii) To note that, because the final HRA subsidy papers have not yet 
been received from the Government, it may be necessary for either: 

• The Cabinet Member for Housing and Local Services to 
move changes to the recommendations in this report at 
Council if there is a material difference between the final 
subsidy papers and the draft subsidy papers that have been 
used in compiling these estimates or 

• For Council to agree to delegate to the Executive Director for 
Neighbourhoods, in consultation with the Executive Director 
for Resources and following consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Local Services, authority to make 
changes to the recommendations in this report if the final 
subsidy papers have not been received by the time of the 
Council meeting and there is a material difference between 
the final subsidy papers and the draft subsidy papers that 
have been used in compiling these estimates. 

 (ix) To note the savings that have been made in the budget process, as 
set out in paragraphs 13 to 15. 

 (x) To note that rental income and service charge payments will be 
paid by tenants over a 48 week period. 

 (xi) To note that the overall shortfall in resources of £2.561M to fund the 
capital programme is within the tolerances set by the Executive 



 4

Director for Resources in the approved Medium Term Financial 
Strategy and that plans are in place to close this gap as set out in 
paragraph 31. 

 (xii) To delegate to the Executive Director for Resources, following 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Housing and Local 
Services and Resources and Workforce Planning, the Executive 
Director for Neighbourhoods and the Solicitor to the Council, 
authority to determine the Council’s response to the “buy-out” offer 
for Reform of Council Housing Finance if the response is required in 
such a period that it is not possible to submit a report to Council. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The Council’s Constitution sets out the process to be followed in preparing 
the Council’s budget. This process includes a requirement for the Executive 
to formally submit their budget proposals for the forthcoming year to Council.  
The budget proposals in this report cover the HRA revenue budget and 
capital programme. 

CONSULTATION 

2. The consultation formed part of the “Having Your Say” approach to tenants 
and resident involvement, with the budget consultation being part of the 
“winter conference”.  This was a well attended meeting with 65 tenants and 
residents in attendance.  The key budget issues set out in this report were 
discussed at this meeting. The budget position has also been the subject of 
discussion with representatives from the Tenants Federation  

3. There was concern expressed about the increasing “subsidy” payment to the 
CLG and the impact of the Government’s rent restructuring policy on rent 
levels.  It was agreed that everybody (tenants, members and officers) should 
continue their work to bring about a change to the current subsidy system as 
soon as practical and it is hoped that the anticipated proposals on the 
Reform of Council Housing Finance will address the problems with HRA 
subsidy. 

4. The size and content of the HRA capital programme was also discussed and 
it was noted that the capital spending proposals are in line with the outcome 
of stock options appraisal and tenants’ aspirations. 

5. It is recommended that Members formally recognise the support and 
commitment of tenants and tenant representatives who have participated in 
this years capital and revenue budget setting exercise. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

6. The alternative option of not setting next year’s rent increase in accordance 
with the new rent restructuring guidance as well as changes to the HRA 
Capital Programme and HRA Revenue Estimates have been discussed with 
the tenant representatives.  It was noted that setting a lower rent increase in 
2010/11 would result in higher increases in subsequent years and lead to 
reductions in the capital programme.  It was also noted that setting a higher 
rent increase in 2010/11 would lead to an equivalent loss of HRA subsidy in 
2011/12.  Both options were not supported. 



 

 5

DETAIL 

 Background 

7. The HRA budget comprises a set of revenue estimates and a capital 
programme.  The revenue budget covers 2009/10 and 2010/11.  The 
proposed increase in rents and other charges is an integral part of the 
revenue estimates for 2010/11.  The capital programme covers the period 
2009/10 to 2012/13.   

8. The HRA records all the income and expenditure associated with the 
provision and management of Council owned homes in the City.  This account 
funds a significant range of services to over 18,000 Southampton tenants and 
leaseholders and their families.  This includes housing management, repairs 
and improvements, welfare advice, sheltered housing services, 
neighbourhood wardens, and contributes to bringing all Council properties up 
to the decent home standard. 

9. The HRA Capital Programme deals with all capital expenditure on Council 
Housing and related environmental works.  The revised Capital Programme 
is shown at Appendix 2.  This has been updated in consultation with tenant 
representatives as part of the budget setting process. 

10. The main focus of the HRA capital programme is to deliver the decent 
homes and decent neighbourhoods agenda.  Other important areas of 
spending are estate regeneration, crime reduction and safety and property 
adaptations for people with disabilities.   

11. The budget proposals in this report will ensure that all Council properties 
meet the decent homes standard by 2010. 

 Revenue Budget 

12. The main issues that need to be considered in setting the revenue budget are 
set out below.  

 Responsive repairs 

13. The proposed budget for 2010/11 is £10.549M.  The main features of this 
budget have been a drop in the number of responsive repair orders (saving 
£325,000) offset by an increase in the number of voids (costing £298,000).  
The combined effect of this is that savings of £27,000 are expected in 
2010/11.   

 Programme repairs 

14. The proposed budget for 2010/11 is £5.193M, which accommodates cost 
pressures on Emergency Lighting (£70,000) and Gas servicing (£90,000) 
which have been offset by savings on Servicing contracts (£46,000), 
Structural Surveys (£170,000), Health and Safety works (£40,000) plus a 
range of small savings on other schemes.   The net savings amount to 
£248,000.   

 Supervision and Management 

15. There have been a significant number of changes in this part of the budget 
for 2010/11 which are summarised below: 



 6

 • There are projected savings arising from the restructure of the 
Housing Management division which are estimated at £203,000.  
These are efficiency savings relating to the way business support and 
project / policy development is delivered.  

• The Housing Management division restructure is also reviewing how 
the Council interacts with its customers to best deliver the services 
that residents want.  The division will in future be working in a more 
proactive way with its residents in the communities where they live.  
This part of the restructure will generate some further efficiencies of 
approximately £270k  

The overall effect of these savings plus a number of other smaller items is 
that overall savings of £475,000 are expected in 2010/11.  

 HRA subsidy 

16. At the time of preparing this report the Council, in common with all other 
Councils in the country, has only received a draft subsidy determination for 
2010/11.  The final determination is not expected until early February, 
although CLG have not given any definitive date when it will be published.  
This means that all the subsidy and rent increase assessments in this report 
are based on draft information and may need to be revised when the final 
papers are received.  Other consequential budget changes may also be 
required. 

17. In order to manage this situation and ensure that further changes to rents are 
not required after 5 April 2010, it may be necessary for either: 

• The Cabinet Member for Housing and Local Services to move 
changes to the recommendations in this report at Council if there is a 
material difference between the final subsidy papers and the draft 
subsidy papers that have been used in compiling these estimates or 

• For Council to agree to delegate to the Executive Director for 
Neighbourhoods, in consultation with the Executive Director for 
Resources and following consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Local Services, authority to make changes to the 
recommendations in this report if the final subsidy papers have not 
been received by the time of the Council meeting and there is a 
material difference between the final subsidy papers and the draft 
subsidy papers that have been used in compiling these estimates. 

18. Based on the draft determinations, the Council is still in “negative subsidy”.  
The payment to CLG is increasing from £4.0M in 2009/10 to £8.5M in 
2010/11.  However, the payment for 2010/11 is £2.4M higher than would 
have been the case because £2.4M of the Major Repairs Allowance was 
taken into account in assessing the subsidy payment for 2009/10.  The 
payment to CLG is a major concern, particularly as it is expected to increase 
in subsequent years.  At a national level it is now generally accepted that the 
Government receives more in “negative subsidy” payments from some 
councils than it pays out in subsidy to others, which is why the system is 
often referred to as “a tax on tenants”.  Proposals that are expected on the 
Reform of Council Housing Finance could well address this issue (see 
paragraphs 37 – 41 below) 



 7

19. The main features of the draft determinations are set out below: 

• The Management and Maintenance allowances are the Governments 
assessment of how much the Council should spend on Supervision 
and Management and the Repairs service.  The Council will receive 
£34.7M in 2010/11, approximately £600,000 more than expected from 
these allowances. 

• The Major Repairs allowance is paid to help finance the HRA capital 
programme and is supposed to represent the costs of maintaining the 
stock at its current standard.  At £10.4M for 2010/11 this is in line with 
expected levels. 

• The Government pays a Capital Financing allowance based on what it 
assumes the level of HRA debt to be.  The assumed debt level for 
Southampton is approximately £121M, compared to a real debt level 
of approximately £102M.  In 2010/11 the subsidy payment is 
estimated to be £3.0M, compared to the estimated real interest 
charges of around £2.4M.  Whilst there is still a “surplus” from this 
system it is still some £350K lower than was the case a year ago due 
to lower interest rates. 

• Last year CLG announced that the convergence date for Rent 
Restructuring would be extended to 2023/24.  It is now proposed that 
rent convergence is brought forward to 2012/13. This gives an overall 
increase in rent income paid to CLG of 3.3%.  The issues arising from 
this are examined in more detail below. 

 Dwelling Rent income 

20. This income is determined by the CLG rent restructuring guidelines.  Rent 
restructuring is the government’s policy that rents for all council owned 
dwellings will gradually increase to match those for Housing Associations. 

21. Under this formula, the inflationary increase is determined by the Retail Price 
Index for September 2009, which was -1.4%.  The formula requires the 
addition of a further 0.5% plus an element for converging with Housing 
Association rent levels.  Last year the date for this convergence was set for 
2023/24.  This has now been brought forward to 2012/13.  This has the 
effect of increasing average rent levels by 4.5%, giving an overall increase in 
average rent levels of 3.6%, or £2.26 per week. 

22. However, within the rent restructuring rules, there is also a requirement that 
the rent convergence component of the increase for each dwelling should 
not exceed £2.00 per week.  This requirement is not new, but this is the first 
time that this has become a major issue for us.  Applying this constraint 
would reduce the rent convergence component to 2.96%, giving an average 
rent increase to 2.06%.  However, the rent taken away by CLG through the 
subsidy settlement will still increase by 3.3%, which would lead to a 
reduction in resources available to fund the capital programme.   

23. CLG recognise that the 2 different methods of calculation can result in 
financial problems for Councils and there is a formula for calculating 
compensation (known as caps and limits), but this is only paid a year in 
arrears.   



 8

24. In this formula, the government makes an assumption of what the level of 
actual average rents should be and our actual average rents are £0.25 per 
week below the government’s assumptions.  It is proposed that our actual 
average rents are brought up to the level assumed by government as this is 
permitted by the rent restructuring rules and will still enable us to maximise 
our caps and limits compensation claim in 2011/12.  

25. The £0.25 per week is equivalent to a 0.39% increase is average rents, 
which gives an overall average rent increase of 2.45% (£1.56 per week). 

 Tenants Service / Support Charges 

26. There are no changes to the number of service charges proposed for 
2010/11.  The current service charges for 2009/10 are shown in the table 
below (based on 48 rent weeks):  

 

Description Weekly 
charge 

Tower block wardens £5.53 

Sheltered housing management charge: 

• Scheme based accommodation 

• All other sheltered accommodation 

 

£5.31 

£1.33 

Concierge monitoring charge £1.20 

Sheltered support charge £2.85 

Community Alarm monitoring charge £1.35 
 

27. In view of the current economic situation it is not proposed to increase these 
charges for 2010/11. 

 Other Charges 

28. It is not proposed to increase any of the charges for garages or parking 
spaces for 2010/11.  This is also a reflection of the current economic 
situation. 

 Level of HRA revenue balances and contingency provision 

29. The revenue budget at appendix 1 shows that the contingency provision for 
2009/10 has been deleted as it is no longer required.  It is however 
recommended that this is retained at £100,000 for 2010/11.   

30. For 2010/11, it is recommended that the level of HRA balances should be 
unchanged at £1,200,000. 

 Capital Budget 

31. The size of the capital programme is determined by the resources that are 
available to fund it.  When the capital programme was last considered by 
Council in September it was noted that there was an overall shortfall in 
resources of £2.420M and that plans were in place to close the gap.  This gap 
is substantively unchanged and stands at £2.561M.  In order to bridge the gap 
discussions are continuing with the HCA over the availability of grant aid for 



 9

the estate regeneration programme.  If this is unsuccessful it will be 
necessary to consider expenditure reductions or undertaking prudential 
borrowing.  There is scope to fund borrowing from the direct revenue 
financing that is available. 

32. The resources that are available to fund the HRA capital programme 
comprise: 

♦ HRA supported borrowing 

♦ Unsupported (prudential) borrowing 

♦ Usable Capital Receipts 

♦ Grants and Contributions from third parties 

♦ Direct Revenue Financing (DRF) and  

♦ The Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) 

33. Appendix 3 contains an explanation of these terms and an annual forecast of 
the resources available.  The forecast assumes no change to the current 
policy of allocating new usable receipts from the Sale of Council Houses to 
the Housing General Fund Capital Programme.  These receipts are used to 
fund grants to Housing Associations for the provision of new social housing.  
This accords with the Housing strategy and the priorities of tenants expressed 
in the stock options work. 

34. Reasons for the changes in resources are set out below: 

• Unsupported borrowing – There is a reduction in the level of 
unsupported borrowing of £0.480M.  The borrowing requirement for the 
New Build programme has been reduced by £1.350M to match with 
that required to fund the schemes that have been approved by the 
Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).  The borrowing requirement 
for Estate Regeneration has been increased by £0.870M as the capital 
receipts are now expected later than previously forecast.  This 
borrowing will be repaid when the capital receipts are received. 

• Direct Revenue Financing – This has increased by £0.239M, due to the 
revenue changes mentioned earlier in the report 

• Major Repairs Allowance – This has decreased by £0.450M due to a 
forecast reduction in allowances after 2010/11. 

• Grants and Contributions – These have increased by £0.119M.  There 
have been a number of changes in this area, the main items of which 
are summarised below: 

o Grant from the HCA for the LA new build programme has been 
reduced to match the latest approvals (£1.490M reduction) 

o PUSH funding previously allocated to fund the set up costs for 
the Local Housing Company has been transferred to fund the 
immediate costs of estate regeneration (£0.470M increase) 

o Additional contributions from the HCA to fund additional 
expenditure on estate regeneration, together with a contribution 
towards existing approved expenditure (£1.107M increase) 



 10

o Loss of contributions from energy suppliers (£0.420M). 

35. The programme presented to Council in September 2009 has also been 
revised taking into account the latest cost and phasing of schemes as well as 
available resources.  A provisional programme has also been developed for 
2012/13 to maintain a 3 year forward view.  The detailed programme is shown 
at appendix 2 and the change to the annual spending levels is shown below: 

 

Year New Proposed 
Programme

£M

September 2009
Programme

£M

Change

£M

2009/10 32.426 34.339 -1.913

2010/11 36.631 38.627 -1.996

2011/12 22.287 17.538 4.749

Sub - total 91.344 90.504 0.840

2012/13 19.219 n/a n/a

Total 110.563 n/a n/a

 

The changes to the programme are explained in detail in Appendix 4 

36. The capital spending plans represent a significant investment in the stock 
and the surrounding neighbourhood. The main focus for spending is 
explained below: 

• In 2010/11 SCC is planning to spend £10.6M on achieving the Decent 
Homes’ Standard with a further £16.7M being spent in the following two 
years maintaining the Standard.   

• There is approximately £2.618M in the programme to continue to support 
the implementation of the Sheltered Housing Review.  Works are planned 
to be carried out to Manston Court, Challis Court, Milner Court, Graylings, 
Weston Court, Neptune Court and Pleasant View.  These works will 
primarily consist of redecoration, new flooring, lighting and ceilings to the 
communal areas with other enhancements such as entrance 
lobbies/canopies, new internet/computer areas as well as a new external 
scooter store being installed within the Manston Court project.  There is 
also a plan for landscaping works to all Courts across the city. 

• This year will see the refurbishment of 6 lifts on the east side of the city 
being commenced (Wharncliffe, Highlands and Riverview House).  In 
addition to this both Milner and Neptune Courts will have new fully DDA 
compliant lifts built externally to the main entrance.  The lift works 
recently commenced at Millbank House will continue into 2010/11. 

• This year we will be completing works to a further 120 dwellings as part 
of the window refurbishment programme.  This forms part of SCC’s aim 
to replace all the existing single glazed wooden and metal framed 
windows across the city. 

 



 11

• Crime Reduction and Safety is a “key” element and is important to SCC 
tenants.  Procurement has now been tackled and new electronic door 
entry systems, complete with metal doors, are being installed to 3 areas 
of the city (Central, Millbrook/Maybush and Townhill).  The investment of 
£1.247M will see enhancements to approximately 100 front and rear 
entrances. 

• Digital TV will be the only way of receiving a signal by mid-2012.  To 
meet this deadline SCC has been developing a method for a network to 
be installed across all of our dwellings.  It is anticipated that works will 
commence early in 2010/11 and be completed within 2011/12 with a total 
investment of £2.6M. 

• Over the next 3 years £2.5M will be invested in installing new heating 
system and also heating system upgrades. 

• SCC are currently actively investigating the possibility of external 
cladding to solid wall constructed properties and other non-traditional 
build types.  Following the successful implementation of individual meters 
a second phase will be commenced following consultation with tenants.  
There are a number of inefficient traditional boilers currently in use across 
the city and investment is being made to upgrade these to condensing 
boilers. 

 Reform of Council Housing Finance 

37. For some time SCC has been promoting the reform of council housing 
finance.  In last years budget report it was noted that: 

• The Treasury and CLG have started a national review of the HRA and 
the subsidy system.  The findings are due to be announced in 
summer 2009. 

• Tenants are very concerned at the current subsidy payments to CLG 
and forecasts for the future and have expressed their concerns in 
writing to local MPs. 

• SCC have joined with other Councils to lobby for change and have 
protested about the system in our annual response to CLG on subsidy 
and rents 

It was agreed that everybody (tenants, members and officers) should 
continue their work to bring about a change to the current subsidy system as 
soon as practical. 

38. The consultation paper was published in July 2009 and consultation closed 
at the end of October 2009.  The consultation covered a range of matters, 
but the key issue for this report is the potential for Councils to be able to 
“buy” their way out of the subsidy system.  The buy out is likely to involve the 
council needing to borrow money in order to pay the levy to government and 
in return, the council will exit from the subsidy system and cease making 
annual payments to CLG.   

39. It is understood that there was overwhelming support for this option in 
principle amongst local authorities, as the alternative was to continue with a 
modified version of the current system.  However, the consultation paper did 
not contain any details of what the costs might be for each council to buy 



 12

their way out of the current system, and this is clearly crucial in determining 
whether this cost effective for the council. 

40. The government is still considering the responses to the consultation paper 
but it is understood that they are likely to make each council a buy out offer 
in “the spring”, with councils needing to decide their response before the 
general election.  This could require a very quick assessment of the 
economics of the offer which may not allow time for reporting to council. 

41. It is therefore proposed to delegate to the Executive Director for Resources, 
following consultation with appropriate Cabinet Members for Housing and 
Local Services and Resources and Workforce Planning, the Executive 
Director for Neighbourhoods and the Solicitor to the Council, authority to 
determine the Council’s response to the buy-out” offer for Reform of Council 
Housing Finance if the response is required in such a period that it is not 
possible to submit a report to Council. 

FINANCIAL/RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital  

42. These are in the body of the report. 

Revenue 

43. These are in the body of the report 

Property 

44. None. 

Other 

45. None. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

46. Housing Act legislation provides the authority to increase rent and other 
associated or like charges. There are no specific legal implications arising 
from the overall budget proposals contained in this report 

47. The provision, maintenance and improvement of social housing by local 
authorities is authorised by various Housing Acts and other legislation 

Other Legal Implications:  

48. None. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

49. The HRA estimates form part of the Council’s budget and are therefore key 
elements of the council’s overall budget and policy framework. The proposed 
estimates also reflect the priorities set out in the approved stock options 
report and HRA Business Plan. 

50. It is expected that with the programme of capital improvements in this report 
the objective of ensuring that all Council owned homes reach the decent 
homes standard by 2010 will still be achieved. 

 



 13

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. HRA Revenue Estimates 2009/10 and 2010/11. 

2. Detailed HRA capital programme 2009/10 to 2012/13. 

3. Forecast of HRA capital resources and explanation of terms 

4. Explanation of detailed capital variances 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the 
Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if 
applicable) 

1. None  

Background documents available for inspection at:       

KEY DECISION Yes   

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



REVENUE BUDGET

Original

Estimate

2009/10

Revised

Estimate

2009/10

Estimate

2010/11

£'000 £'000 £'000

SUMMARY

EXPENDITURE

10,311.9 10,175.9 Responsive Repairs 10,548.9

5,411.4 5,417.1 Programmed Repairs 5,193.3

15,723.3 15,593.0 Total Repairs 15,742.2

91.8 91.8 Rents Payable 95.3

46.6 46.6 Debt Management 46.8

17,005.6 16,586.1 Supervision & Management 17,130.9

3,749.1 1,834.5 Debt Charges 2,364.0

15,061.2 15,061.2 Major Repairs Allowance 10,394.5

7,126.6 7,157.3 Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 5,814.2

1,677.2 3,986.7 Housing Subsidy paid to DCLG 8,549.6

191.2 0.0 Contingency 100.0

60,672.6 60,357.2 TOTAL EXPENDITURE 60,237.5

INCOME

56,324.3 56,174.1 Dwelling Rents 57,268.9

1,400.2 1,300.0 Other Rents 1,280.7

57,724.5 57,474.1 Total Rental Income 58,549.6

1,082.2 1,010.2 Service Charge Income 1,034.8

577.3 595.1 Leaseholder Service Charges 602.1

101.6 90.8 Interest Received 51.0

59,485.6 59,170.2 TOTAL INCOME 60,237.5

-1,187.0 -1,187.0 SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR YEAR 0.0

BALANCES

2,387.0 2,387.0 Working Balance B/Fwd 1,200.0

-1,187.0 -1,187.0 Surplus/(deficit) for year 0.0

1,200.0 1,200.0 WORKING BALANCE C/FWD 1,200.0

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET REPORT - APPENDIX 1

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET REPORTAPPENDIX 2

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMMEFEBRUARY 2010

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

SUMMARY

Commited Totals

Decent Homes 16,875 10,183 0 0 27,058

Decent Homes Plus 9,405 4,715 800 0 14,920

Decent Neighbourhoods 3,279 2,653 277 0 6,209

Estate Regeneration 2,244 4,450 1,858 200 8,752

LA New Build 213 4,037 473 0 4,723

Other 20 30 0 0 50

Total HRA Commited 32,036 26,068 3,408 200 61,712

Uncommited Totals

Decent Homes 0 740 9,359 10,098 20,197

Decent Homes Plus 190 5,916 6,812 7,121 20,039

Decent Neighbourhoods 150 2,837 1,638 1,200 5,825

Estate Regeneration 0 0 0 500 500

LA New Build 0 970 970 0 1,940

Other 50 100 100 100 350

Total HRA Uncommited 390 10,563 18,879 19,019 48,851

Overall Programme

Decent Homes 16,875 10,923 9,359 10,098 47,255

Decent Homes Plus 9,595 10,631 7,612 7,121 34,959

Decent Neighbourhoods 3,429 5,490 1,915 1,200 12,034

Estate Regeneration 2,244 4,450 1,858 700 9,252

LA New Build 213 5,007 1,443 0 6,663

Other 70 130 100 100 400
Total HRA Capital Programme 32,426 36,631 22,287 19,219 110,563

K:\CL\CMMTEE\Dem 09-10\Mtgs\Council\Reports\Feb 10 - Budget\5-HRA Budget -APP2 Capital Appendix 1

Appendix 2



PROGRAMME DETAILS

Decent Homes 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Committed

Sheltered Decent Homes 08/09 1,426 2,100 3,526

Decent Homes Millbrook 3,062 3,062

Decent Homes Peartree & Sholing 500 500

Decent Homes Maybush 1,240 200 1,440

Decent Homes Shirley 2,391 2,000 4,391

Decent Homes Townhill Park 3,058 3,058

Decent Homes Harefield 250 931 1,181

Decent Homes Central 500 2,130 2,630

Decent Homes Swaythling 2,903 1,000 3,903

Decent Homes Lordshill 250 358 608

Decent Homes Thornhill Non NDC 7 7

Decent Homes Thornhill NDC 91 91

Decent Homes Weston 275 275

Decent Homes Voids 459 261 720

Electrical Renewal 86 86

Electrical Risers 288 100 388

Roof Replacement Programme - Green Lane 112 112

Roof Replacement Programme - Witts Hill 300 80 380

Roof Replacement Programme - Meggesson Avenue 150 150

Structural WorksVarious Low, Medium & High Rise 500 500

Water Tanks and Pump Replacement 50 50

Total Decent Homes Commited 16,875 10,183 0 0 27,058

Uncommitted

Decent Homes Contingency 300 300

Decent Homes Future works 8,359 8,368 16,727

Electrical Renewal 300 300 600

Roof Replacement Programme 300 300 600

Structural Works 400 400 1,130 1,930

Water Tanks and Pump Replacement 40 40

Total Decent Homes Uncommited 0 740 9,359 10,098 20,197

Total Decent Homes 16,875 10,923 9,359 10,098 47,255

K:\CL\CMMTEE\Dem 09-10\Mtgs\Council\Reports\Feb 10 - Budget\5-HRA Budget -APP2 Capital Appendix 1



Decent Homes Plus 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commited

Adaptations for Disabled People 1,469 1,469

Castle House Balconies 354 354

Crime Reduction & Safety 08/09City Wide 100 147 247

Crime Reduction & Safety 09/10City Wide 500 500

Digital TV 300 1,500 800 2,600

Shirley Towers Windows 200 794 994

Door & Window Upgrade 599 599

Electronic Concierge 1,363 1,363

Energy Saving Programme 08/09 226 226

Energy Saving Programme 09/10 400 400

Heating Systems Upgrade 09/10City Wide New Heating 722 200 922

Lift RefurbishmentVarious 28 28

Lift RefurbishmentCastle & Millbank House 600 100 700

Lift RefurbishmentMilner, Neptune & Manston 400 281 681

Lift RefurbishmentWharncliffe, Riverview & Highlands 830 200 1,030

NDC Communal Improvements 352 352

TPY Thornhill Improvements - Deep Clean & Door / Windows 53 53

Programme Management Fees 390 390

Sheltered Communal ImprovementsManston 850 850

Sheltered Communal ImprovementsWeston 50 50

Sheltered Landscaping 137 100 237

Kinloss Studio Conversions & Communal Improvements 697 697

Sheltered Accommodation Bedsit Upgrade 08/09 35 35

Sheltered Accommodation Bedsit Upgrade 09/10 100 43 143

Total Decent Homes Plus Commited 9,405 4,715 800 0 14,920

Uncommited

Adaptations for Disabled People 1,350 1,350 1,350 4,050

Communal Improvements 967 967

Crime Reduction & Safety 450 450 450 1,350

Door & Window Upgrade 648 1,150 988 2,786

Electronic ConciergeAdditional Work 200 200

Energy Saving Programme 400 400 240 1,040

Heating Systems Upgrade 250 700 1,630 2,580

Lift Refurbishment 1,010 746 1,756

Mobile Working 450 450

Programme Management Fees 400 400 400 1,200

Sheltered Communal Improvements 190 787 1,052 250 2,279

Sheltered Communal ImprovementsGraylings 590 590

Sheltered Communal ImprovementsChallis 291 291

Sheltered Accommodation Studio conversions to 1 bed flats 100 100 100 300

Sheltered Accommodation Bedsit Upgrade 200 200

Total Decent Homes Plus Uncommited 190 5,916 6,812 7,121 20,039

Total Decent Homes Plus 9,595 10,631 7,612 7,121 34,959

K:\CL\CMMTEE\Dem 09-10\Mtgs\Council\Reports\Feb 10 - Budget\5-HRA Budget -APP2 Capital Appendix 1



Decent Neighbourhoods 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commited

Central 50 251 301

Townhill ParkMcArthur & Vanguard 60 515 26 601

Harefield 500 500

Peartree / SholingTankerville 203 5 208

WestonInternational Way 416 10 426

Garage Site Upgrade 12 12

Ext. Improvements to Walk Up Blocks 36 36

Environmental Improvement Works 67 67

Estate Improvement Programme 200 200

Parking on Verges 3 3

Shopping Parade Upgrade 65 65

Thornhill Better Neighbourhoods 2,492 97 2,589

Thornhill Cycleway 100 100

MillbrookBlock Improvements 390 11 401

MillbrookParking 150 225 225 600

MillbrookAdizone 80 20 100

Total Decent Neighbourhoods Commited 3,279 2,653 277 0 6,209

Uncommited

Northam 250 250

Holyrood 500 500

Kingsland 225 50 275

Thornhill 100 100

Weston 487 13 500

Harefield / Townhill Park 685 15 700

Estate Improvement Programme 200 200 200 600

Swaythling Relocation 150 150

MillbrookBlock Improvements 390 360 750

Shirley 1,000 1,000

Future Decent Neighbourhoods Schemes 1,000 1,000

Total Decent Neighbourhoods Uncommited 150 2,837 1,638 1,200 5,825

Total Decent Neighbourhoods 3,429 5,490 1,915 1,200 12,034

Estate Regeneration 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commited

Capacity Study 25 14 39

Hinkler Parade 1,289 793 188 2,270

Cumbrian Way 211 733 285 40 1,269

Exford Parade 457 2,052 1,002 80 3,591

Laxton Close 131 489 296 40 956

Meggeson Avenue 131 369 87 40 627

Total Estate Regeneration Commited 2,244 4,450 1,858 200 8,752

Uncommited

Future schemes 500 500

Total Estate Regeneration Uncommited 0 0 0 500 500

Total Estate Regeneration 2,244 4,450 1,858 700 9,252

K:\CL\CMMTEE\Dem 09-10\Mtgs\Council\Reports\Feb 10 - Budget\5-HRA Budget -APP2 Capital Appendix 1



Local Authority New Build 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commited

Borrowdale Road 37 704 84 825

Flamborough Close 21 400 47 468

Chiltern Green 20 380 44 444

Grateley Close 59 1,121 131 1,311

Orpen Road 35 660 77 772

Keynsham Close 41 772 90 903

Total Local Authority New Build Commited 213 4,037 473 0 4,723

Uncommited

Leaside Way 251 251 502

Cumbrian Way 719 719 1,438

Total Local Authority New Build Uncommited 0 970 970 0 1,940

Total Local Authority New Build 213 5,007 1,443 0 6,663

Other 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commited

IT Development 20 30 50

Total Other Committed 20 30 0 0 50

Uncommited

IT Development 50 100 100 100 350

Total Other Uncommitted 50 100 100 100 350

Total Other 70 130 100 100 400

K:\CL\CMMTEE\Dem 09-10\Mtgs\Council\Reports\Feb 10 - Budget\5-HRA Budget -APP2 Capital Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

 
FORECAST OF HRA CAPITAL RESOURCES AND EXPLANATION OF 

TERMS 
 
 

Resource 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Total 

 £M £M £M £M £M 

Supported 
Borrowing 

1.496 1.496 0 0 2.992 

Unsupported 
Borrowing 

0.300 9.149 1.757 0.870 12.076 

Useable capital 
receipts 

0.400 0.700 1.770 0.870 3.740 

Grants and 
contributions 
from  third parties 

3.955 3.086 0.595 0.110 7.746 

Direct Revenue 
Financing 

11.214 11.806 5.148 1.611 29.779 

Major Repairs 
Allowance 

15.061 10.394 13.017 13.197 51.669 

Total 32.426 36.631 22.287 16.658 108.002 

 
 
Supported Borrowing 
 
Supported borrowing is where the Government funds the cost of borrowing 
through the Housing Revenue Account Subsidy Settlement. 
 
Unsupported Borrowing (prudential borrowing) 
 
Unsupported borrowing is where the Housing Revenue Account meets the full 
capital financing costs with no support from Government. 
 
There is therefore no specific cash limit on borrowing but the key focus is on 
the ability to meet the capital financing costs from revenue budgets in the long 
term. 
 
Useable Capital Receipts 
 
Authorities are only able to use 25% of the proceeds from the sale of Council 
Houses and 50% from the sale of other Housing Revenue Account assets to 
finance capital expenditure in either the Housing Revenue Account or the 
General Fund Capital Programmes.  However, it is possible to fully utilise the 
receipts from the sale of certain HRA assets (the principal exclusions being 
receipts from Right-to-Buy sales and Large Scale Voluntary Transfers) 
provided the receipts are used for “the provision of affordable housing”.  The 
definition of “affordable housing” includes support to Registered Social 
Landlords and works to the Councils own stock to bring the dwellings up to 
decent homes standard (or higher standard).  To utilise this facility it is 

Appendix 3



necessary for a resolution to be passed that sets the Council’s expected 
spend on “affordable housing” for a given period before any sales take place.  
Such a resolution is included in the HRA budget report. 
 
It should be noted that General Fund receipts can be used to finance the HRA 
Capital Programme and vice versa without any compensating adjustments 
being made to either the General Fund or the Housing Revenue Account.  
However, the interest receipted on the usable proportion of all capital receipts 
must be paid to the General Fund.  Therefore, if Housing Revenue Account 
expenditure on capital schemes is financed from usable capital receipts, there 
is a cost to the General Fund because it will not receive interest on those 
capital receipts. 
 
Grants and contributions from third parties 
 
Contributions are received from third parties in respect of capital expenditure 
incurred by the Council e.g. payments from leaseholders of sold Council flats 
in respect of any major works that have been carried out to their homes.  In 
addition significant contributions are expected from the NDC and a CHP 
developer. 
 
Direct Revenue Financing 
 
This is the contribution from the HRA revenue account to fund the capital 
programme.  
 
Major Repairs Allowance 
 
The MRA is intended to represent the cost of maintaining the stock in its 
current condition and is an annual allowance set by DCLG as part of the 
annual HRA subsidy settlement.  
 



APPENDIX 4 
 

INCREASES AND DECREASES ON CAPITAL SCHEMES 
 

1. Electrical Risers – Slippage £100K 
 Due to a Leaseholder Valuation Tribunal being instigated, proposed works were delayed 

by several months, therefore the programme has now slipped into 2010/11. 
 

2. Roof Replacement – Slippage £80K 
 Due to procurement issues works could not start as originally programmed.  Timescales 

could not be recovered as Section 20 leaseholder consultation had to take place with 
specific timescales, therefore the programme has now slipped into 2010/11. 
  

3. Crime Reduction and Safety – Slippage 08/09 £147K and 09/10 £250K 
 Due to procurement issues, works could not commence as originally programmed.  This 

has now been resolved and works will commence at the end of 2009/10 but the 
substantial part will now be carried out in 2010/11. 
 

4. Shirley Towers windows – Slippage £300K 
 Investigatory works have not identified the actual source of the water ingress (may not 

be a window issue).  Further investigations are currently being carried out and any 
programmed repairs will now be carried out in 2010/11. 
 

5. Lifts Refurbishment 
 07/08 Scheme – Slippage £100K, Decreased £213K 
 • Due to the original contractor refusing to “stand by” original tender, works at 

Millbank House had to be re-tendered and therefore the programme was 
adjusted. 

 

• The original proposals included works to sheltered blocks, but following the 
recent review the works were re-evaluated and removed from this programme. 

 08/09 Scheme – Slippage £107K 
 • Following the Sheltered Housing Review all works were re-evaluated and 

programmes reassessed with works continuing in 2010/11. 
 09/10 Scheme – Slippage £200K 
 • Works to Wharncliffe, Riverview and Highlands House were delayed due to 

feasibility study issues.  Programmes of works have been re-evaluated and works 
will continue into 2010/11. 

 10/11 Scheme – Relocated £360K and Decreased £300K 
 • Due to the backlog of refurbishment works, it was decided not to carry out any 

new works, but relocate £360K into the 2011/12 scheme and £300K offered as a 
saving. 

 
6. Sheltered Landscaping  
 08/09 Slippage £100K  
 • Due to the Sheltered Housing review all works were stopped and re-evaluated.  

In line with the new proposals works have now been identified but due to planting 
seasons etc works will not commence until 2010/11. 

  

Appendix 4



09/10 Slippage £152K 
 • As above. 

 
7. Sheltered Studio conversion 
 09/10 Voids Slippage £43K 
 • Following the Sheltered Housing Review it was agreed that Tatwin Crescent 

should not be included within this project, therefore the anticipated number of 
voids has declined. 

 10/11 Bedsit Upgrade – Decreased £300K 
 • The Sheltered Housing Review has indicated a reduced number of dwellings 

requiring works and that the revised numbers can be met from previous years’ 
budgets.   

 
8. Kinloss Court – Increased £290K 
 The original proposal did not include the communal areas and kitchen upgrade. 

 
9. Sheltered Communal Improvements – Increased £344K 
 The overall provision for Sheltered Housing has been increased to meet the 

requirements of the Sheltered Housing Asset Plan.  Within this overall total, specific 
projects have now been identified and set up:- Graylings, Challis Court, Weston Court, 
Manston Court and Kinloss Court. 
 



  

 

 1

 

 DECISION-MAKER:  AUDIT COMMITTEE  

COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND 
PRUDENTIAL LIMITS 2009/10-2012/13 

DATE OF DECISION: 25TH JANUARY 2010 

17TH FEBRUARY 2010 

REPORT OF: EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

AUTHOR: Name:  Rob Carr Tel: 023 80 832885 

 E-mail: rob.carr@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STRATEGY OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

NOT APPLICABLE 

 

SUMMARY 

Treasury Management is a complex subject and the majority of this report is set out in 
accordance with statutory requirements and guidance issued by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.   The information provided is therefore 
mainly technical but in essence this information forms the basis of the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Objectives that are being followed even if these are not 
spelt out in simple terms.  The purpose of this summary therefore is to interpret this 
information in such a way that provides Members with key messages on the approach 
to Treasury Management within the Council. 

The core elements of the strategy for 2010/11 are :- 

• To continue the use of variable rate debt to take advantage of the current 
market conditions 

• To constantly review longer term forecasts and to lock in to longer term rates 
through a variety of instruments as appropriate during the year in order to 
provide a balanced portfolio against interest rate risk 

• To secure the best short term rates for borrowing and investments consistent 
with maintaining flexibility and liquidity within the portfolio 

• To maximise investment returns in line with the Annual Investment Strategy 
and to constantly monitor global markets to protect the security of our 
investments. 

• To approve borrowing limits that provide for debt restructuring opportunities 
and to pursue debt restructuring where appropriate and within the Council’s 
risk boundaries. 

In essence treasury management can always been seen in the context of the classic 
‘risk and reward’ scenario and by following this strategy this will contribute to the 
Council’s wider Treasury Management objective which is to minimise net borrowing 
cost in the short term without exposing the Council to undue risk either now or in the 

Agenda Item 6



 2

longer term. 

The minimisation of net borrowing costs contributes to the Council’s priority for 
providing efficient, value for money services and active treasury management can 
help in lessening the impact of the economic recession on the City Council which has 
been demonstrated through the restructuring of the debt and investment portfolio that 
was undertaken early in 2009.  This also demonstrates that the Council takes a 
rounded view to Treasury Management, considering jointly the debt and investment 
portfolio together rather than one being the consequence of activity in the other. 

The Council can also demonstrate integrated thinking through work that it has been 
doing on balance sheet analysis and forecasting and working with our advisors on 
potential changes to HRA subsidy and debt arrangements.  The Council is also very 
cognisant of requirements of accounting conventions and changes relating to IFRS, 
but these do not drive treasury management decisions, which has been demonstrated 
by the decision to undertake a major restructuring which then caused huge 
complexities in representing this in the accounts in line with accounting conventions. 

There are huge number of variables and risks associated with Treasury Management 
but the key risks and the Council’s approach to them are detailed below :- 

• Interest Rate Risk – The Council has exposed itself to interest rate risk by 
taking out variable debt during 2009.  This was and continues to be very 
financially favourable in current markets but does mean that the Council must 
monitor markets to ensure it is not caught out.  During 2010/11, therefore the 
Council will almost certainly start to take action to lessen this risk through a 
balanced combination of :- 

o longer term fixed maturity loans, 

o medium term Equal Instalment of Principle (EIP) loans (which are currently 
cheaper than longer term fixed) and  

o longer term PWLB variable loans which have the option to be fixed at very 
short notice for a small fee. 

o Variable rate investments to take advantage of increasing interest rates 

 

• Investment Risk – The risks to capital investment are more known now than 
they have ever been and the Council has a good track record in respect of 
appropriate risk exposure during the global economic crisis of recent years.  
Current investment limits and instruments have been set in the context of 
current conditions and will continue to be monitored and amended as 
appropriate. 

• Changes in Market Conditions – The Council must be able to react quickly to 
changes in market conditions either good or bad and all Treasury Management 
decisions are taken by the Chief Financial Officer in line with the strategy.  In 
addition, decision sheets are signed off by the CFO that contain ‘trigger points’ 
for market changes which can then automatically be actioned at short notice 
without the need to get formal sign off on the day.  Furthermore, in response to 
the recent financial turmoil, this report recommends that the CFO be given 
delegated authority to make any changes to this strategy that will aid good 
treasury management.  Any decisions made under this power will be reported 
in full at a later date. 



 3

 

Furthermore, in order to mitigate these risks further, the Council has taken the 
opportunity in the current year to use the savings created by the debt restructure 
(around £1.5M) to create a treasury management equalisation reserve which will be 
available to smooth any significant fluctuations in market conditions in future years, so 
that there is no adverse impact on budgets or council tax in any single year. 

In this report, Council is requested to approve the Prudential Indicators and the 
Treasury Management Strategy and to note the main activities undertaken during 
2009/10 to date which are summarised below: 

 (i) Investment returns have decreased from £3.7M in 2008/09 to an 
estimated £1M in current year as a result of a fall in interest rates. 
The average rate achieved to date (0.88%) is above the 
performance indicator of the average 7 day Libid rate (0.59%). 
 

 (ii) In order to balance the fall in investment income we have switched to 
short term debt which is currently lower than long term due to the 
depressed market. As a result the average rate for repayment of 
debt has reduced from 4.15% in 2008/09 to 3.18%.  As this is a 
temporary arrangement any savings are to be transferred to the debt 
equalisation reserve until we lock back into long term debt. It should 
be noted that the forecast for longer term debt is a steady increase 
over the next few years so new long term borrowing will be taken out 
above this rate, therefore an increase in the Consolidated Rate of 
interest should be expected.  
 

 (iii) In order to comply with the revised CIPFA code for Treasury 
Management training for members was undertaken by an 
independent company recommended by our advisors (Arlinglclose) 
on the 10th December 2009.  
 

The estimates for interest payable and the Prudential Indicators contained within this 
report assume that the recommendations in the Capital and Revenue budget reports, 
elsewhere on the agenda, are approved. If there are any changes to the capital 
programme or the level of borrowing the Prudential Indicators will need to be revised. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

Audit Committee is recommended to 

 (i) Endorse the Treasury Management Strategy for 2010/11 as outlined 
in the report; and 

 (ii) To note that the indicators as reported have been set on the 
assumption that the recommendations in the Capital Update report 
will be approved. Should the recommendations change, the 
Prudential Indicators may have to be recalculated. 

 (iii) Note that due to the early timing of this report, changes may still be 
required following the finalisation of capital and revenue budgets and 
therefore any significant changes to this report will be highlighted in 
the final version that is presented to Full Council. 

Council is recommended to 



 4

 (i) Approve the Council’s Prudential Indicators as detailed within 
Appendix 2. 

 (ii) Approve the 2010 MRP Statement. 

 (iii) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy for 2010/11 as outlined 
in the report; and 

 (iv) To note that the indicators as reported, have been set on the 
assumption that the recommendations in the Capital Update report 
will be approved. Should the recommendations change, the 
Prudential Indicators may have to be recalculated. 

 (v) To approve amendments to Standing Orders to comply with the 
revised CIPFA guide on Treasury Management as detailed in 
paragraph 7. 

 (vi) To delegate authority to the Executive Director of Resources 
following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources and 
Workforce Planning to approve any changes to the Prudential 
Indicators or borrowing limits that will aid good treasury 
management, for example increase the % for variable rate borrowing 
to take advantage of the depressed market for short term rates. Any 
amendments will be reported  as part of quarterly financial and 
performance monitoring and in revisions to this strategy. 

 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. In order to comply with Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003, and the 
established treasury management procedures that have been adopted by the 
Authority, each year the Council must set certain borrowing limits and 
approve a treasury management strategy which includes: 

• Treasury Management Strategy for 2010-11 (Borrowing; paragraphs 
18-34, Debt Rescheduling; paragraphs 39-43, Investments; 
paragraphs 44-58) 

• Prudential Indicators – Appendix 2 (NB -  The Authorised Limit is a 
statutory limit)  

• MRP Statement – paragraphs 60-65 

• Use of Specified and Non-Specified Investments – Appendix 4 

 

CONSULTATION 

2. The proposed capital and revenue budgets on which this report is based have 
been subject to their own consultation processes outlined in the relevant 
reports elsewhere on the Council agenda. 

 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

3. Alternative options for borrowing would depend on decisions taken on the 
setting of the capital programme, which are being taken at Full Council on 17th 
February 2010. 

 



 

 5

DETAIL 

 Background  

4. The Local Government Act 2003 introduced a system for borrowing based 
largely on self-regulation by local authorities themselves.  The basic principle 
of the new system is that local authorities will be free to borrow as long as 
their capital spending plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.  

 

5. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of Practice 
for Treasury Management in Public Services (the “CIPFA TM Code”) requires 
local authorities to determine the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS). This statement also incorporates the Investment Strategy. Together, 
these cover the financing and investment strategy for the forthcoming financial 
year.  

 

6. In response to the financial crisis in 2008 and the collapse of the Icelandic 
banks, CIPFA has revised the TM Code and Guidance Notes as well as the 
Prudential Indicators. Communities and Local Government (CLG) is also in 
the process of revising and updating the Investment Guidance.  Changes 
required to be made to this Strategy and/or documentation will be placed 
before members for consideration.  

 

7. 

 

As part of the review CIPFA recommends that all public service organisations 
adopt, as part of their standing orders, financial regulations, or other formal 
policy documents appropriate to their circumstances, the following four 
clauses. 
 
1. This organisation will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for 
effective treasury management: 

• a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, 
objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury 
management activities 

• suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the 
manner in which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies 
and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 
activities. 

 
The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the 
recommendations contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the Code, subject only 
to amendment where necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of 
this organisation. Such amendments will not result in the organisation 
materially deviating from the Code’s key principles. 

 
2. This organisation (ie full board/council) will receive reports on its treasury 
management policies, practices and activities, including, as a minimum, an 
annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an 
annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 
 

3.  This organisation delegates responsibility for the implementation and 
regular monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to 
the Audit Committee and for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions to the Chief Financial Officer who will act in 

 



 6

accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and, as 
she is a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on 
Treasury Management. 

 
4. This organisation nominates the Audit Committee to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and 
policies. 

 
In order to ensure compliance with this recommendation, the TMSS will 
now be presented to the Audit Committee before going to full Council for 
approval. Training for Audit Committee members has taken place in order 
to enable them to undertake their review of TMSS. However it should be 
noted that given the timing of the meetings the figures in the Audit 
Committee report are only provisional and will be subject to change 
dependent on final decisions made by Council for the capital and revenue 
budgets.   

 

8. 

 

CIPFA has defined Treasury Management as: 

“the management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.” 

The Council is responsible for its treasury decisions and activity.  No 
treasury management activity is without risk. The successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk is the prime criteria by which the effectiveness 
of its treasury management activities will be measured.  Accordingly, the 
analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their 
risk implications for the Council.  The main risks to the Council’s treasury 
activities are: 

• Liquidity Risk (Inadequate cash resources) 

• Market or Interest Rate Risk (Fluctuations in interest rate levels 
and thereby in the value of investments). 

• Inflation Risks (Exposure to inflation) 

• Credit and Counterparty Risk (Security of Investments) 

• Refinancing Risks (Impact of debt maturing in future years). 

• Legal & Regulatory Risk (i.e. non-compliance with statutory and 
regulatory requirements, risk of fraud). 

 

9. The Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
management, and to employing suitable comprehensive performance 
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.  To 
aid the Council in carrying out its Treasury Management function, it has 
appointed Treasury Management Advisors (Arlingclose) who advise the 
Council on strategy and provide market information to aid decision making.  
However it should be noted that the decisions are taken independently by the 
Chief Financial Officer taking into account this advice and other internal and 
external factors.  A good example of this was the decision by the CFO to only 



 7

use the Debt Management Office for investments at the time of the Icelandic 
Bank crisis, despite our advisors saying that other institutions could still be 
used at the time.  A week later our advisors changed their view in line with 
what the council had already implemented.  

10. The Council’s proposed strategy for 2009/10 - 2012/13 also takes into account 
the outlook for interest rates (see Appendix 3), its current treasury position, its 
projected treasury management and capital financing activities and its 
approved Prudential Indicators as detailed in Appendix 2. 

 Balance Sheet and Treasury Position 

11. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) together with Balances and Reserves 
are the core drivers of Treasury Management Activity. The estimates, based 
on the current Revenue budget and Capital Programmes, are set out below: 

 

  

  31-Mar-10 31-Mar-11 31-Mar-12 31-Mar-13 

Estimate Estimate   Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m 

CFR  282 306 302 295 

Balances & Reserves 30 25 25 25 

Net Balance Sheet Position 252 281 277 270 

 

12. The Council’s level of physical debt and investments is linked to these 
components of the Balance Sheet. The current portfolio position is set out at 
Appendix 1. Market conditions, interest rate expectations and credit risk 
considerations will influence the Council’s strategy in determining the 
borrowing and investment activity against the underlying Balance Sheet 
position.  

13. As the CFR represents the level of borrowing for capital purposes and 
revenue expenditure cannot be financed from borrowing, net physical 
external borrowing should not exceed the CFR other than for short term cash 
flow requirements. It is permissible under the Prudential Code to borrow in 
advance of need up to the level of the estimated CFR over the term of the 
Prudential Indicators. Where this takes place the cash will form part of its 
invested sums until the related capital expenditure is incurred. This being the 
case net borrowing should not exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding 
year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the current and next two 
financial years other than in the short term due to cash flow requirements. 
 

14. The move to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) has 
implications for the Capital Financing Requirement components on the 
Balance Sheet.  Analysis of the Council’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
schemes and Operating leases against IFRS requirements may result in the 
related long term assets and liabilities being brought onto the Council’s 
Balance Sheet. The estimates for the CFR and Long Term Liabilities will 



 8

therefore need to take into account such items.  This will influence the 
determination of the Council’s Affordable Borrowing Limit and Operational 
Boundary. 

15. The Department for Communities and Local Government has recently 
consulted on proposals to reform the council housing subsidy system. The 
proposed Self-financing option would require a one-off reallocation of housing 
debt. As the consultation period has only recently ended and the mechanism 
for debt transfer has not been determined, the estimates set out in this 
strategy do not take into account any potential debt transfer that may arise in 
future years. 

 

16. The estimate for interest payments in 2010/11 is £6.1m and for interest 
receipts is £0.6m. 

 

 Outlook for Interest Rates  

17. The economic interest rate outlook provided by the Council’s treasury advisor, 
Arlingclose Ltd, is attached at Appendix 3.  Financial markets remain 
reasonably volatile as the structural changes necessary within economies and 
the banking system evolve. This volatility provides opportunities for active 
treasury management. The Council will reappraise its strategy from time to 
time and, if needs be, realign it with evolving market conditions and 
expectations for future interest rates.  
 

 Borrowing Requirement and Strategy 

18. The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by 
reference to its Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as detailed in Appendix 
2.  The CFR represents the cumulative capital expenditure of the local 
authority that has not been financed. To ensure that this expenditure will 
ultimately be financed, local authorities are required to make a Minimum 
Revenue Provision for Debt Redemption (MRP) from within the Revenue 
budget each year.   
 

19. Capital expenditure not financed from internal resources (i.e. Capital Receipts, 
Capital Grants and Contributions, Revenue or Reserves) will produce an 
increase in the CFR (the underlying need to borrow) and in turn produce an 
increased requirement to charge MRP in the Revenue Account. 

20. Physical external borrowing may be greater or less than the CFR, but in 
accordance with the Prudential Code, the Council will ensure that net external 
borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the current and 
next two financial years.   

21. The cumulative estimate of the maximum long-term borrowing requirement is 
estimated by comparing the projected CFR with the profile of the current 
portfolio of external debt and long term liabilities over the same financial 
horizon, as follows: 



 9

  

 31/03/2010 31/03/2011 31/03/2012 31/03/2013 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

282 306 302 295 

Less:         

Existing Profile of Borrowing and 
Other Long Term Liabilities 217 247 244 238 

Cumulative Maximum External  
Borrowing Requirement 65 59 58 57 

Balances & Reserves  30 25 25 25 

Cumulative Net Borrowing 
Requirement/Investments 35 34 33 32 

 

22. The Council’s strategy is to maintain maximum control over its borrowing 
activities as well as flexibility on its loans portfolio.  Capital expenditure levels, 
market conditions and interest rate levels will be monitored during the year in 
order to minimise borrowing costs over the medium to longer term. A prudent 
and pragmatic approach to borrowing will be maintained to minimise 
borrowing costs without compromising the longer-term stability of the portfolio, 
consistent with the Council’s Prudential Indicators.   

23. Therefore, in conjunction with advice from its treasury advisors, the Council 
will keep under review the options it has in borrowing from the Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB) and from market and other sources identified in the 
Treasury Management Practices Schedules up to the available capacity within 
its CFR and Affordable Borrowing Limit (defined by CIPFA as the Authorised 
Limit).   

 

 

 The outlook for borrowing rates: 

24. Short-dated gilt yields are forecast to be lower than medium- and long-dated 
gilt yields during the financial year.  Despite additional gilt issuance to fund the 
UK government’s support to the banking industry; short-dated gilts are 
expected to benefit from expectations of lower interest rates as the economy 
struggles through a recession. Yields for these maturities will fall as 
expectations for lower interest rates mount.  
   

25. The differential between investment earnings and debt costs, despite long 
term borrowing rates being around historically low levels, remains acute and 
this is expected to remain a feature during 2010/11. The so-called “cost of 
carry” associated with long term borrowing compared to temporary investment 
returns means that the appetite for new long term borrowing brings with it 
additional short-term costs. It is not surprising that the use of internal 



 10

resources in lieu of borrowing has been the most cost effective means of 
financing capital expenditure but, at some stage, internal resources will 
become depleted and require topping up. 
 

26. PWLB variable rates have fallen below 1%. They are expected to remain low 
as the Bank Rate is maintained at historically low levels to enable the 
struggling economy to emerge from the recession. Against a backdrop of 
interest rates remaining lower for longer and a continuation of the cost of carry 
backdrop, then a passive borrowing strategy i.e. borrow long term funds as 
they are required may remain appropriate. Equally, variable rate funds (that 
avoid the cost of carry) or EIP (equal instalments of principal) that mitigate the 
impact are both active considerations. 
 

27. Decisions to borrow at low, variable rates of interest will be taken after 
considering the absolute level of longer term interest rate equivalents and the 
extent of variable rate earnings on the Council’s investment balances.   When 
longer term rates move below the cost of variable rate borrowing any strategic 
exposure to variable interest rates will be reviewed and, if appropriate, 
reduced. 
 

28. The PWLB remains the preferred source of borrowing given the transparency 
and control that its facilities continue to provide.  
 

29. The Council has £9m loans which are LOBO loans (Lender’s Options 
Borrower’s Option) of which are currently in their option state. In the event that 
the lender exercises the option to change the rate or terms of the loan, the 
Council will consider the terms being provided and also repayment of the loan 
without penalty. The Council may utilise cash resources for repayment or may 
consider replacing the loan(s) by borrowing from the PWLB. 

30. Actual borrowing undertaken and the timing will depend on capital expenditure 
levels, interest rate forecasts and market conditions during the year, in order 
to minimise borrowing costs. The Council will be advised by it’s financial 
advisors of the specific timing of borrowing.  This may include borrowing in 
advance of future years’ requirements provided that overall borrowing is 
maintained within the Council’s projected CFR and its approved Affordable 
Borrowing Limit.  
 

31. The maturity term of new borrowing will be consistent with the Council 
maintaining a prudent loans maturity profile in accordance with its Prudential 
Indicators. 
 

32. The Option for Forward Funding: The Council does not have to rely on 
borrowing in discrete financial years to fund its capital financing requirement 
and the strategy provides flexibility to take forward borrowing decisions when 
rates are favourable and the need to borrow can be demonstrated. Overall 
borrowing must still be within the Council’s Affordable Borrowing Limit. 
 

33. ‘Trigger’ rates for borrowing: The Council’s treasury advisor, provides 
economic and interest rate forecasts as well as formulating views on 
borrowing and lending opportunities.  
 



 11

34. The Council will maintain a pragmatic approach to borrowing, bearing in mind 
the Council’s debt maturity profile and the need to minimise borrowing costs 
without compromising longer-term stability of the portfolio. Total borrowing for 
the year will be reported to Council in July 2010 as part of the Treasury 
Management Outturn report.   
 

 Value for Money 

35. One of the key elements of the TMSS is to ensure the minimisation of 
borrowing cost and the maximisation of investment income commensurate 
with the level of risk exposure the Council feels is appropriate.  Whilst recent 
events have underlined the potential pitfalls of exposure to risk for financial 
gain, this does not mean that Treasury Management activity can ignore value 
for money principles. 
 

36. The Council has applied it’s TMSS in making borrowing and investment 
decisions and has taken a very active stance in restructuring and changing 
both it’s borrowing and investment portfolio in response to changing market 
conditions. 
 

37. In terms of assessing value for money, the Council monitors three key 
indicators, the details of which are shown in the table below and indicate that 
the direction of travel for the Council is very favourable.  Furthermore 
comparing the Council’s CRI with other authorities has shown that the council 
has one of the lowest rates in the country. 
 

38. The table below shows our target and actual rates for the key Indicators set 
for Treasury Management. 

  

  Target 2007/08 Target 2008/09 Target Estimate 

2007/08 Actual 2008/09 Actual 2009/10 2009/10 

% % % % % % 

Consolidated 

Rate of Interest   

            

4.91    

            

4.35    

            

1.93  

Temporary 

Borrowing 

            

5.73  

            

5.70  

            

3.93  

            

3.10  

            

0.63  

            

0.45  

Average Long 

Term 

Borrowing 

            

5.00  

            

4.47  

            

5.00  

            

4.15  

            

5.00  

            

3.18  

Temporary 

Investments 

            

5.70  

            

6.00  

            

3.90  

            

5.16  

            

0.60  

            

0.80  

 

The CRI is shown as actual only, to demonstrate the direction of travel, since 
it is not practical to set a target for this indicator due to complexities of 
measuring the overall debt portfolio over time. 

 



 12

 Debt Rescheduling: 

39. The Council will continue to maintain a flexible policy for debt rescheduling.  
Market volatility may provide opportunities for restructuring debt from time to 
time.   The rationale for restructuring would be one or more of the following: 

• Savings in interest costs with minimal risk. 

• Balancing the volatility profile (i.e. the ratio of fixed to variable rate 
debt) of the debt portfolio. 

• Amending the profile of maturing debt to reduce any inherent 
refinancing risks.  

 

40. The rescheduling of PWLB debt since the introduction of its repayment rates 
on 1st November 2007 has not ceased, but has become undoubtedly harder 
and places greater emphasis on the timing and type of new borrowing.  
 

41. In September 2009, the PWLB issued a Consultation document, entitled 
‘PWLB Fixed Rates’, where the PWLB is reviewing the frequency of rate 
setting (currently daily) and could move to a live pricing basis. The deadline 
for the consultation period was 08/01/2010. The likely outcome of this is a 
reduction in the extent of the margins between premature repayment and new 
borrowing rates, particularly for longer maturities.   
 

42. The Council’s debt portfolio is monitored against equivalent interest rates and 
available refinancing options on a regular basis.  As opportunities arise, they 
will be identified by the Council’s treasury management advisors and 
discussed with the Council’s officers.  Any rescheduling activity will be 
undertaken within the Council’s treasury management policy and strategy and 
will comply with the accounting requirements of the local authority SoRP and 
regulatory requirements of the Capital Finance and Accounting Regulations 
(SI 2007 No 573).   
 

43. Borrowing and debt rescheduling activity will be reported  as part of quarterly 
monitoring, as part of outturn and in future updates to this strategy. 
 

 Investment Policy and Strategy: 

 Policy 

45. Investments are categorised as ‘Specified’ or ‘Non Specified’ investments 
based on the criteria in the CLG Guidance.  Potential instruments for the 
Council’s use within its investment strategy are contained in Appendix 3.  

 

46. The credit crisis has refocused attention on the treasury management priority 
of security of capital monies invested.  The Council will continue to maintain 
a counterparty list based on its criteria and will monitor and update the credit 
standing of the institutions on a regular basis.  This assessment will include 
credit ratings and other alternative assessments of credit strength as outlined 
in paragraph 54-58. 

 

47. The Council’s current level of investments is presented at Appendix 1. 

 



 13

 Investment Strategy 

48. The global financial market storm in 2008 and 2009 has forced investors of 
public money to reappraise the question of risk versus yield. Income from 
investments is key in supporting the Council’s budget. 
 

 

49. The UK Bank Rate has been maintained at 0.5% since March 2009.  Short-
term money market rates are likely to remain at very low levels which will 
have a significant impact on investment income. The Council’s strategy must 
however be geared towards this development whilst adhering to the principal 
objective of security of invested monies.  
 

 

50. The Chief Financial Officer, under delegated powers, will undertake the most 
appropriate form of investments in keeping with the investment objectives, 
income and risk management requirements and Prudential Indicators. 
Decisions taken on the core investment portfolio will be reported to Council 
as part of the Treasury Management Outturn report in July 2010. 
 

 

51. The Council’s shorter term cashflow investments are made with reference to 
the outlook for the UK Bank Rate and money market rates.   
 

52. In any period of significant stress in the markets, the default position is for 
investments to be made with the Debt Management Office.  Currently the 
Council has restricted its investment activity to:   

• The Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) which is 
guaranteed by the UK Government and is therefore a AAA rated 
investment. (The rates of interest from the DMADF are below equivalent 
money market rates. However, the returns are an acceptable trade-off 
for the guarantee that the Council’s capital is secure) 

• AAA-rated Money Market Funds with a Constant Net Asset Value 
(CNAV) 

• Deposits with other local authorities 

• Business reserve accounts and Term deposits These have been 
primarily restricted to UK institutions that are rated at least AA- long 
term, and have access to the UK Government’s 2008 Credit Guarantee 
Scheme (CGS) 

• Bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks (see Appendix 4 for a 
breakdown of current counterparties, instruments and limits used.) 
   

53. The following table shows how the Council has increased its investments in 
higher credit rated institutions (AAA) and reduced it’s exposure in lower rated 
institutions (A) in response to the changing environment. 
 



 14

 

  

Credit Rating Investments 
31 March 08 

Investments 
31 March 09 

Investments 
31 Dec 09 

A 44% 37% 0% 

AA 51% 35% 62% 

AAA 5% 28% 38% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 

 

 

54. Conditions in the financial sector have begun to show signs of improvement, 
albeit with substantial intervention by government authorities. In order to 
diversify the counterparty list, the use of comparable non-UK Banks for 
investments is now considered appropriate.   
 

55. The sovereign states whose banks are to be included are Australia, Canada, 
Finland, France, Germany, Netherlands, Spain, Switzerland and the US.  
These countries, and the Banks within them (see Appendix 4), have been 
selected after analysis and careful monitoring of: 

• Credit Ratings (minimum long-term AA-)  

• Credit Default Swaps 

• GDP;  Net Debt as a Percentage of GDP 

• Sovereign Support Mechanisms/potential support from a well-  
resourced  parent institution 

• Share Price 
 

56. The Council has also taken into account information on corporate 
developments and market sentiment towards the counterparties. The Council 
and its Treasury Advisors, Arlingclose, will continue to analyse and monitor 
these indicators and credit developments on a regular basis and respond as 
necessary to ensure security of the capital sums invested.   
 

57. We do remain in a heightened state of sensitivity to risk. Vigilance is key. This 
modest expansion of the counterparty list is an incremental step. In order to 
meet requirements of the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code, the 
Council is focusing on a range of indicators (as stated above), not just credit 
ratings. 
 

58. Limits for Specified Investments are set out in Appendix 4.    
 

 Balanced Budget Requirement  

59. The Council complies with the provisions of S32 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 to set a balanced budget.  
 

 



 15

 

 2010/11 MRP Statement 

60. 

 

The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/414) place a duty on local 
authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  Guidance on 
Minimum Revenue Provision has been issued by the Secretary of State and 
local authorities are required to “have regard” to such Guidance under section 
21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003. The four options available are: 

Option 1: Regulatory Method 

Option 2: CFR Method 

Option 3: Asset Life Method 

Option 4: Depreciation Method 
 

61. The 2009 SORP and IFRS will result in PFI schemes and certain leases being 
brought on balance sheet.  Where this is the case the CFR will increase, 
which will lead to an increase in the MRP charge to revenue. MRP for these 
items will match the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred 
liability. 
 

62. MRP in 2010/11: Options 1 and 2 may be used only for supported 
expenditure. Methods of making prudent provision for self financed 
expenditure include Options 3 and 4 (which may also be used for supported 
expenditure if the Council chooses). 
 

63. The MRP Statement has to be submitted to Council before the start of the 
2010/11 financial year. If it is ever proposed to vary the terms of the original 
MRP Statement during the year, a revised statement will be put to Council at 
that time. The proposed MRP charges for 2010 are detailed below. 
 

  

  31-Mar-10 31-Mar-11 31-Mar-12 31-Mar-13 

Estimate Estimate   Estimate Estimate 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Supported Borrowing             

4,226  

             

3,922  

             

3,901  

             

3,671  

Unsupported Borrowing                 

675  

             

1,479  

             

1,856  

             

1,932  

HCC Transferred Debt 

                

799  

                 

768  

                 

737  

                 

707  

PFI and Finance Leases                 

850  

                 

901  

                 

955  

             

1,012  

Total MRP  

            

6,550  

             

7,069  

             

7,448  

             

7,322  

 



 16

64. MRP in respect of PFI and leases brought on Balance Sheet under the 2009 
SORP and IFRS will match the annual principal repayment for the associated 
deferred liability. 
 

65. The Council adopted Option 1 in respect of capital expenditure financed by 
supported borrowing and Option 3 in respect of unsupported capital 
borrowing, but this does not exclude any other prudent methods that might 
meet the needs of the Council. 
 

 Report on the Annual Treasury Outturn 

66. The Chief Financial Officer will report to the Audit Committee on treasury 
management activity / performance as follows: 

 (a) Quarterly against the strategy approved for the year. 

 (b) The Council will produce an outturn report on its treasury activity no    
later than 30th September after the financial year end. 
 

 

 Member Training 

67. CIPFA’s revised Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that all 
members tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny 
of the treasury management function, receive appropriate training relevant to 
their needs and understand fully their roles and responsibilities. Training was 
undertaken on the 10th December 2009. 
 

FINANCIAL/RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital  

 The Capital implications are considered as part of the General Fund Capital 
Programme report and HRA Capital Programme report elsewhere on the 
agenda. 
 

Revenue 

 The Revenue implications are considered as part of the General Fund 
Revenue Budget report and HRA Revenue Budget report elsewhere on the 
agenda 

  

Property 

 None 

  

Other 

 None 



 17

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

 Local Authority borrowing is regulated by Part 1, of the Local Government 
Act 2003, which introduced the new Prudential Capital Finance System.  

 

 

 From 1 April 2004, investments are dealt with, not in secondary legislation, 
but through guidance. Similarly, there is guidance on prudent investment 
practice, issued by the Secretary of State under Section 15(1)(a) of the 2003 
Act. A local authority has the power to invest for "any purpose relevant to its 
functions under any enactment or for the purposes of the prudent 
management of its financial affairs". The reference to the "prudent 
management of its financial affairs" is included to cover investments, which 
are not directly linked to identifiable statutory functions but are simply made 
in the course of treasury management. This also allows the temporary 
investment of funds borrowed for the purpose of expenditure in the 
reasonably near future; however, the speculative procedure of borrowing 
purely in order to invest and make a return remains unlawful. 

 

 

Other Legal Implications:  

 None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

 This report has been prepared in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management 

 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. Current and Projected Portfolio Position 

2. Prudential Indicators for 2010/11– 2012/13 

3. Economic and Interest Outlook 

4. Specified and Non Specified Investments for use by the Council. 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1.  

2.  

Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the 
Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if 



 18

applicable) 

1.   

2.   

Background documents available for inspection at:        

FORWARD PLAN No:  KEY DECISION?  

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED:  

 

 



31-Mar-10 31-Mar-11 31-Mar-12 31-Mar-13

Estimate Estimate  Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing: 

    Fixed Rate – PWLB 78 90 106 104 100

    Fixed Rate – Market 34 40 30 30 30

    Variable Rate – PWLB 10 22 48 48 48

    Variable Rate – Market 9 9 9 9 9

Existing long-term liabilities 19 19 18 18 17

IFRS long-term liabilities:

-       PFI (2009/10) 38 37 36 35 34

-       Operating Leases 

(2010/11 onwards)

Total External Debt 188 217 247 244 238

Investments:

Deposits and monies on call 

and Money Market Funds

37 20 20 20 20

Supranational bonds 6 6 6 6 6

Corporate bonds 0 0 0 0 0

Total Investments 43 26 26 26 26

(Net Borrowing Position)/ 145 191 221 218 212

Net Investment position      

Current 

Portfolio 

Appendix 1

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13

%

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\7\3\AI00001371\6Appendix10.xls Printed 08/02/10 at 12:10

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13

Appendix 2

1

2

3

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund 63,247 65,158 68,774 19,981 19,884

HRA 32,906 32,787 36,964 21,912 17,205

Total 96,153 97,945 105,738 41,893 37,089

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Capital receipts 7,039 12,642 7,374 8,135 3,871

Government Grants 28,720 17,400 31,200 9,801 11,174

Revenue contributions 5,421 7,698 8,582 2,554 2,732

Major Repairs Allowance  12,641 15,061 10,394 13,017 13,197

Revenue 17,881 15,649 16,624 5,708 4,848

Supported borrowing 10,066 10,259 8,336 6 0

Unsupported borrowing 14,385 19,236 23,228 2,672 1,267

Total 96,153 97,945 105,738 41,893 37,089

This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure remains within 

sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax and in the case of the 

HRA, housing rent levels.  

The Director of Finance reports that the authority had no difficulty meeting this requirement in 

2009/10, nor are there any difficulties envisaged for future years. This view takes into account 

current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the approved budget.

This is a key indicator of prudence. In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will 

only be for a capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that the net external borrowing 

does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement in the 

preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current 

and next two financial years. 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2010/11 TO 2012/13

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have regard 

to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the “CIPFA Prudential Code”) 

when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators.

Estimates of Capital Expenditure:

Background:

Net Borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement:

Capital expenditure will be financed as follows:

Capital Expenditure

Capital Financing

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\7\3\AI00001371\6Appendix20.xls 08/02/10]

Appendix 2



Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13

Appendix 2

4

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

% % % % %

General Fund 5.19% 2.18% 5.55% 6.39% 5.86%

HRA 7.53% 2.60% 5.14% 6.75% 7.36%

Total 5.89% 3.36% 4.99% 6.06% 6.06%

5

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

General Fund 146 188 202 196 190

HRA 97 94 104 106 106

Total CFR 243 282 306 302 295

** in line with CIPFA’s guidance, any investments or other items not falling within the classification 

of fixed or intangible assets, but financed from capital resources must be included within the CFR 

for the purposes of this calculation.

Capital Financing 

Requirement

This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed 

capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet borrowing 

costs. The definition of financing costs is set out at paragraph 87 of the Prudential Code. 

The ratio is based on costs net of investment income. 

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow for a 

capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts held in the Balance Sheet 

relating to capital expenditure and its financing. It is an aggregation of the amounts shown for 

Fixed and Intangible assets, the Revaluation Reserve, the Capital Adjustment Account, 

Government Grants Deferred and any other balances treated as capital expenditure**.

Capital Financing Requirement:

Ratio of Financing Costs to 

Net Revenue Stream

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\7\3\AI00001371\6Appendix20.xls 08/02/10]



Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13

Appendix 2

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Balance B/F 224 224 282 306 302

Capital expenditure financed 

from borrowing 

24 29 32 3 1

Revenue provision for debt 

Redemption.

(5) (5) (5) (6) (6)

Movement in deferred 

liabilities

HCC Transferred Debt (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)

PFI brought on B/S 35

PFI Principal Repayments (1) (1) (1) (1)

Leases brought on B/S

Lease Principal Repayment

Balance C/F 243 282 306 302 295

6 Actual External Debt:

£m

127

20

147

7

2009/10 

Approved

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£ £ £ £

3.39 0.50 3.48 1.16

2.13 5.05 22.02 21.05

The increase in Band D council tax/average weekly rents reflects the increases in running costs 

and/or increases in the provision for Capital Financing Charges of £0.9m to undertake borrowing 

of £36m arising from the proposed capital programme. 

This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing balance for 

actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. This Indicator is measured in a manner 

consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit.

The year–on-year change in the CFR is due to the following

Capital Financing 

Requirement

Increase in Average Weekly Housing 

Rents

Increase in Band D Council Tax

Actual External Debt as at 31/03/2009

Other Long-term Liabilities

This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment decisions on Council 

Tax and Housing Rent levels. The incremental impact is calculated by comparing the total revenue 

budget requirement of the current approved capital programme with an equivalent calculation of 

the revenue budget requirement arising from the proposed capital programme.

Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions:

Incremental Impact of Capital 

Investment Decisions

Borrowing

Total

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\7\3\AI00001371\6Appendix20.xls 08/02/10]



Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13

Appendix 2

8

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Borrowing 361 357 397 412 424

Other Long-term Liabilities 22 64 62 60 58

Total 383 420 459 473 483

The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government 

Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit).

The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and estimates of 

other cashflow requirements. This indicator is based on the same estimates as the Authorised 

Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario but without the additional 

headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  

Authorised Limit for 

External Debt

The Chief Financial Officer has delegated authority, within the total limit for any individual year, to 

effect movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Decisions will be based on the outcome of financial option appraisals and best value 

considerations. Any movement between these separate limits will be reported to the next meeting 

of the Audit Committee

The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e. not net 

of investments) for the Council. It is measured on a daily basis against all external borrowing items 

on the Balance Sheet (i.e. long and short term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long term 

liabilities. This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other long term liabilities 

such as finance leases. It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its proposals for 

capital expenditure and financing and its approved treasury management policy statement and 

practices.  

The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst case 

scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual cash movements. 

Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:

The Council has an integrated treasury management strategy and manages its treasury position in 

accordance with its approved strategy and practice. Overall borrowing will therefore arise as a 

consequence of all the financial transactions of the Council and not just those arising from capital 

spending reflected in the CFR. 

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\7\3\AI00001371\6Appendix20.xls 08/02/10]



Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13

Appendix 2

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Borrowing 351 347 385 400 412

Other Long-term Liabilities 21 61 59 58 56

Total 372 408 444 458 468

9

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management

10

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

% % % % %

Upper Limit for Fixed 

Interest Rate Exposure

100 100 100 100 100

Upper Limit for Variable 

Interest Rate Exposure

35 50 50 50 50

The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will be made for drawing 

down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the decisions will ultimately be determined by 

expectations of anticipated interest rate movements as set out in the Council’s treasury 

management strategy. 

This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best practice.

The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code at its Council 

meeting on 19th February 2003.

Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code:

Note: These limits may be expressed as financial amounts or as percentages.

Operational Boundary for 

External Debt

Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate Exposure:

These indicators sets upper limits on the amount of net borrowing (total borrowing less 

investments) with fixed interest rates and variable interest rates for next year and the following two 

years and has the effect of setting ranges within which an authority would limit its exposure to both 

fixed and variable interest rate movements

The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council is not exposed 

to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on the revenue budget.  The limit allows for the 

use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on investments

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\7\3\AI00001371\6Appendix20.xls 08/02/10]



Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13

Appendix 2

11

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing Estimate Lower Limit Upper Limit

2009/10 % %

40 0 45

4 0 45

13 0 50

17 0 50

2 0 50

8 0 75

4 0 75

12 0 75

0 0 100

12

2009/10 

Approved

2009/10 

Revised

2010/11 

Estimate

2011/12 

Estimate

2012/13 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

50 50 50 50 50

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing:

This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 

replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to protect against excessive 

exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in particular in the course of the next ten 

years.  

It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period as a 

percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is determined 

by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require payment.

under 12 months 

12 months and within 24 months

24 months and within 5 years

The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise as a result 

of the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested.

Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days:

5 years and within 10 years

10 years and within 20 years

20 years and within 30 years

30 years and within 40 years

40 years and within 50 years

50 years and above

Upper Limit for total 

principal sums invested 

over 364 days

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\7\3\AI00001371\6Appendix20.xls 08/02/10]



 

 

Appendix  3 

 

Economic and Interest Outlook  
Financial markets remain reasonably volatile as the structural changes necessary within 
economies and the banking system evolve. This volatility provides opportunities for active 
treasury management. The economic interest rate outlook provided by the Council’s 
treasury advisor, Arlingclose Ltd, for November 2009 is detailed below.  

Dec-09 Mar-10 Jun-10 Sep-10 Dec-10 Mar-11 Jun-11 Sep-11 Dec-11 Mar-12

Official Bank Rate

Upside risk +0.25 +0.25 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50

Central case     0.50     0.50     0.50     0.50     1.00     1.50     2.25     3.00     4.00     4.00 

Downside risk -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25

1-yr LIBID

Upside risk +0.25 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50

Central case     1.25     1.25     1.25     1.50     2.00     2.75     3.50     4.00     4.25     4.25 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25

5-yr gilt

Upside risk +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50

Central case     2.60     2.70     2.80     2.90     3.00     3.25     3.50     3.75     4.00     4.25 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25

10-yr gilt

Upside risk +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25

Central case     3.60     3.75     3.75     4.00     4.00     4.25     4.25     4.50     4.50     4.75 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25

20-yr gilt

Upside risk +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.25

Central case     4.10     4.25     4.50     4.75     4.75     5.00     5.00     5.00     5.00     5.00 

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25

50-yr gilt

Upside risk +0.25 +0.25 +0.25 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50 +0.50

Central case     4.00 4.25 4.50 4.50 4.50 4.75 4.75 4.75 4.75 4.75

Downside risk -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25
 

 

Ø The recovery in growth is likely to be slow and uneven, more “W” than “V” shaped.  
The Bank of England will stick to its lower-for-longer stance on policy rates. 

  
Ø Gilt yields will remain volatile; yields have been compressed by Quantitative 

Easing and will rise once QE tapers off and if government debt remains at record 
high levels.   

 
Ø Central banks will eventually wind down and exit their emergency liquidity 

provisions and shrink their balance sheets, but official interest rates in the UK, 
Eurozone and US will stay low for some while. 

 
Ø There are significant threats to the forecast from potential downgrades to 

sovereign ratings and/or political instability.  
 

Appendix 3



 

 

The underlying assumptions being: 

 

Ø The Bank of England has increased Quantitative Easing (QE) to £200bn to insure 
against the downside risks to growth and stimulate the economy.  

 
Ø The Bank forecasts GDP to grow by 4% in 2011 but concedes growth could be 

impeded by corporate and consumer balance sheet adjustments, restrictions in 
bank credit and consumers’ cautious spending behaviour. This is an optimistic 
forecast in our view; evidence of recovery is scant with weak real economic data 
and rising unemployment.   

 
Ø Looming bank regulation and liquidity and capital requirements will curb banking 

lending activity. The Bank retains the option to reduce the rate on commercial 
banks’ deposits to encourage them to lend.  

 
Ø The employment outlook remains uncertain.  Pay freezes and job cuts will continue 

into 2010.  
 

Ø Inflation is not an immediate worry. The Bank’s forecast is for CPI to rise in the 
next few months from higher commodity prices and VAT reverting to 17.5%, but is 
forecast to remain below 2% in the short term, only surpassing the target in 2012.  
There is a risk that inflation overshoots in 2010 prompting a letter from the Bank’s 
Governor to the Chancellor.  

 
Ø  The UK fiscal deficit remains acute. Cuts in public spending and tax increases are 

now inevitable and more likely to be pushed through in 2010 by a new government 
with a clear majority.  

 
Ø The net supply of gilts will rise to unprecedented levels in 2010.  Failure to 

articulate and deliver on an urgent and credible plan to lower government 
borrowing to sustainable levels over the medium term will be negative for gilts.  

 
Ø The Federal Reserve Chairman Bernanke’s diagnosis of a weak U.S. economy 

and labour market signal that the Fed’s “extended period” of low rates may get 
even longer.  The outlook the Eurozone is more optimistic but the European 
Central Bank will only increase rates after a durable upturn in growth. 



           Appendix 4 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13  

 

Specified and Non Specified Investments 

 

Please note the CLG is in the process of undertaking a review of the Investment 
Guidance for Local Authorities in England and this section may therefore be subject to 
review and amendment 
 

Specified Investments identified for use by the Council 
 

Specified Investments will be those that meet the criteria in the CLG Guidance, i.e. the 
investment  

• is sterling denominated 

• has a maximum maturity of 1 year  

• meets the “high” credit criteria as determined by the Council or is made with the UK 
government or is made with a local authority in England, Wales and Scotland.  

• the making of which is not defined as capital expenditure under section 25(1)(d) in SI 
2003 No 3146 (i.e. the investment is not  loan capital or share capital in a body corporate). 

 

“Specified” Investments identified for the Council’s use are:  

• Deposits in the DMO’s Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 

• Deposits with UK local authorities 

• Deposits with banks and building societies 

• *Certificates of deposit with banks and building societies 

• *Gilts : (bonds issued by the UK government) 

• *Bonds issued by multilateral development banks 

• AAA-rated Money Market Funds with a Constant Net Asset Value (Constant NAV)  

• Other Money Market Funds and Collective Investment Schemes– i.e. credit rated funds 
which meet the definition of a collective investment scheme as defined in SI 2004 No 
534 and SI 2007 No 573.  

 

   * Investments in these instruments will be on advice from the Council’s treasury advisor. 
 

For credit rated counterparties, the minimum criteria will be the short-term / long-term ratings 
assigned by various agencies which may include Moody’s Investors Services, Standard & 
Poor’s, Fitch Ratings. 

 For example: Long-term minimum: Aa3 (Moody’s) or AA- (S&P) or AA-(Fitch)  

 Or: Short-term P-1 (Moody’s) or A-1 (S&P) or F1 (Fitch). 

 (Please note the above are examples only)  

 

The Council will also take into account information on corporate developments of and market 
sentiment towards investment counterparties.  

 

Appendix 4



Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13 

 

New specified investments will be made within the following limits: 

Instrument Country Counterparty Maximum Limit of 

Investments %/£m 

Term Deposits UK DMADF, DMO No limit 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK Other UK Local Authorities No limit 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK Abbey £5 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK Bank of Scotland/Lloyds £5 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK Barclays £5 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK Clydesdale £5 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK HSBC £5 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK Nationwide £5 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
UK Royal Bank of Scotland £5 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 

Australia Australia and NZ Banking Group £1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia £1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Australia National Australia Bank Ltd £1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Australia Westpac Banking Corp £1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Canada Bank of Montreal £1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Canada Bank of Nova Scotia £1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Canada Canadian Imperial Bank of 

Commerce 

£1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Canada Royal Bank of Canada £1 Million 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Canada Toronto-Dominion Bank £1 Million 

 



Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

and Investment Strategy 2010/11 to 2012/13 

 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Finland Nordea Bank Finland £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
France BNP Paribas £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
France Calyon (Credit Agricole Group) £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
France Credit Agricole SA £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Germany Deutsche Bank AG £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Netherlands Rabobank £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Spain Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Spain Banco Santander SA £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
Switzerland Credit Suisse £1 Million 

Term Deposits/Call 

Accounts 
US JP Morgan £1 Million 

Gilts UK DMO No limit 

Bonds EU European Investment Bank/Council 

of Europe 

25% in aggregate 

AAA rated Money 

Market Funds 

UK/Ireland/ 

Luxembourg 

CNAV MMFs 30%/37.5% 

Other MMFs and 

CIS 

UK Collective Investment Schemes  £1 Million 

 

NB Any existing deposits outside of the current criteria will be reinvested with the above criteria on 

maturity. 

 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Council Tax Setting and Related Matters
	Item 4a Appendix 1
	Item 4a Appendix 2
	Item 4a Appendix 3
	Item 4a Appendix 4
	Report 4b
	Item 4b Appendix 1
	Item 4b Appendix 2
	Item 4b Appendix 3
	Item 4b Appendix 4
	Item 4b Appendix 5
	Item 4b Appendix 6
	Item 4b Appendix 7
	Item 4b Appendix 7b
	Item 4b Appendix 8
	Item 4b Appendix 9
	Item 4b Appendix 10
	Item 4b Appendix 11
	Item 4b Appendix 12
	Item 4b Appendix 13
	Item 4b Appendix 14
	Labour Group Amendment
	Labour Group Annexes
	Liberal Democrat Amendment
	Liberal Democrat Annexes

	5 Housing Revenue Account Budget Report
	Item 5 Appendix 1
	Item 5 Appendix 2
	Item 5 Appendix 3
	Item 5 Appendix 4

	6 Annual Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Limits 2009/10 - 2012/13
	Item 6 Appendix 1
	Item 6 Appendix 2
	Item 6 Appendix 3
	Item 6 Appendix 4


